

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

# Analysis of the murine granulosa cell transcriptome during luteinisation

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Glasgow

4 202

Ъ. I

2

By

Robert Scott McRae

Division of Cell Sciences University of Glasgow Veterinary School September 2005

©[R.S.McRae] [20/09/2005]

ProQuest Number: 10390725

All rights reserved

#### INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10390725

Published by ProQuest LLC (2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



ł

, ·



のないのないないのである

 $_{1}V_{1}$ 



### Declaration

I hereby declare that this dissertation, submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy and entitled "Analysis of the murine granulosa cell transcriptome during luteinisation", represents my own work and has not been previously submitted to this or any other institution for any degree, diploma or other qualification.

Robert Scott McRae

January 2006

### Acknowledgements

This thesis is by far the most significant scientific accomplishment in my life. It far surpasses my childhood scientific studies into life expectancy following limb detachment in multileged arthropods, and even ranks above my more recent studies into the change in rate of return of edible delicacies following differing approaches to pet euthanasia.

This work would have been impossible without people who supported me and believed in me. It is the result of several years of work throughout which I have been accompanied and supported by many people.

I am indebted to Professor Peter O'Shaughnessy for his planning of this work, his continued advice, encouragement, direction and support, but most of all his patience and willingness to read and re-read the multiple drafts of this thesis.

I am also grateful to my colleagues within the lab whose help and technical guidance has been much appreciated. These include Dr Paul Baker, Dr Monica Mihm, Dr Heather Johnston, Lynne Fleming and Gary Jackson who have all supported me in my research work. I want to thank them for their help, interest and valuable hints. Lastly, and most importantly, I wish to thank my parents, Robert and Janet McRae, for their moral and practical support during the last four years.

For me personally this study has provided an invaluable escape from a lifetime of working with sick animals, except of course those I am now proud to call my friends and colleagues.

Finally in the absence of a beloved wife, darling children, recently deceased relatives, or indeed any surviving pets I dedicate this thesis to the local Chinese takeaway whose culinary support was invaluable during the many late nights I spent completing work I could not be bothered doing during the day.

### Abstract

The granulosa cells of the ovarian follicle surround the oocyte and support it during follicle development. Once exposed to the LH surge, the granulosa cells are characterised by the induction of genes necessary for cellular differentiation. The extensive morphological and functional changes which characterise luteinisation involve the regulation of gene and protein expression responsible for the cessation of proliferation and the induction of differentiation in the individual granulosa cells. The differentiating granulosa cell also functions in both an endocrine and paracrine manner mediating follicle and oocyte maturation and subsequent corpus luteum remodelling. The formation of the functional corpus luteum and secretion of progesterone is essential for the establishment of pregnancy following ovulation. Although much is known about the molecular mechanisms responsible for follicular development comparatively little study has been carried out to analyse the control of, and events which occur during, luteinisation. It is therefore pertinent to study gene expression changes to try to clarify and understand mechanisms which regulate and underpin ovarian granulosa cell luteinisation.

In order to investigate the mechanisms underlying these processes we embarked on a time- and cell-specific analysis of gene expression in the granulosa cell during late follicle development and early luteinisation. Changes in gene expression during granulosa cell luteinisation were measured using serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). Immature normal mice were treated with gonadotrophin to induce formation and luteinisation of ovarian follicles. SAGE libraries were generated from mRNA isolated from granulosa cells collected before and after induction of luteinisation. The combined libraries contained 105,224 tags representing 40,248 unique transcripts. Overall, 715 transcripts showed a significant difference in abundance between the two libraries of which 216 were significantly down-regulated by luteinisation and 499 were significantly up-regulated. Among transcripts differentially regulated, there were clear and expected changes in genes involved in modelling of the extracellular matrix, regulation of the cytoskeleton and intra and intercellular signalling. Also identified were transcripts relating to genes and collular signalling pathways novel to the granulosa cell, including members of the E2F family of cell cycle regulators and the Notch signalling pathway as well as genes implicated in angiogenesis and cellular metabolism not previously associated with the granulosa cell.

Further studies into an unmatched SAGE tag which was highly differentially expressed revealed that it represented a variable length non-coding transcript which showed a tissue- and temporal-specific expression pattern within granulosa tissue. This transcript is highly conserved across species and lies distal to the 3' end of the inhibin  $\beta$ A subunit. Highest levels of expression were found within the gonadotrophin-stimulated, mature antral follicle prior to the LH surge where it was the 6th most highly expressed transcript. After luteinisation there was a rapid downregulation of expression. It is suggested that this transcript may have involvement in regulating the transcription and/or

translation of the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit during follicle development and luteinisation.

In conclusion, this thesis provides insight into some of the important mechanisms involved in the regulation of luteinisation, namely angiogenesis, differentiation, cell cycle control and the metabolic machinery within the granulosa cell. We have isolated a large number of candidate genes related to the cellular differentiation processes occurring within the granulosa cell during luteinisation. The data generated and presented here constitutes a new base for the testing of hypotheses in the field of follicle development and luteinisation.

### **Publications**

#### McRae RS, Johnston HM, Mihm M, and PJ O'Shaughnessy, (2005)

Changes in mouse granulosa cell genc expression during early luteinisation. Endocrinology 146(1):309-317.

## **Table of Contents**

Page no

The second and the

and the stand of the second and the stand of the

Chapter 1: The mammalian ovaries: follicular development	
and luteinisation	2
	~
1.1 Historical perspective	2
1.2 Development, anatomy and physiology of the ovary	3
1.2.1 Gonadal development and sexual differentiation	5
1.2.2 Histological structure of the ovary	.5
1.2.3 Endocrine control of ovarian function	7
1.3 The Gonadotrophic hormones and receptors	10
1.4 Endocrine feedback from the granulosa cell	.12
1.4.1 Uestrogen.	12
1.4.2 Inhibin/Activin/Follistatin.	12
1.4.3 Gonadotrophin surge attenuating factor (GnSAF)	13
1.5 The Antral Follicle: development, structure and physiology	14
1.5.1 Follicular development: primordial to antral follicie	.14
1.5.2 Follicular signaling mechanisms	22
1.5.2.1 Communication pathways	23
1.5.2.2 Intracellular receptor mediated signaling	~ 4
pathways	24
1.5.2.3 Intratollicular paracrine and autocrine	00
signaling factors	.28
1.5.2.4 Intraovarian role of steroid hormones	.33
1.5.3 Thecal role in follicular function	. 40
1.5.4 Oocyte growth and development.	.42
1.5.5 Steroidogenic activity	.45
1.5.6 Extracellular matrix	.4/
1.6 Ovulation and luternisation	.50
1.6.1 Morphological changes associated with lutcinisation	. 50
1.6.2 Granulosa cell differentiation: follicular lineage of	50
luteal cells	. 52 52
1.6.3 Molecular and genetic response to luteinisation hormone	.33
1.6.3.1 Follocular dissemination of the LH signal	34
1.6.3.2 Genomic response to the LH signal	. 30
1.6.3.3 Transcription factors implicated in luternisation	. 38 61
1.6.3.4 Cytokines, role and regulation	.01
1.6.3.5 Steroidogenesis	. 05
1.6.3.6. Angiogenesis.	08 22
1.6.3.7 Final oocyte maturation; metotic resumption	. 12 776
1.6.3.8 Cell survival	. 73 
1.6.3.9 Follicular remodeling.	
1.6.3.9.1 Cell-cell adhesion	
1.6.3.9.2 Proteolytic mechanisms	. 80 60
1.7 Rationale and aims for present study	82
1.8 Tissue generation and mouse model	. 83

Chapter 2: Introduction to basic laboratory methods, mouse	
model and tissue collection	
2. Overview of Basic laboratory procedures	
2.1 RNA extraction	
2.2 DNAse Treatment of RNA samples	
2.3 Reverse Transcription	
2.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction	
2.5 Gcl electrophoresis	
2.6 cDNA Cloning using TOPO vector	
2.7 Electroporation of E.coli	
2.8 DNA Sequencing	
2.9 Collection of experimental tissue for SAGE libraries	
Chapter 3: Serial analysis of gene expression,	
3.1 Overview of Gene expression analysis	
3.1.1 Gene profiling techniques	
3.1.2 Scrial Analysis of Gene Expression	
3.1.3 Using Gene Expression Data	2
3.2 Current detailed SAGE protocol104	1
3.3 Methodological alterations required for successful SAGE115	5
3.3.1 Failure of restriction enzyme digestion115	5
3.3.1.1 PAGE gel purification113	5
3.3.1.2 Spurious 70bp sequence	7
3.3.2 PAGE gel extraction	0
3.3.2.1 Agarose gel separation120	0
3.3.2.2 Electroelution extraction	1
3.3.3.3 Extraction by electroelution and lavage	2
3.3.3 Formation and selection of concatamers	5
3,3.3.1 Size selection for cloning12:	5
3.3.3.2 Cloning concatamers	7
3.4 SAGE Results	1
3.4.1 Abundant Tags13	2
3.4.2 Abundant, differentially expressed SAGE tags	4
3.4.3 Functional Groups 13	9
3.4.4 Genes showing selective expression within granulosa cells15	0
3.4.5 Source and Purity of Granulosa Cell cDNA15	3
3.5 Investigation and Identification of Unmatched Transcripts15	4
3.5.1 RACE analysis of unknown SAGE tags15	4
3.6 Validation of SAGE results using Real Time PCR 16	0
3.6.1 Method16	1
3.6.2 Results	3

A. C. C. B. B. B. B. والمتريمية والمعرفين والمقومات 

Chapter 4: Investigation of noncoding abundantly expressed SAGE tag	169
4.1 Rationale for study	169
4.2 5' RACE full length cDNA sequencing	169
4.3 Tissue Range Expression of Non-coding Transcript	179
4.4 Temporal expression of noncoding transcript within	181
4.5 In situ hybridisation	184
Chapter 5: Discussion	192
5.1 Sage validation	194
5.2 Cell signalling: novel components expressed during	
luteinisation	198
5.3 Intracellular metabolic adaptations to follicle luteinisation	200
5.4 Cell survival: apoptotic/survival signaling pathways	206
5.5 Cell differentiation and transcription factors	210
5.6 Cellular and follicular remodelling: angiogenic and	
cytoskeletal remodelling	216
5.7 Genes with a poorly defined role in luteinisation	218
5.8 Analysis of the non coding RNA transcript	221
5.9 Conclusion.	225
Appendix 1: Characterisation of differentially expressed SAGE tags	227
Appendix 2: List of abbreviations	254
Appendix 3: References	258

# **Table of Figures**

	Page no.
Figure 1.1 Schematic of an ovary depicting the life cycle of a follicle destined to ovulate	6
Figure 1.2 Summary of the hypothalamic-adenohypophyseal-ovarian axis	7
Figure 1.3 Histological architecture of a Graffian follicle	16
Figure 1.4 Pathways of synthesis of steroid hormones in   ovarian somatic cells.	47
Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE)	100
Figure 3.2 Spurious 70bp band sequence	117
Figure 3.3 Efficiency of Nla III digestion following differing substrate purification methods	118
Figure 3.4 Nla III digestion following purification and extraction of 70bp cDNA substrate in PAGE gel	119
Figure 3.5 Unsuccessful Nla III digestion of spurious 70bp sequence	119
Figure 3.6 Hayday apparatus for ditag elution	121
Figure 3.7 GeBA flex apparatus for eluting nucleic acids	122
Figure 3.8 Apparatus for elution of nucleic acids from polyacrylamide gels	123
Figure 3.9 Comparative yields of a 217 bp cDNA recovered from PAGE gel using incubation or electroelution methods.	123
Figure 3.10 Typical Nla III digestion after using the electroelution and lavage technique for extraction of substrate from PAGE gels	124
Figure 3.11 Successful and unsuccessful pZERO cloning attempts under identical reaction conditions	128
Figure 3.12a. Venn diagram illustrating the distribution of the 0.877 transprints securenced at least twice between both libraries	2 131

Figure 3.12b Distribution of significantly differentially expressed transcripts
Figure 3.13 Functional distribution of the 416 identifiable significantly differentially expressed transcripts present in the combined SAGE libraries
Figure 3.14 Schematic representation of the large scale GLGI procedure for sequencing 3' cDNAs from SAGE tag transcripts
Figure 3.15 PAGE gel containing 3'RACE reaction products from each of the individual reactions using GSPs listed in table 3.6
Figure 3.16 3' RACE results for unidentified SAGE tags157
Figure 3.17 Standard curves and reaction efficiencies for real time PCR reactions
Figure 3.18 Comparison of SAGE and QRT-PCR expression Levels
Figure 4.1 Schematic illustration of 5' RACE171
Figure 4.2 1% agarose gel showing nested 5'RACE reaction products alongside 100bp ladder173
Figure 4.3 682 bp sequence for transcript associated with the SAGEtag CAGTCAATAC174
Figure 4.4 Genomic location of noncoding transcribed fragment (NC) in relation to inhibin βA subunit175
Figure 4.5 Variation in size of noncoding transcripts176
Figure 4.6 cont'd. Homology between noncoding transcript in mouse, rat and human DNA177
Figure 4.7 Standard curve and amplification efficiency for typical QRT PCR reaction between GAPDH and noncoding transcript
Figure 4.8 Expression levels of noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH180

Figure 4.9 Real time PCR results showing expression of the noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH in staged whole ovary samples from neonatal mice and following exogenous hormone administration
Figure 4.10 Light field and dark field views of day 20 PMSG treated mouse ovary harvested 48 hours after PMSG administration and hybridised with sense probe
Figure 4.11 Light field and dark field views of day 20 PMSG treated mouse ovary harvested 48 hours after PMSG administration and hybridised with antisense probe
Figure 4.12 Normal adult mouse ovary during last trimester of gestation hybridised with sense probe
Figure 4.13 Normal adult mouse ovary during last trimester of gestation hybridised with antisense probe
Figure 4.14 Adult mouse ovary hybridised with sense probe191
Figure 4.15 Adult mouse ovary hybridised with antisense probe
Figure 5.1 Glycolytic pathway in granulosa cells during Luteinisation
Figure 5.2 Proposed action of E2F5 and associated genes in regulating cell cycle exit in the granulosa cell
Figure 5.3 Suggested Notch signalling pathway in the granulosa cell before and during luteinisation
Figure 5.4 Agarose gel showing product of 3' RACE reaction and southern blot on inhibin $\beta A$ subunit

### Table of tables

Page no
Table 3.1 Top 30 most abundantly expressed transcripts present   in the combined libraries   133
Table 3.2 Top 35 significantly differentially expressed tags   present in the combined libraries
Table 3.3 Functional distribution of SAGE transcripts
Table 3.4 Top 20 most abundant transcripts found specifically   in gonadal tissue   151
Table 3.5 Top 20 most abundant transcripts found specifically   in granulosa cells
Table 3.6 Gene specific primer sequences for 3' race
Table 3.7 Sequences of real-time PCR primers and probes   used in this study
Table 3.8 Real time PCR results for genes of interest relative to   GAPDH expression
Table 4.1 Primer sequences for 5' RACE172
Table 4.2 QRT PCR results of expression levels of noncoding   transcript relative to GAPDH
Table 4.3 Real time PCR results showing expression of the noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH in staged whole ovary samples from neonatal mice and following exogenous hormone administration
Table 4.4 Protocol for in-situ hybridisation slide preparation
Table 4.5 Washing protocol for hybridised slides
Table 5.1 Comparison of SAGE transcripts with known     cxpression profiles     197
Table 5.2. SAGE expression of glycolytic enzymes
Table 5.3 SAGE expression of components of the E2F   system for cell cycle regulation
Table 5.4 Genes present in SAGE libraries known to   be involved in or regulated by Notch signalling

# Introduction

1.17

Mammalian folliculogenesis and luteinisation

#### 1. The Mammalian ovary

The major functions of the female gonad are endocrine support of sexual development and reproductive function, prenatal multiplication of the germ cell line and germ cell storage and release during the postnatal reproductive lifespan.

#### 1.1 Historical perspective

#### The recognition of a role for

the ovary as the major organ for reproductive function began in the 3<sup>rd</sup> century BC with the hypothesis put forward by Herophilus that the ovary was the source of female semen. It took until the work of Galen, in the second century AD, to recognise the transmission of this 'semen' through the fallopian tubes to the uterus. Fifteen hundred years later came the first proposition of the role of the oocyte was made by William Harvey with his treatise, Exercitationes de Generatione Animalium (1651) proposing the concept ex ovo omnia, that all living things come from eggs, a deduction inspired largely by his work in the avian field. The first recording of the ovarian follicle by van Horne, and further identification and investigation of the tertiary follicle by Regnier de Graaf in the late 17<sup>th</sup> century led to the proposition that the follicle itself was the mammalian egg, although this was never reconciled with the problem of transmission of this egg through the much narrower fallopian tube to the uterus. The corpus luteum was first accurately depicted in de Graaf's publication "De Mulierum Organis Generationi Inservientibus Tractatus Novus" of 1672 in which he proposed that the corpora lutea are transient and provide an estimation of the number of embryos. The discovery of the oocyte within the fallopian tube was made in 1797 by William Cruickshank, and in 1827 the origin of the oocyte was identified by von Baer. This can be regarded as the start of the accurate elucidation of the cellular structure of the Graafian follicle.

and the second second

うちょう 御御 ちかが ししょうちょうかい

Although the follicular lineage of luteal tissue was not conclusively determined until the latter half the 20<sup>th</sup> century its function was unravelled much earlier. In 1897 John Beard proposed that the corpus luteum inhibits ovulation during

gestation and degenerates before parturition (as cited by Amoroso 1968). Although corpora lutea were referred to as glands by Malpighi, de Graaf, and Fabricius, Prenant (1898) was the first to suggest that the corpus luteum was an endocrine gland. He wrote "As for the physiological role of the corpus luteum there can be no doubt from a study of its histological appearance that it acts as a gland of internal secretion, releasing one or more products into the bloodstream" (as cited by Short, 1977). In 1903 Frankel found that removing the ovaries of pregnant rabbits terminated pregnancy and thus provided evidence for Gustav Born's hypothesis that corpora lutea are required for implantation (as cited by Amoroso, 1968). Further investigation into the internal secretion of the corpus luteum culminated in the purification of progesterone by several research groups (Allen and Wintersteiner, 1934; Butenandt and Westphal,1934; Hartman and Wettstien, 1934; Slotta et al, 1934).

#### 1.2 Development, anatomy and physiology of the ovary

1.2.1 Gonadal development and sexual differentiation

The undifferentiated gonad develops during early foetal life on the cranioventral mesonephros. This early gonad has the ability to differentiate into either testes or ovary as determined by the genetic sex of the individual. By embryonic day 10 in mice it is recognisable as the gonadal ridge on the ventral mesonephros. Sexual differentiation is initiated by embryonic day 11.5 (Viger et al 2005).

The germ cells themselves arise extra-gonadally and migrate to the developing gonad. Different origins have been suggested for the primordial germ cells but a recent study suggests the posterior primitive streak as the likely source (Anderson et al 2000). In mice, germ cell migration is complete by embryonic day 10.5 (McLaren, 2003).

The developing gonad is covered by coelomic epithelium. The granulosa cells of the ovary arise from cell populations within the region of the developing gonad, which in the male, become the Sertoli cells of the seminiferous tubules. In both sexes the cellular function is homologous: to nurture and aid maturation of the

germ cells and to mechanically discharge them into the genital duct system. The precise origin of the somatic cells is controversial, the coelomic epithelium, local mesenchymal cells and mesonephros have all been proposed as potential sources. It has been suggested, on the basis of immunohistochemical detection of steroidogenic factor 1, SF-1 (Hatano et al., 1996) and ultrastructural stereological studies of calf embryos (Wrobel and Süß, 1999) that the steroid producing cells of the gonads and adrenal gland develop from the same cell population, an adreno-genital primordium that originates in the mesonephros. This is supported by the observation that when sexually undifferentiated female gonads were inoculated into nude mice, only those with attached mesonephros developed normal follicles, indicating the importance of the mesonephros in follicle development (Byskov, 1974; Byskov et al., 1977). Various cellular markers have been used to trace the origin of granulosa cells including the ligand receptor pair SCF-c-kit and cytokeratin (Tisdall et al 1999, Löffler et al 2000). Both these studies support the notion that the first generation of granulosa cells develop from the mesonephros, but do not exclude the possibility of an origin in the surface epithelium, which is supported by the work of Sawyer et al (2002). In the male, the Sertoli cell is known to develop from the coelomic epithelium (Karl and Capel 1998) but an analogous situation in the female has yet to be proven. The importance of the origin of the granulosa cell is debatable since it has been shown that somatic cells from newborn rat ovaries mixed with oocytes from newborn mouse ovaries and implanted underneath the kidney capsule develop into hybrid follicles of rat granulosa cells and mouse oocytes (Eppig and Wigglesworth 2000) which suggests that the oocyte may have the ability to exert influence on sufficiently undifferentiated somatic cells to develop into granulosa cells.

Sexual differentiation of the gonad becomes evident in male mice around embryonic day 12.5 with the development of testicular cords (Upadhyay et al., 1981), initiated by sex determining region Y (*Sry*) expression on the Y chromosome (Gubbay et al 1990; Sinclair et al 1990; Koopman et al 1991). Ovarian differentiation follows slightly later and was for a time considered the default pathway of development in the absence of expression of testis 1991.000

determining genes. Ovary determining genes are however now being identified, among them Wnt-4 (Vainio et al 1999) and Dax-1 (Swain et al 1998) which lends weight to the argument for a specific gene pathway that drives ovarian development rather than passive differentiation in the absence of testes.

Following gonadal differentiation the proliferating germ cells become concentrated in the cortex and undergo mitosis to give rise to oogonia, which continue to proliferate. Shortly thereafter meiosis is initiated in the oogonia and they become oocytes, surrounded by granulosa cells and stroma, and as such are regarded as primordial follicles. These primordial follicles were thought to be the source of all developing follicles during the reproductive lifespan. However recent evidence has shown that manimalian ovaries possess persistant large germline stem cells and gives rise to the possibility of follicular renewal in adult females (Johnson et al 2004).

1.2.2 Histological structure of the ovary

The mammalian ovary consists of three distinct regions, the hilum, which contains the entry point for the blood vessels, the medulla, containing a heterogeneous group of cells, and the cortex, the dominant zone, lined by germinal epithelium and containing the oocytes. In the mature cycling, fertile, female follicle development is ongoing and a variety of stages of developing and atretic follicles may be present at any one time. In addition, depending on the species and stage of the ovarian cycle, active or regressing copora lutea may be present. (figure 1.1)

The outermost layer covering the ovary consists of germinal epithelium, directly underneath this there is a dense layer of connective tissue known as the tunica albuginea. The ovarian follicles, in conjunction with surrounding fibroblasts, collagen and clastic fibres, form the ovarian cortex located under the tunica albuginea. The ovarian medulla contains the blood vessels, lymphatic vessels and nerve terminals. The ovary is an organ of constantly fluctuating populations of cells due to continual growth and regression of follicles and corpora lutea. These

developmental processes within the ovary involve cell proliferation (Reynolds and Redmer 1998) and differentiation (Chang et al 1977, Anderson and Little 1985), angiogenesis (McClellan et al 1975) and cell death (Ingram 1962). Normal ovarian function in mammalian species requires that during every oestrus cycle only a limited number of follicles reach the stage of Graafian follicles and ovulate. This is essential for the prevention of excess embryos during pregnancy. In each stage of the cycle about 50% of the large preantral and antral follicles will be in the process of apoptotic death (Almog et al 2001), the stimuli for apoptosis or survival can be autocrine, paracrine or



Figure 1.1 Schematic of an ovary depicting the life cycle of a follicle destined to ovulate. The ovum of a mature follicle is situated within the fluid filled antrum on a pedicle of granulosa cells. At ovarian rupture the follicular antrum is filled with blood forming the corpus haemorrhagicum (CH), the clot is resorbed and replaced by lutein cells forming the corpus luteum (CL)

endocrine (Amsterdam et al 1999). The ultimate goal of the successful follicle is a release of the female germ cell, termed ovulation (Hartman 1932, Hisaw 1947, Corner 1963).

#### 1.2.3 Endocrine control of ovarian function

Reproductive function is controlled by a variety of physiological and hormonal factors. The mouse has oestrus cycles of 4-6 days duration (Schwartz 1973), although considerable variation in cycle length has been recorded (Whitten 1958, 1959). Ovulation is spontaneous but in absence of copulation corpora lutea fail to develop (Schwartz 1973, Greenwald and Rothchild 1968).



Figure 1.2 Summary of the hypothalamic-adenohypophyseal-ovarian axis. The gonadal steroids exert negative or positive (depending on the stage of the ovarian cycle) feedback at the pituitary level by blocking GnRH action and at the hypothalamic level by inhibiting GnRH release. Separate gonadal products either suppress (inhibin and follisatin) or stimulate (activin) FSH release. (red arrow represents negative effect, black arrow positive effect).

The physiological and behavioural changes associated with the oestrus cycle depend on a complex interaction of endocrine and local factors under the integrative control of the hypothalamus. This hypothalamic-adenohypophysealovarian axis is the system under which normal ovarian function is driven by the pituitary hormones, whose secretions are in turn controlled via the hypothalamichypophysiotrophic hormones, and a feedback mechanism of steroid and peptide hormones (figure 1.2). Therefore hypothalamic hormones stimulate the production of hormones from the anterior pituitary that ultimately stimulate follicle development and ovulation in the ovary. Steroid hormones from the ovary provide a feedback loop at both the hypothalamic and adenohypophyseal level to control hormone secretion.

The oestrus cycle is divided into luteal and follicular phases. The luteal phase in mice starts after ovulation and copulation when the corpus luteum is formed from the wall of the collapsed follicle. Progesterone is the dominant hormone of the luteal phase. The follicular phase starts after regression of the CL, Oestrogen levels increase gradually in the follicular phase in association with follicle growth. The preovulatory follicle produces high levels of oestradiol leading to behavioural changes during ocstrus and stimulating gonadotrophin release to induce ovulation.

The main hormones regulating reproductive function that are released from the anterior pituitary are follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinising hormone (LH), they regulate ovarian function and steroid hormone secretion. FSH is the key regulatory hormone involved in follicle growth and development, LH is the key hormone involved in terminal preovulatory follicle maturation for ovulation and then luteinisation.

Control of gonadotrophin secretion is through release of gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) from neurones in the hypothalamus. They represent the final output component of the neuronal network that regulates reproductive hormone secretion. The episodic release of GnRH into the hypophyseal portal system creates a pulsatile pattern of LH secretion (Knobil 1980, Levine et al 1991). Fluctuations in this pattern generate the marked changes in the LH secretion profile observed over the course of the ovarian cycle (Freeman 1994, Goodman 1994). The midcycle LH surge, responsible for initiation of ovulation, results from an abrupt and massive increase in hypophyseal GnRH secretion in a number of species (Sarkar et al 1976, Ching 1982, Caraty et al 1989, Moenter et al 1990, Pau et al 1993, Karsch et al 1997). Oestrogen is one of the principle determinants of GnRH neurone function and is critical in enabling these cells to exhibit fluctuating patterns of biosynthetic and secretory activity. For most of the ovarian cycle oestrogen serves to restrain LH secretion partly by inhibition of GnRH secretion (Caraty et al 1989, Sarkar and Kink 1980, Chongthammakun

and Terasawa 1993, Evans et al 1994) and also by direct action on the pituitary gland (Freeman 1994, Goodman 1994, Shupnik 1996). Oestrogen also exhibits positive feedback influence on GnRH neurones and pituitary gonadotrophs to generate the LH surge. The rising follicular concentrations of circulating oestradiol can on their own, or in combination with circadian input, trigger an LH surge (Moenter et al 1990, Karsch et al 1997, Sarkar and Fink 1980, Xia et al 1992, Everett and Sawyer 1950, Legan et al 1975).

The gonadal peptide hormones, inhibins and activins, produced by the granulosa cells in the female and sertoli cells in the male, comprise an endocrine feedback loop to the pituitary. Inhibins and activins are named for their effects which inhibit and activate respectively pituitary production of FSH. Their importance in regulating reproductive function is demonstrated by mice null for the inhibin  $\alpha$  subunit, and thus deficient in inhibins, developing mixed granulosa/sertoli cell tumours in the ovaries and testes (Matzuk et al 1992).

The pattern of events that occur during ovulation is initiated in a responsive preovulatory follicle by a surge of LH, which induces both theca cells and granulosa cells to stimulate cAMP production and activate selected protein kinase signalling cascades (Richards 1994, 2001, Richards et al 2000). These pathways induce the transient transcription of specific genes prior to follicle rupture that induce ovulation and promote follicular remodelling to form a corpus luteum. Although the principal effects of the hormones LH, FSH, oestrogen and progesterone on the ovary are known, their precise functions and interplay are still not clear. Moreover, it is becoming increasingly apparent that other hormones, growth factors and cytokines are involved in the fine-tuning of ovarian function. A complete intraovarian paracrine system is implied in follicular growth and maturation (Findlay 1994, Chabbert-Buffet et al 1998). Local regulation of ovulation and luteinisation involves the interaction of LH and intrafollicular factors including steroids, prostaglandins and peptides derived from endothelial cells, leukocytes, fibroblasts, and steroidogenic cells.

#### 1.3 The Gonadotrophic hormones and receptors

Follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinising hormone (LH) are glycoproteins whose release from the gonadotroph cells of the anterior pituitary is stimulated by gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) from the hypothalamus. The pleiotrophic effects of gonadotrophins are manifest in various cells of the reproductive system including LH and FSH in ovarian granulosa cells, LH in theca interna cells, FSH in testicular Sertoli cells, and LH in Leydig cells (Sprengel et al 1990, Amsterdam et al 1992, Segaloff and Ascoli 1993). Both hormones are heterodimers that contain a common  $\alpha$  subunit and dissimilar  $\beta$  subunits that confer biological specificity on the individual hormones. The two subunits are linked by non covalent interactions stabilised by a  $\beta$  cysteine loop (Lapthorn et al 1994, Wu et al 1994). Structurally these hormones are members of the superfamily of cysteine-knot growth factors which also include transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF  $\beta$ ). The gonadotrophic receptors bind only the intact heterodimeric hormone, the individual subunits having no binding activity (Catt et al 1973)

Follicle stimulating hormone plays a central role in the regulation of follicle growth and survival (Hillier 2001), it is essential for normal folliculogenesis and fertility (Kumar et al 1997 and 1998). The hormone interacts with receptors expressed exclusively on granulosa cells in the ovary and it initiates cytodifferentiation and proliferation which ultimately results in the development of the preovulatory follicle (Camp et al 1991, Erickson 1983, Hirshfield 1991). The physiological importance of this can be demonstrated by the death of follicles by apoptosis when FSH action is restricted (Hseuh et al 1994, Tilly 1996). Follicle growth from the secondary to late antral stage is dependant on FSH. In the ovary, FSH induces LH receptor expression in small and medium follicles, the LH surge promotes the maturation of follicular cells and enhances the subsequent stages of follicular development and steroidogenesis in granulosa and luteal cells (Richards and Hedin 1988), acting to induce ovulation and luteinisation of the mature antral follicle.

The ability of FSH to modulate ovarian function depends not only on the circulating levels of hormone, but also on the expression of appropriate receptor proteins by the granulosa cells of the ovary. Both FSHR and LHR are structurally related members of the seven transmembrane domain G-protein associated receptor superfamily (Sprengel et al 1990, MacFarland et al 1989) The gene encoding the FSHR protein is encoded by the first 9 exons of the FSHR gene giving rise to a highly specific FSH binding protein (Huhteniemi 1994). Gonad specific expression of FSHR mRNA (Camp et al 1991, Zeleznik et al 1974, Nimrod et al 1976) and in situ hybridisation has shown FSHR mRNA localised exclusively within the granulosa cells of healthy follicles, persisting throughout preovulatory folliculogenesis.

The gene encoding the LHR protein contains 11 exons and variable transcription leads to multiple gene splice variants (Segaloff et al 1990 and 1993). The LHR is expressed primarily in gonadal tissues and has been studied extensively in Leydig and ovarian cells and in cell membrane preparations from several species, including rat, mouse and pig (Richards and Hedin 1988, Dufau 1988, Saez 1994). The presence of LHR on thecal/interstitial cells has been demonstrated as has their induction in granulosa cells by FSH (Zeleznik et al 1974, Magoffin et al 1982). In–situ hybridisation has shown LHR mRNA to be located in the thecal cells of immature follicles but in both thecal and granulosa cells of mature antral follicles (Camp et al 1991). The receptor is composed of two functional units, the extracellular hormone binding domain (Tsai-Morris et al 1990, Xie et al 1990) and the seven membrane/transmembrane cytoplasmic module, which is the anchoring unit that transduces the signal initiated in the extracellular domain and couples to G proteins (Tsai-Morris et al 1993).

The connections between the gonadtrophin receptors and specific signal transduction pathways within the granulosa cell will be discussed later (section 1.5.2.2).

#### 1.4 Endocrine feedback from the granulosa cell.

#### 1.4.1 Oestrogen

The endocrine actions of oestrogen are wide ranging and are manifest in a number of tissues outwith the reproductive system including bone, liver, and brain. The influence of oestrogen is known to be important for processes such as bone metabolism, cardiac and vascular function, neuroprotection, and the modulation of immunity (Srivastava et al 2001, Mendelsohn and Karas 1999, Migliaccio et al 1996, Simoncini et al 2000, Wilder 1998, Manolagas 2000, Mathews et al 2000, Wise et al 2001).

Its influence on the reproductive process is profound, via direct actions on the hypothalamic neurones and pituitary cells (McEwan and Alves 1999) it can control the rate of synthesis and secretion of nearly all pituitary hormones, including FSH and LH (Fink 1988, Gharib et al 1990). As already mentioned positive oestrogen feedback, which drives the ovulatory process, occurs at the time of the preovulatory surge of LH, while negative feedback is shown in the luteal and early follicular phases of the reproductive cycle. Other reproductive functions include its actions on mammary tissue, both directly (Migliaccio et al 1996, Razandi et al 2000) and via prolactin to promote mammary development and lactation (Maurer et al 1990), and on the female reproductive tract where it acts to stimulate cell proliferation and progesterone receptor synthesis (Horowitz et la 1978).

#### 1.4.2 Inhibin/Activin/Follistatin

Inhibin and activin are members of the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  family and have a considerable role in the regulation of FSH production. The inhibin  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta_A$ , and  $\beta_B$  subunits dimerise to give rise to the inhibin and activin isoforms (Ying 1988, Knight and Glister 2001). Inhibins suppress FSH and activins stimulate FSH (Ying 1988). A role for inhibins in regulating FSH release is supported by evidence that shows, in cattle, immunoneutralisation of inhibin is associated with elevated circulating FSH and increases in follicular development and ovulation

(Kaneko et al 1995, Kaneko et al 1997, Glencross et al 1994, Bleach et al 1996, Morris et al 1995). Activin secretion in known to increase as follicles increase in size (Newton et al 2002) and has been shown to stimulate GnRH-induced LH secretion from rodent pituitary cells (Weiss et al 1993). Follistatins are the binding proteins of activins and inhibins, binding to activin negates the activity of that ligand (De Winter et al 1996, Phillips and De Krester 1998) while inhibins, bound or unbound, retain their biological activity. Inhibins have the ability to antagonise activin by binding both activin receptors and inhibin binding proteins (Martens et al 1997, Lebrun and Vale 1997, Pangas and Woodruff 2000, Chong et al 2000) and then interfering with activin signalling. In addition to the gonad, these proteins are also produced at the pituitary level and act in a paracrine manner to regulate gonadotrophin secretion (DePaolo et al 1991, Bilezikjian et al 1994, Mather et al 1992, Padmanabhan 2001)

#### 1.4.3 Gonadotrophin surge attenuating factor (GnSAF)

As early as the 1980s several research groups had identified a product with the ability to alter responsiveness of pituitary cells to GnRH (Ferraretti et al 1983, Littman and Hodgen 1984, Spoelak and Hodgen 1984, Messinis and Templeton 1986). It is now clear that this is a gonadotrophin-stimulated ovarian product emanating specifically from the granulosa cell (Fowler et al 2002). In rodents GnSAF production is FSH-dependant and at its highest levels in carly antral follicles. LH has no apparent effect on GnSAF production (Fowler and Spears 2004). In rodents, the wave of atresia due to follicle dominance appears to occur around the mid antral stage of development (Baker et al 2001). The fall in GnSAF production in the antral follicle occurs immediately after that (Fowler and Spears 2004), alongside a rise in the production of oestrogen as follicles mature towards the preovulatory stage (Spears et al 1998). It has been proposed that the role of GnSAF is to regulate LH pulsatility (Fowler et al 2003).

#### 1.5 The Antral Follicle: development, structure and physiology.

#### 1.5.1 Follicular development: primordial to antral follicle

The first primordial follicles are formed in mice around the day of birth, these are the non-renewable dormant follicle stock from which follicle recruitment occurs and, consequently, is depleted throughout the reproductive lifespan. There are between 5750 and 8250 resting follicles per ovary in the mouse (Hirshfield 1991). There is little information about the mechanisms controlling primordial follicle development but it has been established that the transcription factor, the factor in the germ line alpha (FIGa), is required for follicular formation in mice (Soyal et al 2000). From birth to menopause follicles will continually exit the primordial follicle pool and enter the growth phase. A variety of growth and paracrine factors have been indentified during early follicular growth and shown to be expressed in a cell- and stage-specific manner (McNatty et al 2000), although their precise roles are not clear. The transition from follicular quiescence to follicular growth does not appear to be dependant upon gonadotrophins (Peters et al 1973) although hypogonadal mice with a deletion of the gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) gene have a reduced number of early growing follicles, an abnormality which can be reversed by FSH administration (Haplin and Charlton 1988) and, equally, chronically elevated LH levels cause accelerated depletion of the ovarian reserve (Flaws et al 1997). This implicates some gonadotrophic involvement in follicular recruitment despite the evidence for continued early follicle development in absence of FSHR mRNA (Dicrich et al 1998). Local paracrine factors, by contrast, are heavily involved in follicular recruitment. Kit ligand (KL) from granulosa cells, acts on receptors produced by both the oocyte and thecal cells and has been shown to enhance in vitro initiation of follicular growth (Parrott and Skinner 1999) while keratinocyte and hepatocyte growth factor produced by thecal cells can stimulate granulosa cell proliferation (Parrott and Skinner 1998). Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) has been localised to the oocyte of primordial and primary follicles (Van Wezel et al 1995) with mininal levels of receptors in the granulosa cells of primordial follicles rising to maximal levels in the granulosa cells of primary follicles before declining thereafter as the follicles increased in size (Wandji et al 1992), consistent with the idea that secretion of bFGF from the oocyte could activate receptors on adjacent granulosa cells. Follicular development from the primordial follicle stage is a process that involves oocyte enlargement, granulosa cell proliferation and basement membrane synthesis, processes which bFGF has been shown capable of stimulating in vitro (Nuttnick et al 1993, Lavranos et al 1994, Rodgers et al 1995). Another potential mechanism regulating follicle development involves neurotrophic molecules such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain-derived neurotophic factor (BDNF) the absence of which has been shown to impair folliculogenesis and delay puberty (Lara et al 1990, Ojcda et al 2000). Equally as important as the production of activating substances is the removal of potential inhibitors of early folliculogenesis. Transforming growth factor  $\beta 2$  is expressed in quiescent but not early growing follicles in primates and has been suggested as an inhibitor of the kit ligand system and, subsequently, of follicular recruitment (Gougeon and Busso 2000, Heinrich et al 1995). Antimullerian hormone (AMH) is highly expressed in the granulosa cells of nonatretic preantral and small antral follicles and has been shown to exert an inhibitory effect on recruitment of primordial follicles into the pool of growing follicles with AMH-null females showing rapid depletion of their primordial follicle stock (Durlinger et al 1999).

When a follicle does begin to grow it will continue to grow and either succeed to ovulation or degeneration (Peters and McNatty 1980). It takes three weeks to grow from the primordial stage to maturity in the mouse (Pedersen 1970). During this time the oocyte enlarges and the surrounding layer of granulosa cells become cuboidal and proliferate to develop into an intermediary and then primary follicle (Fortune and Eppig, 1979). The secondary follicle is characterised by the appearance of a second layer of granulosa cells. Primary and secondary follicular development can take place in the absence of gonadotrophins but the follicles are responsive to, and optimal follicular growth may require, the presence of these hormones (Fortune and Eppig, 1979). Mice lacking growth differentiation factor 9 or bone morphogenic protein 15 form primordial follicles but do not progress past the primary follicle stage and females are sterile (Dong 1996, Galloway 2000). Somewhat later in folliculogenesis, induced mutations in connexins that are involved in somatic cell interactions and somatic-germ cell interactions arrest development at the primary and early antral stages (Simon et al 1997, Juneja et al 1999)



Figure 1.3 The follicular wall consists of three distinct layers, mural granulosa, theca interna and theca externa. The follicular basement membrane separates the granulosa and theca layers.

During the preantral stage, follicles undergo progressive differentiation in addition to substantial growth. The oocyte completes growth and the zona pellucida becomes prominent, whereas theca cells condense and become vascularised outside the developing basement membrane. Granulosa cells proliferate and begin to differentiate relative to their proximity to the basement membrane or the zona pellucida. FIGa has been implicated in the coordinated expression of the three genes (Zp1, Zp2, Zp3) that encode the mouse egg coat (Liang et al 1997) since FIGa null females do not express these genes and the persistence of FIGa expression through folliculogenesis suggest it may play a regulatory role in the expression of multiple oocyte specific genes and regulate additional pathways critical for ovarian development (Soyal et al 2000).

Paracrine signalling within the follicle, which is crucial to emergence of the dominant follicle in species such as humans, brings about the sensitisation of follicles to FSH and LH. Sex steroids, IGF's, and TGF- $\beta$  are important

components of the follicular paracrine system. Development beyond the antral stage is dependant on gonadotrophins (Halpin et al 1986); in their absence follicles become attretic and disappear.

Differentiation of granulosa cells first occurs when the primordial follicle is recruited to initiate growth. Profound alterations in granulosa cells occur concurrent with morphological transformation. The once flattened epitheloid granulosa cell assumes a cuboidal shape and the cells are shifted into prominent mitoses. At the secondary or tertiary follicular stage, differentiation of granulosa cells becomes FSH dependant, in contrast to the pituitary independent differentiation of earlier stages. Recent studies have demonstrated the expression of another type of FSH receptor other than the widely accepted  $G_s$  coupled entity, and its upregulation under hormonal (PMSG) influence during follicular growth (Babu et al 2001). It has been proposed that the receptor may be coupled to a signalling pathway that induces rapid calcium mobilisation and extracellular regulated kinase (ERK) 1 / 2 activation without elevating cAMP (Babu et al 2001). This receptor may serve to stimulate the rapid cell proliferation required for follicular expansion

'n,

Service and a

and the second se

and a state of the second s

かたに やまたち いと

Some of the physiologically important genes that are induced by FSH signalling in the granulosa cell include cytochrome P450 aromatase (cyp19) luteinising hormone receptor (LHR), steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR), P450 side chain cleavage enzyme (cyp11a1), 3 $\beta$  hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 $\beta$ HSD) and inhibin subunits. (Steel and Leung 1993, Richards et al 1995). This physiological importance is underlined by the fact that when FSH action is restricted the developing follicles die by undergoing apoptosis and there are no ovulations (Hseuh et al 1994, Tilly 1996).

Gonadotrophin stimulation of the granulosa cells in larger follicles is responsible for the secretion of the angiogenic factor VEGF that regulates the development of the blood vessel network within the thecal compartment. Those follicles, which activate VEGF synthesis early, increase their blood vessel extension and activate steroidogenesis, thus pointing to VEGF production as a crucial event in the control of follicular dynamics (Mattoli et al 2001). The critical role of FSH in follicular development is well established but the effect of the hormone itself is subject to numerous growth factors produced by the follicle that modulate FSH action through autocrine, paracrine and endocrine mechanisms. Increasing evidence supports a role for various systemic growth factors, intraovarian growth factors, or both, including insulin-like growth factors I and II (IGF-I and IGF-II) and their binding proteins (IGF-BPs), epidermal growth factor (EGF) family members (including transforming growth factor alpha: TGF $\alpha$ ), and TGF $\beta$  superfamily members (including inhibits and activins) as co-regulators of follicle development and will be discussed at length later (section 1.5.2.3). There is increasing evidence that FSH also plays a role in the resumption of meiosis (Dekel and Beers 1978, Downs et al 1998, Singh et al 1997). In the antral follicle, FSH alters the environment of the maturing oocyte by stimulating granulosa cell divison and differentiation (Themmen and Huhtaniemi 2000), modulating steroidogenesis (Zhang and Armstrong 1989, Moor et al 1985, Szoltys et al 1994), granulosa cell metabolism (Downs and Utecht 1999, Downs et al 2002) protein synthesis (Singh et al 1997, Moor et al 1985) and inducing cumulus expansion (Eppig 1979). At this time the oocyte undergoes critical cellular events that enable the egg to resume meiosis and complete cytoplasmic maturation.

During late FSH-induced granulosa cell development LH has a stronger effect on cAMP than FSII (Richards 1994, Yong et al 1992b), which would suggest increased LHR density or more effective coupling to cAMP generation. The LH surge triggers the expression of 'high-tone' cAMP response genes leading to terminal granulosa cell differentiation and ovulation (Hillier 2001). The genes activated by LH include interleukin 1 $\beta$ , interleukin 1 $\beta$ R (Adashi 1998a), prostaglandin endoperoxidase synthetase 2 (COX-2) (Morris and Richards 1995), VEGF (Ravindranath et al 1992), proteases (Liu et al 1998), neurotrophin receptors (Mayerhofer et al 1996), StAR (Ronen-Fuhrmann et al 1999), and progesterone receptors (Natraj and Richards 1993, Duffy et al 1996, Clemens et al 1998). LH also suppresses granulosa cell division (Yang et al 1992a) and follicle growth; the genes activated by LH create the conditions for follicle rupture, luteinisation and progesterone secretion. Many in vivo models have

linked the failure of these LH-activated processes to different degrees of female infertility (Matzuk and Lamb 2002).

In the maturing follicle, granulosa cells are not a homogenous tissue but rather a specialised subpopulation that consists of corona radiata, cumulus, mural and antral granulosa cells. The two populations of granulosa cells, those around the oocyte, the cumulus oophorus, and those lining the follicle wall, the mural granulosa cells, influence each other through paracrine effects. In the pre-antral follicles with a single layer of cuboidal granulosa cells, these cells contact both the growing oocyte and the basal lamina. By the antral follicular stage the granulosa cell population has become more heterogeneous with distinct separate mural and cumulus cell phenotypes. The subpopulation of cumulus cells that surrounds the oocyte, in direct contact with the oocyte through cytoplasmic extensions across the zona pellucida are known as the corona radiata (De Loos et al 1991). During folliculogenesis, differentiation of these cell types becomes more marked. Prior to ovulation, cumulus cells, under gonadotrophin stimulus secrete hyaluronic acid in a process called mucification (Eppig 1979), mural cells however, under the same stimulus undergo luteinisation. The subpopulations of granulosa cells differ in the distribution of receptors and steroidogenic characteristics (Rouillier et al 1994, 1996, and 1998). This variation has been demonstrated to involve differences in LH receptor distribution, steroidogenic capability, and mRNA encoding cholesterol side chain cleavage cytochrome P450, cytochrome P450 aromatase, IGF-1, Mullerian inhibiting substance, lectin binding, and other uncharacterised molecules (Latham et al 1999). Using high resolution 2D-PAGE analysis Latham et al 1999 showed that protein synthesis patterns of mural and cumulus cells differ at a level of about 10.5% of the proteins having a 2 fold or greater difference. The result of this is that in antral follicles the mural granulosa cells closest to the basal lamina are highly differentiated, as demonstrated by their high steroidogenic potential and LH receptor content (Amsterdam et al 1975, Lawerance et al 1980, Peng et al 1991, Whitelaw et al 1992). In contrast, the cumulus cells surrounding the oocyte are less differentiated, showing lower steroid production and LH receptor levels. The undifferentiated status of the

cumulus cells is necessary for optimal oocyte development (Eppig et al 1998), whereas the highly differentiated mural cells are essential for steroidogenesis as well as follicle rupture induced by the preovulatory LH surge (Nekola et al 1982).

Much of the variation between mural and cumulus cells is thought to be as a result of oocyte-cumulus interactions already described. A concentration gradient of paracrine factors established by the oocyte within the folliele could explain the stratification of granulosa cells in antral and preovulatory follieles, with the oocyte itself responsible for the development of two distinct subpopulations of granulosa cells. The Gdf-9 inhibition of FSH induced differentiation (Vitt et al 2000) of granulosa cells is a striking example of this (discussed in section 1.5.2.3).

The basement membrane is an acellular layer between the thecal and granulosa cells containing several forms of collagen as well as fibronectin, laminin and proteoglycans (Rodgers et al 1999). The follicular antrum contains the follicular fluid made up from blood exudates modified by local secretions and metabolism (Gordon and Lu 1990). Although meiotically competent at the antral stage, oocytes are held in arrest by their interactions with granulosa cells until the preovulatory follicle stage, at which time they progress to metaphase II in anticipation of ovulation and subsequent fertilization (Pincus and Enzmann 1935).

The preovulatory gonadotrophin surge is responsible for the resumption of meiosis in oocytes and induces marked changes in the mural granulosa and cumulus cells. Cumulus expansion occurs via the secretion, from the granulosa cells, of hyaluronic acid (a non-sulphated glycosaminoglycan bound to the cells by linker proteins) which when hydrated embeds the cells in a mucified matrix (Epigg 1979, Salustri et al 1999). Suppression of this process greatly reduces ovulation rate. The mural granulosa cells undergo further differentiation and luteinisation under the same influence.

In addition to granulosa cell development, folliculogenesis is characterised by recruitment and growth of the thecal cell layers. Theca cells are derived from the mesenchymal tissue surrounding the follicles (Hirshfield 1991), and although a
clear thecal cell layer cannot be distinguished in carly follicle stages, the secondary follicle is surrounded by theca cells, which proliferate during follicle progression.

It has been shown that it is the oocyte that coordinates and orchestrates the rate of follicular development (Eppig et al 2002). The rate of follicular development can be doubled by the transfer of mid growth stage oocytes to primordial follicles.

In primates and rodents dominant follicles develop only during the follicular phase and are thus destined for ovulation (Fortune 1994). In contrast the bovine, ovine and equine species show the development of dominant follicles outwith this phase. Dominant follicles influence the development of other follicles (Ginther 1996). Since dominant follicles are more vascular it has been proposed that greater vascularity may play a part in the acquistion of dominance (Reynolds and Redmer 1998). Dominant follicles have a more vascular theca than other antral follicles, and as a result display increase uptake of serum gonadotrophins (McNatty et al 1981). Equally it has been reported that decreased proliferation of thecal capillary endothelial cells leads to reduced thecal vasculature, one of the earliest events in follicular atresia. Atresia of primordial follicles may be due to reduced blood supply (Greenwald 1989, Jablonka-Shariff et al 1994). During follicular development, the majority of ovarian follicles are destined to undergo atresia (Tilly et al 1991, Kaipai and Hseuh 1997). Apoptosis of follicular cells occurs at all stages of follicle development, and is regulated by several intraovarian factors, including tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-α, interleukin (IL)-6, and gonadotrophin releasing hormone (Gorospe 1992, Billig et al 1993, Santana et al 1995, Kaipai et al 1996). In addition, overexpression of Bel-2 in follicular cells inhibits cell apoptosis and increases the frequency of germ cell tumours in ageing animals (Hsu et al 1996). Therefore, follicular cell apoptosis is also important for normal ovarian development.

Development of the ovarian follicles is accompanied by qualitative and quantative changes in the microvascular bed. Primordial follicles are surrounded by single capillary loops and growth of these follicles can be initiated by locally sprouting microvessels (Banks 1992). At a later stage of development the thecal

layers differentiates into two, the theca externa, an outer layer of connective tissue cells and the theca interna, which is an inner vascular layer with cuboidal secretory cells (banks 1992). Entering the theca interna the arterioles break up into a rich network of capillaries that builds a basket like network around the avascular stratum granulosm (Köing et al 1988). The mature Graffian follicle itself is avascular, nourished by diffusion, and its growth gradually leads to inner hypoxia (Neeman et al 1997). After the surge in LH prior to ovulation, vasodilation of capillaries is prominent and the cross-sectional areas of vasculature lumina increase. There is evidence of increased vascular permeability, tissue oedema and ischaemia. Capillaries develop perforations through which blood cells and platelets escape when ovulation occurs. Shortly before ovulation, blood flow stops in a small area of the ovarian surface overlying the bulging follicle, this area then ruptures (Findlay 1986, Rüsse et al 1987).

1.5.2 Follicular signalling mechanisms.

Paracrine and autocrine factors produced within the ovary have the ability to regulate folliculogenesis. Some of these factors are synthesised and secreted by the oocyte (Eppig et al 1997), and act as morphogens to control follicular growth as well as differentiation (Erickson and Shimasaki 2000). Others are produced by the granulosa cells and can have varied effects on follicle growth and development. Communication between the granulosa cells and the oocyte is bidirectional, involves paracrine factors and gap junction mediated signals (Eppig et al 1994 and 1997) and is governed by a complex interplay of regulatory factors. The gonadotrophins are likely to affect the function of this loop by driving the pathways of granulosa cell differentiation, although it is thought that the oocyte controls the direction of differentiation (Eppig 2001) with the mural cell phenotype and ultimate luteinisation the default pathway. The oocyte has the ability to promote the development of the cumulus cell phenotype, although *in vitro* this has been shown to require the presence of FSH (Eppig 1991).

### 1.5.2.1 Communication pathways

To efficiently allow the paracrine interactions described above the oocyte and companion cumulus and mural granulosa cells have developed into a functional syncytium connected via gap junctions, and have established adherence junctions that are specialised zones of cell-cell contact (Eppig 1991, Eppig et al 1996, Amsterdam et al 1976, 1981, 1989a, 1989b, Amsterdam and Rotmensch 1987, Sommersberg et al 2000). This coupling starts at the formation of primordial follicles in the foetus or neonate and expands during later folliculogenesis (Mitchell and Burghardt 1986). As well as paracrine signals, metabolites, amino acids and nucleotides are passed to the developing oocyte. Multiple connexins are involved in these pathways; Cx32, Cx37, Cx43, Cx45 and Cx57 have been identified in rodents (Acket et al 2001). Gap junctions consist of two hemichannels present in the opposing plasma membranes of adjacent cells formed from the oligomerisation of six gap junction proteins. Granulosa cell proliferation beyond the unilaminar stage has been shown to be blocked in Cx43 deficient mice and it has been hypothesised that the ability of granulosa cells to maintain their response to certain paracrine stimulants depends on intercoupling via Cx43 channels. Cx43 null mice also show impaired oocyte development (Acket et al 2001). Cx32 null female mice are both viable and fertile (Nelles et al 1996), Cx37 null mice are viable but follicle development cannot proceed beyond the antral stage and ovulation does not occur. Instead the granulosa cells appear to undergo premature luteinisation (Simon et al 1997). Cx45 knockouts suffer early foctal death (Kumar et al 2000). This variation in phenotype indicates specificity in the gap junction coupling, possibly involving different permeant molecules, and it is therefore incorrect to assume a free passage of paracrine signals throughout the granulosa-oocyte syncytium.

It seems that the integrity of gap junctions plays an important role in the survival of granulosa cells. This conclusion is drawn from the fact that gap junctions become larger and appear in higher incidence subsequent to culturing of the cells on native ECM and/or in the presence of LH, FSH or glucocorticoids (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002, Amsterdam et al 1989). Following stimuli for apoptosis,

integrity of the junctions is interrupted (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002), but it is not yet clear whether apoptotic signals cause the breakdown of gap junctions or whether breakdown of gap junctions initiates and accelerates the apoptotic process. Cx43 is a major component of gap junctions, and its expression is clearly clevated both by gonadotrophins/cAMP (Sommersberg et al 2000) and glucocorticoids (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002). Adherence type, junction size and frequency were also found to be elevated by glucocorticiods, concomitantly with the elevation of cadherin expression (Amsterdam et al 2003). Therefore, integrity of adherence and gap junctions may also play a role in the resistance of granulosa cells to apoptotic signals.

## 1.5.2.2 Intracellular receptor mediated signalling pathways

Gonadotrophins exert their stimulatory activity via interaction with their specific transmembrane receptors. Upon binding of the ligands both receptors stimulate the G<sub>s</sub>-protein via contact sites on the intracellular loops with the specificity of the receptor/G protein interaction depending on the appropriate configuration of the intracellular surface of the receptor (Birnbaumer 1995, Schwartz 1996, Strader et al 1994). This, in turn, activates membrane associated adenylyl cyclase, causing an elevation of intracellular cAMP (Cooke 1999, Hunzicker-Dunn and Birnbaumer 1976, Zeleznik et al 1977). Activation of alternative signalling pathways by gonadotrophin receptors include calcium ion mobilisation (Flores et al 1992), the MAPK pathway (Das et al 1996), the PKA and PKB pathways (Gonzalez-Robayna et al 2000), Sgk signalling (Richards et al 2002) and stimulation of chloride ion influx (Amsterdam et al 1999). FSH is known to regulate glucose uptake via the PI3-kinase pathway (Roberts et al 2004) and signalling via this same pathway has been demonstrated in rat granulosa cells by increased phosphorylation of protein kinase B (PKB/Akt) in the presence of FSH (Gonzalez Robayna et al 2000, Shimada et al 2003). Further FSH stimulated responses can be inhibited by PI3-kinase inhibitors (Sun et al 2003, Shimada et al 2003).

In the ovary, FSH and LH stimulate the A-kinase pathway and thereby control the growth and differentiation of the ovarian follicle (Walsh et al 1968). Tonic FSH stimulation of immature granulosa cell induces low levels of intracellular cAMP formation and activation of genes required for proliferation and differentiation. (Hillier 2001). Genes such as serum- and glucocorticoid-induced kinase (Sgk) (Alliston et al 1997, Webster et al 1993) and serum-induced kinase (Snk) (Walsh et al 1968), as well as the cell cycle regulatory molecule, cyclin D2 (Sicinski et al 1996, Robker and Richards 1998), are induced in these cells in an immediate early expression pattern. In contrast, other genes exhibit a more delayed response to hormone stimulation and do not peak until 24-48 hrs after exposure to FSH when granulosa cell function has reached the preovulatory stage. Genes induced at this time include aromatase (Hickey et al 1990, Fitzpatrick and Richards 1991), inhibin  $\alpha$  (Pei et al 1991), LH receptor (Segaloff et al 1990, Richards 1994), and the secondary rise of Sgk (Natraj and Richards 1993). In response to the LH surge granulosa cells generate high levels of cAMP and rapidly initiate a program of terminal differentiation in which proliferation ceases (Richards 1994, Robker and Richards 1998). LH dramatically downregulates genes associated with follicular function such as aromatase (Richards 1994, Fitzpatrick and Richards 1991) and cyclin D2 (Robker and Richards 1998) and rapidly, but transiently, induces gencs required for ovulation such as progesterone receptor (Natraj and Richards 1993, Park and Mayo 1991, Richards et al 1998, Clemens et al 1998, Lydon et al 1995), prostaglandin synthetase-2 (Wong and Richards 1991, Sirois and Richards 1993, Dinchuk et al 1995, Morham et al 1995) and CAAT enhancer binding protein (Sirois and Richards 1993, Sterneck et al 1997). During the process of luteinisation granulosa cells appear to become refractory to further cAMP stimulation. Genes such as P450scc (Richards et al 1986, Oonk et al 1989) are constitutively expressed at elevated levels. Neither cAMP stimulation, nor A-kinase inhibition, alters expression of P450scc in luteinised cells (Oonk et al 1989).

In the testis and ovary agonist activation of LHR via G protein coupling leads to stimulation of adenylate cyclase and phosphorylation of intracellular proteins via activation of protein kinase A (Catt and Dufau 1991, Dufau 1988), as discussed

below. The high surge concentrations of LH up-regulate PKA signalling and alter the expression of other genes that coordinate the final stages of follicular development and ovulation (Hillier 2001). In the ovary the receptor also promotes PI hydrolysis and calcium signalling (Davis et al 1984, Kosugi et al 1996). PI hydrolysis probably results from stimulation of phospholipase C (Herrlich et al 1995, Rajagopalan-Gupta et al 1997). There is a wide difference in gonadotrophin concentrations (ED<sub>50</sub> 50-100pM versus 2500 pM hCG respectively) needed for stimulation of adenviate cyclase and PI hydrolysis in Leydig cells expressing LHR (Guderman et al 1992) confirming the predominace of the adenviate cyclase pathway in this cell type. In the ovary, however, the increased hormonal stimulation at certain stages of the ovarian cycle brings the PI pathway into operation (Dufau 1998). The diverse pathways of gene expression that are regulated by FSH in granulosa cells are dramatically altered by the LH surge-induced transition to luteal cells. LH also regulates the expression of PRL receptors (Richards and Williams 1976, Ormandy et al 1997, Gibori 1992) which, in response to cytokine, activates the Jak/Stat signalling pathway in rat luteal cells (Dajee et al 1996 and 1998, Russell et al 1996).

# Protein Kinase A

Gonadotrophin signalling via PKA/adenylyl cyclase is one of the most extensively documented granulosa cell signalling pathways. Activation of the gonadotrophin receptors activates adenylyl cyclase, and in turn leads to the induction of PKA. A-kinase not only regulates its own pathway by controlling levels of its regulatory subunits (Richards et al 1987), LH receptors (Segaloff et al 1990), and the phosphorylation of transcription factors such as cAMP response element binding protein (Carlone and Richards 1997, Mukherjee et al 1996) but it is also known to regulate other cellular signalling pathways that control cell proliferation and differentiation. These include the cyclin-dependant kinases controlling mitosis (Sherr 1996, Elledge 1996, Hunter and Pines 1994), MAPK (Das et al 1996, Maizels et al 1998), PRL receptors (Richards and Williams 1976, Ormandy et al 1997, Gibori 1992) and several members of the serine/threonine kinase family including Sgk and Snk (Webster et al 1993,

Simmons et al 1992). Apoptosis is rapidly induced in cultured granulosa cells from hen preovulatory follicles when treated with the pharmacologic PKA inhibitor, H-89 (Chun et al 1994 and 1996).

Thus the A-kinase pathway controls the expression of numerous genes in granulosa cells at distinct stages of differentiation and by specific molecular events.

# Protein Kinase B

The PKB pathway consists of three isoforms that are activated following phosphorylation. It is well established that several growth factors such as insulinlike growth factor -I (IGF-I) and transforming growth factor  $\alpha$  (TGF $\alpha$ ) initiate PKB activation and promote granulosa cell survival (Westfall et al 2000, Johnson et al 2001). FSH can activate PKB signalling in a PKA independent manner (Gonzalez-Robayna et al 2000) mediated by PI3 kinase (Zeleznik et al 2003), with inhibition of this activation by a PI3 kinase inhibitor actively promoting apoptotic cell death (Asselin et al 2001) and blocking the survival promoting effects of IGF-1 and TGF $\alpha$  treatment (Westfall et al 2000, Johnson et al 2001). Significantly, this apoptosis is reversed when cells are co-cultured in the presence of cAMP or LH (Johnson et al 2001). PKB is obligatory to FSH-stimulated granulosa cell differentiation since it is required for the expression of aromatase and LH receptor mRNA (Zeleznik et al 2003).

## Protein Kinase C

In primary rat granulosa cell culture the effect of ovulatory concentrations of LH can be mimicked by subovulatory concentrations of LH/hCG used in conjunction with a PKC activator, suggesting that the PKC pathway serves to mediate the actions of LH (Morris and Richards 1993 and 1995). However Salvador et al 2002 demonstrated that activation of PKC is not a direct consequence of LH receptor activation and its precise role as a mediator of gonadotrophic signals has yet to be determined.

# Serum and glucocorticoid-induced kinase (Sgk)

Up-regulation of Sgk signalling is promoted by FSH and LH in granulosa cells from preovulatory follicles, and upon activation Sgk is known to translocate to the nucleus where it can modulate the activity of transcription factors (Richards et al 2002). However there is a distinct transition of Sgk protein from the nucleus in immature, proliferative granulosa cells to punctate sites within the cytoplasm of differentiated, non proliferative, luteinising granulosa cells (Gonzalez-Robayna et al 1999). Its expression in both proliferating granulosa cells, terminally differentiated luteal cells as well as resting oocytes suggests Sgk may have multiple functions in controlling cell cycle progression and differentiation (Alliston et al 2000).

## Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK)

The mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade consists of multiple pathways, including those that signal through c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs), p38 MAP kinases (p38 MAPK) and extracellular signal related kinases (ERKs). Whilst JNK and p38MAPK pathways are linked to promoting cell apoptosis (Gebauer et al 1999), the ERK pathway is indirectly linked to promoting cell survival (Gebauer et al 1999, Johnson et al 2001) and has a firmly established role in the modulation of gonadotrophin induced differentiation (Seger et al 2001). FSH has been shown to regulate the mitogen activated protein kinases (Das et al 1996, Maizels et al 1998). It has also been demonstrated that ovarian granulosa cell ERK is activated (2-5 fold) in response to LH and FSH (Cameron et al 1996, Das et al 1996) and that this activation is generated via the PKA pathway in gonadotrophin-induced granulosa cells (Seger et al 2001). The ERK cascade can activate G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 which, in turn, induces down regulation of the gonadotrophin receptors (Pitcher et al 1999).

## 1.5.2.3 Intrafollicular paracrine and autocrine signalling factors

Over the last few years a number of growth factors have been identified as being involved in folliculogenesis. Those secreted by the oocyte and acting on granulosa cells: GDF-9, BMP-15, BMP-6, TGF $\beta$ -2, FGF-8. Other factors

produced by the granulosa cells include components of the IGF system, PAPP-A, inhibin, activin, follistatin and kit ligand. Thecal cells produce IGF, EGF, KGF, TGF $\alpha$ , BMP-4 and BMP-7, which also target the granulosa cell (for reviews see Knight and Glister 2001 and 2003).

# GDF-9

Evidence is available to indicate that oocyte-secreted factors can influence FSH action (Eppig et al 1997, Matzuk 2000, Erickson and Shimasaki 2000). In vitro experiments have shown that oocyte-derived factors can act to inhibit FSHinduced expression of P450scc, progesterone (P4) production (Goldschmit et al 1989), urokinase plasminogen activator (Canipari et al 1995), and LH-R mRNA (Eppig 1997), while acting to stimulate mitosis (Vanderhyden et al 1992), hyaluronic acid (Buccione et al 1990, Salustri et al 1990, Vanderhyden et al 1990), and oestradiol production (Vanderhyden 1995). GDF-9, which is exclusively expressed in the oocyte (Dong et al 1996), is one oocyte factor involved in the regulation of these proliferative and differentiation responses (Hayashi et al 1999, Elvin et al 1999, Elvin et al 2000, Vitt et al 2000). Gdf-9 production starts in mice at the primary follicle stage but in other species can be expressed by primordial oocytes. In Gdf-9 null mice, follicle development ceases at the primary pre antral stage, despite continued oocyte growth and zona pellucida formation (Dong et al 1996). The oocyte growth in this case being correlated with increased expression of another paracrine signalling molecule, MGF (mast cell growth factor), by the granulosa cells (Elvin et al 1999b). Study of Gdf-9 deficient mice has shown that it has an important role in the stimulation of granulosa cell proliferation during pre antral and primary follicle development and stimulates DNA synthesis in preantral and dominant secondary follicles. It also reduces FSH-induced differentiation in granulosa cells as reflected by the suppression of steroidogenesis and LH receptor expression (Vitt et al 2000).

## Kit Ligand

Granulosa cells produce kit ligand (KL), which induces oocyte growth or development and theca cell proliferation (Parrott and Skinner 1997 and 2000).

Expression of the KL gene encoding KL mRNA, important for initiation of follicular growth, antrum formation and oocyte maturation (Driancourt et al 2000), is increased in granulosa cells of Gdf-9 null mice (Elvin et al 1999). This indicates that Gdf-9 suppresses KL in granulosa cells. Gdf-9 null animals also fail to express c-kit receptors on the theca cells (as well as 17-alpha-hydroxylase and LH receptors) (Haung et al 1993). Immature oocytes *in vitro* have been shown to reduce kit ligand expression by granulosa cells (Joyce et al 1999), therefore, early follicle progression could be coordinated through combined actions of oocyte derived Gdf-9 and granulosa cell derived kit ligand.

The importance of c-kit receptor and KL interaction was initially found in mouse strains with a homozygous mutation in either e-kit or KL encoding genes which were fertile. There are two membrane bound forms, KL-1 and KL-2, which can be cleaved to produce soluble forms of KL (Williams et al 1992). In the ovary ckit is expressed in oocytes (Horie et al 1991, Manova et al 1991) and KL produced by granulosa cells affects oocyte growth in a paracrine manner (Clark et al 1996, Motro and Bernstein 1993, Tisdall et al 1997). Expression of c-kit is found in oocytes at as early as the primordial follicle stage in newborn mice (Manova et al 1993) and in the mouse inhibition of the interaction between KL and c-kit by specific antibody prevents transition from primordial follicles to primary follicles without blocking the formation of primordial follicles (Haung et al 1993, Yoshida et al 1997). Administration of anti- c-kit antibody to mice has even stopped the proliferation of granulosa cells (Yoshida et al 1997). Therefore KL/c-kit interactions appear to be essential for the growth initiation of mouse oocytes. It has also been shown that KL promotes the growth of oocytes in vitro (Packer et al 1994) and induces significant development of primordial follicles (Parrott and Skinner 1999), as well as having a promotional effect on antrum formation (Reynaud et al 2000).

## Bone morphogenic proteins

Another member of the same transforming growth factor- $\beta$  superfamily, BMP-15 (or GDF-9B) has been implicated in modifying FSH action by suppressing FSH receptor expression (Otsuka et al 2001) without affecting adenylate cyclase activity, as well as stimulating granulosa cell proliferation and selectively inhibiting FSH induced P4, but not E2, production (Otsuka et al 2000). BMP15 achieves this by lowering the steady state levels of FSH-induced mRNA including StAR, P450see,  $3\beta$ -HSD, LH-R, inhibin/activin subunits and FSH-R (Otsuka 2001). It is considered to be a negative regulator of the major actions of FSH in the ovary and consequently the oocyte can play an important role in determining granulosa cell proliferation and FSH sensitivity in developing follicles. BMP15 has an essential role in folliculogenesis and fertility by promoting early folliculogenesis while preventing the later stages of follicular maturation. A recent genetic study with a naturally occurring BMP15 defect homozygous mutant in sheep shows follicular development which has arrested at the primary stage resulting in infertility. In contrast heterozygotes exhibit increased ovulation rate and multiple pregnancies (Galloway et al 2000), an effect which may possibly be related to the inhibitory action of BMP15 on FSHR expression.

BMP6 unlike Gdf-9 and BMP15 lacks mitogenic activity on granulosa cells and has a selective modulation of FSH action on steroidogenesis, suppressing FSH induced progesterone P4 production but not oestradiol production. It also has similar actions to BMP15 as it attenuates steady state mRNA levels of FSHinduced StAR and P450scc, without an affect on P450 aromatase mRNA level. It is thought to work by down-regulating adenyl cyclase activity without altering FSH-R mRNA levels (Otsuka et al 2000). This factor does not appear to have an essential role in fertility since BMP6 null mice are fertile with normal sized litters (Tilly et al 1992). The highly prolific Booroola strain of Merino ewes have a point mutation in a gene encoding the bone morphogenic protein receptor IB (Mulsant et al 2001, Wilson et al 2001, Souza et al 2001) which confers increased fertility through higher ovulation rates and litter sizes in both heterozygotes and homozygotes. It has been suggested that this phenotype may be caused by the inability of the granulosa cell to elicit BMP6 signalling. (Otsuka 2001). This would prevent inhibition of cAMP synthesis causing an increased sensitivity to FSH.

Other members of the BMP system are known to be active within the follicle, BMP3 is expressed in human granulosa-lutein cells (Jaatinen et al 1996) and BMP receptors are expressed in both oocytes and granulosa cells throughout follicle development (Shimasaki et al 1999). BMP4 and BMP7 are produced by the thecal cell and exert a paracrine influence on granulosa function (Glister et al 2004).

## Inhibin, acitivin and follistatin

Granulosa cells are a major site of inhibin, activin and follistatin (FS) expression. FSHR activation is required for granulosa cells to transcribe the inhibin  $\beta A$ ,  $\beta B$ and alpha subunits above basal levels (Hirst et al 2004). While increased levels of FSH increase production of inhibin B in granulosa cells it is suggested that LH stimulation may be responsible for the late follicular rise in inhibin  $\beta A$ subunit expression (Woodruff et al 1996, Hirst et al 2004). The endocrine role played by inhibins in the negative feedback regulation of pituitary FSH secretion has already been mentioned, however activins, FS, and inhibins are also firmly implicated as intraovarian autocrine/paracrine regulators of follicle function. For instance, activin A has been shown to promote granulosa cell proliferation, up regulate FSH receptor expression and enhance granulosa cell steroidogenesis and inhibin production. Through its role as an activin binding protein, FS can neutralise these actions of activins. Follistatin is highly expressed by granulosa cells of developing follicles (Shimasaki et al 1988 and 1989, Nakatani et al 1991) and binds activin A, AB, and B with high affinities (Roberts et al 1993, Nakamura et al 1990, Shimonaka et al 1991, Kogaua et al 1991, Schneyer et al 1994) blocking the biological action of those molecules including stimulation of FSH receptor expression and inhibin secretion (DePaolo et al 1991, Xiao and Findley 1991, Nakamura et al 1992, Xiao et al 1992, Cataldo et al 1994, Eramaa et al 1995). It also binds to BMP-15 to form an inactive complex inhibiting its bioactivity (Otsuka et al 2001).

It is debatable whether inhibins exert autocrine actions to modulate granulosa cell function, although they have a potent paracrine effect on thecal cells to enhance LH-induced androgen production, while activin acts to inhibit thecal

androgen synthesis (Hseuh et al 1987, Hillier 1991, Hillier et al 1991b). Activin predominates in immature follicles where it promotes FSH-induced mitosis and FSH-induced steroidogenic differentiation (Miro and Hillier 1996). Inhibin and follistatin are produced in progressively greater amounts relative to activin by granulosa cells as follicles mature (Nakatani et al 1991). Thereby the stimulatory action of inhibin on thecal androgen synthesis gains sway during late preovulatory follicular development, when androgen is required in increasing amounts as a substrate for oestrogen synthesis (Hillier 1991).

## Insulin-like Growth Factors

Of the many growth factors which have varied effects on follicle growth and development the IGF system is among the most extensively studied. Granulosa cells express type 1 IGF receptors (Perks et al 1995, Spicer et al 1994, Armstrong et al 2000) and it has a proven link to FSH action via IGFBP-4, which is a potent inhibitor of FSH-induced oestradiol production in granulosa cells. Gene expression of IGFBP-4 has been demonstrated in attetic follicles *in vivo* and is thought to be involved (through its FSH antagonistic activities) in the regulatory pathways that lead to follicle atresia. The production of an IGFBP-4 protease in granulosa cells has been reported to be stimulated by FSH. Pregnancy associated plasma protein-A (PAPP-A) has been identified as an IGFBP-4ase and demonstrated to be present in follicular fluid. Recent evidence suggests that expression of the PAPP-A gene is restricted to granulosa cells of healthy Graafian follicles and lutcal cells of healthy CL's (Erickson and Shimasaki 2001).

Although physiological concentrations of insulin, IGF-I and IGF-II can stimulate thecal androgen production, inhibin greatly enhances the action of all three factors *in vitro* (Nahum et al 1995). Thus, regardless of the contributions made by insulin or IGF's to the control of follicular androgen production, paracrine regulation by inhibin could be of overriding importance during preovulatory follicular development. Antral follicles, too immature to secrete oestrogen, do not need androgen as an aromatase precursor (Hillier et al 1994). At such early stages of development, androgen synthesis may be suppressed due to a

preponderance of activin relative to inhibin, possibly aided by granulosa cell derived IGF-BPs that sequester and inhibit the actions of IGFs (Ling et al 1993). Granulosa cells express type 1 IGF receptors and it is well established in a range of species, that IGF can act both alone, and in synergy with FSH, to modulate granulosa cell proliferation, differentiation, and steroidogenesis. IGF-1 has been found to induce mitosis and enhance steroidogenesis of bovine granulosa and thecal cells (Schains et al 1988, Spicer et al 1996). Deletion of the IGF-I gene leads to a failure of ovulation although follicle development occurs to the preantral stage (Baker et al 1996). It is thought that the role of IGF-I is to amplify FSH action. Transcripts of IGF-II, -IR, and IGFBP-2 to -5 have also been shown to be expressed in the mouse ovary (Wandji et al 1998), with only the expression of IGF-I and IGFBP-4 and -5 changing during the course of follicular development, IGF-I levels increase within the follicle as it progresses to the antral stage and it is known to regulate antral development and FSH action (increased aromatase activity) (Baker et al 1996, Zhou et al 1997). Early follicular development with low growth rate is associated with low IGF-I levels, whereas high IGF-1 levels are found in rapidly growing large preantral and early antral follicles and it has been suggested that IGF-I may be rate limiting for preantral follicle development (Wandji et al 1998). Expression of IGFBP-4 transcripts in granulosa cells have been found to precede the morphological appearance of atresia, and it has been hypothesised that IGFBP-4 promotes follicular atresia by sequestrating IGF-1, thereby reducing its ability to interact with IGF-IR in granulosa cells (Baker et al 1996). In the rat ovary, FSH can stimulate the production of IGF-I by granulosa cells, this suggests a paracrine role for granulosa cell derived IGF-I in the regulation of thecal androgen synthesis (Hernandez et al 1992, Adashi 1998b). Thecal cells have been shown to possess receptors for insulin and IGFs, (Poretsky et al 1985) and both insulin and IGF stimulate thecal/stromal androgen synthesis in vitro.

#### Connective tissue growth factor

Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) is expressed during the predifferentiated stage of granulosa cell development in the rat ovary. FSH

stimulus on granulosa cells induces down regulation of granulosa cell CTGF mRNA although it remains expressed in the most antrally located granulosa cells up to and after ovulation. It is suggested that it may have a role in establishing or maintaining the early follicular cell phenotype and also as a thecal cell mitogen or luteotrophic factor (Harlow and Hillier 2002).

## 1.5.2.4 Intraovarian role of the steroid hormones

The paracrine activities of ovarian steroid hormones have important roles in the regulation of local ovarian function as well as their feedback regulation of pituitary function.

#### Oestrogen

FSH-induced expression of the enzyme cytochrome P450arom leads to increased conversion of androgen to oestrogen in preovulatory granulosa cells (Richards 1980, Hillier et al 1994). Granulosa cells also express oestrogen receptors, which may mediate autocrine action within the granulosa cell layer (Richards 1975a and 1975b). The effect of oestrogen on the granulosa cell is to amplify the overall actions of FSH (Richards 1994). Oestradiol has been shown to be obligatory for synthesis of specific proteins in rat granulosa cells in response to FSH and LH (Richards 1980, Hseuh et al 1984)

Oestrogen synthesis by the granulosa cell can exert diverse local and systemic physiological effects. Oestrogens stimulate the proliferation of granulosa cells and facilitate the LH- and FSH-induced differentiation of these cells by increasing LH receptor level and enhancing gap junction formation (Rosenfield et al 2001). The autocrine actions of oestradiol  $17\beta$  (E2), the principle bioactive oestrogen, are mediated via two nuclear factors, oestrogen receptor (ER)- $\alpha$  and - $\beta$ , in the granulosa cell. Effects are principally via ER- $\beta$ , although both receptors are present (Couse et al 1997).

Oestrogens increase follicular expression of both FSH and LH receptors and in bovine follicles acts on thecal cells to provide positive feedback on androgen synthesis (Fortune 1986, Roberts and Skinner 1990). It can influence gap junction formation (Burghardt and Anderson 1981) via regulation of connexin 43 (Yu et al 1994) and inhibit granulosa cell apoptosis (Lund et al 1999). Oestrogen is known to increase the CYP17 expression in theca cells (Johnson and Crane 1998), an essential enzyme foe catalysis of the 14-demethylation of sterol precursors, and the consequent increase in progesterone production which is thought to promote corpus luteum formation and maintenance through luteal progesterone receptors (Duffy and Stouffer 1995).

Oestrogens are pro-angiogenic *in vivo*. They are known to moduate angiogenesis, and have been demonstrated to augment angiogenesis induced by FGF. Equally however, the endogenous oestrogen metabolite 2-methoxyestradiol is known to be a potent anti-angiogenic factor. It induces apoptosis in endothelial cells and inhibits angiogenesis (Yue et al 1997).

### Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids are not true ovarian paracrine factors since the ovarian cells do not express the enzymes necessary for glucocorticoid synthesis. They do however express  $11\beta$  hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 $\beta$ HSD), a microsomal short chain alcohol dehydrogenase (Krozowski 1992), that interconverts cortisone and cortisol and thereby control the access of cortisol to ovarian corticosteroid receptors (Micheal et al 1997). Evidence for glucocorticoids having a physiological role in the regulation of ovarian folliculogenesis has been strengthened with the knowledge that granulosa cell expression of  $11\beta$ HSD is developmentally regulated. High affinity glucocorticoid receptors are present in rodent granulosa cells (Schreiber et al 1982) and glucocorticoids have been shown to modify gonadotrophin action on these cells in vitro. Gonadotrophic regulation of 11BHSD genes in the ovary has been demonstrated-LH induces 11BHSD1 and down regulates 11BHSD2-both enzymes catalysing cortisolcortisone conversions (Tetsuka et al 1997, 1999a, 1999b). This favours local accumulation of anti-inflammatory cortisol to aid rapid postovulatory healing and quickly restore normal ovulatory function (Hillier and Tetsuka 1998). Glucocorticoids have been shown to stimulate FSH-induced progesterone production and tissue-type plasminogen activator (Tetsuka et al 1999). The physiological importance of this is that the follicle is likely to operate a cortisolcortisone (corticosterone-11-dehydrocorticosterone in the rat and mouse) shuttle based on differential expression of 11 $\beta$ HSD, the follicle can alternate between inactivation via 11 $\beta$ HSD2 catalysed oxidation to activation via 11 $\beta$ HSD1 catalysed reduction. This allows ovulatory follicles to gain exposure to glucocorticoids at levels required for involvement in oogenesis, or the process of follicular rupture, possibly as an anti-inflammatory modulator.

Glucocorticoids such as dexamethasone and hydrocortisone enhance steroidogenesis granulosa cells while co-stimulation with in gonadotrophin/cAMP enhances formation of progesterone (Hosokawa et al 1998, Sasson et al 2002, Barkan et al 1999). Glucocorticoids have been found to exert protective effects on apoptosis induced by serum deprivation, cAMP, p53 and TNF-a (Hosokawa et al 1998, Sasson et al 2001 and 2002, Barkan et al 1999.). The protective effects are exerted by upregulation of BCL2 and/or attenuation of its degradation (Barkan et al 1999, Sasson and Amsterdam 2002). Glucocorticoids, therefore, may play an important role in vivo by accelerating the healing process of the ruptured follicle subsequent to ovulation and during formation of the corpus luteum (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002, Amsterdam et al 2002)

## Progesterone

Progesterone is produced in increasing amounts in differentiated granulosa cells through FSH induction of cytochrome P450scc, which catalyses the rate limiting conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone (Richards et al 1998). Progesterone is one of the major steroids synthesised and secreted by the ovary (Monniaux et al 1997). It is synthesised by preantral follicles with just two to four layers of granulosa cells (Roy and Greenwald 1987), with the rate of progesterone secretion increasing as follicle development proceeds (Roy and Greenwald 1987, Fujii et al 1983). Although the concentration of progesterone fluctuates throughout the oestrus cycle, the concentration of progesterone within antral follicles is always within the micromolar range (Fujii et al 1983). The importance of these high progesterone levels in regulating ovulation has been emphasised by several studies (Curry and Nothnick 1996, Robker et al 2000). These investigations have shown that the nuclear PR does not appear in granulosa cells until the onset of the LH surge. It is then transiently expressed before ovulation and reappears later in the corpus luteum (Natraj and Richards 1993). Further treatment with PR antagonists or genetic ablation of the nuclear PR interferes with gonadotrophin-induced ovulation (Curry and Nothnick 1996, Robker et al 2000, Pall et al 2000, Conneely et al 2002, Lydon et al 1996) demonstrating the progesterone receptor gene to be essential for ovulation. Based on the expression pattern of the PR it is predictable that progesterone inhibits apoptosis of granulosa cells isolated during the periovulatory period (Svensson et al 2000). Progesterone also prevents apoptosis of granulosa cells isolated from immature rats prior to the gonadotrophin surge (Peluso and Pappalardo 1998, Peluso et al 2001) and inhibits apoptosis of spontaneously immortalised granulosa cells (Peluso et al 2001). This is suprising considering that granulosa cells isolated prior to the LH surge do not express the classic nuclear PR (Natraj and Richards 1993, Park and Mayo 1991). Recent work has suggested that this anti-apoptotic action is mediated via a 60kDa progesterone binding protein which serves to regulate calcium homeostasis and ultimately granulosa cell viability (Peluso 2003).

Progesterone synthesis during the oestrus cycle can play an important role in the fertilisation of the oocyte following ovulation. It has been suggested that early progesterone production in the preovulatory follicle impairs the quality of the mature egg during fertilisation (Lindheim et al 1998, Fanchin et al 1997, Urman et al 1999). In contrast, proper timing of progesterone production and the duration of its secretion seems to be critical for maintaining functional granulosa-lutein cells, subsequent to the LH surge and maintenance of the corpus luteum during early pregnancy. Progesterone interaction with its cytosolic receptor may play a part in the survival activity of the granulosa-lutein cells (Svensson 2001)

### Androgens

Synthesis of androgens occurs in thecal cells under LH control (Smyth et al 1993). Granulosa cells express androgen receptors (AR) throughout antral development, permitting paracrine androgenic stimulation (Tetsuka et al 1995 and 1996). The main effect of this is the up-regulation of cAMP formation, possibly through inhibition of cAMP metabolism (Hillier and de Zwart 1982). Amplification of FSH induced PKA signalling by androgen appears to be a means of sensitising granulosa cells to tonic stimulation by FSH. During late preovulatory development, transcription of the granulosa AR gene and AR protein levels decline which may serve to diminish granulosa cell responsiveness to gonadotrophins and delay terminal differentiation (luteinisation) until exposure to the LH surge (Hillier and Tetsuka 1997, Tetsuka et al 1995).

The role of androgens in influencing the process of folliculogenesis has been examined. They have two roles, firstly as metabolic precursors for androgen synthesis, and secondly as ligands for androgen receptors. Androgens are the predominant steroids produced in early follicular development and are present at high concentrations in follicular fluid at all stages of follicular growth, although the ratio of androgens to oestrogens changes as the follicle advances and dominant follicles engage in aromatase activity (McNatty et al 1979). Studies using 5a-dihydrotestosterone (DHT) have shown that androgens have a direct effect on ovarian function (Louvet et al 1975, Nandedkar et al 1981, Rao 1975, Armstrong and Dorrington 1976, Daniel and Armstrong 1980, Hillier and De Zwart 1981), an effect thought to be mediated by the androgen receptor (AR) which has been detected in ovarian cells from all vertebrate species studied to date (Ito et al 1985, Hild-Petito et al 1991, Horic et al 1992, Yoshimura et al 1993, Hirai et al 1994, Sperry and Thomas 1999, Touhata et al 1999, Slomczynska et al 2001, Lutz et al 2001, Vermeirsch et al 2001), suggesting a conserved receptor mediated role for androgens in folliculogenesis. Granulosa cells display the strongest AR immunoreactivity and are exposed to both testosterone and DHT sourced from thecal cells and internal production from conversion of androgen precursors (McNatty et al 1979). Both testosterone and DHT promote in vitro follicle growth in mice (Murray et al 1998, Wang et al 2001) and many of the differentiative actions of FSH on granulosa cells are augmented by AR agonists including, cholesterol mechanism, progesterone secretion, expression of steroidogenic enzymes, and induction of aromatase activity (for review see Hillier and Tetsuka 1997)

## Other steroid metabolites

One product of lanosterol 14 $\alpha$ -demethylase (CYP51) mediated lanosterol 14 demethylation has been identified as a meiosis activating steroid (MAS). Ovarian CYP51 is expressed in mature ovarian follicles and corpa lutea, and is suppressed in hypophysectomised animals. Induction of CYP51 activity with PMSG is due to synergism of marked growth of follicles and elevation of CYP51 levels in each follicle. The expression of CYP51 is dependent on pituitary gonadotrophins and its expression in follicles, triggered by FSH, has been shown to be higher in cumulus cells than in mural granulosa cells supporting a local elevation of MAS required for resumption of meiosis (Yamashita 2001, Rozman et al 2002).

Ovarian steroid hormones may also play an important role in controlling ovarian cell death. Oestradiol acts as a survival factor in both corpus luteum and granulosa cells (Goodman et al 1998). Progesterone was suggested to maintain genomic viability through non genomic mechanisms (Peluso 1997). Glucocorticoids, such as hydrocortisone and dexamethasone, were also found to protect against apoptosis and it has been reported that both oestradiol and dexamethasone can increase the synthesis of Bcl-2, which serves as an ovarian survival factor (Goodman et al 1998, Sasson et al 1999). Androgens are reported to antagonise the protective effect of diethylstilbestrol (DES), which has oestrogenic activity in granulosa cells (Billig et al 1993). In contrast testosterone was found to reduce spontaneous follicular apoptosis in immature rats, leading to the development of polycystic ovaries (Gold et al 1999).

1.5.3 Thecal role in follicular function.

Communication between the granulosa cells and the oocyte is necessary for follicle development (Tsafriri 1997), but interaction between granulosa and theca cells is also critical. Factors secreted by preantral granulosa cells enhance differentiation of theca cells before expression of LH receptors (Gelety et al 1997), and co culture of theca and granulosa cells increases the proliferation and steroidogenesis of both cell types (Kotsuji et al 1994). Thus paracrine factors secreted between theca and granulosa cells are likely to play a crucial role in follicle development. In vitro studies suggest that these two somatic cell types modulate each other's responsiveness to gonadotrophins in a reciprocal manner (Kotsuji et al 1994). Signalling of c-kit receptors on theca cells is modulated by granulosa cell derived kit ligand, and theca cells produce keratinocyte and hepatocyte growth factor, which influence granulosa cell physiology (Parrott and Skinner 1998, McGee et al 1999). Furthermore, following stimulation by LH, theca cells secrete androgens to serve as substrates for the oestrogen producing granulosa cells.

EGF, and its closely related homologue TGF $\alpha$ , are expressed by various cell types; they both interact with the same cell surface receptor (EGF receptor), which is expressed by numerous cell types including granulosa and thecal cells. Exposure of granulosa cells to EGF/TGF $\alpha$  promotes cell proliferation and this is associated with a loss of differentiated function, exemplified by a marked reduction in E2 production in vitro and in vivo. Theca cells have been identified as a key site of TGF $\alpha$  expression in the bovine ovary and evidence suggests that TGF $\alpha$  of thecat origin exerts a local paracrine action on neighbouring granulosa cells to modulate their proliferation and responsiveness to gonadotrophins and other regulatory factors.

Keratinocyte growth factor derived from the thecal cell may play a role in early folliculogenesis by promoting granulosa cell survival, increasing the rate of follicle growth, and enhancing early granulosa cell differentiation (McGee et al 1999).

BMP-7 is expressed in the thecal cell, and the BMP-7 receptor is expressed by the granulosa cell (Shimasaki et al 1999). BMP-7 has been shown *in vitro* to reduce FSH-induced progesterone production while enhancing FSH induced oestradiol production by granulosa cells, this has been shown to be mediated through decreasing levels of StAR mRNA and increasing P450arom resulting in an enhanced conversion of androstenedione to oestradiol and inhibition of cholesterol transport from the outer to inner mitochondrial membrane. BMP-7 has also been found to stimulate folliculogenesis while inhibiting ovulation and luteinisation (Lee et al 2001). BMP-7 null mice die shortly after birth with severe bilateral renal dysplasia (Dudley et al 1995) and conditioned knockouts have not yet been produced which are targeted at thecal cells.

Stanniocalcin (STC) is a glycoprotein hormone first discovered in bony fish. In rodents STC 1 is widely expressed in a range of tissues with the ovary showing the highest level (Chang et al 1995, Chang et al 1996, Varghese et al 1998). Treatment of granulosa cells with STC1 decreases gonadotrophin stimulation of progesterone production, Cyp11a mRNA expression and LH receptor formation without affecting gonadotrophin-induced oestradiol secretion (Luo et al 2004). In addition, gonadotrophin treatment suppresses STC1 transcripts in thecal cells (Luo et al 2004), suggesting the induction of granulosa cell differentiation by gonadotrophins may involve the suppression of the biosynthesis of theca cell-derived STC1. Transgenic mice overexpressing STC1 are sub-fertile as reflected by reduced litter sizes, and a possible defect in the ovulatory mechanism has been suggested (Varghese et al 2002). STC1 may, therefore, be a potential luteinisation inhibitor sourced from thecal cells in the developing follicle.

# 1.5.5 Ooctye growth and development

The observation that no follicle can be formed in the absence of oocytes had been made as long as 50 years ago (Coulombre et al 1954), while pharmacological ablation of oocytes in rats is known to result in defective folliculogenesis (Merchant 1975, Hirshfiled 1994). It has also been known for several decades that oocytes prevent the spontaneous luteinisation of granulosa cells (El-Fouly et al 1970, Nekola and Nalbandov 1971). More recently, however, the level of influence that the oocyte has over normal development of its own follicle is much better understood. It has been shown that it is the oocyte that coordinates and orchestrates the rate of follicular development (Eppig et al 2002). The rate of follicular development can be doubled by the transfer of mid growth stage oocytes to primordial follicles. Oocytes participate in the modulation of steroidogenesis by maintaining oestradiol production and inhibiting progesterone production (Vanderhyden and Tonary 1995). In the presence of oocytes, proliferation of granulosa cells is accelerated (Vanderhyden et al 1992), and expression of LH receptor mRNA is inhibited (Eppig et al 1997 and 1998).

Although the zona matrix physically separates the oocyte and somatic cells, close associations are maintained throughout follicular development via paracrine factors and cellular processes that form gap junctions with the oocyte membrane (Eppig 1991). These interactions provide the two-way communications required for oocyte growth and maintain the oocyte in meiotic arrest. Oocytes unable to form interactions with surrounding granulosa cells, either because of ectopic displacement (Zamboni and Upadhyay 1983), or genetic mutation (Soyal et al 2000) do not survive.

The growth of the oocyte has been shown to be positively correlated with the number of adherent granulosa cells and extent of metabolic cooperation between these two cell types (Brower and Schultz 1982, Herlands and Schultz 1984). The establishment of gap junctions allows the accumulation of materials essential for fertilization and pre-implantation development and increased protein content is known to be related to growth in oocyte size (Schultz and Wassarman 1977). Granulosa cells actively transfer low molecular weight substances such as nutrients and metabolic precursors (Heller et al 1981, Colonna and Mangia 1983, Eppig 1977) to the oocyte which also appears to incorporate externally produced macromolecules (Glass 1961). Granulosa cells convert cystines to cysteines which are then made available for oocyte utilisation (De Matos 1997). Gonadotrophins are known to stimulate glucose consumption by cumulus cells via the PI3-kinase pathway leading to pyruvate production (Roberts et al 2004,

Hillicr et al 1985, Zuelke and Brackett 1992). Pyruvatc as an energy source is obligatory for resumption of meiosis (Biggers et al 1967, Eppig 1976) and is supplied by surrounding cumulus cells through the glycolysis of glucose (Leese and Barton 1985, Donahue and Stern 1968). Levels of these energy substrates can have a profound effect on oocyte maturation (Downs and Mastropolo 1994) and adequate levels of pyruvate and glucose are important for progression to metaphase II. (Downs and Hudson 2000, Rose-Hellekant et al 1998). This serves to demonstrate the supportive role played by the granulosa cell in maintaining oocyte viability and growth.

Cumulus-enclosed oocytes can be prevented from undergoing spontaneous maturation using inhibitory agents such as cyclic AMP and purines (Dekel and Beers 1978, Downs et al 1988). FSH overcomes this inhibition, resulting in ligand-induced maturation (Downs et al 1988). FSH has been shown to significantly increase the proportion of oocytes reaching metaphase II after 15-16 hours of in vitro culture, suggesting that FSH has the ability to accelerate maturation (Roberts et al 2004). FSH also increases hexokinase activity in the cumulus oophorus (Downs et al 1996), facilitating glucose uptake and its conversion to glucose-6-phosphate. It is the pentose phosphate pathway that is the metabolic route that mediates ligand-induced resumption of meiosis (Downs and Utecht 1999, Downs et al 1996) and which provides precursors for the de novo purine pathway. This in turn is involved in meiotic induction (Downs et al 1998). Additionally, ATP is known to induce Ca2+ release from intracellular stores in cumulus cells, which is then transmitted via gap junctions to the oocyte (Webb et al 2002) and it has been suggested that FSH-induced glucose uptake may result in increased glycotically produced A'TP, leading to Ca<sup>2+</sup> release and stimulation of maturation (Roberts et al 2004).

The correct hormonal support is fundamental to achieving adequate development competence by increasing the number and permeability of gap junctions between oocyte and cumulus cells, thus leading to a better interaction between the germinal and somatic components of the follicle (Mattioli et al 1990 and 1991). Both cytoplasmic and nuclear maturation are important when determining the developmental competence of the germ cell (Lucidi et al 2003). Properly

matured oocytes no longer affect progesterone production but acquire the ability to inhibit oestrogen production (Lucidi et al 2003, Glister et al 2003). Thus, properly matured oocytes not only control the activity of cumulus cells but also modify their messengers in order to favour the functional luteinisation of granulosa cells after the gonadotrophin surge.

### 1.5.5 Steroidogenic activity

Steroid hormone secretion by ovarian tissues is episodic, tightly regulated, and crucial to the coordination of reproductive cyclicity. Biochemically, steroid hormone biosynthesis is modulated by cholesterol availability and expression of specific steroidogenic enzymes. In the developing follicle, oestradiol is the main steroid product synthesised by granulosa cells and has major endocrine and intraovarian roles to regulate the oestrus cycle, follicle development and ensuring granulosa cell survival

In order that steroids, including oestradiol, can be synthesised by steroidogenic cells, they must first acquire cholesterol either via *de novo* synthesis or by the uptake of lipoprotein-carried cholesterol (Brown and Goldstein 1997, Gwynne and Strauss 1982, Strauss et al 1981). The actual biosynthesis of oestradiol incorporates both the theca and granulosa cell layers. These 2 layers must integrate fully to facilitate the conversion of cholesterol to oestradiol. The conversion of the various precursors depend entirely upon many enzymes, in particular several members of the large cytochrome P450 family of heme-containing enzymes, and hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (HSD) (Strauss et al 1981) (figure 1.4).

The first rate-limiting step in steroid synthesis is the conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone, and cyp11a catalyses this conversion. Cyp11a is localised to both granulosa and theca layers in the follicle (Huet et al 1997). However, the next 2 steps take place almost exclusively in thecal cells. Firstly, cyp17 catalyses the conversion of pregnenolone and progesterone to dehydroepiandrosterone and androstenedione. Secondly, 3β-HSD catalyses the conversion of pregnenolone into 17 $\alpha$ -hydroxypregnenolone into 17 $\alpha$ -hydroxyprogesterone, and

dehydroepiandrosterone into androstenedione (Fortune and Quirk 1988; Strauss and Penning 1999). 17 $\beta$ -HSD catalyses the conversion of the weak androgen, androstenedione, to the stronger androgen, testosterone (Strauss and Penning 1999). Finally, testosterone and/or androstenedione are aromatised into oestradiol in the granulosa cells by Cyp19 (Strauss and Penning 1999, Huet e al 1997). Therefore, the whole process of oestradiol synthesis in the follicle is a two-cell two-gonadotrophin system (Fortune and Quirk 1988) whereby, under the direction of FSH and LH, theca cells essentially produce androgens that can be used as a substrate for oestradiol synthesis in the granulosa cells. In addition, there is evidence that the increase in oestradiol secretion positively feeds back to stimulate more androgen secretion from the theca cells(Bao et al 1998, Fortune 1986, Fortune and Quirk 1988, Roberts and Skinner 1990).

During the follicular phase of the cycle, FSH promotes the differentiation of granulosa cells of the growing follicles and consequently renders them competent to produce copious amounts of oestradiol, but nearly no progesterone (Smith et al 1975, Richards 1994). In contrast when granulosa cells from early antral follicles are cultured in vitro in the presence of FSH they secrete both oestradiol and progesterone (Shimasai et al 1999, Otsuka et al 2000). Although the stimulation of steroidogenesis by FSH has been studied extensively, at present little is known about the regulation of the divergent steroidogenic properties of granulosa cells. Bone morphogenic proteins (BMP-7 and BMP-4) have been identified as factors that act on granulosa cells to augment FSH induced P450 aromatase expression and subsequent oestradiol secretion and to attenuate FSH-induced StAR expression and subsequent progesterone secretion (Shimasaki et al 1999, Lee et al 2001). Mitogen activates protein kinase molecules (MAPK), particularly extracellular signal related kinases 1 and 2 (ERK 1 and 2) have been directly implicated in the modulation of steroid biosynthesis by granulosa cells (Moore et al 2001).

The periovulatory period is accompanied by dramatic changes in ovarian follicular steroidogenesis as the LH surge triggers follicular luteinisation, a process during which the predominant steroid produced switches from  $17\beta$ -oestradiol to progesterone.



Figure 1.4 Pathways of synthesis of steroid hormones in ovarian somatic cells. (CYP11A; cytochrome P450 side chain cleavage enzyme: CYP 17; cytochrome p450 17 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase 17,20 lyase: CYP 19; cytochrome P450 aromatase: 3 $\beta$ -HSD; 3 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: 20 $\alpha$ HSD; 20 $\alpha$  hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase)

## 1.5.6 Extracellular matrix.

Dynamic remodelling of the ovarian extracellular matrix is characteristic of follicle growth and atresia, ovulation, and corpus luteum development and regression. Adhesion to the extracellular matrix regulates the survival, proliferation and differentiation of numerous cell types in many tissues (Rusolahti 1990, Adams and Watt 1993, Lelievre e al 1996, Streuli 1999). In vivo, ovarian follicles are surrounded by a typical basement membrane containing components such as laminin, type IV collagen, heparin sulphate proteoglycans and fibronectin, whose composition has been shown to change during follicular growth and atresia (Rodgers et al 1999 and 2003). Individual ECM components such as type I collagen, fibronectin, laminin and heparin are able to alter granulosa cell function, even in the absence of exogenous growth factors. Moreover these components regulate granulosa cell shape, survival,

proliferation and steroidogenesis in a specific and controlled manner (Huet et al 2001).

It would appear therefore that the ovarian ECM does more than just provide a framework to support ovarian structure, it serves to provide a specialised microenvironment for specific ovarian cells. Changes in this microenvironment can influence gene expression and cell migration, proliferation, differentiation and atresia (Smith et al 1999).

One of the means by which components of the ECM are able to regulate cell function is through interaction with integrins (specific receptors for ECM components on the cell surface). Culture of rat granulosa cells on fibronectin or laminin, but not type 1 collagen, promotes differentiation into a luteal phenotype whereas an antibody to the integrin  $\beta$ 1 subunit blocks granulosa cell differentiation (Aten et al 1995). In addition, many growth factors are constitutively secreted and sequestered in an inactive form in the ECM or in association with specific binding proteins where they can subsequently be liberated by proteolysis. Examples include fibroblast growth factor, transforming growth factor  $\beta$ , platelet derived growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor and IGFBP 3 (Smith et al 1999). The follicular basal lamina also has a function in controlling the selective filtration of molecules in and out of the follicular fluid both by means of electrical potential (Hess et al 1998), and physical size (Shalgi et al 1973), allowing it to determine, in part, the milieu of factors to which granulosa cells and the oocyte are exposed.

Remodelling of the ECM is carried out by two main groups of enzymes, the matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) and the plasminogen activator/plasmin family. In the bovine it has been shown that specific MMP and plasminogen activator system components are regulated in a temporally unique and cell specific fashion in the preovulatory follicle in response to a ovulatory stimulus (Bakke et al 1999, 2000, Dow et al 1999, 2000a, 2000b). Throughout follicular growth the composition of the basal lamina changes. Collagen type IV declines (Frojdman et al 1998) during development while laminin  $\beta$ 1 is transiently expressed at the preantral stage, and  $\alpha$ 1,  $\beta$ 2, and  $\gamma$ 1 appear to be more highly expressed in preantral and antral follicles (Van Wezel et al 1998). Nidogen 1 and perlecan are

not detectable in primordial follicles but are expressed later in follicle development (MacArthur et al 2000). The significance of the decreased collagen and increased laminin content of the basal membrane is not known, but the upregulation of perlecan may be significant since it has the ability to bind a number of growth factors.

The follicular fluid of antral follicles contains proteins and soluble ECM molecules, including proteoglycans. Among those proteglycans identified are versican, decorin (MacArthur et al 2000, Eriksen et al 1999) and hyaluronan (Salustri et al 1992, Schoenfelder and Einspanier 2003). Their roles in follicular fluid are as yet poorly understood, although the role of hyaluronan in the expansion of the cumulus oophorus complex in ovulating follicles has been well studied (Richards 2005).

# 1.6 Ovulation and Luteinisation

### 1.6.1 Morphological changes associated with luteinisation

Ovulation is the unique process by which mature ovarian follicles respond to the surge of luteinising hormone and rupture to release fertilisable oocytes. The LH induced transition of a preovulatory follicle to one that can ovulate is a complex multi-step, multi-gene process. The gonadotrophin surge is the physiological trigger that stimulates ovulation of preovulatory follicles, LH activates adenylyl cyclase via its receptor and stimulates the A kinase pathway, inducing in granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles the rapid and transient expression of specific genes that have been shown to be critical for ovulation (Natraj and Richards 1993). During ovulation functional changes occur in multiple ovarian cell types within the follicle (granulosa and thecal cells) and the stroma (fibroblasts and endothelial cells), as well as the ovarian surface epithelium (Espey and Lipner 1994). In addition ovulation is characterised by the recruitment and invasion of inflammatory cells, such as leukocytes (neutrophils) and macrophages (Norman and Brännström 1994), and can be regulated by cytokines that are secreted by, and act on, immune cells and ovarian cells (Norman and Brännström 1994).

Expansion of the cumulus oocyte complex is a prelude to ovulation which has been examined in many species (Dekel et al 1978, Dekel and Phillips 1979, Flechon et al 1986). Although an extracellular matrix appears to accumulate gradually during the preovulatory interval, complete coverage of the cumulus cells with hyaluronan is achieved only a few hours before ovulation. Expansion of the cumulus oophorus is associated with the interruption of gap junctions and a reduction in the physical integrity of the cumulus oocyte complex (Anderson and Albertini 1976). These modifications of the cumulus oocyte complex alter the cellular mechanisms of the granulosa-oocyte interface affecting the bidirectional exchange of paracrine signals to and from the oocyte (Buccione et al 1990). These signals are primarily transferred by means of granulosa cell transzonal projections (TZPs) that transverse the zona pellucida and terminate on the oocyte cell surface (Motta et al 1994). Cumulus cell uncoupling from the oocyte involves TZP retraction and remodelling during maturation of cumulus oocyte cell complexes (Suzuki et al 2000, Albertini and Rider 1994).

Prior to ovulation, but after the preovulatory LH surge, follicular diameter increases and the follicular wall becomes slightly folded (Priedkalns et al 1968, McClellan et al 1975). In addition gap junctions among granulosa cells decrease, the cells disperse, and the cumulus oocyte complex becomes free floating (Murdoch 1985, Murdoch and Cavender 1987, LeMarie 1989). After ovulation in sheep there is no evidence of mitotic figures among luteinised granulosa cells; however, evidence of mitosis has been observed in theca interna cells, endothelial cells and fibroblasts (McClellan et al 1975). The majority of cells undergoing mitosis include endothelial cells and fibroblasts, which are reported to migrate into the developing corpus luteum (Pedersen 1951). The granulosa cells undergo ultrastructural changes associated within increased steroidogenic activity. The cells hypertrophy and differentiate into the large granulosa luteincells, as discussed previously (Fawcett et al 1969). Cytostructural changes include expansion of the smooth endoplasmi reticulum, increased size of the golgi apparatus and an increased number and complexity of mitochondria (Priedkalns et al 1968, Cavazos et al 1969, Fawcett et al 1969, Enders 1973, McClellan et al 1975).

The remodelling process of ovulation also requires structural changes within the extracellular matrix, where regulated dissolution of matrix proteins occurs. At the time of ovulation a precise area of the ovarian surface adjacent to the apical region of the ovulatory follicle disintegrates to allow release of the oocyte. Subsequent structural reorganisation and remodelling of the follicle occurs as the granulosa and thecal cells luteinise. The basement membrane between the granulosa and thecal layers undergoes dissolution and rupture and collapse of the follicular wall results in the mural granulosa forming folds which protrude into the residual follicular lumen (O'Shea et al 1980). Thecal capillaries expand by sprouting into the avascular granulosa compartment to form a dense network of sinusoidal capillaries surrounding the luteinised granulosa cells. The majority of dividing cells in the developing CL are endothelial with the proliferation rate

being even more intense than that found in malignant neoplasms (Stouffer et al 2001, Machelon and Emilie 1997). The folding of the follicular wall allows migration of cells into the more central areas of the developing corpus luteum. Connective tissue and endothelial cells from the theca interna rapidly migrate into the fibrin rich ovulation site to form a primitive network of neovasculature (Goede et al 1998). Interstital (type 1) collagen constitutes the primary fabric of the follicular theca and tunic albuginea. Basement membranes that circumscribe thecal capillary beds and support mural granulosa and ovarian surface cells are comprised of type IV collagen (Eyre et al 1984). Type IV collagen forms a flexible mesh like scaffold to which matrix consitituents attach (Murdoch 2000). Collagen breakdown and cellular death (apoptosis and inflammatory necrosis) within the apex of the preovulatory follicle are the hallmarks of the impending ovulation (Andreasen et al 2000). After ovulation, growth within the corpus luteum can exceed the growth rate of most rapidly growing tumours (Reynolds and Redmer 1998). The degeneration of the follicular basement membrane over the periovulatory period allows theca cells and vascular elements, as well as connective tissue cells, to invade the previously avascular membrana granulosa (Van Blerkholm and Motta 1978, Mori et al 1983, Murphy 2000). The subsequent consolidation of these cells results in a functional corpus luteum. In a mature CL the capillary network pervades the organ, such that each luteal cell is in direct contact with two to four capillaries (Goede et al 1998). These anatomical observations show that CL formation requires the development of an extensive blood vessel network and suggests that mediators of angiogenesis must play an important role in its formation.

1.6.2 Granulosa cell differentiation: follicular lineage of luteal cells

Corpora lutea are a continuation of follicular maturation and form from the remaining follicular cells after ovulation. It has been known for decades that the preparation of luteal cells for the synthesis of progesterone begins before ovulation (McNatty and Sawers 1975, McNatty 1979), therefore the mechanisms

associated with luteinisation are not dependent on follicular rupture, and neither does successful ovulation guarantee normal luteal development and function.

The corpus luteum is made up of a heterogenous population of cells with distinct morphological appearances. These cell types include endothelial cells, fibroblasts and pericytes, but the steroidogenically active cells are the small and large luteal cells, responsible for luteal steroidogenesis. It is generally accepted that in mammals granulosa cells differentiate into large luteal cells and theca cells into small luteal cells (O'Shea 1987). The fate of granulosa cells has been investigated in studies utilising both morphological and immunological approaches. In sheep, the number of granulosa cells within preovulatory follicles (O'Shea et al 1985) approximates the number of large luteal cells (Rodgers et al 1984, O'Shea et al 1986). Because ovine granulosa cells undergo very little or no mitosis after ovulation (McClellan et al 1975) this suggests the differentiation of granulosa cells into large luteal cells. In addition theca and granulosa cells incubated in the presence of forskolin plus insulin exhibit the morphological and function characteristics of small and large luteal cells isolated from the corpus lutcum (Meidan et al 1990). In the case of the granulosa cells this includes the high basal secretion of progesterone, reduced LH-induced progesterone secretion, and secretion of oxytocin, similar to large luteal cell function. Finally monoclonal antibodies against surface antigens of bovine granulosa cells have been shown to bind primarily to large luteal cells (Alila and Hansel 1984)

## 1.6.3 Molecular and genetic response to luteinisation hormone

The LH surge rapidly initiates the terminal differentiation of granulosa cells to luteal cells. Beginning within 4 h and complete by 12 hrs of exposure to LH, granulosa cells cease to divide (Robker and Richards 1998). During this time granulosa cells are completely programmed to become luteal cells. They acquire and maintain a stable luteal cell phenotype, as characterised by the constitutively clevated expression of genes such as P450scc (Richards et al 1986, Oonk et al 1989).

Although the LH surge simultaneously initiates the processes of ovulation and lutcinisation, these events are functionally dissociated. In fact, it is critical that the events associated with and controlling ovulation preceed those that dictate and finalise the genetic program for luteinisation. If the events of luteinisation occur too rapidly, as in PDE4D (a cAMP specific phosphodiesterase involved in feedback regulation of cAMP levels) null mice (Jin et al 1999), or if the events associated with ovulation are impaired or delayed, as in PR null mice (Lydon et al 1995), oocytes can be trapped within a functional corpus luteum. To this end it has been noted that in species with differing ovulatory time spans following the LH surge, expression of COX-2 occurs at a similar time prior to follicle rupture (Liu et al 1997, Boerboom and Sirois 1998).

It has been well documented that the effect of the LH surge is evident only in preovulatory follicles while the remaining pool is apparently unaffected. The acquisition of the correct receptor is involved in this selective effect of LH (Peng et al 1991), but differential distribution of the gonadotrophin due to increased follicular blood vessel development and permeability is also involved (Zeleznik et al 1981), a condition strictly dependent on the ability of the follicle to sustain a local production of VEGF.

# 1.6.3.1 Follicular dissemination of the LH signal

It is perhaps surprising that there is an absence of LH receptors on the cumulus oocyte complex (Mattioli et al 1994), consequently alternative means of signalling have to be generated by LH within this region. A series of signals appear within the COC with a precise time schedule following the LH surge. The first of these appears to be an immediate rise in intracellular Ca levels within follicular somatic cells (Davis et al 1987), followed within minutes by a Ca rise within the oocyte (Mattioli et al 1998).

Following this another second messenger, cAMP, rapidly shows increased levels within the COC (Moor et al 1981, Yoshimura et al 1992, Mattioli et al 1994). This messenger has a complex regulatory role. Levels of cAMP within cumulus cells and oocytes, determine the transcriptional response to this messenger (Mattioli et al 1996). Activation of oocyte PKA mediates the suppressive effect

on germinal vesicle breakdown (GVBD), while the activation of PKA that results within cumulus cells, resulting from gonadotrophin stimulation, is responsible for the induction of maturation (Mattioli and Barboni 1998).

The next event to occur is the depolarisation of the cumulus-oocyte complex, happening a few hours after exposure to LH (Mattioli et al 1996). The LHinduced activation of PKA/PKC results in cumulus-corona cells undergoing progressive depolarisation of membrane potential (Barboni and Mattioli 1996), a response peculiar to cumulus cells (Mattioli et al 1991). The coupling of cumulus cells and the oocyte by gap junctions ensures that depolarisation originating in the somatic compartment is rapidly extended to the oocyte (Mattioli et al 1990). This depolarisation can act through a number of methods to influence oocyte maturation. Firstly it can induce the translocation of PKC from the plasma membrane to the nuclear membrane where it could contribute to the process of GVBD (Kong et al 1991). Secondly its effect on voltage gated ion channels may provide a mechanism for producing a sustained rise in intracellular calcium. The presence of Ca channels on the oolemma (Mattioli et al 1998a) and their requirement for gonadotrophin-induced maturation has been demonstrated by the ability of Ca channel blockers to reversibly arrest inciotic progression of the oocyte (Mattioli et al 1998a, Mattioli and Barboni 2000). Finally, the depolarisation also serves to influence the permeability of the junctional network between the follicular cells. Prior to the LH surge there is a permanent electrical gradient of positive ions from the oocyte to the cumulus cells (Mattioli et al 1990). Depolarisation eliminates this transjunctional potential leading to a transient increase in both metabolic and electrical coupling (Mattioli and Barboni 2000).

One of the more puzzling aspects of LHR expression is its restriction to the mural granulosa cells (Mattioli 1994); cumulus cells and oocytes expressed few or no LHRs and are insensitive to direct LH stimulation. The connection between mural and cumulus granulosa cells and the oocyte via gap junctions may allow the flow of intracellular mediators from the periphery to the core of the follicle (Tasfriri and Dekel 1994). Alternatively factors released by mural granulosa cells may convey the LH stimulus to cumulus cells and the oocyte.

The epidermal growth factor (EGF)-related proteins amphiregulin (AR), epiregulin (FPI), and betacellulin (BTC) are three growth factors which have been shown to mediate LH activity with the follicle via EGF receptor (Park et al 2004). They have functions as short range mediators in tissue remodelling and cell growth and are potential intermediates in G protein-coupled receptor signalling (Prenzel 1999). They show rapid and transient expression within 1-3 hours following an ovulatory dose of hCG, with EPI mRNA remaining elevated for up to 12 hours (Park et al 2004). Although their expression is limited to the mural granulosa cells they have been shown in vitro to be potent stimulators of oocyte maturation and cumulus expansion in cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) which have been denuded of mural granulosa cells and shown to be insensitive to LH (Park et al 2004). This confirms their role as paracrine mediators of LH signals during ovulation.

The junctional area between mural and cumulus cells is rapidly lost after LH stimulation while heterologous junctions between the corona radiata and the oocyte remain unaltered during most of the maturation period (Larsen et al 1987). This indicates that the persistence of cell support provided by the corona cells represents an essential prerequisite for the maturation of the oocyte (Mattioli et al 1988)

## 1.6.3.2 Genomic response to the LH signal

LH acts on mature follicles to terminate the program of gene expression associated with folliculogenesis. The transcription of genes that control granulosa cell proliferation, IGF-1 (Zhou et al 1997), FSHR (Richards 1979), oestrogen receptor  $\beta$  (Sharma et al 1999), cyclin D2 (Robker and Richards 1998a and 1998b), and others (Richards 2001) is rapidly turned off. Expression of genes encoding steroidogenic enzymes for oestrogen synthesis is also rapidly terminated (Richards 1994). Not surprisingly the targeted disruption of genes obligatory for follicle maturation precludes ovulation or luteinisation. Specifically in mice null for FSHR, FSH $\beta$ , LHR, LH, IGF-1, IGF-1R, leptin, cfos, cyclin D2, Er $\beta$ , Er $\alpha$ , aromatase, or the corepressor RIP 140, either follicular growth is arrested at a developmentally immature stage or further growth results
in the formation of cystic follicles (Richards 2001,Elvin and Matzuk 1998, Orly 2000, Couse and Korach 1999, Hasegawa et al 2000, White et al 2000, Johnson et al 1992). In conjunction with the termination of specific gene expression in mature follicles, LH induces genes involved in ovulation. These include the genes for progesterone receptor (Park and Mayo 1991, Natraj and Richards 1993), cycloxygenase-2 (Sirois and Richards 1993), CAAT enhancer binding protein  $\beta$  (C/EBP $\beta$ ) (Sirois and Richards 1993), early growth regulatory factor (Egr-1) (Espey et al 2000), and pituitary adenylyl cyclase activating peptide (PACAP) (Park J. et al 2000, Park H. et al 2000). Genes involved in luteinisation are then also induced by the LH surge. Some of these include the cell cycle inhibitors p21 CIP and p27KIP, steroidogenic enzymes StAR and P450scc, specific transcription factors Fra2/JunD, protein kinases, and other factors (Richards 2001, Sharma and Richards 2000).

Egr-1, C/EBPβ, and progesterone receptor (Espey et al 2000, Sirois and Richards 1993, Park and Mayo 1991, Natraj and Richards 1993) are induced rapidly but expressed only transiently, with peak levels of message and protein occurring approximately 4 hours after the LH surge. Other transcription factors, such as the activator protein-1 family members (eg. C-fos, c-jun, Fra2, and JunD), are induced rapidly and remain elevated during the postovulatory luteal phase (Sharma and Richards 2000). Each of these mediators appears to be involved in the functional activity of the granulosa cells of ovulating follicles.

The LH-induced induction of progesterone receptor (PR) (Park and Mayo 1991, Natraj and Richards 1993) and prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 (PGS-2) or cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) (Richards 1994, Sirois and Richards 1992, Wong and Richards 1991) has led to them being implicated in ovulation. This was initially based on the timing of their synthesis following the LH surge (Richards 1994, Espey and Lipner 1994, Espey 1980) and by the effects of specific inhibitors and antagonists on their synthesis or action (Espey and Lipner 1980, Espey 1980). More recently inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis and progesterone action have been used to block the rupture of follicles in vitro (Mikuni et al 1998, Rose et al 1999). It has also been observed that the expression of PR (Park and Mayo 1991, Natraj and Richards 1993) and PGS-2

(Sirois and Richards 1992, Wong and Richards 1991) is selectively induced by LH in preovulatory follicles. The fate of the oocytes in both PR and PGS-2 null mice is to remain within morphologically and functionally normal corpora lutea which have failed to ovulate due to the absence of the proteolytic cascade (Robker et al 2000). Mice null for PR fail to ovulate even when stimulated by exogenous hormones, findings which support other studies implicating progesterone as a key player in the ovulatory process (Lydon et al 1995, Rose et al 1999, Pall et al 2000). Despite this failure of ovulation, the expression of COX-2, cumulus expansion, and luteinisation proceed normally (Robker et al 2000). Thus the molecular targets of PR appear to be those controlling rupture of the follicle, rather than those of luteinisation.

The expression of several molecules including ECM components such as fibronectin and collagen have been reported to change in luteinising granulosa cells during corpus luteum formation (Amsterdam et al 1989, Honda et al 1997, Yamada et al 1999). The expression of these molecules is regulated by gonadotrophin and/or cytokines. For example, the expression of low density lipoprotein receptor, integrin 5 $\alpha$  and collagen type IV is enhanced by hCG in luteinising cell cultures (Honda et al 1997, Yamada et al 1999, Golos et al 1986, Golos and Strauss 1987) whereas dipeptidyl peptidase IV and leukocyte functional antigen-3 are induced, not by hCG, but by inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  and tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (Fujiwara et al 1994, Hattori et al 1995). On the other hand the expression of endothelin converting enzyme-1, which is a cell surface endopeptidase and activates proendothelin peptide, is promoted by hCG, IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ .

#### 1.6.3.3. Transcription factors implicated in luteinisation

#### Early growth response 1(Egr1)

As discussed above the genomic response usually includes the induction of immediate-early transcription factor genes such as early growth response protein-1 and/or the *c-fos* and *c-jun* genes (Gashler and Sukhatme 1995, McMahon and Monroe 1996). Egr-1 is a zinc finger transcription factor. It often

binds overlapping sequences with Sp1, an important transcription factor for several ovarian expressed genes, such as Sgk, P450scc, MMP 14 and p21CIP (Pardali et al 2000, Alliston et al 1997, Prowse et al 1997, Haas et al 1999). Egr-1 can exert positive transcriptional events or negative regulation of Sp1 (Richards et al 2002). Mice null for Egr-1 have impaired synthesis of LH and fail to ovulate or form corpora luteal, although whether this is due to a lack of pituitary LH or ovarian defects is not known (Lee et al 1996). Ovarian expression of Egr-1 mRNA and its protein product appears to peak after approximately 4 hours following the ovulatory gonadotrophic surge and does not return to basal level until 12-24 hours later (Espey et al 2000). This transcriptional factor has the unique ability to regulate the transcription of some genes positively while affecting other genes negatively (Gashler and Sukhatme 1995, Beckmann and Wilce 1997). Among the genes induced by Egr-1 is the slightly delayed induction of NGFI-A-binding proteins, a family of co-repressors that bind directly to Egr-1 and repress Egr-1 mediated transcription (Qu et al 1998, Swirnoff et al 1998, Silverman et al 1999), thus ensuring that the Egr-1 mediated cascade is a transient effect. Some of the physiologically relevant genes that are now recognised as targets for Egr-1 include fibroblast growth factor, tumour necrosis factor, platelet derived growth factor, the interleukin genes, cell surface adhesion proteins and matrix metalloproteinases (Gashler and Sukhatme 1995, McMahon and Monroe 1996, Dorn et al 1999, Fitzgerald and O'Neill 1999, Haas et al 1999, Bourguignon et al 1998, Takahashi et al 1999, Yu and Stamenkovic 1999). This has led to Egr-1 being proposed as a mediator of the transient events that cause degradation and rupture of a follicle.

## Nerve growth factor induced B (NGFI-B)

NGFI-B (also called Nur77), an orphan nuclear receptor of transcription factor, is rapidly and transiently induced by the LH surge in granulosa cells in the rat (Park et al 2001). The induction of NGFI-B is mediated through both ERK1/2 (Stocco et al 2002) and PKC (Park et al 2003). It is an immediate early response gene whose expression is regulated by a variety of extracellular stimuli and it encodes transcription factors regulating the expression of other genes, ultimately

culminating in phenotypic changes (Herschman 1991). It has been implicated in the regulation of expression of steroidogenic enzymes (Wilson et al 1993, Havelock et al 2005) and mediation of apoptosis (Liu et al 1994). In the ovary, expression has been reported in corpora lutea (Richards 1994) and in granulosa cells following the LH surge (Stocco et al 2000). It has also been shown to induce  $20\alpha$ -HSD expression during prostaglandin mediated luteolysis (Stocco et al 2000) and to regulate the expression of  $3\beta$ HSD2 (Havelock et al 2005). Because the spatial pattern of NGFI-B matches with the expression patterns of P450scc (Zlotkin et al 1986) and StAR (Ronen-Fuhrmann et al 1998) in cells engaged in steroidogenic activity, it has been suggested that NGFI-B may be correlated with terminal commitment of cells for steroidogenic differentiation (Park et al 2003).

Two other members of the NGFI-B subfamily, Nurr1 and Nor1 are also induced by LH in the granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles, although, unlike NGFI-B, they are not induced in the theca cells at the same stage (Park et al 2003). Whether they perform a similar function as NGFI-B is unknown.

#### CAAT enhancer binding protein beta (C/EPB $\beta$ )

C/EPB $\beta$  is another transcription factor known to be induced by LH (Sirois and Richards 1993). All of the C/EPB family members are expressed in the ovary (Piontkewitz et al 1993, Sirois and Richards 1993). Mice null for C/EPB $\beta$  exhibit impaired ovulation and luteinisation (Sterneck et al 1997, Pall et al 1997) with the ovaries displaying abnormal vascular morphology and haemorrhagic follicles as well as entrapped oocytes. Null mice also lack corpora lutea (Dekel et al 1988, Sterneck et al 1997). A possible target gene for C/EBP $\beta$  is prostaglandin synthase-2 (PGS-2) (Sirois and Richards 1993).

#### Wnt and Frizzled family

Wnt-4, a member of the Wnt family of extracellular signalling proteins, has already been mentioned as having an important role in the regulation of foetal gonad development. Several members of the Wnt and Frizzled (Fz) families and downstream components of the Wnt-Fz signalling pathway are known to be expressed within the mature rodent ovary (Hsieh et al 2002, Ricken et al 2002). Wnt-4, Fz-4 and Fz-1 have been found to be regulated by gonadotrophins and steroids with Fz-1 specifically induced by the LH surge, as indeed is the Fz-1 receptor, both appearing at high level in granulosa cells 8-12 hours after exposure to LH/hCG. Wnt-4 and Fz-4 are present in terminally differentiated luteal cells. These signalling factors are involved in processes such as cell fate specification, proliferation, differentiation and tissue patterning (Cadigen and Nusse 1997, Miller et al 1999, Richards et al 2002). Secreted frizzled related protein 4 (sFRP-4) expression is also induced in granulosa cells under the influence of LH and maintained in luteinised cells by stimulation from progesterone receptor ligand (PRL) (Hsieh et al 2003). Interestingly, the expression pattern for sFRP-4 in cultured luteinised granulosa cells is similar to the expression pattern of P450scc (Hsich et al 2003). A potential role for Wnt/Fz regulation of steroidogenesis is indicated because Wnt-4 and Fz-4 are expressed in luteal cells. In addition gonads of female mice null for Wnt-4 misexpress the steroidogenic enzymes  $3\beta$  HSD and  $17\alpha$ -hydroxylase (Vainio et al 1999). The Wnt/Frizzled pathways and the BMP pathways have been shown to impact and antagonise each other in many aspects of development (Schneider and Mercola 2001, Marvin et al 2000) and, thus, may act to modify the actions of various BMP like molecules (GDF-9, TGF- $\beta$ , BMP 15) or FGF molecules (Kawakami et al 2001) in the ovary.

#### 1.6.3.4. Cytokines, role and regulation

After ovulation, the basement membrane is destroyed and immune cells and endothelial cells rapidly invade the luteinising granulosa cell layer in a process resembling tissue inflammation (Espey 1980). Indeed ovulation has many features in common with an inflammatory reaction, including the central participation of leukocytes and classical inflammatory mediators such as eicosanoid, histamine and bradykinin (Espey 1980). Detection of leukocytes in ovarian tissue has revealed accumulation of some specific subsets of these cells in the preovulatory follicle at the time of ovulation (Brännström and Norman

1993). It has been reported that peripheral blood leukocytes increase the number of LH-induced ovulations in rat ovaries in vitro (Hellberg et al 1991). A function for these cells at ovulation is likely because depletion of circulating neutrophils in rat ovaries decreases the ovulation rate (Brännström et al 1995). In addition, the cellular content of human follicular fluid has been shown to consist of 5-15% macrophages (Loukides et al 1990) which are involved in the production of interleukin 1 $\beta$  (Machelon et al 1995). There is evidence that cytokines are involved in the inhibition and stimulation of follicular responsiveness to gonadotrophins (Gougeon 1994). Cytokines, therefore, seem to play a pivotal role in the regulation of the development and atresia of follicles in the ovary (Jasper et al 1996, Kaipai and Hsuch 1997).

#### Tumour necrosis factor $\alpha$

One of the most frequently studied cytokines in the ovary is tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), which has the capacity to elicit inflammatory responses (Kondo and Sauder 1997). Because ovulation has similarities to the inflammatory process (Espey 1994), and TNF $\alpha$  is produced in the ovary (Zolti et al 1990), its function there is usually discussed with respect to ovulation (Murdoch et al 1999). However it also has roles in steroidogenesis, proliferation, apoptosis, and luteolysis in several species (Terranova and Rice 1997), and its effects on follicular development and differentiation are due to a receptormediated pathway (Balchak and Marcinkiewicz 1999, Veldhuis et al 1991, Roby et al 1999). In several species TNF $\alpha$  has been shown to decrease gonadotrophinupregulated progesterone production (Terranova and Rice 1997) and suggests that it has an inhibitory effect on luteinisation. It also has the ability to induce apoptosis in mouse granulosa cells (Quirk e al 1998) through a pathway that involves modulation of Bcl-2 (Sasson et al 2002), and yet can also increase human granulosa-lutein cell number (Yan et al 1993). The coexistance of the effects of TNF $\alpha$  on proliferation and apoptosis has been suggested to be due to the differential expression of TNFa receptors I and II (Prange-Kiel et al 2001, Tartaglia et al 1993). It has recently been suggested that the luteolytic effect of TNF $\alpha$  may be mediated by inhibition of StAR, the key regulatory protein in progesterone production (Lin et al 1996) or by indirectly decreasing LHR expression in addition to stimulation of PGF2 $\alpha$  production (Lin et al 1996, Chen et al 1999)

In human and rat granulosa-lutein cells, glucocorticoids can attenuate the apoptotic action of TNF $\alpha$  (Sasson et al 2002) and may therefore play a part in the healing process of the ovarian follicular tissue during follicular rupture and corpus luteum formation.

#### Interleukins

Interleukins are best known for their immune and inflammatory functions but a growing body of evidence has implicated their involvement in the periovulatory follicle. Interleukin  $1\alpha$  and interleukin  $1\beta$  mRNA have been localised to the theca, cumulus and oocyte of the murine follicle. In the mouse, ovarian synthesis of IL-1a and IL-1 $\beta$  is first observed in the theca interna of growing follicle and the oocyte (Simon et al 1994, Terranova and Rice 1997). At the time of preovulatory maturation, after the LH surge, high levels of IL-1a and IL-1ß are observed in cumulus cells (Simon et a 1994). Type I interleukin receptor (IL-1R1) is synthesised by thecal cells from growing follicles. Before ovulation it is expressed by cumulus and granulosa cells, and is abundantly expressed in the mouse oocyte throughout follicular development (Simon et al 1994). The potential functions of interleukins in the ovary are wide ranging, IL-1 $\beta$  in the rat has been shown to induce ovulation and potentiate the inductive ovulatory effect of LH (Brännström et al 1993), they are also involved in the production and activation of proteolytic enzymes, prostaglandin production, nitric oxide production, cellular metabolism, and steroidogenesis (for review Gerard et al 2004), frequently in a species-specific manner.

Ovarian granulosa luteal and stromal cells also express interleukin (IL)-8 mRNA and produce IL-8 protein with the protein level being increased by hCG administration (Arici et al 1996). Its importance in follicular growth and ovulation has been shown by the inhibition of hCG induced ovulation following administration of anti-IL-8 antiserum (Ujioka et al 1998). IL-8 is a chemotatic cytokine secreted by a variety of cells in response to inflammatory stimuli such

as IL-1, TNF $\alpha$ , or lipopolysaccharide and acts in the recruitment and activation of neutrophils as well as in angiogenesis (Herbert et al 1991, Clark-Lewis et al 1993, Strieter et al 1995). It has been shown to induce ovarian vasodilation, follicle development (Goto et al 1997) and to increase the density of capillary vessels around developing follicles (Goto et al 2002) this suggests a role as a potent angiogenic factor in neovascularisation of the developing/luteinising follicle. Interleukin 6, whose production is induced by both TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1, has also been detected in follicular fluid (Büscher et al 1999)

An interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL-1-ra) has also been found in follicular fluid in concentrations comparable to serum concentrations or higher (Büscher et al 1999). This could serve to suppress the IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  mediated reactions of the immune system against further ovulatory tissue damage, and may represent an attempt to limit the reaction cascade.

## Melanoma cell adhesion molecule

Human luteinising granulosa cells express melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM), which is upregulated by LH/hCG and cytokines during luteinisation (Yoshioka et al 2003). MCAM has been shown to mediate cell-endothelial cell interaction (Xie et al 1997) and may play a role in neovascularisation during corpus luteum formation in the human ovary. Its expression can be induced by TNF $\alpha$  (Yoshioka et la 2003) which is known to be an angiogenic and inflammatory cytokine (Ferrara 2000, Kim et al 2002), and by IL-1 $\alpha$  (Yoshioka et al 2003). These cytokines have also been reported to stimulate other angiogenic factors such as VEGF and angiopoietin (Jung et al 2001, Scott et al 2002). The production of inflammatory cytokines by luteinising granulosa cells plays a role in promoting the production of soluble angiogenic factors during luteal development.

#### Granulocyte colony stimulating factor

Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) is known to have specific effects on the proliferation, differentiation and activation of haematopoietic cells (Mielcarek et al 1996, Visani and Manfroi 1995). It exerts these biological effects through binding to specific, high affinity receptors (Nagata and Fukunaga 1993, Fukunaga et al 1990, Demetri and Griffin 1991, Shimoda et al 1993, Nicholson et al 1994, Nagata and Fukunaga 1991) that have been reported on cells of the granulocytic lineage, platelets (Shimoda et al 1993), monocytes and lymphocytes (Nicholson et al 1994, Nagata and Fukunaga 1991, Avalos 1996). Its expression in human luteinised follicular granulosa cells has also been demonstrated, indeed both G-CSF and G-CSF receptor (G-CSFR) are expressed (Salmassi 2004). Granulosa cells therefore seem to represent one of the sources and targets of G-CSF around the periovulatory peroid, acting via autocrine or paracrine mechanisms.

Ovulation, therefore, appears to be a LH-induced, cytokine-regulated inflammatory process, followed by an anti-inflammatory response mediated by interleukin receptor antagonists and glucocorticoids.

#### 1.6.3.5. Steroidogenesis

Terminal granulosa cell differentiation, like differentiation in other cells, is accompanied by cessation of proliferation, altered gene expression, and morphological changes (Nanbu-Wakao 2000). A hallmark of terminal granulosa differentiation after ovulation is the rapid loss of cytochrome P450 aromatase, the rate-limiting enzyme that converts testosterone to oestradiol (Fitzpatrick et al 1997, Hickey et al 1998). The process of follicular luteinisation is also associated with marked changes in the expression patterns of other steroidogenic enzymes, most notably an increase in StAR and P450scc which promote enhanced progesterone synthesis (O'Shaughnessy et al 1990, Fortune 1994, Richards 1994, Sandhoff and Maclean 1996, Ronen-Fuhrmann et al 1998). Progesterone biosynthesis requires only two enzymatic steps; the conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone, catalysed by P450 side chain cleavage enzyme (P450scc) located on the inner mitochondrial membrane, and its subsequent conversion to progesterone, catalysed by  $3\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase ( $3\beta$ -HSD) present in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum. Both these organelles show increased size and/or number and complexity in periovulatory granulosa cells (Priedkalns et al 1968, Cavazos et al 1969, Fawcett et al 1969, Enders 1973, McClellan 1975).

The loss in 17 $\beta$  oestradiol biosynthetic capacity after the LH surge has been explained by this marked decrease in the expression of the key steroidogenic enzymes involved in the follicular production of active oestrogen. However, it is also now known that members of the 17 $\beta$ HSD family, in particular 17 $\beta$ HSD4, which are key regulators of the biological potency of androgens and oestrogens in mammals, show an increase in expression that accompanies hCG induction of ovulation in preovulatory follicles (Brown 2004). This upregulation occurs both in theca and granulosa but is clearly more pronounced in the granulosa cell compartment (Brown 2004). The 17 $\beta$ HSD family reversibly catalyse the interconversion of less active 17-ketosteroids such as androstenedione and oestrone into the more active 17 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroids such as testosterone and 17 $\beta$ -oestradiol inactivating enzyme such as 17 $\beta$ HSD4 may represent a novel and complementary mechanism that can contribute to the reduction in active oestrogens within the follicle during luteinisation.

The steroidogenic process first requires the coordinated regulation of cellular uptake, transport and utilisation of cholesterol (Miller 1988). Blood borne low density lipoprotein (LDL) taken up by low density lipoprotein-receptor (LDL-R) is the primary source of intracellular sterol substrate in some mammals such as primates and pigs (Chaffin et al 2000, Grummer and Carroll 1988, LaVoie et al 1997, Soumano and Price 1997). LDL-R expression increases in preovulatory granulosa-luteal cells and remains elevated in the corpus luteum (Chaffin et al 2000, Yamada et al 1998, Garmey et al 2000). In vitro FSH, LH, insulin and IGF-1 all drive the LDL-R gene and protein expression and concomitant progesterone production (Golos and Strauss 1987, Grummer and Carroll 1988, LaVoie et al 1999, Sekar et al 2000, Veldhuis 1988, Veldhuis et al 1986).

In cattle and rodents high density lipoprotein (HDL) is regarded as the more important for maintaining luteal steroidogenesis (Bao et al 1995, O'Shaughnessy and Wathes 1985, Temel et al 1997) with the selective uptake of HDL being particularly active in rats and mice (Glass et al 1985, Stein et al 1983) mediated

through specific binding to scavenger receptor class B, type1 (SR-B1) (Temel et al 1997). Mice null for SR-B1 show a significant increase in plasma cholesterol levels and decreased adrenal gland cholesterol content (Rigotti et al 1997). Li et al (1998) demonstrated that SR-B1 expression within the ovary increases dramatically during PMSG induced follicle maturation but is localised primarily to the thecal cells. As luteinisation progresses there is a shift in the cellular localisation of SR-B1 with an increased intensity of the hybridisation signal in the corpus luteum, demonstrating its inducibility in the granulosa cell by hCG.

The StAR protein is known to regulate acute transport of cholesterol from the outer to the inner mitochondrial membrane for conversion to pregnenolone by P450scc (Stocco and Clark 1996). Prior to the LH surge StAR is virtually absent from granulosa cells which are unable to metabolise and synthesise progesterone from cholesterol precursors (Chaffin et al 2000, Kiriakidou et al 1996, Pescador et al 1996). Regulation of StAR gene transcription is the primary mechanism for regulating StAR activity in granulosa cells (Kiriakidou et al 1996) and thereby controlling progesterone production.

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) are key regulators of lipid metabolism and cell differentiation (Maloney and Waxman 1999). All known isoforms of PPAR are expressed in the ovary (Braissant et al 1996) but their functions in this tissue remain unclear. While PPAR $\gamma$  is highly expressed in preovulatory granulosa cells, it is down regulated after ovulation, suggesting it may be involved in the differentiation of oestrogen producing granulosa cells, to progesterone producing luteal cells (Komar et al 2001, Lohrke et al 1998). Targeted loss of PPAR $\gamma$  in oocytes and granulosa cells decreases progesterone levels and impairs fertility, consistent with a role for PPAR $\gamma$  in normal ovarian function (Cui et al 2002). PPAR $\gamma$  ligands also stimulate progesterone secretion in luteal cells, evidence for a role of PPAR $\gamma$  in developing and maintaining a differentiated phenotype in luteal cells (Lohrke et al 1998).

A link between activation of PPAR $\gamma$  and suppression of aromatase has been established. The PPAR $\gamma$  ligand troglitazone inhibits aromatase activity and mRNA levels in human ovarian granulosa cells (Mu et al 2000). Recent studies show that activation of both PPAR $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  suppresses aromatase mRNA

and oestradiol levels, but has no effect on P450scc mRNA, (Lovekamp-Swan et al 2003). Both pathways upregulate fatty acid binding protein (FABP) (Lovekamp-Swan et al 2003), a protein associated with the differentiation of oestrogen-producing granulosa cells into progesterone producing granulosa cells (Iseki et al 1995). Levels of FABP have been shown to be differentially altered after hCG induction of ovulation (Leo et al 2001). Only PPARa activation induces 17β-HSD IV, aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), cytochrome P450 1B1 (CYP1B1), and epoxide hydrolase (Lovekamp-Swan et al 2003) all of which have involvement in regulation of oestrogen synthesis (Corton et al 1996, Murray et al 2001, Hattori et al 2000) and are generally thought of as being involoved in xenobiotic activation and metabolism (Murray 2001). Induction of these enzymes likely contributes to decreased oestradiol levels and increased estrone levels produced by granulosa cells in vitro and in vivo (Davis et al 1994a and 1994b). AhR is upregulated after the ovulatory gonadotrophin stimulus in primate granulosa cells, and may be involved in terminal differentiation (Chaffin et al 1999). These observations suggest that PPAR $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$  function as regulators of metabolism and differentiation in the granulosa cell demonstrating specific effects on steroidogenesis.

#### 1.6.3.6 Angiogenesis

Apart from during tumour growth and wound healing the adult vascular endothelial epithelium is generally quiescent. The exception to this occurs within the female reproductive system which undergoes cyclical tightly controlled angiogenesis and angiogenic regression regulated by endogenous stimulatory and inhibitory factors (Pepper 1997, Risau 1997, Plendl and Sinowatz 1999). It is mediated by the same proangiogenic factors as tumour angiogenesis but is highly controlled (Smith et al 1993, Nicosia and Villaschi 1999). The development of new ovarian blood vessels is essential to guarantee the necessary supply of nutrients and hormones to promote follicular growth and corpus luteum formation. During follicle formation the granulosa compartment is avascular but the theca layer acquires a vascular sheath that consists of capillary networks in the theca interna and externa (Stouffer et al 2001). The acquisition of a vascular supply is probably a rate limiting step in the selection and maturation of dominant follicles (Stouffer et al 2001).

As follicles mature angiogenesis becomes accompanied by vasodilation, a functional adaptation to impending ovulation and to the developing thecal endocrine function (Jiang et al 2003). Although angiogenesis prior to ovulation occurs in the thecal layer, granulosa cells exert an important role in this process in that they produce several angiogenic factors that act in the theca. Granulosa cells from pig follicles, when co-cultured with aortic endothelial cells have been shown to significantly enhance endothelial sprouting and capillary elongation (Grasselli et al 2003). The maturation of preovulatory follicles, as a prelude to ovulation CL formation. require sufficiently well developed and microvasculature to deliver adequate levels of hormones and lipoprotein bound cholesterol (Davis et al 2003). During corpus luteum formation, endothelial cells migrate into regions containing luteinising granulosa cells and then form vascular networks among lutcal cells. When labelling cells with 3H-thymidine, no less than 30% of the endothelial cells in the forming CL show active DNA synthesis (Gaede et al 1985). An increasing body of evidence suggests that endothelial migration among luteinising granulosa cells is promoted by secretion of soluble angiogenic factors such as bFGF and VEGF (Phillips et al 1990, Yan et al 1993, Reynolds and Redmer 1998). Several works have demonstrated that the production of some angiogenic factors is regulated by oxygen concentration with the induction of VEGF and angiogenin being induced by hypoxic stress in cultures of human luteinising granulosa cells (Friedman et al 1997, Koga et al 2000). The initial growth of the follicle after gonadotrophin stimulation results in inner hypoxia that triggers elevated expression of VEGF in the cumulus and inner granulosa cells. In response to VEGF, vessel permeability increases along with neovascularisation of the follicular periphery, thereby supplying a larger effective dose of LH to that particular follicle (Neeman et al 1997).

Among the angiogenic factors produced by the ovary are basic fibroblast growth factor (Gospodarowicz et al 1985), angiopoietins (Stouffer et al 2001) and VEGF (Robker and Richards 1998).

Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) stimulates endothelial cell proliferation (Bikfalvi et al 1998) and its expression in granulosa and thecal cells of the pig ovary has been shown to be enhanced by eCG administration (Shimizu et al 2003). In the bovine ovary, thecal expression of bFGF has been shown to increase during final follicular maturation, while remaining weak in granulosa cells (Shimizu et al 2003).

In the mouse three angiopoietins have been identified and serve to destabilise existing vessels, loosening the supporting cell matrix and allowing angiogenic factors such as VEGF to stimulate endothelial cell proliferation and migration. They also recruit peri-endothelial support cells to promote vessel maturation and maintain vessel integrity (Stouffer 2001, Tamanini and DeAmbrogu 2004). In the mouse, angiopoietin 1 is expressed in the thecal layer of the preovulatory follicle and then in the granulosa derived luteal cells, angiopoietin 2 expression precedes invading blood vessels, firstly in the theca and then in the granulosa layer (Stouffer 2001).

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a critical regulator of angiogenesis in CL formation (Ferrara and Davis-Smyth 1997). With multiple isoforms (Tamanini and DeAmbrogu 2004) it is expressed during the angiogenic growth phase of CL formation (Ferrara et al 1998, Shweiki et al 1993). VEGF has been localised in the preovulatory follicle and early CL and shown to be stimulated by both LH and IGF-1 in bovine granulosa cells (Schams et al 2001). The VEGF protein in this species is found within granulosa, theca, and some endothelial cells in the preovulatory follicle and early CL (about 24hrs after ovulation) (Schams et al 2001). VEGF mRNA and protein in the primate are not present in granulosa cells of primordial and pre-antral follicles but become evident in the theca layer of antral follicles and in the cumulus granulosa of preovulatory follicles (Stouffer et al 2001). The ovine preovulatory follicle only shows VEGF mRNA expression in the theca interna and theca derived areas of the CL (Redmer et al 2001). In the marmoset VEGF expression starts at the end of the development of secondary follicles and is maximal in tertiary follicles, especially in granulosa cells (Wulff et al 2001). VEGF-A null mice die during early embryonic development, whereas VEGF-B null mice develop with cardiac abnormalities but are fertile (Argraves and Drake 2005) suggesting isoform specific roles during vasculogenesis.

In the pig and bovine hypoxia will increase granulosa VEGF expression (Bianco et al 2003, Berisha et al 2000), but not in the primate (Martinez-Chequer 2003). LH administration upregulates bovine and primate granulosa VEGF mRNA (Berisha et al 2000, Martinez-Chequer 2003), an effect mimicked by eCG in pigs (Shimizu et al 2002) and hCG in humans (Laitinen et al 1997). In the pig, however, although cCG induced follicular maturation causes granulosa cells to actively secrete VEGF into follicular fluid, this activity is rapidly switched off by an ovulatory dose of hCG (Barboni et al 2000). In this species the organisation for VEGF production is completely reprogrammed after hCG administration when theca cells remain the only source of this angiogenic factor in preovulatory follicles. There is, therefore, considerable variation between species in the localisation and regulation of VEGF expression in the ovary.

Other angiogenic factors expressed within the ovary include nitric oxide (for review Tamanini et al 2003) and epidermal growth factor (Shimizu et al 2002) but many potential angiogenic factors can also be found among the numerous cytokines known to be produced within the ovary (Gaetje et al 1994). As previously stated there is evidence that ovulation shares many features of an acute inflammatory reaction, and pro-inflammatory cytokines contribute to the rupture of the follicle at ovulation and amplify the ovulation rate. Just before the time of ovulation the number of neutrophils increases markedly in the thecal layer. Interleukin-8 (IL-8), a neutrophil-activating factor and potent angiogenic agent which is modulated by steroid and trophic hormones, has been proposed to have a role in periovulatory physiology, particularly in the neovascularisation of the CL (Arici et al 1996). TNF- $\alpha$  is an angiogenic molecule suggested to regulate CL function (Okuda et al 1999, Sakumoto et al 2000). Other factors which are known to have effects on endothelial cell function include interferons, platelet derived growth factor, TGF alpha and beta, nerve growth factor and angiogenin (Pepper 1997).

In order to ensure control, anti-angiogenic factors have been suggested as a potential mechanism of balancing of angiogenic proliferation (Hanahan and Folkman 1996, Plendi 2000). One potential anti-angiogenic factor may be metalloproteinase inhibitor. The principal step in angiogenesis is degradation of the basement membrane, consequently protease inhibitors are anti-angiogenic because they prevent the breakdown of matrix proteins and thus maintain the integrity of the endothelium (Auerbach and Auerbach 1994). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) have been indentified as being secreted by granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles under gonadotrophic stimulation (Smith and Moor 1991, Smith et al 1993).

## 1.6.3.7. Final oocyte maturation: meiotic resumption

The oocyte resumes meiosis in response to the preovulatory LH surge (Callesen et al 1986, Channing et al 1978, Dieleman et al 1983, Ireland and Roche 1982, Masui an Clarke 1979, Peng et al 1991). The question of how the preovulatory gonadotrophin surge acts to trigger resumption of meiosis has yet to be properly answered. The general opinion is that it acts to overcome a molecular inhibitor maintaining meiotic arrest, or alternatively generates local trophic signals within the follicle, or a combination of both. During the meiotic process the nuclear membrane starts to fold, the nuclear pores disappear and then nuclear membrane fragments before disappearing (Kubelka et al 1988, Szollosi et al 1972). These events are known as germinal vesicle breakdown (GVBD) and are the first visible sign of meiotic resumption. Oocyte maturation also involves transformations at the cytoplasmic level that prepare the cell to support fertilisation and early embryonic development. The completion of nuclear maturation alone does not guarantee subsequent embryo development (Sirard et al 1989, Yang et al 1998). Resumption of meiosis in vitro can be instigated spontaneously by separation of the oocyte from its surrounding follicle cells and is associated with a drop in intraoocyte concentrations of cAMP (Dekel 1996). However this ability to resume meiosis is not shared by all ovarian oocytes, and is progressively acquired during oocyte growth (Sorensen and Wasserman 1976, Jelinkova et al 1994).

The mitogen-activated protein kinases are known to have a role in regulating meiosis. In oocytes a MAKP pathway has been implicated as a cell cytostatic factor responsible for the second metaphase arrest in conjunction with a germ cell exclusive kinase, Mos (Masui and Market 1971, Sagata et al 1989). MAKP interacts during the meiotic cell cycle with another regulatory enzyme, maturation promoting factor (MPF). MPF was originally identified as a factor that triggers reinitiation of meiosis in frog oocytes (Masui and Market 1971) and has subsequently been observed in a number of meiotically and mitotically dividing cells. In mammalian oocytes an MPF-dependant regulatory step of MAKP activation at reinitiation of meiosis involving the expression of Mos has been identified, and it has been suggested that the upstream regulator of this cascade is cAMP (Josefsberg et al 2003). The expression of Mos is subject to negative regulation by a protein kinase A mediated cAMP action (Lazar et al 2002)

The role of cAMP in the initiation of meiosis only becomes active after maturation of the oocyte. Goren et al (1994) have demonstrated that meiotic arrest in incompetent oocytes is independent of intra-oocyte cAMP concentrations suggesting that other factors responsible for the meiotic incompetence of immature oocytes must be involved.

Another paracrine system influencing meiotic activity in the oocyte involves Leydig insulin-like 3 (Insl3). Female INSL3-null mice exhibit impaired fertility associated with increases in follicular atresia and premature luteolysis (Nef and Parada 1999, Spanel-Borowski 2001). Recent studies indicate that testis Insl3 acts as an endocrine factor to activate a G-protein coupled receptor LGR8 (leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 8) with consequent increases in cAMP production (Kumagai et al 2002), LGR8 is expressed by the germ cells of both sexes and Insl3 has been shown to have a paracrine role in initiating oocyte maturation (Kawamura et al 2004). Insl3 is expressed in the thecal cells of the ovary (Bathgate et al 1996) with transient stimulation of this expression being induced by LH/hCG (Kawamura et al 2004). Although LH stimulates cAMP production in follicular somatic cells, a decrease in intraoocyte cAMP is required for meiotic resumption (Tsafriri and Pomerantz 1986), this

being an evolutionary conserved mechanism for regulating meiotic progression (Maller 1985). Insl3 has been shown to suppress intraoocyte Ca levels and to induce oocyte maturation as early as 1 hour after administration (Kawamura et al 2004), indicating that the Insl3-LGR8 pathway may be important for germ cell meiotic progression.

In cultured, intact follicles both LH and FSH have been observed to induce oocyte maturation (Hillensjö 1976, Tsafriri et al 1972, 1998, and 2002, Dekel et al 1988, Tornell et al 1995). LH has the ability to induce meiosis in oocytes from large antral follicles from eCG primed rats, but FSH can induce meiosis in large and small follicles from unprimed rats (Dekel et al 1995). It had been proposed that cumulus cells secrete a substance after stimulation by FSH which influences meiotic resumption, and this has led to the identification of meiosis-activating sterols (MAS) (Byskov et al 1995 and 1997). Since then several studies have revealed that MAS play a role in the mouse oocyte meiotic resumption (Lu et al 2000, Grøndhal et al 1998 and 2000). Recent studies have shown that MAS levels increase rapidly in response to LH in the rabbit ovary in vivo (Grøndhal ct al 2003) and that MAS binding sites can be detected at the surface of the mouse oocyte membrane (Faerge et al 2001). Further work using a serum-free culture model for intact mouse follicles has also concluded that gonadotrophins employ MAS as a downstream signal transduction molecule for the initiation of oocyte maturation (Xie et al 2004).

During the phase when resumption of meiosis is becoming apparent there is also a decrease in the availability of granulosa cell aromatase as the shift to progesterone dominance progresses. Progesterone titres can become particularly high in follicular fluid with levels of 6400ng/ml being recorded in domestic farm animals (Hunter et al 1976). Progesterone has been shown to influence oocyte quality and maturation independent of the gonadotrophin surge (Borman et al 2004). It has also been shown to be able to prevent oocyte atresia and promote oocyte nuclear maturation in primate follicles.

1.6.3.8. Cell survival

During follicular growth and development the majority of the follicles selectively degenerate. This atresia is characterised primarily by granulosa cell apoptosis. In cultured, fully differentiated preovulatory follicles (following FSHinduced LH receptor expression) LH is proposed to provide continued support for follicle survival until the time of ovulation (Chun et al 1994) and an increased resistance to apoptosis has been observed in granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles following the LH surge in cattle (Porter et al 2001) and in rats (Svensson et al 2000). If preovulatory gonadotrophin surges are blocked or serum gonadotropins are decreased following hypophysectomy, follicles undergo atresia (Braw and Tsafriri 1980, Braw et al 1981). However, studies using cultured rat granulosa cells have shown that treatments with FSH, LH/hCG or insulin growth factor (IGF-I) are ineffective in the prevention of apoptosis, despite their apoptosis-suppressing action in cultured rat follicles (Billig et al 1996). This indicates the importance of neighbouring theca cells and local factors produced in the ovary for regulation of follicle growth and atresia. Other follicle survival factors, e.g. epidermal growth factor/transforming growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor (Tilly et al 1992), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (Chun et al 1995) and growth hormone (Eisenhauer et al 1995) as well as pro-apoptotic factors, e.g. tumour necrosis factor-a (Kaipai et al 1996), Fas ligand (Quirk et al 1995) and GnRH (Billig et al 1994) have been characterized

One of the most extensively documented granulosa cell survival pathways involves PKA/adenylyl cyclase signalling (Johnson et al 2003). Mechanisms implicated in this gonadotrophin-mediated survival pathway include the suppressed expression of proapoptotic factors such as Bax (Tilly et al 1995), Apaf-1 (Robles et al 1999), and caspase 3 (Boone and Tsang 1998). Progesterone, acting through its nuclear receptor, is also reported to exert antiapoptotic effects on isolated granulosa cells collected from periovulatory follicles (Svensson et al 2000). In addition peptide hormones such as vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) and pituitary cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) also act via PKA to support survival. Progesterone has the ability to upregulate PACAP and the PACAP receptor in granulosa cells during the periovulatory period.

Serum glucocorticoid regulated kinase (Sgk) expression is rapidly reduced by the LH surge but this decrease is transient. The expressions of Sgk mRNA and protein are increased as the cells begin to luteinise (Gonzalez-Robayna 1999, Alliston 2000). Upon activation Sgk is known to translocate to the nucleus where it can modulate the activity of transcription factors, including at least one member of the Forkhead family (Richards et al 2002) which has been shown to induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Brunet et al 2001). Sgk is known to prevent apoptosis in mammary epithelial cell lines (Mikosz et al 2001) and in a human embryonic kidney cell line (Brunet et al 2001).

A number of cellular anti-apoptotic proteins are also involved. Many of the members of the Bcl-2 family have been isolated in the ovary. The antiapoptotic Boo (Bcl-2 homologue of ovary) expression is highly restricted to the ovary and the epididymis (Song et al 1999) and Bok (Bel-2 related ovarian killer) is highly expressed in the ovary, testis and uterus (Hsu et al 1997). Members of the Bcl-2 family have been shown to be upregulated by gonadotrophins via PKA signalling (Tilly et al 1995) and it has been suggested that the production of excess levels of these proteins enables efficient binding and neutralisation of other pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bad, Bax, and Apaf-1 (Tilly et al 1995, Hsu and Hsueh 2000). Bcl-2 has been shown to function as a survival factor in primary human granulosa cells (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002). Sasson et al (2004) identified a number of genes related to cell death and/or survival expressed in luteinised human granulosa cells in response to gonadotrophic stimulation. Among them is BAX inhibitor 1, Bcl-2 antagonist of cell death (BAD), Bcl-2 associated athanogene (BAG1). Bax null mice have been shown to have reduced ovarian apoptosis (Percz et al 1997). Another protein, apoptotic repressor (ARC), thought to be unique to heart muscle, is now known to be expressed in granulosa cells (Neuss et al 2001) and to be induced by gonadotrophin stimulation (Sasson et al 2004). ARC contains caspase recruitment domains which interact with and inactivate caspase activites thus helping to preserve mitochondrial integrity and function (Neuss et al 2001, Shelke and Leeuwenburgh 2003).

The Myc/Max/Mad family of transcription factors is linked closely to proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis (Grandori et al 2000). The protooncogene *c-myc*, which typically facilitates movement of cells into DNA synthesis (Nasi et al 2001), is antagonised by Mad proteins which compete for access to promoter sites and are thus associated with cell cycle arrest and differentiation (McArthur et al 1998). Granulosa cells from rodents and primates express *c-myc* transiently after a gonadotrophic ovulatory stimulus and it has been suggested that that this gene may act as a switch mechanism between proliferating and luteinising follicles (Agarwal et al 1996, Piontkewitz et al 1997, Fraser et al 1995). C-Myc is also a potent inducer of apoptosis (Piontkewitz et al 1997) with both reduction and inappropriate overexpression associated with apoptosis. C-Myc is rapidly induced (within 1 hour) in rat granulosa cells following an hCG stimulus (Piontkewitz et al 1997), suggesting an increased proliferation of cells during the very initial steps of CL formation. This matches well with data from primates showing that the acquisition of the luteal phenotype by granulosa cells is preceeded by a proliferative burst driven in part by a transient increase in the ratio of c-myc to Mad (Chaffin et al 2003). Yct in the mouse within 4 h and complete by 12 hrs of exposure to LH, granulosa cells cease to divide (Robker and Richards 1998). The cessation of cell division is associated with the rapid loss of cyclin D2 and the increased expression of the cell cycle inhibitors, P21<sup>CIP1</sup> and p27<sup>KIP1</sup> (Robker and Richards 1998). Cyclin D2 regulates cell cycle kinase cascades that are obligatory for entry of cells into the G1 phase of the cell cycle. In the ovary, cyclin D2 is expressed selectively in proliferating granulosa cells of the growing follicle (Robker and Richards 1998). Mice null for cyclin D2 fail to ovulate; however, the granulosa cells within the small follicles can be stimulated to differentiate and to express genes associated with ovulation (PR, COX-2) and luteinisation (P450scc) (Sicinski et al 1996). It could be hypothesised that this final proliferative activity is a necessary component of the terminal differentiation of granulosa cells, which is brought to an effective stop by the increasing concentrations of the cell cycle inhibitors P21<sup>CIP1</sup> and p27<sup>KIP1</sup>.

Integrity of cell-cell adherence and gap junction communication also has a role in increasing the resistance of granulosa cells to apoptotic stimuli. The expression of connexin 43 is clearly elevated by gonadotrophins (Sommersberg et al 2000). Following stimuli for apoptosis, integrity of the gap junctions is interrupted (Sasson and Amsterdam 2002), although whether this is a cause or effect of an apoptotic process is not known.

#### 1.6.3.9 Follicular remodelling

The mature ovarian follicle contains granulosa cells with a number of luteinising hormone receptors (Espey and Lipner 1994, Richards 1994). The signal transduction processes that are initiated by these receptors at the time of the ovulatory surge of LH induce several dynamic changes in follicular cell function. Along with resumption of meiotic activity in the oocyte, there is induction of granulosa cell differentiation into progesterone secreting lutein cells. The fibroblasts in the thecal layers around the periphery of a follicle undergo a transformation from quiescence to motility, as they proliferate through the membrana propria towards the interior of the follicle, where they lay down a connective tissue framework to support the developing luteal tissue (Espey and Lipner 1994). Thus acute hormonal stimulation of a mature ovarian follicle leads to substantial cellular changes that convert a cavernous ovulatory follicle into a solid mass of luteal cells within 24-48 hours. This transformation of an ovarian follicle into a corpus luteum involves distinct ovarian cell types, diverse signalling pathways and temporally controlled expression of specific genes (Richards et al 1998).

The characteristics of both the theca and granulosa cells change markedly during luteinisation. The cells increase in size, acquire a polyhedral shape, accumulate lipids and produce increased amounts of progesterone (Van Blerkholm and Motta 1978, Mori et al 1983). In some species the theca- and granulosa-lutein cells are separated in layers and can be distinguished from one another (Mori et al 1983, Greenwald and Rothchild 1968), but in rodents the two types of luteal cells become intermingled (Greenwald and Rothchild 1968, Pedersen 1951).

#### Cell-cell adhesion

Clearly changes in cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) must occur during this remodelling process to permit the migration of theca cells and to facilitate the association of luteinising theca and granulosa cells into a functional corpus luteum.

The cadherins are a family of calcium dependant CAMs that have been studied extensively and shown to be important regulators of reproductive tissue structure, function and viability (Peluso 1997, Makrigiannakis et al 2000, Peluso 2000, Rowlands et al 2000) and to have a role in maintaining the viability of granulosa cells (Trolice et al 1997). Cell adhesion affects the ability of granulosa cells to acquire LH receptors (Farookhi and Desjardins 1986) and also influences their responsiveness to gonadotrophin signals. Both E- and N-cadherin expression have been reported in preovulatory follicles and during formation of the corpus luteum, and E-cadherin is expressed during the functional luteinisaton of isolated rat granulosa cells in vitro (Machell and Farookhi 2003).

The neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) has been localised to granulosa cells and luteal cells of ovaries from both the rat and mouse. Granulosa cells from preovulatory follicles of the human ovary and cultured GCs that underwent luteinisation in vitro, both expressed NCAM mRNA and protein (Mayerhofer et al 1991), suggesting it may be involved in corpus luteum formation. NCAM has been reported to downregulate the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP1 and MMP9) (Edvardsen et al 1993).

Integrins build up cell matrix connections and act as receptors for ECM proteins. Several groups have been found, in particular integrin  $\alpha$ 6, but also  $\alpha$ 2,  $\alpha$ 3, and  $\beta$ 1, that are expressed during follicular development and corpus luteum formation in time and cell specific manners, suggesting specific roles during these processes (Aten et al 1995, Honda et al 1995, Giebel et al 1996, Nakamura et al 1997, Fujiwara et al 1998).

#### Proteolytic mechanisms

Two principle families of enzymes, plasminogen activators/plasmin and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), govern tissue dissolution and remodelling during ovulation and luteinisation. In response to the LH surge plasminogen activator expression is increased differentially at the apices of preovulatory follicles within the ovarian surface epithelial cells (Carmeliet et al 1994). Both urokinase and tissue plasminogen activators contribute to ovarian plasmin production and ovulatory efficiency in rodents (Hägglund et al 1996, Curry and Osteen 2001, Murdoch et al 1986). That ovarian/follicular MMPs are increased and collagens are degraded during ovulation has been established (Murdoch and McCormick 1992). In preovulatory ovine follicles, there is a direct association of apical plasmin accumulation with the onset of collagenolysis (Fukumoto et al 1981, Bjersing and Cajander 1975). Morphological observations indicate that preovulatory connective tissue disruption begins at the ovarian surface and advances inward to encompass the ovarian follicular wall (Reich et al 1991, Tadakuma et al 1993). Tunica/thecal fibroblasts and follicular steroidogenic (theca, granulosa) cells are sources of procollagenase (lehikawa et al 1983, Reich et al 1985).

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)  $\alpha$  is known to be expressed by preovulatory follicles (Black et al 1997, Johnson et al 1999, Murdoch 1994 and 1995) and is secreted, within a limited diffusion radius, into the progenitor site of follicular rupture (DeMola et al 1998). TNF $\alpha$  induces collagenase production in the follicle (Murdoch et al 1999, Brännström et al 1995) and it therefore appears that it potentiates ovulatory collagenolysis by assuring that sufficient quantities of (pro) MMPs are synthesized. Secretion into the follicular fluid of low levels of TNF $\alpha$  by the oocyte cumulus complex evidently facilitates collagen breakdown throughout the follicular wall (Murdoch et al 1999).

MMP 2 production during the follicular transition to the luteal phase is upregulated under the transcriptional control of TNFa (Murdoch and Gottsch 2003) and its localisation within the connective tissue strands that extend into the substance of the corpus luteum (Brännström et al 1995) is consistent with the concept that follicular type IV collagen is remodelled into an anchoring

infrastructure for blood vessel development and cellular migration (Sato and Seiki 1996, Stack et al 1998, Nelson et al 2000, Woessner 1991). MMP 2 is essential for ovulatory rupture and remodelling and normal angiogenesis within the developing corpus luteum (Baibin et al 1996).

In addition, other proteolytic enzymes have been found to be involved in periovulatory connective tissue dynamics; MMP-9 is elevated in the luteinising granulosa cells of rodents (Boujrad et al 1995), MMP-13 is elevated in preovulatory follicles (Balbin et al 1996, Komar et al 2001) as are cathespin L and ADMATS-1 (Robker et al 2000).

Net proteolysis during ovulation is controlled by the relative balance of enzymes to inhibitors. Increased expression of TIMP-1 and  $\alpha$ 2-macroglobulin by granulosa cells of periovulatory follicles apparently serves to confine the extent of ovulatory tissue destruction and assure that a viable corpus lutcum is formed (Liu et al 1998 and 1999).

There is also evidence that MMPs and TIMPs influence luteal emergence independent of ramifications on the extracellular matrix. Matrix metalloproteinases, by liberating growth factors from inhibitory binding proteins, can trigger cellular expansion (Liu et al 1999). Progesterone production by rat granulosa cells is stimulated by TIMP-1 when complexed with cathespin L (Boujrad et al 1995).

Two proteases that are induced in granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles by the LH surge and whose expression is impaired in PR null mice are cathespin L and ADAMTS-1. Cathespin L is a lysosomal cysteine protease which degrades types I and IV collagen, fibronectin and laminin (Kirschke et al 1998). It has been associated in vivo with metastatic potential of transformed cells (Ishidoh and Kominami 1998), suggesting that it is important for tissue remodelling and cell migration/invasion. ADAMTS-1 is a member of the ADAMs family of proteases (Kuno et al 1997) characterised by a multifunctional structure and zinc binding domains (Black and White 1998). The peak in ADAMTS-1 transcription occurs 8-12hrs after exposure of the ovaries to an ovulatory dose of hCG (Robker et al 2000, Espey et al 2000), after the peak of PR expression but before ovulation (usually observed at 14-16 hrs). It has several possible

functions in the ovary, firstly it is a potent active proteases which may serve to initiate one or more proteclytic cascades (Kuno e al 1999). Secondly as a protease it may serve to control the amount and cellular location of various proteoglycans. It has been shown to degrade aggrecan and brevican both of which are present in follicular fluid (MacArthur et al 2000, Nakamura et al 2000, Tortorella et al 2000, Kuno et al 2000) and to proteolyze the cell surface ectodomain of the syndecans, which may release potent biological peptides into the follicular matrix (Park et al 2000). Proteoglycans appear to play a critical role in the physical composition of follicular fluid and are important for cell migration and for other cell functions (Salustri et al 1999). A lack of ADMATS-1 might prevent the activation of one or more potent bloactive factors in the follicular fluid by preventing their release from proteoglycans. Finally, its ability to interact with specific cellular signalling molecules suggest its third putative function as a cell signal regulator (Kuno et al 1999, Bigler et al 2000). At least one class of G protein coupled receptors are activated by proteolytic cleavage of their extracellular domain (Nakanishi-Matsui et al 2000).

In addition at least two other ADAMs family member are expressed in the rodent ovary, ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-9, but the specific source cell type has not been identified (Abbaszade et al 1999).

1.7 Rationale and aims for the present study.

Although much is known about the molecular mechanisms responsible for follicular development comparatively little study has been carried out to analyse the control of, and genetic response to, luteinisation. The extensive morphological and functional changes described above during luteinsiation involve the regulation of gene and protein expression responsible for the ecssation of proliferation and differentiation of the individual granulosa cells. The formation of the functional corpus luteum and secretion of progesterone is essential for the establisment of pregnancy following ovulation. However, as already described, the differentiating granulosa cell also functions in an endocrine manner, as a paracine mediator of thecal function and oocyte maturation, as the driving force behind follicle formation and subsequent corpus luteum remodelling, and as a provider of nutritional and metabolic support for the oocyte. The control of such an array of functions depends on the tight regulation of protein expression within the cell. Initiation of gene transcription depends on the activity and cooperation of transcription factors and other controlling elements binding to a gene specific promoter region on the chromosome and activating synthesis of the mRNA. Following this, transcript processing, transport, translation and post translation modification/activation or inactivation will all impact on the eventual role of the transcribed gene.

In order to investigate the mechanisms underlying these processes we embarked on a time- and cell-specific analysis of gene expression in the granulosa cell during late follicle development and early luteinisation. Our aims were to provide a comprehensive record of gene expression within the cell during this fundamental transformation and in so doing identify some of the core regulatory systems controlling luteinisation.

The advantages of the experimental approach chosen to perform this analysis will be discussed in Chapter 3.

#### 1.8 Tissue generation and mouse model

The mouse is an excellent animal for the study of follicle development and luteinisation. The first follicles are formed in mice around the day of birth (Peters 1970) so that the newborn mouse ovary contains only primordial follicles. At 2-3 weeks after birth the follicles have developed to antral follicle stage. Neonatal mouse ovaries therefore contain uniform follicle populations of similar sizes as determined by the number of days after birth (Sorensen et al 1976; Epigg 1991).

To attain a more complete knowledge of the mechanism of cell function, it is necessary to investigate the full range of molecules involved. Analysis of mixed cell populations may miss significant transcripts expressed in a cell type that has a low frequency in the population, or over emphasise the importance of a transcript expressed in multiple cell types compared to those with more limited expression. By isolating follicular somatic cells from thecal and interstitial tissue this problem is largely overcome and results in a significant improvement over those gene expression studies (Leo et al 2001; Espey and Richards 2002) based on the whole ovary without regard for variation between specific cellular compartments. The value of this approach is illustrated by the work of Virlon et al 1999 who microdissected kidney tubules and identified transcripts dramatically enriched in specific histological regions. The fact that several of the most highly expressed transcript tags in this study had no matches to cDNA databases suggests that existing cDNA libraries made from entire kidneys did not contain important genes expressed in small subpopulations.

The gonadotrophin-induced mouse model using PMSG (pregnant mare serum gonadotrophin; mainly FSH activity) and hCG (human chorionic gonadotrophin; mainly LH activity) at 20 days old, before the animal has entered its own oestrus cycle, simplifies the staging and collection of uniform populations of cells. It is also a considerable advantage that the timing of ovarian events are well known in this model, which allows tissue sampling and pharmacological treatments at defined time points during follicular development and ovulation. The PMSG treatment stimulates follicular growth and development and the subsequent hCG administration induces ovulation between 12 and 14 hours later (Wilson and Zarrow 1962; Zarrow and Wilson 1961).

# Chapter 2

## Introduction to basic laboratory methods, mouse model and tissue collection.

- A.S.

## Chapter 2. Overview of Basic Laboratory Procedures

The main objective of this project were the identification of genes with altered expression during luteinisation. This was largely achieved using serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) but a number of molecular biology techniques such as RNA extraction, DNAse treatment of RNA, reverse transcription, normal and 'hot start' PCR, gel electrophoresis, cDNA cloning and sequencing were also used and require a brief explanation. Unless specifically stated later in the text these are the protocols followed.

## 2.1. RNA extraction

Messenger RNA within the cell is the intermediate coding stage between the gene and the protein. The initial stage in RNA formation is the production of heteronuclear RNA, a direct copy of a sequence of genomic DNA, containing both introns and exons. The noncoding exons are removed by splicing, leaving the coding exon sequence mRNA as the template for protein synthesis.

RNA extraction was carried out by addition of the tissue sample to the appropriate volume of Trizol (Invitrogen, UK), usually 400µl. When dealing with aspirated granulosa cells from ruptured follicles no homogenisation was used other than vortexing the sample for 15 seconds. In the case of samples with significant structural organisation homogenisation was carried out using the Ribolyser (Hybaid, UK) for a 20 second period or as required for complete disruption of tissue structure. A one fifth volume of chloroform (usually 80µl) was added and the contents mixed by vortexing. The tube was left on ice for 3 minutes then centrifuged for 7 minutes at 14,000 rpm (18,000g). The top aqueous layer was removed and transferred to another tube. An equal volume of isopropanol was added along with 1µl of RNAasc free glycogen (Invitrogen, UK) and the tube left at room temperature for 20 minutes before centrifugation for 20 mins at 18,000g. The centrifugation formed an RNA pellet. The supernatant was decanted and the pellet washed in 750µl 75% ethanol, vortexed for a few seconds and then recentrifugated for 15 minutes. The ethanol was

removed and the pellet allowed to air dry before resuspension in 20-50 $\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O (UV treated) and storage at -70°C or in liquid nitrogen.

## 2.2 DNAse Treatment of RNA samples

Contamination of RNA samples with genomic DNA can produce a false positive signal, particularly in highly sensitive real time PCR processes. This will occur if the amplicon does not span an intron/exon boundary. While false positives can be detected using a control which has undergone the reverse transcription protocol without active enzyme, removal of contaminating DNA aids detection and quantification of RNA species. This can be carried out efficiently by using a DNAse treatment such as DNA-*free* (Ambion Inc UK) which breaks down DNA into short oligo and mononucleotides but leaves RNA unaffected.

To DNAse treat one sample 1µl of 10x DNAse buffer (100mM Tris, pH 7.5; 25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) and 0.5µl DNAse (Ambion Inc) was added to 5µl of the RNA sample along with  $3.5\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O (total volume of reaction 10µl) and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes and then placed on ice. DNase inactivation reagent (4µl) was added to each sample and left to stand at room temperature for 2 minutes. Centrifugation at 18,000g for 2 minutes pelleted the inactivation reagent and DNAse and allowed removal of the supernatant containing DNA-free RNA. This was stored at -70°C or in liquid nitrogen.

If real time PCR showed DNA contamination still present then a second cycle of DNAse treatment was performed.

## 2.3 Reverse Transcription

The conversion of unstable RNA to the more easily manipulable cDNA by RNA dependent DNA polymerases is the starting point for many molecular biology techniques. Recent evidence has shown that some types of reverse transcriptase such as RnaseH RT (Superscript II, Invitrogen, Paisley UK) may generate up to four time more cDNA from an identical amount of starting material (Virlon et al 1999) when compared to some of the more traditionally used enzymes such as

the Moloney murine leukaemia virus reverse transcriptase, making it the obvious choice for use.

These enzymes act by extending an oligo dT or random hexamer primer in the 3' direction by the incorporation of deoxynucleotides (dNTPs)

Reverse transcription reactions were usually performed in a 10µl total volume containing 2µl 5x RT buffer, 1µl 10mM DTT, 0.25µl dNTPs (20pmol/L), 0.25µl random hexamers (20pmol/L) or oligodT primer (20pmol/L), 0.15µl of RNAse inhibitor (RNasin, Promega, UK), 0.15µl of Superscript II RT (Invitrogen, UK), 5.2µl of water and 1µl of RNA template. The mixture was incubated at 42°C in a water bath for 1 hour then cooled and stored at -20°C.

## 2.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction

The polymerase chain reaction allows amplification of specific target sequences of DNA using oligonucleotide primers each complimentary to one end of the DNA target sequence. These primers are extended in a 3' direction by a thermo stable DNA polymerase in a three-step reaction involving a high temperature denaturation step (95°C), a low temperature annealing step (54-65°C) and an extension step (72°C).

The primers are usually 17-28 bases long, with 45-60% GC content and minimal self complementarity. The specific primers used in various reactions will be listed in the text.

Each PCR reaction usually contained 10x buffer (750mM Tris-HCl pH8.8, 200mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20°.), 0.1µl taq polymerase (5iu/µl), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (2mM) (All from Abgene, UK), dNTPs (0.2mM), 1µl of cDNA template, primers (200nm each) and rtH<sub>2</sub>0 to an appropriate volume (usually 25µl or 50µl). The appropriate cycling program was performed using a PCR express machine (Thermo Hybaid). Cycling programs consisted of an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 2 minutes, then 25-35 cycles of 95°C denaturation, a primer-specific annealing temperature and then 2 minutes of 72°C extension. A terminal extension step of 5 minutes at 72°C was used in most protocols. Non template controls were included in all reactions.

In a variation of the normal PCR protocol some enzymes require a 95°C denaturation step to activate the polymerase enzyme. When setting up a PCR reaction at low temperatures, non-specific annealing can lead to the generation of non-specific constructs which will be reamplified throughout the remainder of the PCR reaction. A system requiring hot start activation of the polymerase allows premixing of the reagents at room temperature without extension of non-specific annealed primers. This increases reaction fidelity and reduces the incidence of mis-primed PCR products and primer oligomers, particularly valuable when performing real time PCR quantification of low level expression transcripts.

The Ampiltaq Gold (Applied Biosystems) hot start PCR system was used for all real time PCR reactions performed in this study. The reaction was performed in 1x GeneAmp PCR Gold Buffer and 6.25mM magnesium chloride solution (both Applied Biosystems) with 0.15 units Amplitaq Gold polymerase per reaction. Also included were 200µmol/L dNTP's, 300nmol/L of each primer, 200nmol/L of probe and the reference dye rox (60pmol/L). The thermal profile consisted of an initial 10 minute 95°C denaturation then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds denaturation with a 60°C extension step. Thermal cycling and flouresence detection was performed by a GeneAmp 5700 system (Applied Biosystems, Cheshire, UK). A further description of real time PCR is given in Chapter 3.

## 2.5 Gel electrophoresis

This involves the separation of DNA or RNA products on the basis of size and electric charge. The DNA molecule is negatively charged and will migrate through the gel matrix towards a positive electrode. Product size was electrophoretically resolved by comparison with DNA size standards. The loading buffer added to the DNA sample contains both glycerol to retain the DNA within the wells and bromophenol blue to allow estimation of sample migration. Two types of gel matrix are used in this study, agarose and polyacrylamide. Agarose gels were 1% unless otherwise stated, prepared in 0.5x TBE buffer, heated to induce dissolution of the agarose, as being cooled, ethidium bromide was added (1µl ethidium to 100mls agarose gel) to permit visualisation of the DNA product under uv light. A voltage difference of 10V/cm was applied to the gel and run for as long as required to induce separation of the DNA fragments.

Polyacrylamide gels (PAGE) are efficient at separating lower molecular weight products with better resolution than can be achieved with agarose gels. 12% PAGE gels were routinely used for separation of the PCR and restriction enzyme digest products involved in SAGE. To generate a 12% gel, 10.5ml 40% Acrylamide/Bis Solution, 19:1 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA) was combined with 23.5ml water, 700µl of 50x TAE, 350µl ammonium persulphate (Sigma Chemicals, UK) and 30µl TEMED (Sigma Chemicals, UK), mixed and allowed to set as a 1mm thick gel.

Following electrophoresis the gel was removed from the mould and washed in 100mls 1xTAE buffer containing 6µl ethidium bromide for 15 minutes followed by rinsing in 100mls clean 1xTAE for another 15 minutes and then visualised under UV-A light.

## 2.6 cDNA Cloning using TOPO vector

The TOPO (Invitrogen, UK) range of cloning vectors utilise a bound topoisomerase enzyme attached to each end of the open vector to ligate the desired insert. Selection of cloned insert over empty vector is performed by means of a suicide gene. The pCR 4-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, UK) is supplied open with an A base overhang to permit cloning of PCR products. This system was used repeatedly to clone cDNA for sequencing analysis.

The cloning reactions were set up using  $4\mu$ l PCR product,  $1\mu$ l salt solution (1.2M NaCl, 0.06M MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and  $1\mu$ l TOPO vector. The mixture was gently mixed by pipetting and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes then placed on ice.

Ethanol precipitation was used prior to electroporation to reduce salt concentration and prevent arcing. For precipitation 3µl glycogen was added to the supernatant followed by 50µl sodium acetate 3M, pH5.2, and 1300µl 100%

ethanol and the mix was stored at -70°C for 2 hours followed by centrifugation at 18,000g for 15 minutes. The supernatant was removed and discarded, the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 18,000g. Again the supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol before centrifugation for 5 minutes at 18,000g. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet dried before resuspension in 10µl LoTE.

Amplification of the insert in recombinant plasmids was carried out using the vector based primers M13R (5'-TCACACAGGAAACAGCTCTGA-3') and M13F (5'-TGT AAA ACG ACG GCC AGT-3'), sequencing was performed using M13R primer.

## 2.7 Electroporation of E.coli

The DH10B *E.coli* strain (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) was used as the host cell for transformation with plasmid DNA. 1µl of a 10µl ligation reaction was added to an aliquot of 40µl of cells which had been stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C and then defrosted on ice. This mix was transferred to a chilled 0.1cm cuvette (Bio-Rad) and electroporation at 150kV and 200Ω using a Bio-Rad Gene Pulser carried out. Cuvettes where maintained on ice for 2-3 minutes following electroporation then cells resuspended in 1ml SOC (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) at room temperature and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C shaking at 220 rpm. This suspension was aliquoted onto normal or low salt LB agar plates with the appropriate selective antibiotic and incubated at 37°C overnight. Analysis of growing colonies was carried out by PCR utilising plasmid based primers.

## 2.8 DNA Sequencing

Sequencing of PCR products or plasmid purified DNA was carried out with the ABI PRISM Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). Amplification reactions were performed in a 10µl reaction volume containing 3µl Big Dye buffer, 1µl Big Dye (both Applied Biosystems), 0.5µl sequence specific primer (3.2pmol<sup>-1</sup> concentration, sourced from MWG Biotech) and  $2\mu$ l of PCR product as template. Thermal cycling was performed at 96°C for 30 seconds, 50°C for 15 seconds and then 55°C for 4 minutes for 25 cycles.

The amplified product was purified by ethanol precipitation. To the 10µl reaction volume was added 8µl water and 32µl 95% ethanol and this was left to stand at room temperature for 15-30 minutes then centrifuged for 30 minutes at 4000g at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet washed in 150µl 70% ethanol. Following further centrifugation at 4000g at 4°C for 10 minutes, the supernatant was removed, the pellet dried and then reuspended in 15µl formamide.

Sequencing was performed on the ABI Prism 3100 Genetic Analyser (ABI Biosystems). The sequences were viewed and text files created using Chromas 2.3 (Technelysium Pty Ltd, AUS).

## 2.9 Collection of experimental tissue for SAGE libraries

The experimental tissue for this study was obtained by treating 30 normal d20 female mice, bred on the C3H/Hehx101h strain, with 5IU PMSG intraperitoneally (i/p). Isolation of granulosa cells from mature antral follicles was carried out by puncturing follicles of ovaries collected 48 hours following injection. Further granulosa tissue was collected by the same method from preovulatory follicles 12 hours after the sequential administration of 5IU PMSG and 15IU hCG intraperitoneally to 30 female mice 48 hours apart. Cells were collected by follicle puncture and aspiration in Dulbecco's ME medium (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until use.
# Chapter 3

## Serial analysis of gene expression Introduction, protocol, some methodological considerations and results.

## Chapter 3: Serial Analysis of Gene Expression

## 3.1 Overview of Gene expression analysis

Changes in gene expression can have a major effect on ovarian function. Small shifts in the expression levels of hormones, their transporters and receptors can have wide implications for cell function. The description of gene expression patterns provides clues about the regulatory mechanisms, biochemical pathways, and broader cellular functions. Therefore identification of physiological variation in expression patterns will add to the understanding of the pathways affected. Messenger RNA expression studies are complementary to these goals. The advantage of mRNA analysis is that it is generally less difficult and more sensitive than protein based methods. The differences found in mRNA levels are often, but not always, correlated with differences in protein levels. For example, study of the C.cresentus bacterium cell cycle using two dimensional gel method for proteins and DNA microarrays for RNA showed similar expression profiles between protein and RNA (Grunenfelder et al 2001). The main disadvantages of measuring mRNA are associated with these molecules not being the final expression product and an inability to account for protein modification, interactions with other proteins, and to identify the location of the final product.

The extent of the genomic DNA that encodes genes varies greatly between organisms, the yeast genome, for example, is approximately 70% coding, while the human genome contains only about 3% coding sequence, equating to a surprisingly low number of genes (Lander et al 2001). It is estimated that around 10000 genes are active at a given time in a mammalian cell (Yanamoto et al 2001) and of these a proportion can be useful in identifying differences between cell types by representing cell specific functions. Gene expression studies aim to identify and measure the relative copy number of each transcript, creating an expression profile that can be used to look specifically at or for genes with altered expression levels in response to certain stimuli. It is, however, important to bear in mind that transcript and protein profiles do not always agree (Griffin et al 2002). It is also important to note that a large proportion of transcribed

sequences represent non-coding RNA. This may include ribosomal RNA, transfer RNA and other small RNA's (Mattick 2001, Eddy 2001). The separation of mRNA from other RNA species is aided by the transcriptional modification of coding RNA by the addition of a 3' polyadenylated tail, although some noncoding RNA strands also have poly A tails. Hybridisation of this tail to a complementary polyT oligonucleotide anchored on a solid support is the feature on which a variety of global expression techniques are based. By reverse transcription of the RNA into complementary DNA (cDNA) and cloning of this cDNA, a library is created with the same sequence distribution as the original mRNA.

## 3.1.1 Gene profiling techniques

Several approaches are possible in studying the differential expression of genes within tissue samples. The hypothesis driven selective study of specific genes and proteins can be expanded by techniques which allow the open-ended study of all genes expressed within a tissue or cell type in the hope that knowledge of complete gene expression patterns will provide insight into the physiological control of function of that tissue or cell. All techniques require the extraction of mRNA and subsequent reverse transcription to cDNA. Large-scale arrays using cDNA or oligonucleotides and tagging techniques such as serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) and GeneCalling rely on databases of EST and gene sequences to identify expressed genes.

Older techniques frequently relied on the use of cDNA libraries in the form of a bacterial population cach harbouring cDNA clones synthesized from a single mRNA molecule. These libraries may be non-normalised, preserving the relative abundance of mRNAs in the starting tissue and allowing assessment of the gene expression levels within the study sample, or normalised with relative similar levels of abundant and rare genes in the final product. These normalised libraries are consequently useful for identification of genes with low level expression. The various methods of gene expression analysis are briefly outlined below.

## EST sequencing and electronic databases

The use of cDNA technology to generate EST libraries allows sequencing of most of the expressed genes from any particular tissue. Comparison of ESTs from libraries constructed from different tissues allows identification of tissue specific gene expression patterns. Most EST libraries are constructed using directional cloning of cDNAs and then sequencing from the 5' or 3' end of the transcript. The 5' sequencing strategy is useful for identifying coding regions within genes, primarily because the majority of cloned cDNAs are truncated (Williamson 1999). In contrast 3' sequences span the 3' untranslated region (UTR), which is more transcript specific due to less evolutionary conservation in such non-coding regions. These databases allow for selection of genes associated with a particular function or cell type. The ESTs representing these genes can also be used as a starting point for synthesis of PCR primers or hybridisation probes for further investigation.

Initially EST sequencing was one of the most important methods for discovery of novel genes, currently this data is useful in predicting gene coding regions and splice variants from genomic data and for showing tissue expression profiles for particular genes. The drawback is that in order to represent all transcripts within a cell, many thousands of clones must be sequenced. EST sequencing is therefore an expensive and laborious procedure and, in the genomic era, has been superseded to an extent by more efficient methods.

#### Differential hybridisation and subtractive cloning

Probing a single cDNA library with two or more radioactive cDNA samples can allow the identification of variation in gene expression in different physiological settings. Comparison of the hybridisation patterns allows clones with different signal intensities to be identified. This comparative hybridisation method requires a good cDNA library and tends to be biased towards abundantly expressed transcripts. As a technique it foreshadows the later development of identifying differentially expressed genes through the use of cDNA arrays. Subtractive hybridisation takes a different approach by hybridising single stranded cDNA from one sample (tester sample) to an excess of RNA from another sample (driver sample) followed by the isolation of the unhybridised tester strands. These strands, following purification and amplification, could then be used to identify cDNAs that were more abundant in the tester than in the driver.

## Differential Display

This technique involves two basic steps; reverse transcription of a subset of total cellular mRNA using a set of 3' anchored primers; and then PCR amplification using the same 3' primers and an arbitrary set of 5' primers. Approximately 30 upstream randomly selected 5' primers are thought to be sufficient to amplify all of the mRNA species in any one tissue. Multiple samples can then be amplified in parallel, resolved by electrophoresis and visualised. Differences in the pattern of PCR products will reflect differences in the gene expression profile of the samples.

#### GeneCalling

This is a modification of the differential display technique requiring cDNA generation from ploy A (+) mRNA of the tissue samples, digestion with restriction enzymes, PCR amplification with specific linkers, and identification of differentially expressed fragments by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Fragments can be tentatively identified by comparison against sequence databases.

#### DNA Arrays and microarrays

DNA arrays and microarrays simply consist of thousands of cDNA clones or oligonucleotides, usually of known identity, attached to filters or slides which can be hybridised with flourescently labelled cDNA reverse transcribed from the tissue of interest. The fluorescent signal intensity represents the abundance of mRNA molecules in the tissue, which are hybridised to the array as cDNA. Unlike SAGE, differential display, or subtractive hybridisation, hybridisation to a specific spot on the array is immediately interpretable if the identity of the sequence was known when the array was constructed. If the clone was an EST,

97

bio informatics and sequence extension software can often identify the gene of interest without further cloning or sequencing. While the chief limitation of this method is that it is only able to identify those genes present on the array, it holds the advantage of being less technically challenging, and less expensive, and can thus be used to analyse more samples in less time than SAGE (as discussed below).

The use of microarrays as genome wide tools to elucidate the expression profiles of genes is increasing (for example Chuaqui et al 2002, Yengi 2005, Liew 2005). However technical difficulties involve the requirement for highly concentrated RNA samples with 50-200µg or 2-5µg polyA+ RNA required (Duggan et al 1999). Additional problems are cross hybridisation (Chuaqui et al 2002), the reproducibility of assays, and the development of efficient procedures to handle the multitude of data points produced in each individual experiment (Yang et al 2002).

The comparibility of SAGE and microarray data has been assessed (Evans et al 2002) and results showed that detectability on arrays improved with increasing tag abundance (as discussed below a SAGE tag is effectively the same as an EST clone) with 90% of those genes in the most abundant range in a rat hippocampal SAGE library being detected efficiently by array. When the data was extended to cover the full complement of over 28,000 unique SAGE tags present within that library, this figure dropped to less than 30%, as many of the genes expressed were of low abundance. This emphasises the value of using SAGE to identify transcripts present in low abundance. SAGE does not depend on a knowledge of gene sequence and will detect all genes expressed in a tissue, including many genes which are not currently characterised and not present on microarrays. The value of SAGE is immeasurable in its use to generate an initial picture of the coll transcriptome in a particular tissue or phenotypic state, with the subsequent use of microarray technology utilising this data to design tissue- or state-specific arrays for more efficient evaluation of large numbers of samples being perhaps the most efficient approach, and one that has already been utilised in the analysis of the expression of 516 genes in malignant ovarian cancer (Sawiris et al 2002)

#### 3.1.2 Serial Analysis of Gene Expression

Developed by Velculescu et al 1995 this technique differed from others in its ability to quantatively and simultaneously provide analysis of the transcriptome of a particular cell type at any given time without restriction to known genes. The application of this technique has provided valuable information about the normal and or diseased physiological state in many tissues or organisms including yeast (Velculescu et al 1997), pancreas, colon (Zhang et al 1997), lung (Hibi et al 1998), monocytes, macrophages (Hasimoto et al 1999b), kidney (Virlon et al 1999), oocyte (Neilson et al 2000), liver (Yamashita et al 2000), thyroid (Pauws et al 2000) and testes (O'Shaughnessy et al 2003).

SAGE strategy involves the collection of short 10-14bp tags of mRNA transcripts, which have undergone reverse transcription and serial analysis (figure 3.1). Each tag contains sufficient information to identify a unique transcript provided it has been isolated from a defined position within the transcript. Each SAGE tag is prefixed by the anchoring enzyme restriction site and corresponds to a 10-11bp extension of the 3'most site in the cognate transcript. This technique has the potential to both identify (by comparison with cDNA databases) and quantify expressed genes. Tags can be matched to characterised cDNA sequences and EST sequences, or they may have no match as in the case of novel genes. In theory the variety provided by the 4<sup>10</sup> possible combinations of these 10bp sequences is sufficient to identify all expected transcripts from the mouse genome. The major advantage offered by this method is the collection of tags from unknown as well as characterised sequences and its ability to detect unknown genes meaning there is no restriction to knowledgedriven analysis. The technique also provides quantitative information about the relative expression of such genes and permits comparison of gene expression under different conditions

#### **STAGE 1: cDNA Synthesis**

**STAGE 2: Ditag generation** 



Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE). Messenger RNA is extracted, reverse transcribed with a biotinylated d(T) primer, converted to double stranded cDNA then digested using NlaIII. 3' fragments of this digestion are recovered using strepavidin beads, linkers annealed to cut ends, then tags released by BSM F1 digestion. Tags are ligated to from ditags flanked by linkers and amplified using PCR. Tags are then excised by NlaIII digestion, gel purified, concatenated and cloned into plasmid vector (Pzreo) for later insert selection and sequencing.

The initial step in SAGE analysis is the extraction of mRNA and synthesis using biotinylated oligo (dt) primer of double stranded cDNA. The cDNA is then cleaved using a restriction endonuclease, in this case Nla III with a 4 bp recognition site -CATG- cleaving on average every 256bp. Binding to streptavidin beads then isolates the cleaved cDNA (figure 3.1). This isolates a unique site on the transcript corresponding to the closest Nla III restriction site to the polyadenylate tail. The cDNA sample is then split and each sample bound to one of two linkers containing a restriction enzyme site, which allows cleavage at a defined distance away from the recognition site. Cleavage with this tagging enzyme releases linkers with short attached pieces of cDNA (figure 3.1). These two pools of released tags can then be ligated to each other and then serve as templates for PCR amplification using linker-specific primers. The PCR products are ditags flanked by sites for the anchoring enzyme. Cleavage with this enzyme (Nla III) releases ditags, which can then be concatenated by ligation, cloned and sequenced (figure 3.1).

Several authors have developed variations on SAGE to resolve some of the technical problems of the procedure. The requirement for a relatively high amount of starting mRNA has been bypassed by MicroSAGE (Datson et al 1999), a simplified one tube procedure allowing analysis of microdissected samples, and SAGE-Lite, (Peters et al 1999, Virlon et al 1999). Minimising the contamination of linkers by use of biotinylated PCR primers and their subsequent removal with streptavidin beads (Powell 1998) and increasing the efficiency of the final concatamerisation by the introduction of a heating step (Kenzelmann and Muhlemann 1999) have both improved the tag yield. The newer LongSAGE method (Saha et al 2002) can distinguish 4<sup>17</sup> different tags, a number sufficient to be virtually unique even within the whole genome.

There are now 209 mouse SAGE libraries containing over 16 million(corresponding to 1536012 million unique transcripts) SAGE tags of mouseoriginintheSAGE(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/SAGE/index.cgi?cmd = printstats).

Among the negative aspects of the SAGE technique are the limitations due to the short tag length generated and a failure of a tag to match and uniquely identify sequences in SAGE reference databases especially if it is situated in a conserved region (Ishii et al 2000, Kannbley et al 2003). Further analysis of unknown tags can be carried out using an RT-PCR method utilising the identified tag sequences and oligo-dT as PCR primers, the main disadvantage of this is the shortness of the 5' tag-derived specific primer and the common nature of the 3' primer to all mRNAs.

The identification of novel transcripts and genes from unknown SAGE tags has been elegantly demonstrated by Chen et al (2002), who showed that 67% of the unmatched SAGE tags examined in their study originated from novel transcripts that did not match existing ESTs. The extension of 17 of these tags to full-length cDNAs confirmed that these tags were derived from authentic transcripts and not genomic contamination or sequencing error. Importantly the majority of these sequences did not match any existing ESTs or predicted exons suggesting they may be indicative of novel genes.

3.1.3 Using Gene Expression Data.

The above techniques do little more than associate specific genes with specific cell types or physiological situations. They cannot suggest functional roles for the encoded proteins, and neither do they address the multiple levels of regulation that lie downstream of transcription. For the identification of genes of known function in another tissue extrapolation from previous work can be useful in determining function, while for novel genes the only basis for analysis is often the degree of homology to known genes. The sequence and number of tags can be archived electronically, and matched against several available databases to determine the significance of the genes expressed therein. Because SAGE data represents absolute expression levels of a gene, where each transcript is individually counted, cumulative data can be generated and comparisons between libraries remain valid over time. In this way SAGE data is sometimes described as 'digital' data.

The archive of SAGE data is maintained by the National Centre for Bioinformatics (NCBI) who have assigned unigene clusters to SAGE tags and have numerous SAGE libraries available for study at http://www.ncbi.nih.gov/SAGE. The libraries reported in this thesis are available as GSM 30721 and GSM 30722. Libraries can be compared and significant differences between them re-evaluated and confirmed experimentally, allowing determination of those genes which have tissue-specific and, therefore, function-specific expression patterns.

## 3.2 Current detailed SAGE protocol

All work required during construction and analysis of the SAGE libraries described here was performed by myself with the exception of the generation to ditag stage of the first (PMSG-treated) SAGE library (carried out by Prof. P. O'Shaughnessy). The concatention, cloning and sequencing of the PMSG library was performed by myself as was all work relating to the hCG library. In addition to the 2 SAGE libraries reported here I have subsequently generated 3 other libraries to sequencing stage.

#### Extraction of mRNA and generation of cDNA (Figure 3.1, Stage 1)

#### Tissue collection

Granulosa cells were collected from stimulated follicles (PMSG or PMSG/hCG) by follicle puncture in Dulbecco's MEM (Invitrogen, UK), as previously described (Chapter 2). Cells were spun at 350g for 2minutes, the supernatant removed and the cell pellet stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until use.

#### RNA Extraction

The cell pellet was resuspended in 400µl Trizol (Invitrogen, UK) and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. 80µl chloroform was added to the sample, which was then vortexed for 15 seconds and incubated at room temperature for a further 3 minutes. This was centrifuged at 12,000g for 5 minutes at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The aqueous supernatant was removed and retained. 1µl 2% glycogen and 250µl isopropanol was added to the aqueous phase and then this mixture incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. Centrifugation for 10 minutes at 12,000g at 4°C was subsequently performed. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet washed in 600µl 75% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was again discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in 50µl rtH<sub>2</sub>O.

## mRNA Isolation

This technique was performed using the Oligotex mRNA Spin-Columns (Oiagen, UK). The 50 $\mu$ l sample prepared above was made up to 250 $\mu$ l in rtH<sub>2</sub>O and 250µl buffer QQB (20mM Tris-Cl pH 7.5, 1M NaCl, 2mM EDTA, 0.2% SDS) and 15µl Oligotex suspension (10% suspension Oligotex particles, 10mM Tris-Cl pH 7.5, 500mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% NaN<sub>2</sub>) and incubated at 70°C for 3 minutes to disrupt the secondary structure of the RNA. This was then allowed to cool at room temperature for 10 minutes, permitting hybridisation of the oligo dT30 of the Oligotex particle and the poly-A tail of the mRNA. Centrifugation for 2minutes at 14,000g was performed and the supernatant removed and discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 400µl buffer OW2 (10mM Tris-Cl pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA) by pipetting, added to a spin column and centrifuged at 14,000g for 1 minute. The flow-through was discarded, the spin column transfered to a new tube and 400µl buffer OW2 added before centrifugation for 1 minute at 14,000g and then discarding the flow-through. The spin column was transferred to a new tube and 100µl buffer OEB (5mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.5), prewarmed to 70°C, added and pipetted to resuspend the resin before centrifugation for 1 minute at 14,000g. Another 100µl of prewarmed buffer OEB was added to the spin column and the procedure repeated.

The 200 $\mu$ l volume of mRNA was precipitated in 1ml 100% ice-cold ethanol by addition of 50 $\mu$ l 5M ammonium acetate and 3 $\mu$ l RNAase free glycogen (Invitrogen, UK) and incubation overnight at -70<sup>°</sup>C.

This was centrifuged at 18,000g for 15 minutes at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in 25µl rtH<sub>2</sub>O.

#### Reverse transcription and double stranded cDNA synthesis.

This was performed using the Superscript Double Stranded cDNA Synthesis Kit (Invitrogen, UK) according to the following protocol.

5µl Oligo dT primer (biotin  $[dT]_{18}$ ) was added to the 25µl mRNA sample prepared above and heated to 70°C for 10 minutes. 10µl 5x First strand buffer (200 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.4, 500 mM KCl), 5µl 0.1M DTT and 2.5µl 10mM dNTPs were then added to the reaction mix, this was vortexed and pulse centrifuged before heating to 45°C for 2 minutes. 2.5µl of Superscript II reverse transcriptase was added and then the reaction vessel placed in a 45°C waterbath for 30 minutes. Another 2.5µl of Superscript II reverse transcriptase was added and reaction temperature maintained at 45°C for a further 30 minutes before placing on ice.

For second strand synthesis 227.5µl DEPC water was added straight to the reaction followed by 75µl 5x second strand buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 375 mM KCl; 15 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>), 7.5µl 10mM dNTPs, 2.5µl E.coli DNA ligase (10iu/µl), 10µl E.coli DNA polymerase I (10iu/µl) and 2.5µl E.coli Rnase H (2iu/µl) to produce a total volume of 375µl. This was vortexed gently and incubated for 2 hours at 16°C. Following this 5µl (5iu/µl) T4 DNA polymerase was added and the incubation continued at 16°C for a further 15 minutes. The reaction tube was placed on ice and 10µl of EDTA 0.5M added to the reaction mix. Phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) (375µl) (Invitrogen, UK)was added to the reaction which was then vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 20 minutes and the supernatant then removed and retained. 100µl LoTE was added to the reaction which was collected and combined with the previous batch. To the combined supernatant 3µl 2% glycogen, 100µl 5M ammonium acetate, and 1ml 100% ethanol was added and the reaction stored at -70°C for 24 hours to

precipitate the cDNA. This was centrifuged at 18,000g for 15 minutes at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged

at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in 173µl LoTE.

### Nla III digestion

The 173µl sample prepared above was combined with 20µl 10x buffer IV (20 mM Tris-acetate, 50 mM potassium acetate, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 1 mM dithiothreitol, pH 7.9), 2µl 100x bovine serum albumin (BSA 10mg/ml), and 5µl Nla III restriction enzyme (all New England Biolabs) and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. 200µl of phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) (Invitrogen, UK) was then added and the mixture vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 20 minutes. The supernatant was removed and retained. 100µl LoTE was added to the phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol which was again vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was collected and combined with the previous batch.

Approximately 280µl of supernatant was recovered and precipitated with 3µl glycogen, 75µl sodium acetate 3M, pH5.2, and 360µl isopropanol. The mixture was left on ice for 15 minutes then centrifuged at 18,000g for 15 minutes. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and the pellet dried in 20µl LoTE.

#### Binding to magnetic beads

100 $\mu$ l of magnetic beads (Dynabeads, Dynal) was added to 2 separate tubes, the beads were washed with 200 $\mu$ l 1x binding and washing (B+W) buffer (5mM Tris-Hel pH 7.5, 0.5mM EDTA, 1mM NaCl), and the tubes then placed in magnetic holders to retain the beads while removing and discarding the buffer. 100 $\mu$ l 2x B+W buffer, 90 $\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O, and 10 $\mu$ l of the cDNA sample prepared above were added to each tube, the beads resuspended and the reaction kept at room temperature for 30 minutes with intermittent mixing. The beads were then washed 3 times with 200 $\mu$ l 1x B+W buffer and once with 200 $\mu$ l LoTE.

## **Ditag Generation (Figure 3.1 Stage 2)**

#### Ligation of linkers to cDNA

29µl of LoTE was added to each tube to resuspend the beads and then 1µl of linker A was added to tube A and 1µl of linker B to tube B (linkers at 200pmol/µl concentration). 8µl 5x ligase HC buffer(250 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM ATP, 5 mM DTT, 25% (w/v) polyethylene glycol-8000; Invitrogen, UK) was then added to each tube. The tubes were warmed to 50°C for 2 minutes and then placed at room temperature for 15 minutes. 2µl of T4 Ligase HC (Invitrogen, UK) was added to each tube and both tubes incubated for 2 hours at 16°C while mixing the reaction solution and beads intermittently.

#### Linker Sequences

Linker A

## TTTGGATTTGCTGGTGCAGTACAACTAGGCAATATAGGGACATG CCTAAACGACCACGTCATGT TGATCCGTTATATCCCT

#### Linker B

## TTTCTGCTCGAATTCAAGCTTCTAACGATGATCGGGGGACATG GACGAGCTTAAGTTCGAAGATTGCTACTAGCCCCT

The beads were washed with 1x B+W buffer eight times, and twice with 1x buffer IV (New England Biolabs).

#### *Release of cDNA using tagging enzyme (BSM F1)*

The beads were resuspended in 97 $\mu$ l 1x buffer IV, 1 $\mu$ l 100x BSA and 2 $\mu$ l BSM F1 (all from New England Biolabs) added and incubated at 65°C for 1 hour and both reactions mixed regularly. The magnetic holders were used to retain the beads to allow the removal and retention of the supernatant.

100µl of phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) (Invitrogen, UK) was added to the superantant which was then vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and retained. 100µl LoTE was added to the phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol which was again vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was collected and combined with the previous batch and precipitated using  $3\mu$ l glycogen, 100µl sodium acetate 3M, pH5.2, and 900µl cold 100% ethanol at -70°C for 3 hours and then centrifugation at 18,000g for 15 minutes. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in  $3\mu$ LoTE.

#### Blunt ending and ligation

This was carried out using the Takara blunt ending and ligation kit (Takara Mirus Bio, Madison, USA) according to following protocol.

To the 8µl sample 1µl 10x blunt ending buffer was added and the mix warmed to  $37^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes before cooling at room temperature for a further 5 minutes. 1µl T4 DNA polymerase was added to the solution which was left at room temperature for 10 minutes before being placed on ice. 40µl of ligase solution A and 10µl of ligase solution B were added and the reaction incubated overnight at 16°C. Following this the total reaction volume was increased to 100µl using LoTE.

## Ditag Amplification (Figure 3.1, Stage 3)

#### Polymerase chain reaction of SAGE template

	μl	Cycling parameters		
MgCl <sub>2</sub> [25mM]	1.5			
10x buffer*	3	95°C	for 1 minute	
dUTP [20pmol]	0.3	Then 24 c	124 cycles of :	
Primer A [100pmol]	1	95°C	for 20 seconds	
Primer B [100pmol]	1	60°C	for 20 seconds	
Tag (5iu/µl)*	0.3	72°C	for 2 minutes	
H <sub>2</sub> O	21.9			
Template	1	Then	4°C hold	

(\*Abgene, UK. 10x buffer composition 750mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 200mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 0.1% (v/v) TWEEN 20)

This 100 $\mu$ l sample was used as a PCR template to bulk up the ditags. Samples were prepared at dilutions of 1/10, 1/50 and 1/200 and used as templates for the above PCR protocol, one non template control was included with each reaction

## Primer A5'-TTTGCTGGTGCAGTACAACTAGGCAAT-3'Primer B5'-GCTCGAATTCAAGCTTCTAACGATGAT-3'

After completion of the PCR reaction the products were run on a 12% PAGE gel which was stained by washing in ethidium bromide solution (6 $\mu$ l ethidium in 250 $\mu$ l 1x TAE) for 15 mins and then rinsing in 1x TAE for 15mins. The cDNA could then be visualised under uv light. The sample with the most well demarcated 100bp band was selected for bulk amplification.

#### 100bp Bulk amplification

Using the protocol below 95 PCR amplifications and 1 non template control were prepared

	μl	Cyclin	Cycling parameters	
$MgCl_2[25mM]$	2.5			
10x buffer*	5	95°C	for 1 minute	
dUTP [20pmol]	0.5	Then 24 c	4 cycles of :	
Primer A [100pmol]	0.6	95°C	for 20 seconds	
Primer B [100pmol]	0.6	60°C	for 20 seconds	
Taq (5iu/µl)*	0.5	72°C	for 2 minutes	
$H_2O$	40.1			
Template	0.2	Then	4°C hold	
(*Abgene, UK, 10x buffer compositi	on 750mM Tris-H	Cl pH 8.8, 200mM (NHJ)-SO	40.1% (v/v) TWEEN 20)	

The PCR product was run on a 12% PAGE gel alongside 100bp ladder at 120V for 3 hours, stained by washing in ethidium bromide solution (6µl ethidium in 250µl 1x TAE) for 15 mins and then rinsed in 1x TAE for 15mins, The 100bp band was visualised cDNA under uv light and excised from the gel and the cluted using the electrolavage protocol (discussed later).

#### 70bp Bulk amplification

Using the protocol below 95 PCR amplifications and 1 non template control were prepared

	μ1	Cyclin	Cycling parameters	
MgCl <sub>2</sub> [25mM]	2.5			
10x buffer*	5	95°C	for 1 minute	
dNTP [20pmol]	0.5	Then 13 cycles of :		
Primer 1 [100pmol]	0.875	95°C	for 20 seconds	
Primer 2 [100pmol]	0.875	53°C	for 20 seconds	
Taq (5iu/µl)*	0.3	72°C	for 2 minutes	
$H_2O$	39.45			
Template	0.5	Then	4°C hold	
(*Abgene, UK. 10x buffer composi	ition 750mM Tris-HCl	pH 8.8, 200mM (NH4)2SO4	0.1% (v/v) TWEEN 20)	

## Primer 15'-AACTAGGCAATATAGGGA-3'Primer 25'-TCTAACGATGATCGGGGA-3'

The PCR product was run on a 12% PAGE gel alongside 100bp ladder at 120V for 3 hours, stained by washing in childium bromide solution ( $6\mu$ l ethidium in 250 $\mu$ l 1x TAE) for 15 mins and then rinsed in 1x TAE for 15mins, The 70bp band was visualised cDNA under uv light and excised from the gel and then eluted using the electrolavage protocol (discussed later).

## Nla III digestion of 70bp product.

To 100µl sample in LoTE 13µl 10x Buffer IV, 2µl 100x BSA, and 13µl NlaIII (New England Biolabs) were added and the reaction incubated at 37°C for 3 hours. 30µl of loading buffer was combined with the reaction mixture and the sample run on a 12% PAGE gel alongside 100bp ladder at 120V for 3 hours. The gel was stained by washing in ethidium bromide solution (6µl ethidium in 250µl 1x TAE) for 15 mins and then rinsed in 1x TAE for 15mins, The 26bp cDNA band was visualised under uv light and excised from the gel and then eluted using the electrolavage protocol (discussed later).

#### Removal of residual linker with streptavidin beads

The linker sequence can erroneously contribute to the SAGE library by contributing tags based on linker cDNA rather than sample mRNA. Although

knowledge of the linker sequence means these tags can be easily recognised they may mask genuine SAGE tags which coincidentally possess the same or similar sequence. They may also reduce the efficiency of library sequencing since large proportions of linker based tags will be sequenced alongside genuine SAGE tags. Removal can be performed by using strepavidin coated magnetic beads with poly A oligonucleotides to adhere to the short poly T tail present on the linkers. In order to carry this out 100µl of magnetic beads (Dynabeads, Dynal) were placed in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube, washed with 200µl 1x binding and washing (B+W) buffer, and then the tube placed in a magnetic holder to retain the beads and allow buffer to be removed and discarded. The cDNA sample was added to the tube and left at room temperature for 15 minutes while mixing intermittently. Using the magnetic holder the suspension was removed and retained, and the beads washed with a further 100µl LoTE. The wash was removed and combined with the suspension, made up to 450µl and precipitated in 1400µl 100% cold ethanol, 75µl sodium acetate 3M, pH 5.2, and 5µl glycogen at -70°C for 2 hours. The sample was centrifuged at 18,000g for 15 minutes. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in  $7\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O.

#### Concatamerisation, cloning and sequencing (Figure 3.1 Stage 4)

#### **Concatamerisation**

To the ditag suspension 2µl 5x ligase buffer was added along with 1µl of DNA ligase HC (Invitrogen, UK). This was incubated at 16°C for 1 hour, a further 1µl of DNA ligase HC was added and the reaction incubated for 1 hour, a further 1µl of DNA ligase HC was again added and the reaction incubated for a final hour. The sample volume was increased to 25µl with LoTE, and warmed to 65°C for 15 minutes and then cooled on ice for 10 minutes. 5µl loading buffer was added and the sample run on a 1% agarose gel at 150V for 35-40 minutes alongside

100bp ladder. The gel was visualised under uv light and the concatamer cDNA excised in two sections, from 200-800bp and above 800bp. Extraction was performed by electrolavage elution (described later) and the sample resuspended in  $6\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O.

#### Preparation of pZERO vector

 $7\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O was added to  $1\mu$ l 10x reaction buffer 6 (50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 6 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 50 mM NaCl, 50 mM KCl),  $1\mu$ l pZERO vector ( $1\mu$ g/µl) and  $1\mu$ l SpH 1 ( $10U/\mu$ l) restriction enzyme (All Invitrogen, UK). The sample was incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes,  $20\mu$ l LoTE added and then warmed to 70°C for a further 20 minutes. Samples of cut and uncut vector were run on a 1% agarose gel to ensure complete cutting.

#### Ligation of concatamers into vector

The  $6\mu$  concatenation product was combined with  $2\mu$  5x ligase buffer,  $1\mu$ DNA ligase HC and 1µl opened pZERO vector. This was incubated at 16°C for 3 hours then its volume raised to 200µl with LoTE and 200µl of phenol:chloroform; isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) (Invitrogen, UK) added. This was then vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and retained. Another 200µl of LoTE was added to the phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol which was again vortexed and centrifuged at 18,000g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was collected and combined with the previous batch and precipitated using 3µl glycogen, 50µl sodium acetate 3M, pH5.2, and 1300µl cold 100% ethanol at -70°C for 2 hours and then centrifuged at 18,000g for 15 minutes. The aqueous supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellet washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was again washed in 500µl 70% ethanol, vortexed and recentrifuged at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet dried and resuspended in 10µl LOTE.

## Transformation of cells

The vector was inserted into DH10B E.*coli* cells (Invitrogen, UK) by electroporation at 2.5V in a electroporation cuvette (Invitrogen, UK). 1µl DNA was added to 40µl cells defrosted on ice, electroporated, and cells transferred to 1ml SOC medium (Invitrogen, UK). The SOC/cell suspension was incubated at 37°C for 1 hour, shaking at 220rpm. Cells were then plated out on low salt agar plates (10g/L tryptone, 5g/L NaCl, 5g/L yeast extract, 5g/L agar; all Sigma-aldrich, UK) containing Zeocin (Invitrogen, UK) at 50µg/ml and cultured overnight at 37°C.

#### Colony PCR and insert selection

PCR was performed using the M13R (5'-GAATTGTAATACGACTCACT-3') and pZERO (5'-TCACACAGGAAACAGCTATGA-3') primers as described previously. PCR product was run on a 1% agarose gel and PCR products greater than 400 bp selected for sequencing. Empty vector was 217 bp in size meaning that insert sizes of approximately 200 bp and above were chosen to maximise sequencing efficiency.

#### Sequencing of concatamers

This was performed using the P zero primer as previously described.

## 3.3 Methodological alterations required for successful SAGE

During work on this project four main problem areas developed with the original protocol and required consideration to improve efficient production of the SAGE librarics. Firstly, linker release by Nla III cutting of the genuine 70bp PCR. product was inefficient and unreliable. Secondly, during production of the second library we experienced a problem with preferential amplification of a spurious 70bp product without the CATG cutting sites. Thirdly, extraction of any of the DNA products from PAGE gels, but especially the 26bp band, using standard techniques proved problematic and inefficient. Finally, concatamerisation and cloning was subject to an element of chance, with a frequent occurrence of high background levels of empty vector. The approaches used to address these issues shall now be described.

#### 3.3.1 Failure of restriction enzyme digestion

Inefficient Nla III digestion of amplified PCR product (figure 3.1, stage 3) created a substantial loss of amplified ditags due to complete or partial failure of linker release and subsequent discarding of poorly digested product during gel purification. This problem arose due to two factors, the first was solved with the use of PAGE gel purification of the cDNA substrate, the second by PCR selection, through specific primer design, of sequences containing the Nla III recognition site

## 3.3.1.1 PAGE gel purification

Inefficient NIa III digestion was encountered during construction of the first SAGE library (figure 3.1, stage 3). This is a problem previously reported by others (Angelastro et al 2000). The ditag yield from this reaction was frequently so poor as to preclude successful attempts at concatmerisation. The original protocol (Velculescu et al 1995, Angelastro et al 2000) required the NIaIII digestion of PAGE gel purified 102bp ditag and linker cDNAs. Angelastro et al (2000) suggested that the inhibition of NIa III action was the result of soluble

contaminants carried over from the PAGE gel purification of the 102 bp cDNA, and developed two protocols which solved this problem. Firstly by binding the cDNA to a fused silica membrane, followed by washing and subsequent elution (Qiaquick Kit, Qiagen), secondly by removal of contaminants with centrifugation gel filtration (Clontech spe10 spin gel filtration columns) in both cases using commercially available apparatus.

Interestingly this was at odds with our own experience. No PAGE gel separation or purification was initially required in our technique since we utilised a nested 70bp PCR reaction to further amplify the ditag pool prior to Nla III digestion. Our own protocol incorporating this nested PCR reaction required phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol purification of the PCR reaction, followed by ethanol precipitation and resuspension in 1x buffer IV prior to NlaIII cutting. Consequently PAGE gel interference with restriction enzyme function should not have arisen. Despite this we also encountered unreliable NlaIII digestion. Similarly, our attempts to improve NlaIII performance by using commercial purification kits were equally unsuccessful. The Nucleotrap Gel Extraction Kit (BD Biosciences, UK) allows extraction of DNA molecules greater than 20bp in size from gels and aqueous solutions via reversible matrix binding allowing elution of nucleic acid in low volumes of low salt buffer. This kit was used according to manufacturers instructions to attempt purification of the 70 bp PCR product to improve subsequent restriction enzyme activity. No consistently improved results were noted. Typical Nla III performance after using these methods is demonstrated by the PAGE gels in figure 3.3

We eventually found that, in complete contrast to Angelastro et al, purification of the 70bp band by running in and extracting from a 12% PAGE gel consistently resulted in successful cleavage of the band in question. This step was therefore adopted as an additional stage routinely performed on the PCR product prior to attempting Nla III cleavage. To date near complete Nla III digestions have been successfully performed on all sequences containing the CATG recognition site using this method.

Figure 3.4 demonstrates Nla III digestion products from PAGE gel purified PCR products.

#### 3,1.1.2 Spurious 70bp sequence.

The PMSG/hCG treated SAGE library also experienced problems with Nla III digestion (figure 3.1, stage 3) due to the preferential amplification of a spurious 70bp band containing linker sequence at either end but no CATG recognition sites. This band was cloned into TOPO TA vector (Invitrogen, UK) and sequenced, all clones yielding the same sequence.

The sequence contained between the linker sequences (underlined) does not contain the CATG cutting site and does not match any of the tag sequences produced in the SAGE libraries. Elimination of this sequence was achieved by extending the PCR primers to incorporate the first C base of the CATG sequence. The failure of the last base to hybridise prevents primer extension by the polymerase and thereby stopped replication of this particular sequence and allowed unhindered amplification of the ditag containing sequences.

Interestingly others (Du et al 2003) have proposed using primers containing the full CATG recognition sequence for ditag amplification. While this undoubtedly improves the efficiency of subsequent NlaIII digestion by eliminating polymerase errors within the recognition site, it does mean that any spurious sequence carried through into the PCR reaction will have recognition sites artificially inserted and can thus contribute erroneous tag sequence to the final analysis.

Figure 3.2 Spurious 70bp band sequence, primer sequences are underlined

## <u>AACTAGGCAATATAGGGA</u>TTGGATTTGCTGGTGCAGTACAACTAA GG<u>TCCCGATCATAGTTAGA</u>

117



Figure 3.3 Efficiency of Nla III digestion following differing substrate purification methods, namely Nucleotrap (BD Biosciences, UK) and phenol:chloroform extraction.



Figure 3.4 Nla III digestion following purification and extraction of 70bp cDNA substrate in PAGE gel



70bp

#### 3.3.2 PAGE gel extraction

Our SAGE protocol requires 4 PAGE gel extraction steps. The first to purify the 100bp band from the initial PCR reaction, the second to purify the 70bp band prior to NlaIII digestion, the third to purify the ditags following Nla III digestion, and the fourth to allow size selection following the concatamerisation reaction. Three of these steps occur after the final PCR amplification. Our experience is that the relative recovery rates from acrylamide gels using the maceration and incubation steps as described in the original SAGE protocol are 40% for incubations carried out at 65oC and less than 25% for incubations carried out at around room temperature (room temperature incubations being required to prevent dissociation of small double stranded cDNA products). The consequence of this is that following the final 70bp PCR amplification only 40% recovery can be expected from the 70bp 12% PAGE gel, only 25% retrieval of this can be expected from the 26bp ditag purification (12% PAGE gel), and only 40% of this will survive the size separation of the concatamers (8% PAGE gel). If we are to optimistically assume 100% efficiency of the Nla III cut, and at least 50% of the ditags being incorporated into suitably sized concatamers, with no loss whatsoever in the various intervening phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol extractions and ethanol precipitations, this still means that only 2% of the ditags produced by the final 70bp PCR amplification will survive to the cloning stage. This is clearly grossly inefficient and a major flaw in the SAGE procedure. Other separation and extraction methods were tried in order to improve this situation.

## 3.3.2.1 Agarose gel separation

Use of agarose gel as an alternative to PAGE to try to separate and purify the 70bp and 26bp band from the PCR reaction and Nla III digestion respectively was, perhaps predictably, unsuccessful. Extraction can be easily performed using several commercially available kits but poor band separation and cross contamination of sequences between bands lead to the carry over of linker sequence into the subsequent stages, the importance of avoiding this carryover

has already been explained. Use of 1% agarose was however adopted for the separation of concatamers due to the ease of DNA extraction using either the Nucleotrap (Clontech) or electroelution and lavage methods (as discussed below).

#### 3.3.2.2 Electroelution extraction

The extraction of DNA from all gel types by electroelution is a well known method which has previously been employed in the SAGE protocol with success (Hayday laboratory, personal communication). Our own attempts at electroelution met with reasonable success with extraction of the 70bp PCR product, but very little success with the extraction of the 26 bp ditags. Two methods were employed, the first as recommended by the Hayday laboratory (personal communication) using dialysis tubing, the second using GeBA flex tubes (GeBA Ltd, USA).

The Hayday laboratory used the apparatus shown below to elute ditags from polyacrylamide gel. Electrophoresis was performed at 100V for 30 minutes in  $300\mu l$  1x TAE buffer. The buffer was then removed and replaced before twice repeating the procedure. The 900µl of buffer was collected and precipitated.



Figure 3.6 Hayday apparatus for ditag elution

Our own attempts with this model were moderately successful for elution of the 102 bp and 70 bp band from acrylamide gel but failed completed to clute the 26 bp ditags with total loss of ditags from the gel and the buffer, presumably due to penetration of the tags through, or into, the dialysis membrane.

The GeBA flex system relied on the same electroelution principle. Using the apparatus shown (figure 3.7) the gel slice was exposed to 100V for 15-30 minutes. The polarity of the current was reversed for the last 60 seconds to release any nucleic acid that may have become embedded in the dialysis membrane.

Again this system was reasonably successful for the elution of 102 bp and 70 bp sized products but it failed to recover any of the 26 bp ditags.



Figure 3.7 GeBA flex apparatus for eluting nucleic acids

#### 3.3.2.3 Extraction by electroelution and lavage.

This method which I developed was based on the principle that the smaller 26bp DNA fragments are managing to penetrate or become embedded into the dialysis membrane during the electroclution. If these fragments could be continuously washed off the membrane surface by fluid currents within the elution buffer they should be retained within the buffer rather than lost through or into the tubing. The continuous drawing off and replacement of buffer would result in an excessive elution volume and so necessitated the constant recirculation of the elution buffer by means of a syringe attached to the dialysis tubing. The rather simple apparatus shown below was employed to this end.



Figure 3.8 Apparatus for elution of nucleic acids from polyacrylamide gels.

The comparative yields of a control cDNA sample 217bp in size achieved by using the above methods is demonstrated visually by the PAGE gel shown in figure 3.9. A typical example of Nla III digestion of the 70 bp PCR product following electroelution and lavage is shown in Figure 3.10. This improvement in our ability to elute cDNA from PAGE gels was the principle factor in improving the ease and efficiency with which we were able to perform SAGE.



Figure 3.9 Comparative yields of a 217 bp cDNA recovered from PAGE gel using incubation or electroelution methods.



Figure 3.10 Typical Nla III digestion after using the electroelution and lavage technique for extraction of substrate from PAGE gels.

#### 3.3.3 Formation and selection of concatamers

The successful production of concatamers by ligating ditags end to end (figure 3.1 stage 4) is more complex than might be expected. The reaction set up is straight forward but judging the correct reaction time to ensure the majority of concatamers are in the correct size range is difficult. The obvious solution of removing samples from the reaction mixture to check concatamer formation on an agarose gel substantially reduces the final volume of concatamers available for cloning. Equally the formation of secondary structure by the DNA molecules means the gels often run as smears rather than clear bands making size determination awkward. The possibility of capping of concatamers by ditags or short sequences (such as carried over linkers) with only one correct CATG binding site is also a real problem. The likelihood of this happening is increased by the intrinsic exonuclease activity of cDNA ligases. A final possibility is the circularisation of concatamers formed by the ligation of complementary CATG sites at either end of the ditag chain, in this event the product will not size correctly on gels and neither is it possible to clone it into vector. In order to minimise the occurrence of either truncated cDNA ends or circularisation the reaction time was kept to a maximum of 3-4 hours.

One possible solution to the problem is to set up a cloning reaction with the vector and ditags without a separate concatamerisation step. This was the solution adopted for the first PMSG stimulated SAGE library which on that occasion provided an acceptable result with approximately 50% of vector inserts being large enough to countenance sequencing. Unfortunately this method proved unreliable with the majority of the inserts usually being low size and after repeated attempts we reverted to performing concatamerisation for the second library.

#### 3.3.3.1 Size selection for cloning

In order to maximise the efficiency of the final sequencing stage of SAGE, important since this is the most labour intensive and expensive part of the protocol, it is desirable that the final cloned insert should be within a suitable size region, ideally 400bp or greater. Our own efforts to separate concatamers where not as successful as we would have liked. Several commercially available kits claim the ability to efficiently separate and purify DNA on the basis on molecular weight such as Nucleotrap (BD Biosciences) and CHROMA SPIN (BD Biosciences). The use of such apparatus to size select concatamers should in theory improve the cloning and sequencing efficiency of SAGE. We attempted this with CHROMA SPIN-400 columns (BD Biosciences) which claim to purify and size select nucleic acids >600bp with a recovery rate of up to 90%. The columns were used according to the manufacturers protocol which involved prespinning at 700g for 5 minutes to remove buffer, loading the sample into the column and then centrifugation at 700g for 5 mins and collecting the eluted size selected cDNA. Smaller molecules should be retained within the matrix pores. Subsequent cloning into pZERO (Invitrogen, UK) vector yielded an average insert length of 550bp, equivalent to 40 SAGE tags per insert. This is an excellent ratio but had to be offset against a disappointingly low yield of concatamers leading to only 23% of colonies containing inserts. Consequently although a viable method of size selection low insert yield from the subsequent cloning reaction rendered this an inefficient method.

Gel electrophoresis separation has been shown to yield an average concatamer size of only 137bp within the 700-1000bp fraction of the gel and the average concatamer size within a 700-2500bp fraction being only 287 bp (Kenzelmann and Muhlemann 1999). This anomaly can be explained by the aggregation of smaller fragments by hydrogen bonding leading to a communal migration as a larger unit. Equally the presence of inactivated enzyme molecules binding to cDNA fragments may cause slower migration. Although some of this effect can be alleviated by heating the concatamer sample prior to electrophoresis to disrupt secondary structure (Kenzelmann and Muhlemann 1999) it still remains a source of disruption of size selection. Gel separation does however have the considerable advantage that it at least retains the entire product within the gel and consequently a high proportion of the concatamers can be recovered following electrophoresis. It remains the preferred method for concatamer selection.

#### 3.3.3.2 Cloning concatamers

Cloning inserts into vector presented a problem with a high incidence of apparently empty vector despite the use of suicide gene or blue/white selection. Different vectors and cloning/selection methods were investigated to attempt to minimise this problem.

#### Suicide Selection

pZERO (Invitrogen UK) is the vector of choice due to ease of cloning, presence of a SpH 1 restriction endonuclease site allowing insertion of sequence containing a CATG overlap and the suicide selection method for eliminating empty vector. On numerous occasions using this vector we obtained a high proportion of empty vector containing colonies, indicating a high background of nonrecombinant plasmids and a failure of suicide gene activation. Attempts to reduce this background by using calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Promega, USA) to dephosphorylate cut vector ends (carried out according to manufacturers instructions) did not produce any improvement in background levels of empty vector. Equally the length of the cloning reaction was varied from 2 hours to 24 hours without marked difference in the level of recombinant product. The occurrence of high levels of nonrecombinant vector did appear to be associated with both individual batches of vector and the increasing age of the vector batch. Examples of PCR amplification of vector inserts using the SAGE vector based primers on colonies produced from successful and unsuccessful cloning reactions are shown in figure 3.11.

Optimisation of the cloning reaction with regard to vector insert ratio is not easily achievable due to the highly variable sizes of the concatamers being cloned. Attempts were made to increase this ratio by carrying out a short 30 second digestion of the concatamers with the SpH 1 restriction enzyme (8 $\mu$ l concatamers added to 1 $\mu$ l 10x reaction buffer 6 and 1 $\mu$ l SpH 1 restriction enzyme (All Invitrogen, UK). The reaction mix was incubated at 37°C for 30 seconds, and then 20µl LoTE was added and the mix heated to 70°C for a further 20 minutes.) This enzyme has the 6 base recognition site GCATGC which should digest 1 in every 16 CATG sites, thus shortening the concatmers and increasing the number of cDNA ends available to ligate into vector. No appreciable difference was produced in relation to reducing the number of nonrecombinant colonies using this method.

We did however investigate other cloning methods in an attempt to improve cloning efficiency.



Figure 3.11 Successful and unsuccessful pZERO cloning attempts under identical reaction conditions

## Blue/white Selection

The apparent failure of the pZERO selection strategy to eliminate empty vector led us to attempt another method of selection, namely blue/white selection. Increased efficiency with this method has been reported by Angelastro et al (2002). pGEM vector (Promega, USA) makes use of the lacZ blue/white selection to determine the presence of inserts. Unfortunately this proved no more successful than the pZERO system, with equal levels of empty and recombinant
vector in both blue and white colonies, with the largest proportion of colonies containing nonrecombinant vector.

#### TOPO TA Cloning System

The TOPO (Invitrogen, UK) range of cloning vectors utilise the bound topoisomerase attached to each end of the open vector to ligate the desired insert. Selection of cloned insert over empty vector is performed by means of a suicide gene.

The pCR 4-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, UK) is supplied open with an A base overhang to permit cloning of PCR product. In order to use this vector the concatamers were added to a 30µl reaction volume containing taq polymerase (0.5U) and dNTPs (0.2mmol) (both Abgene, UK) before incubation at 72°C to fill the CATG site and leave only an adenosine base overhang. Cloning was then performed as per manufacturers instructions. This method was successful in eliminating the carryover of empty vector but unfortunately was not sufficiently productive for SAGE. Each cloning reaction yielded only 350-400 colonies, far short of the 5000 or more colonies required (based on an average yield of 10 tags/insert) to produce a SAGE library of around 50,000 tags.

In conclusion successful pZERO concatamer cloning reactions are considerably more efficient than alternative vectors, yielding a far greater number of recombinants than TOPO and having a higher selection efficiency of recombinants than blue/white screening. The absence of the high number of non recombinants occurring with the pGEM and on occasions with the pZERO vectors when using the TOPO cloning system suggests that the incidence of failure of suicide gene selection may be related to the use of either SpH 1 to cleave the plasmid prior to cloning, or the subsequent use of DNA ligase to religate the plasmid.

The improvements to NIa III digestion and polyacrylamide gel extraction meant that it became easier to generate larger volumes of concatamers in a consistently repeatable manner. This means that generating concatamers for repeated cloning attempts on those occasions when pZERO cloning produced high levels of recombinant vector in the end proved not to be a significant problem. Consequently pZERO cloning was retained as the method of choice for the SAGE protocol, although this is not a particularly satisfactory resolution and refinement is still required.

### 3.4 SAGE Results

The total number of tags sequenced in the PMSG library (treatment with PMSG alone) was 51,528 while the total number sequenced in the PMSG/hCG library (treatment with PMSG followed by hCG) was 53,696. The combined total of 105,224 tags corresponded to 40,248 unique transcripts of which 9,877 were represented by 2 or more tags. Of the transcripts represented by more than one tag, 5689 were shared between both libraries, 1806 were unique to the PMSG library and 2382 were unique to the PMSG/hCG library (figure 3.12a). Using the chi-squared test to detect significant differences in tag abundance between those tags with greater than 5 transcripts present in the combined libraries, 499 tags were significantly up-regulated by hCG treatment while 216 tags were significantly down-regulated.



Figure 3.12a. Venn diagram illustrating the distribution of the 9,877 transcripts sequenced at least twice between both libraries

Comparison of the SAGE libraries was carried out using Microsoft Access and statistical calculations performed with Microsoft Excel. Statistical analysis using the Chi Squared test enabled identification of tags over-expressed within one particular library. In cases where tags matched to multiple sequences the identity of the 11<sup>th</sup> base was used where possible to differentiate between real and spurious matches.

Tables of abundant and differentially expressed tags were generated and tables of granulosa cell specific tags created by comparison with other available murine SAGE libraries (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/projects/SAGE/). Tag identification was achieved using the SAGEmap ftp site (ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pub/sage/) and tags of interest manually curated. Matches were checked manually to ensure reliability.

Matched transcripts have been categorised, and are presented here, either based on abundance of expression in either or both libraries (table 3.1), significant differential expression (table 3.2), current knowledge of transcript function (table 3.3), and uniqueness of expression to this cell type (tables 3.4 and 3.5).

#### 3.4.1 Abundant Tags

The 30 most abundant tags in the combined libraries are shown in Table 3.1. Three of this list are from the mitochondrial genome, 4 encode ribosomal proteins and a further 4 match to more than a single gene. Two tags have no match to known genes within the NCBI database and both of these tags show significant differential expression between the two libraries. This list contains a number of genes known to be highly expressed in granulosa cells or induced by stimulation including  $3\beta$  hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, gonadotrophic scavenger receptor 1B (Ghersevich et al 1994, Rajapaksha et al 1997), connexin 43 (Itahana et al 1996) and hyaluronidase 1 (Eppig 1979). If absolute abundance is to be taken as a measure of transcript importance for cellular function those genes identified will necessarily include a number of housekeeping genes such as those encoding metabolic enzymes and the protein synthesis apparatus, i.e. ribosomal components. In addition since this is a remodelling tissue we would expect transcripts responsible for products such as extracellular matrix components and for the maintenance of cytoskeletal structure. This is indeed the case although we also find within this group genes not previously associated with this cell type such as secreted phosphoprotein 1, and translationally controlled tumor protein 1.

Table 3.1 Top 30 most abundantly expressed transcripts present in the combined libraries

Tag Sequence	PMSG	hCG	Total	Unigene	Gene
GTGGCTCACA	878	564	1442		Multiple matches
GCTGCCCTCC	566	409	975	104368	Ribosomal protein L32
ATACTGACAT	321	391	712		Mitochondrial
TAATGTAGAC	405	116	521	4504	Gap junction membrane channel protein alpha 1
CCTTTAATCC	397	61	458	10305	Hyaluronidase 1
TTGCTGCCTT	39	410	449		Multiple matches
TCGCTGCTTT	13	418	431	28327	RIKEN cDNA 2510049119 gene
TGGGTTGTCT	156	253	409	254	Tumor protein, translationally-controlled 1
TTGTTGCTAC	8	387	395	268000	Vimentin
ATAATACATA	154	231	385	200362	Cytochrome b-245, beta polypeptide
TTGCTACITT	б	367	373		Multiple matches
AACTGAGGGG	49	306	355	233010	Prosaposin
ATGACTGATA	105	215	320		Mitochondrial
CAAACACCGT	2	278	280	285918	Secreted phosphoprotein 1
GGTTAAATGT	56	206	262	930	Cathepsin L
AGCAAGAATT	28	226	254	1061	Ferredoxin 1
CAGTCAATAC	212	30	242		Unknown
CAGGACTCCG	105	136	241	193096	Stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase 2
AGGCAGACAG	94	131	225	335315	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 1
TGGTTGCTGG	149	70	219		Multiple matches
GCTCTGGGAG	152	56	208	140811	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-1, delta<5>-3- beta
AGCAGTCCCC	94	101	195		Mitochondrial
ACTGAAGCAA	46	146	192	4603	Scavenger receptor class B, member 1
TGACCCCGGG	112	72	184	43005	Ubiquitin A-52 residue ribosomal protein
					fusion product 1
GGCTTTGGTC	119	60	179	3158	Ribosomal protein, large, P1
TGGTGTAGGA	83	93	176	918	RIKEN cDNAD730039F16 gene
AACAGGGCCA	13	159	172	324864	Mus musculus transcribed sequences
CTAGTCTTTG	94	68	162	154915	Ribosomal protein S29
GAAAATGAGA	133	28	161	315259	Mus musculus transcribed sequences
GGATTTGGCT	107	51	158	14245	Ribosomal protein, large P2

- ---

- -

#### 3.4.2 Abundant, differentially expressed SAGE tags

A total of 715 tags showed a significant difference in abundance between the two libraries of which 216 were significantly down-regulated by hCG and 499 were significantly up-regulated. Table 3.2 lists the 35 most abundant tags which were shown to be differentially expressed between SAGE libraries by the Chi-squared test. Most of these tags match unambiguously to known genes and the majority of them are known to be expressed in granulosa cells during development such as the peptide hormones inhibin  $\beta_B$  and follistatin (O'Shaughnessy and Gray 1995, Jorgez et al 2004), or to show a change in expression after luteinization for example the steroidogenic components P450 11a1, 17 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 and scavenger receptor class B type 1 (Oonk et al 1989, Ghersevich et al 1994, Rajapaksha et al 1997). This list also contains 13 tags which have no match, are linked to sequence of unknown function or have multiple assignments. In addition there are also a number of transcripts whose expression patterns have not been described previously during luteinisation.

Among those highly upregulated by hCG are vimentin, an intermediate filament protein, developmentally regulated and found in cells of mesenchymal origin, it has been implicated in steroid synthesis via its function as a storage and transport network for lipid droplets containing cholesterol. (Runembert et al 2002, Evans 1998). Leprecan, a basement membrane associated proteoglycan shown to have growth suppressor activity (Kaul et al 2000). Secreted acidic cysteine rich glycoprotein (SPARC) is an upregulated transcript known to inhibit cell cycle progression, influence extracellular matrix interactions and to be strongly angiogenic (Sweetwyne et al 2004). Secreted phosphoprotein 1 can act as a cytokine and has multiple functions associated with cell growth, survival, proliferation and repair (Standal et al 2004). Prosaposin is involved in the lysosomal degradation of sphingolipids (Vaccaro et al 1999) and ferredoxin in electron transfers from NADPH to cytochrome P450 in mitochondria (Liu and Chen 2002). Vanin 1 is a cell surface molecule thought to be involved in the migration of mesenchymal cells, particularly during thymic and gonadal

ĝ

development, and may be involved in follicular remodelling during and after ovulation (Bowles et al 2000, Aurrand-Lions et al 1996).

The functional distribution of the abundantly upregulated tags reflects accurately what is already known with regard to the changing functions of the differentiating granulosa cell with metabolic, steroidogenic, endocrine and paracine signalling, cytoskeletal and extracelluar matrix proteins all represented within this group.

The complete list of significantly differentially expressed tags that can be unambiguously matched to a single gene can be found in Appendix 1 with annotations describing gene function (functions described on the basis of EMBL information contained in either the Harvester website (http://harvester.embl.de/) or the Information Hyperlinked Over Proteins (IHOP) website (http://www.pdg.cnb.uam.es/UniPub/iHOP/). Of the 715 differentially expressed tags 18% are unmatched, 11.6% match to uncharacterised transcripts, and a further 8.5% match to multiple genes (figure 3.12). The remainder match to characterised named sequences. The functional distribution of these significantly differentially expressed tags is shown in figure 3.13. Many genes have previously been described as having multiple or uncertain functions and consequently may appear in more than one category.

Table 3.2 Top 35 significantly differentially expressed tags present in the combined libraries.

Tag Sequence	PMSG	hCG	Unigene	Gene	P Value
TCGCTGCTTT	13	418	28327	RIKEN cDNA	4.04x10 <sup>-81</sup>
TTGTTGCTAC	8	387	268000	Vimentin	1.29×10 <sup>-77</sup>
TTGCTACTTT	6	367		Multiple match	$1.22 \times 10^{-74}$
TTGCTGCCTT	39	410		Multiple match	2.71x10 <sup>-65</sup>
CCTITAATCC	397	61	10305	Hyaluronidase 1	1,49x10 <sup>-58</sup>
CAAACACCGT	2	278	285918	Spp1 secreted phosphoprotein 1	2.01x10 <sup>-58</sup>
AACTGAGGGG	49	306	233010	Prosaposin	6.37x10 <sup>-40</sup>
TAATGTAGAC	405	116	4504	Gap junction membrane channel protein alpha 1 (Connexin 43)	2.42x10 <sup>-39</sup>
AGCAAGAATT	28	226	1061	Ferredoxin 1	1.94x10 <sup>-33</sup>
CAGTCAATAC	212	30		Unmatched	4.98x10 <sup>-33</sup>
AGGCAATAAA	3	143	27154	Vanin 1	1.95x10 <sup>-29</sup>
AAAGCACACA	0	128		Unmatched	3.76x10 <sup>-28</sup>
AACAGGGCCA	13	159	324864	Mus musculus transcribed sequences	3.55x10 <sup>-27</sup>
TAACTGACAA	11	140	147226	Metallothionein 2	$2.62 \times 10^{-24}$
CCTCCCCTTG	1	98		Unknown	3.39x10 <sup>-21</sup>
TTGCTGCTTT	0	89	250254	RIKEN cDNA	6.27x10 <sup>-20</sup>
AGAATGITAT	3	97		Multiple match	$9.01 \times 10^{-20}$
GTGGCTCACA	878	564		Multiple match	9.96x10 <sup>-20</sup>
GGTTAAATGT	56	206	930	Cathepsin L	6.40x10 <sup>-19</sup>
ATACTAACGT	6	99	34102	Ornithine decarboxylase, structural	$1.73 \mathrm{x} 10^{-18}$
TACAGTATAA	98	9	3092	Inhibin beta-B	$2.62 \times 10^{-18}$
GGGCATTTGA	11	108	108678	Cytochrome P450, family 11, subfamily a, polypeptide 1	9.30x10 <sup>-18</sup>
GAAAATGAGA	133	28	315259	Mus Musculus transcribed sequences	$2.53 \times 10^{-17}$
CAAACTCTCA	16	116	35439	Secreted acidic cysteine rich glycoprotein	4.97x10 <sup>-17</sup>
GATACTIGGA	3	73	297	Actin, beta, cytoplasmic	9.96x10 <sup>-15</sup>
TGTCATCTAG	1	67	4071	Laminin receptor 1 (ribosomal protein SA)	1,19x10 <sup>-14</sup>
GCGAAGCTCA	5	74	265	Ribosomal protein S25	7.90x10 <sup>-14</sup>
AAAACAGTGG	91	16	21529	Ribosomal protein L37a	1.67x10 <sup>-13</sup>
ACAGTTAATT	0	55		Unmatched	$9.89 \times 10^{-13}$
TACTACATAG	0	54		Unmatched	1.61x10 <sup>-12</sup>
GCTCTGGGAG	152	56	140811	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-1, delta<5>-3-beta	5.48x10 <sup>-12</sup>
ACTGAAGCAA	46	146	4603	Scavenger receptor class B, member 1	6.55x10 <sup>-12</sup>
GACTCAGGGC	0	47	2580	Syndecan 1	$4.98 \times 10^{-11}$
GAAAAGTGGA	9	69	15295	Epoxide hydrolase 2, cytoplasmic	7.91x10 <sup>-11</sup>
GGATGGGGAG	3	54	204705	Pending type I transmembrane receptor (seizure-related protein)	<b>9.78x10<sup>-11</sup></b>



Figure 3.12b Distribution of significantly differentially expressed transcripts.

Total number of significantly differentially expressed transcripts	715
Transcripts with known functions	416
Characterised transcripts of unknown function	26
Uncharacterised but sequenced cDNAs	77
Tags matching clusters containing only ESTs	6
No true match in Unigene database	129
Multiple match in Unigene databse	61

Figure 3.13 Functional distribution of the 416 identifiable significantly differentially expressed transcripts present in the combined SAGE libraries



#### 3.4.3 Functional Groups

Table 3.3 shows the expression of a number of tags in the libraries that represent genes linked with established functional groups. These tables include all identifiable significantly differentially expressed genes and the top 100 most abundant tags in the combined libraries which can be assigned, or hypothesised to have, a specific function within the granulosa cell. Many of these are genes which have previously been shown to be associated with follicular growth such as extracellular matrix components (Smith et al 1999), genes involved in cytoskeletal remodelling (Gricshaber et al 2003) and the rearrangement of steroidogenic machinery reflecting the shift from oestradiol to progesterone dominance (Rodgers et al 1987). This is demonstrated by the decline in expression of aromatase, a change mirrored by the rise in P450scc, StAR, ferredoxin, scavenger receptor B1 and LDLR during the same phase. Cellular filaments such as actin, profilin, cofilin, tropomysoin and tubulin show expression within one or both libraries with significant differential expression of different actin and tropomyosin isoforms. A number of signalling and receptor molecules are expressed in one or both libraries including FSH receptor, LH receptor, IGFBP4, inhibin, follistatin, and kit ligand, again reinforcing expression patterns established by earlier observations. Gap junction membrane channel proteins (connexins) show fluctuations in expression level around the ovulatory period. We now report the expression of connexins 26, 29, 30.3 and 43 within the pre-ovulatory follicle. Cx29 has not previously been identified as having involvement in folliculogenesis while Cx 26 and Cx 30.3 have not previously been recorded as having a role in folliculogenesis in the mouse.

Many of the identified genes also have diverse functions of a 'housekeeping' nature including metabolic enzymes, genes involved in protein synthesis and degradation, metabolite/ion transporters and energy metabolism. These genes only indirectly relate to granulosa cell function by maintaining cell health and providing the framework and metabolites for more 'granulosa specific' processes.

Within all these groupings are genes with multiple functions and, consequently, some have been placed in more than one category. Also present are a large number of transcripts not previously associated with granulosa differentiation, particularly with relation to genes influencing cell cycle control and apoptosis, cellular differentiation and a number of transcription factors. Clearly it is not feasible to discuss changes in every gene listed in this table, although general trends can be established in many cases. For example, there is an increase in the majority of angiogenesis related genes, and in a large proportion of the cytoskeletal transcripts. These changes will be discussed at more length later in this thesis.

T DECITA CALLA A CALLARY AND A	Table 3.3	Functional	distribution of	SAGE transcripts
--	-----------	------------	-----------------	------------------

Tag Sequence	Tag n PMSG	umber hCG	Unigene	Gene
Angiogenesi	s			
TACTTTATAA	0	39	1421	ADAMTS 1
TCCATATATT	7	21	259667	RNA binding motif, single stranded interacting protein 1
GGAATTTAGA	0	12	332793	Blood vessel epicardial substance
GTGCTGTTGT	4	26	196189	Angiopojetin like 4
CTTGCTCTGT	б	35	263396	Integrin 1 beta
GAAAGCCTCT	i	24	8245	TIMP I
CCCTTCTTCT	44	10	196110	Hemoglobin alpha adult chain 1
TGCTGTGCAT	14	60	289662	FGF inducible 14
TCTCACCTCA	0	2	15607	Vascular endothelial growth factor B
Anontosis				
Thomas	,	40	2026/3	Colordan barralas 1 (Descubilis)
TAGAAGIGA	1	40	373303	Salvador homolog 1 (Drospania)
CTCTCCACAA	0	0 4	1401	LID A 8 Glob supersesson 2
TATCTATACA	0	07	274810	Time Suppressor 3
TATCIATACA	0	1	236475	Zine inger ann B i B domain comaining 24
CTCCTATTCA	2	10	1620	Crutatione S-transferase, appla 4
CAAAATACAT	2	12	1927	Matall Malatata antigen funite D
CAAAATACAT	21	0	2/3/8	Maged I Melanonia anggen, ramny D, 1 Mastelita Faster 4 Etc. 1
TTACAACCTO	0	9 11	00000	Mortality factor 4 like 1
ITAGAACOIG	14	11	4/216	Montanty factor 4 like Z
AUGAAGATCA	14	24	4070 20106	Securitation of monoclonal antibody KIO7
	נ ו	24 20	420403	Secreted Frienled islated assumes asstatic 4
TOTOTIANO	1.4	27 60	780662	Secretar mizzien tennen sequence protein 4
ICCICICCA	14	00	202002	CAL MEDGINE 14
Cell Cycle				
TACTOCTGAT	0	11	250419	Cyclin 1
TECCCCCCCCT	á	33	51116	Mastermind like 1 (Drosophita)
TTTAATACAA	4	10	12725	Cuclin F 2
TCGCTGCTGC	2	20	27921	Cyclin G associated kingse
AATGACACAA	2	10	219645	Cyclin dependant kinase 8
TAGTIGCAAA	5	9	2823	B cell translocation gene 3
TTAGAAGTGA	ī	40	373563	Salvador homolog 1 (Drosonhilia)
TGCTGTGCAT	14	60	289662	FGF inducible 14
GGGAGCGAAA	2	28	34871	Jubibitor of DNA bioding 2
TCTTTAATCC	23	2	196638	CDC 23 (Cell division cycle 23, yeast homolog)
TGCACCACCT	5	30	182470	Ribonuclease H2 large subunit.
AGGAATCCAC	Q	14	22701	Growth arrest specific 1
ATGAGAACAG	0	13	236123	Splicing factor 3b, subunit 3
GAAACTGAAC	12	0	42196	Ubignitin-like, containing PHD and RING finger domains, 1
CITAAATCTT	0	12	239605	B-cell translocation 2cnc 2, anti-proliferative
AAGCAGAAGG	4	16	1	\$100 calcium binding protein A10 (calpactin)
TGCAGGAGCT	0	12	333388	Chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 4
AAAATGTACT	11	0	3752	RAN binding protein 1
GGAGTAAGAA	18	4	371563	H3 histone, family 3B
TCCATATATT	7	21	259667	RNA binding motif, single stranded interacting protein 1
CCCTCTGGAT	0	8	100144	S100 calcium binding protein A6 (calcyclin)
AATGCTTGAT	7	24	270186	Retinoblastoma binding protein 7
AACTITTAAA	?	0	354643	Heterochromatin protein 1, binding protein 3
AATGTTTCTG	10	2	7141	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
AAGAGAAAAG	6	0	240066	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) activator subunit 4
GAGTETETTE	0	6	184021	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, D
TACTATAGTC	0	6	123211	Polymerase (DNA directed), beta
TGGAGCGTTG	0	6	6839	Cyclin-dependent kinase 4
TATTGTGGCT	0	9	195663	Cycliu-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A (P21)

Tag Sequence	Tag m	anber	Uninona	6000
rag Sequence	PMSG	bCG	- Onigene	Gene
ΤΤΓΛΑΤΤΑΤΑΛ	17	6	19187	Prothymosin alpha
CAGACCTCAA	2	11	250605	Sell (suppressor of lin-12) 1 homolog (C, elegans)
O 11 D 1/20				
Cell Differer	ntiation			
GGATGGGGAG	3	54	283926	Scizure related 6 homolog (mouse)-like 2
TATECCACGC	8	23	280038	\$100 calcium binding protein A11
TCITCATCAA	3	12	229151	SWI/SNF related, matrix associated, actin dependent regulator of
				chromatin, subfamily a, member I
AGCCAAACAA	0	7	172897	Mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase 12
CCCTGATTTT	13	3	185453	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4, gamma 2
TCCCGATATC	2	13	263414	Poliovirus receptor-related 4
TAAGTGGAAT	12	26	3360	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation
				protein, epsilon polypeptide
TGTTGGTTGA	1	12	246990	Reticulon 3
CCICIAGCIG	1	10	29346	Guanosine monophosphate reductuse 2
GICTGCTTGT	10	0	4375	Falso
TAAATTCAGG	0	11	275909	Sema domain, immunoglobuliu domain (lg), transmembrane domain
	0		#111 <i>4</i>	(TM) and short cytoplasmic domain, (semaphorin) 4B
Iccource	0	33	51116	Mastermind like I (Drosophila)
Cytoskeletai	Related	d Trat	scripts	
GATACTTGGA	73	3	297	Actin beta evtoplasmic
TUGTTGCTAC	8	387	395	Vimentin
TUGCTCGGTC	Å	53	196173	Actin gamma cytoplasmic
AAGATCAAGA	6	44	214950	Actin aluba 1 skeletal musele
GGCTGGGGGGC	18	18	2647	Profilin
GATGCCGAG	2	54	4074	Cofilin 1 non muscle
CCCTCACCCA	4	27	246377	Tubulin beta 2
CCAGGCACTC	21	24	1703	Tubulin beta 5
ATGTCTCAAA	48	30	231463	Tubulin diala 2
AAGGAAGAGA	70	5	231-055	
TTCAGGTGG	6	0	240839	
CCCGTAGCCC	1	á	121878	Tropontyoan S, galand
GACTOTOCCA	8	6	256858	Dynein sytonlasmie light chain 1
TOTOTATUA	2	å	21109	Gelectin
TCTCGGGGGGGC	7	1	210663	Fibritio 1
ATCAGTOTGA	, G	۱ ۵	275555	Calponin 3 acidie
ATUTGACTOG	i i	30	20677	Maggin heavy chain IX
AGGATCAATG	6	28	205601	Contactin
TTTCATTOCC	5	20	203001	Transforming pridle colled coil containing protein l
CCCTCACCCA	4	23	371501	Transforming, admic concercon containing proton r
ACTOCTACCO	0	11	336400	Surtrouble games 1
ATAGYAAGCT	11	1	280707	Synttophin, ganana i Fascin homolog 1. actin hundling protoin
GTGCTCCCTT	 	י ה	205565	Faising down migrophysical descent and the second state of the sec
GTGTCTCATA	0	0	273303	Bracellagen (has IV alshe )
ULL CCOACAC	0	7	100	ruconagen, type iv, alpha t Millio o
TAACCOAUAC	0	9	277012	
TOTICATON	2	13	249333	roconagen, type 11, apra 1
ICALIGOIG	1	10	172	Lysyi oxidase
AGAIGIACIG	2	1	21707	Cantern 5
AAUTOUTTUA	3	13	00010	Actor related protein 2/3 complex, stroubin 7/8
CICIOGOUIT	5	13	2/1/11	Hansgehlt Z The Manuar The Blank of a sime time D Madin method.
ACCACIGATA	1	9	00424 10000	raxi (auatan i-cen teukenna virus type i) ofnoing protein i
ATCAAAGTTC	l ,	9	10299	Proconagen, type v, atpha 2
ATTICUCUAG	i	У	268974	Actin related protein 2/3 complex, subunit 5
GUGAACAACT	2	n Z	8687	CAP, adenyiate cyclase-associated protein 4 (yeast)
CAGAACTTTG	0	b	4352	Proconagen, type X VIII, alpha I
GTAATCACGT	0	6	2654	wid repeat domain i
GGAAATGACT	0	9	46497	Ras homolog gene tamily, member F.
GCTCCCCCAC	7	6	2509	Procollagen type IV

Tao Sequence	Tag number	Unigene	Gene	
rag sequence	PMSG	hCG	Ongene	Guie
TGTGCCAAGT	36	30	190641	Collagen type XXV alpha 1
GCTCTAGCCA	6	10	181021	Procollagen type IV alpha 2
TGTTCATCTT	2	13	234850	Procollagen type III alpha 2
Extracellular	Matrix	x Relat	ed Trans	cripts
CCTTTAATCC	197	61	10305	Hyahuronidase 1
GTGGCGCACG	54	10	214645	Hyaluronidase 3
TTGCTACTTT	6	367	27961	Leprecan 1
CCAACGCTTT	2	10	193099	Fibronectin 1
ΑΑGΑΤCAAGA	6	44	44176	Epidermal GF, containing fibulin, like ECM protein 1
GGTTAAATGT	56	206	930	Cathepsin L
CCTCAGCCTG	24	20	231395	Cathepsin D
GTTTGCTGTG	12	9	22753	Cathepsin B
GGAGGGGGGA	10	7	156919	Cathepsin Z
GACCACCTCT	2	7	7386	Microfibrillar associated protein 2
GAAAGCCTCT	1	24	8245	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1
GTGGCTCACG	11	9	217116	Matrix metalloproteinase 15
TGTGGTACGC	4	8	29373	Matrix metalloproteinase 23
CTTGCTCTGT	6	35	4712	Integriu betu 1
GGAGGGATCA	14	20	813 I	Integrin linked kinase
CAAACACCGT	2	278	288474	Secreted phosphoprotein 1
СЛААСТСТСА	16	116	291442	Secreted acidic cysteine rich glycoprotein (SPARC)
GACTCAGGGC	0	47	2580	Syndecan 1
TTGGCTGGAT	0	7	3815	Syndecan 4
ΤΑCTTTATAA	0	39	1421	ADAMTS 1
TGCCAATAAT	0	7	23156	ADAMTS 4
TATGAATGCT	7	48	158700	Chondroitin sulphate protegiyean 2
TACAAAATTA	8	1	355306	ADAM 17
TGGAACAATG	1	18	338790	Proteoglycan secretory granule
GTTTGTACAA	4	24	182396	Latent TGF beta binding protein
CGTGGTGGCC	8	0	45071	Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein
CTGAGGAAGT	3	14	29027	SPARC-like 1
AAATGCACTA	0	7	57734	LIM and senescent cell antigen-like domains 1
TTTACTGTGT	8	1	28897	Pyrophosphatase
Membrane P	roteins	,		
	10(0110	, 	242	Lowinia alaba L
	12	9	243 4504	Continue appear 1
	415	110	100400	Cap junction memorane channel protein appla 1
ACTOCCAT	<i>3</i>	4	102 <del>4</del> 22 84004	Cap junction membrane channel protein epsoin i
GTCTCTAACC	2	2	24118	Cap junction membrane channel protein beta 2
TCTCCACGCG	- 55	21	200608	Cheterin
AGACACTTCC	48	6	584	Aunexin A?
TTGTTACTGC	-10	11	20794	Annexin A7
AGGGTGCTG	, 1	10	1620	Annexin A5
CAAGAATTAA	Ô	6	294083	Annexin All
AAGGGTGCTG	1	10	265347	Annexin A6
GIGTTTIGTC	44	25	201455	Secretory carrier membrane protein 1
GGTGGGGACAC	6	16	276326	TMP 21 transmembrane trafficking protein
CCTTTTCCTT	š	7	182912	Growth hormone inducible transmembrane protein
TGTGTCCCGC	ő	6	287810	Importin 13
AGGCAATAAA	3	143	27154	Vanin 1
GATATGGTCT	Ĩ	23	2863	Integral membrane protein 1
TTAAATGCAG	1	27	273188	Coagulation factor III
CTTGCTCTGT	6	35	263396	Integrin beta 1
GGGTTTGGAG	8	27	274463	Endothelin converting cnzyme l
AATCCAGCCC	ũ	0	20206	Aquaporin 2
CTTTAGAAAA	0	9	268798	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 3a1
TTCATCTGTC	1	16	272675	Solute carrier family 20, member 1

Teo Comence	Tag n	umber	Unigona	Gaus
rag sequence	PMSG	hCG	- Onigene	Clebe
TTTCAAGGCA	2	19	46067	Solute carrier family 25, member 30
AAAAGAAAAT	1	20	276831	Solute carrier family 7, member 8
TGATGTGTGA	0	14	260988	Solute carrier family 7, member 11
AGAAGGACCT	0	13	21002	Solute carrier family 2 member 1
CTCCTGCAGA	3	12	275489	Solute carrier family 7, member 1
TTGCTAAGAA	0	7	272675	Solute carrier family 20, member 1
CACTGTCTTC	0	9	4114	Solute carrier family 3, member 2
ATTAATCAGT	11	32	46754	Solute carrier family 38, member 2
TCTAGCCAGA	1	10	35253	Solute carrier family 12, member 8
TGACATCCAT	ō	8	233889	Solute carrier family 39, member 10
TGAACTGTAA	ĩ	9	270647	Solute carrier family 39, member 14
GACEGAATCT	23	33	298	Solute carrier family 25 member 3
GTGGGCGTGT	23	27	5353	Solute canter family 29 member 3
аса ата атда	21	38	658	Solute carrier family 25 member 5
GTGTCCCTAC	يد. ا	12	204882	Fill assume the family 25 memory 5
TCACATAAAT	1	10	21752	CDM2 interven (Ph valated antigen integrin approxisted glagel transduger)
TCACATAAAT	1	10	15632	UDB Club at Club at the 1.4 calcate advanced signal number of
AUCOACACAT	1	10	15022	SDC00 and by the state and the life 1 (9 and the state of
ATCACAGAT		7	2001	SEC22 vesicle dallicking protein-like 1 (S. cerevisiae)
TOTOTO	15	44	35240	Contenta v fike allugen
TUCUGGATCA	35	2	18962	Catenin appna 1
CAGAACAATG	I	15	282084	Adhesion regulating molecule 1
Cell Mctabo	lism R	elated	Transcrit	ots
GCCTCCAAGG	23	24	5289	Giveeraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
ССАЛАТАААА	38	31	29324	Lactate debudrogenase L. A chain
TGATATGAGC	18	15	9745	Lagtate dehydrogenaes 7, Richain
Generation	61	12	196605	Marchinage 1
GCAATCEGAT	25	22	198	Phoenhardvoente binges 1
OCTACCAATA	16	e D	20182	Transplidgiverate kinase 1
COTACUARTA	20	75	16763	Aldolana I. Alicoform
CAATAGAGAG	20	ري ج	216125	Burunta kinona murala
TAACCCAAAT	1	10	4000	Tyingarkersheta internet
CTTTCTTACT	24 5	12	4222	Trosepnosphate isomerase
ATACTAACCT	э 00	12	2017	Pyposta inducinie factor 1, apita subunit
ATACTAACOT	27	4	34102 08146	Manalanata (diala anda) data dana dara
AGGGIGUAGI	2	4	20140	Nievalonate (nipnospho) decarboxylase
TCCTUTUOOA	21		4333	Apolipoprotein A-tv
CIGGAGACGC	0	11	20743	Apolipoprotein A-i
TGCTGCATCA	2	4	168157	Apolipoprotein E
AGCCAAGAGA	5	1	38901	Faity acid desaturase 2
CAGGCCACAC	46	30	103838	ATP Synthase Mit. F1 complex, beta subunit
GAAAAGTGGA	9	69	15295	Epoxide hydroiase 2 cytopiasmic
CCCTICTTCT	44	10	196110	Hemoglobin alpha, adult chain 1
GGTTATAATA	5	34	28405	Serum/glucocorticoid related kinase
CAACCATCAT	3	26	30071	Lysomsomal associated protein transmembrane 4A
TACAATATAC	8	35	31403	TNF alpha induced protein 9
GTTGTTAACA	2	22	143768	F-box only protein 3
TGTATCCAGT	32	8	373561	Nucleosome assembly protein 1-like 5
AACCTCGCTG	4	26	30221	Insulin induced gene 1
GTCTATGTTG	7	0	4952	Insulin receptor substrate 1
CTATCCTCTC	7	29	200916	Cilutathione peroxidase 3
TTCTCTCCCT	14	1	306954	Carbonic anhydrase 14
TGATGTTAAC	1	12	255848	Hexokinase 2
TTCTGTGTCA	0	10	19669	6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fractose-2,6-biphosphatase 3
CAAAAATAAA	32	18	70666	Enolase 1, alpha non-neuron
TGTACCCAGG	7	23	3196	Alpha glucosidase 2 alpha neutral subunit
TGTGAAGTAG	16	37	371546	ADP-ribosylation factor I
GGGGGGGAAGA	0	8	27308	ADP-ribosylation factor 6
GTAGCGCTCA	0	8	5121	Peptidylglycine alpha-amidating monopxygenase
TGTGCTGTTG	0	7	32700	Sterol-C5-desaturase (fungal ERG3, delta-5-desaturase) homolog (S.

Tay Sequence	Tag n	umber	Unigene	Gene
	PMSG	hCG		
				cerevisae)
TGTGAACGAA	4	15	18522	Camitine palmitoyltransferase I a, liver
GCAGCICACA	12	5	7230	Donchyl-al-phosphooligosacchande-protein glycotransterase
TGAGI ICCCI	4		38390	Copine III DAN kinding generating
COTOTOTOT	0	10	20155	ATPage Ht transmiss NO submit C
COTCINICION .	16	4	20133	Protesson (processon interview) and the term 2
CACTETTEAG	10	6	202200	Protection (prosonie, macropant) submit, apita type 2 Disuberrae 1 (NADH)
AGCAAGATOG	11	40	22500	Aminolevulinic acid synthese 1
ATGAGTGAGC	2	11	250576	Phenylalkylamine Ca2+ antagonist (emonantil) binding protein
CAGATTGTGA	2	11	317701	Thioredoxin domain containing 4 (endonlasmic relieulum)
AACAAATTCT	8	1	35678	Fucosultransferase 8
CAGGGCTCCG	8	1	193096	Stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase ?
TCATTCTCCA	Ĩ	13	257837	ATPase class VI type 11A
AGCAAGAATT	28	226	1061	Ferredoxin I
TCCCCCCTT	0	8	4946	Insutin II
CAGGCAAAAC	25	3	171378	Uncoupling protein 2 mitochondrial
TIGTCAGGTA	20	68	148155	Malic enzyme supernatant
GGGAAGTCTG	5	33	347009	Peroxiredoxin 2
AATTAGTIOT	34	8	353	ATP synthetase H+ transporting, mitochondrial F0 complex, subunit F
АТААТАСАТА	154	231	200362	Cytochrome b-245 beta polypeptide
GTGATGTTTC	55	26	31018	Cytochrome b-5
CAAGGTGACA	3	20	328846	Phosphodiesterase 6A, cGMP-specific, rod, alpira
ACCCTGCTTA	10	0	206417	Cystathionine beta-synthase
GGCAATAATG	25	53	9925	Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (NADP+), solable
TCATTCTCCA	1	13	257837	ATPase, class VI, type 11A
AATGGCTAGC	18	5	35389	Cytochrome c, somatic
GAAATATATG	27	11	2966	ATP synthese, H+ transporting, mitochondrial F0 complex, subunit e (subunit 9), isoform 3
GGAGCCATTG	10	1	275780	NADH dehvdrogenase (ubiquinone) 1 alpha subcomplex, S
AACTGCACAC	0	6	246965	Succinate dehydrogenase complex, subunit B, iron sulfur (lp)
ССАЛТБЛЛСТ	7	0	235123	Inner membrane protein, mitochondrial
_	• ~			
Oocyte spec	ific ger	ies		
TCAGAGTGCT	11	3	9714	GDF 9
AGCTACCTGG	1	0	18213	Transforming growth factor, beta 2
GAATACCCCC	2	4	42160	Bone morphogenetic protein 15
AAAATGTCAA	9	1	208554	Oogenesin 1
Ductain mut	haala a	ad door	radation	
Protein synu		la degi		
L38, L24, S29, P1	is L32, S1, 1, S23, L5,	, large P2 L13, S11	, 515a, 13, 5 , 136, 140 au	d mitochondrial ribusomal proteins S21, S27, L53, L5
AGGCGTGGCT	0	6	30849	Prenyleysteine oxidase 1
TACATTCCAA	1	45	3401	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 5
ATCACACACT	0	21	62886	UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine polypeptide N- acetylealactosaminyltransferase 7
TGCAATATGG	0	9	260084	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4A2
TGAACACTGA	0	6	330731	Transplutaminase 2, C polypeptide
TAGACAAAGG	0	9	276815	Adenosine deaminase, RNA-specific, B1
GAAATGTTGT	11	1	22117	Polymerase (RNA) H (DNA directed) polypeptide G
TGTATAAAAA	30	12	87773	Tumor rejection antigen gp96
ATTGCTTAGA	19	4	371574	RNA binding motif protein 3
GCTATACAGA	11	0	286830	Leucine aminopeptidase 3
GAGCGTTTTG	57	28	5246	Peptidylprolyl isomerase A
AGCCAAATAC	2	19	261831	Basic leacine zipper and W2 domains 1
GGCAGCACAA	8	24	9043	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein F
TGTGGATGGC	0	8	30602	Ubiquitin specific protease 22
ААТАЛЛСЛСС	6	20	257629	Protease, scrine, 35

T	Tag n	umber	11-1	Q				
lag Sequence	PMSG	hCG	Unigene	Gene				
CAAATGCTGT	10	1	20943	FK506 binding protein 9				
TTGATGTACA	3	15	223946	Splicing factor, arginine/serine-rich 11				
GGCAGCACAA	8	24	9043	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein L				
GCATCCAGC17	7	0	277091	Poly(A)-binding protein, cytoplasmic pseudogene				
AATTGTATT	7	0	10651	GTP cyclohydrolase I				
CCTGATCFIT	1	10	4071	Laminin receptor 1 (ribosomal protein SA)				
CTGAATATCT	0	6	371545	Acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein P0				
AGGTGTACAG	0	6	29397	Splicing factor, arginine/serine-rich 15				
GCTCACAACC	7	0	272930	Component of oligometric polgi complex 4				
CATTGCGTGG	9	22	27955	Williams-Beuren syndrome chromosome region 1 homolog (human)				
ATTATACAGT	3	13	29192	Asparaginyl-tRNA synthetase				
ATGCTTCTCA	0	6	248313	RAB12, member RAS oncogene family				
ATTAGGATGT	0	6	22347	Pinin				
TGAGGCCTCG	0	13	21671	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3, subunit 9 (eta)				
GATGTGGCTG	41	15	2718	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 beta 2				
TGGGCAAAGC	23	8	371625	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 gamma				
ATCCGGCGCC	0	8	153758	Transcription elongation factor B (SIII), polypeptide 2				
AGGCAGACAG	94	131	335315	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 1				
AAGAAAACAT	6	0	218851	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, subunit 3, structural gene X-				
				linked				
CCITTAATTC	14	3	154306	Ubiquitin specific protease 45				
TATAGTATGT	8	30	210745	Glutamine synthetase				
CGAAAGAACA	0	7	23335	YMEI-like I (S. cerevisiae)				
AGACAAGCTG	0	7	43331	Splicing factor, arginine/serine-rich 5 (SRp40, HRS)				
TAACAGTTGT	18	38	248827	Calnexin				
TGTGGATGGC	Ŭ	8	30602	Ubiquitin specific protease 22				
Cytokines, g	rowth	factors	and sign	alling and receptor molecules				
TACAGTATAA	89	9	3092	Inhibin beta B				
AGGTCCCTAC	39	27	1100	Inhibin alpha				
TCTTAATGAA	22	11	4235	Kit ligand				
TGCTGTGCAT	14	60	18459	FGF inducible 14				
GTTTGTACAA	4	24	182396	TGF beta BP3				
ACAGTEGACT	3	2	209571	Bone morphogenic protein 3				
CAGCATTAGA	2	0	27757	Bone morphogenic protein l				
TGAGCATCAA	2	0	140965	Bone morphogenic protein receptor 1a				
ATCACAGGTG	J	4	22248	IGFBP 4				
TITGCACCIT	7	8	1810	Connective tissue growth factor				
TAGCTTTAAA	5	3	233470	IGFBP 7				
AAAGCACCAT	7	1	3904	Fibroblast growth factor 15				
TAAATGTGCA	45	8	4913	Follistatin				
CTTGTATTTA	10	10	4132	Suppressor of cytokine signalling 2				
GTTTGTACAA	4	24	182396	Latent transforming growth factor binding protein 3				
TACTTGTGTT	3	18	15125	Stromal coll derived factor receptor 1				
ACTCTAAGIT	0	7	347919	B-cell stimulating factor 3				
TACCTTGACA	0	45	4791	Epireguliu				
TOCCCCCCCCC	0	28	35088	Cholinergic receptor, nicotinic, beta polypeptide 2 (neuronal)				
CTTAGATGTT	0	19	309193	Ropporin I-like				
AACAAAATCT	13	1	3903	RAS, dexamethasone-induced 1				
AAGTAATGTG	1	12	10516	Prolactin receptor				
TTÁCCACATA	5	20	28262	Regulator of G-protein signaling 2				
ACAGCCAGGG	11	1	242413	G protein-coupled receptor, family C, group S, member C				
TCCTTATATT	42	73	290285	RAB39, member RAS oncogene family				
ATGTTCGTGG	3	16	1791	Dual specificity phosphatase 6				
GTCTTGGGCG	15	36	30156	Protease, serine, 11 (Igf binding)				
TCAGTITAAT	0	9	275266	Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) 12				
TTCCTATATT	32	59	179011	Vav2 oncogene				
ATCACTCCAA	1	11	273142	Membrane interacting protein of RGS16				
GGAGATCTTT	10	1	167625	G protein-coupled receptor 85				

Tan Sequence	Tag n	umber	Unigone	Gone
Tag Boquence	PMSG	hCG	omgene	Gene
CGCTCTAACG	6	0	25594	Protein kinase, cAMP dependent regulatory, type II beta
AGATCATCTA	0	8	246003	Frizzled homolog I (Drosophila)
GCACAACTTG	27	12	329243	Calmodulin 2
ACAACAGAGG	1	10	24807	Prostaglandin F2 receptor negative regulator
GCCACTTCCT	I	10	371598	Nuclear receptor coactivator 4
AGAAAGGATA	0	7	296814	Phosphodiesterase 7A
AGTGTGACGT	0	7	43081	Milogen-activated protein kinase 8 interacting protein 3
TGTAACIGGT	4	15	233009	RAS related motein 1b
ACTUCTUCCT	i	9	333868	RAS-related protein-1a
ΤΑΓΑΑΑΑΤΤΑ	К	í	355306	ADAM 17
GOCITITICG	0	1	27832	V-ral simian leukemia viral openane bornolog B (ras related)
TGATGCTAAA	1	0	304976	Down-regulated by Ctrables
GTOTTTGTGA	5	ó	200775	Transforming growth factor, hat a recentor III
TACAATAAAC	0	6	40324	Protosterane incluster membrane component 2
TACAALAAAC	0	20	40321	Frogesterone receptor memorane component 2
TTIGTAATAA	0	3U 10	284833	
CICCUACCCA	0	18	249318	rrequents noniolog (Drospinna)
ACICGUAGEC	34	y	285993	
AGGIGGCAIT	0	6	2442	Calcium binding protein intestinal
ATGACATAGA	5	28	235182	Calcium/calmodulin-dependant protein kinase II gamma
CAAACAATGT	1	19	277351	G protein coupled receptor 48
AGAGGACTAG	0	15	358930	G protein coupled receptor associated sorting protein 2
TTCTTGTATT	3	22	276405	FK506 binding protein S1
ATGATGGTAG	54	24	353171	EpH receptor A6
CCCCTATATT	14	37	288639	RAB guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) 1
ACAGTTAAGC	0	10	209813	Ephrin-B class 2
TOTTAGCTCC	0	6	21667	Proteasonte (prosome, macropain) 26S subunit, non-ATPase, 12
TAAGTGGAAT	12	26	3360	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation
				protein, zeta polypeptide
GCACAATTG	27	12	35677	Epidermal GF receptor pathway substrate 15
CACCACCACA	11	16	2924	Platelet derived growth factor receptor
AGGGCACTGG	13	6	43760	Nerve GF assoc, receptor protein
TGTAAGGTGT	1	4	254496	FGF recentor
TIGCCATCTC	8	16	1644	LH Recentor
GGGTAGATAT	6	13	142929	Aub type 2 recentor
COLOTTITICA	15	11	35009	G protein counted recenter 27
TGACTCATCT	1	2	57155	6 protein coupled receptor 27
OCATOOCOACO	4 2	51	204705	Pairs (exception)
TOTATOUUUAO	3	24 77	204703	Psk i Gansheindrane receptor
IGICATOTAG		0/	4071	Examinate receptor 1
GGCCCICITI	1	3	197552	
Crigcicier	1	35	4712	Integrin beta 1 (fibronectin receptor beta)
neccelacc	28	U 1	35088	Cholmergic receptor, nicotinic, beta polypeptide 2 (neuronal)
TTCTTGGTTT	4	13	40636	G protein coupled receptor 48
GCACTAGUTG	6	9	9052	Progesterone receptor membrane component 1
TTTAGGGGAG	12	5	22440	Thyroid hormone receptor associated protein 3
TITGACCCCC	2	0	4839	Activin A receptor type II-like 1
CAACACCACC	1	3	689	Activin A receptor type 1
ATAGCTGGGC	8	6	<b>2489</b> 07	Mitogen activating protein kinase kinase 1
GAAATGTAAG	19	15	4358	Mitogen activating protein kinase kinase kinase 12
СААААААААА	б	7	44193	Mitogen activating protein kinase kinase kinase 7 interacting protein 1
CATTIGAAAA	5	3	196584	Mitogen activating protein kinase kinase 2
CCTGCTCTGT	3	4	4437	Mitogen activating protein kinase 14
CCAGACATCT	5	1	205152	Mitogen activating protein kinase associated protein 1
AACTGTGTGA	2	3	18856	Mitogen activating protein kinase 6
GTTTGGAGCT	2	3	18494	Mitogen activating protein kinase kinase 3
TCCAATTCCT	3	Ō	68993	Mitogen activating protein kinase 9
TTTTTGATAA	3	32	10504	3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase I
ATGACATACA	5	28	235189	Calcium/calmodulin-denendant protein kinase II gamma
TTTTTTATT	22	1	255162	Protein kinase cAMP dependent regulatory type II bety
TAGGAGACTC	6	15	23324 9214	Postein kinase C dolta
ACCCCCCTCC	0	7	0774	Protoin kinase c AMP dependent regulatory, type 1 here
ACCOUNTER TO THE	7	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	+	rioren kinnse, erint ucpanoan regunatory, type i beta

in de Se

Tag Scouenco	Tag n	umper,	Unigene	Gene
148	PMSG	hCG		
TTCCATTAAA	3	2	30234	IK cytokine
TGCAGTCAGT	0	4	37204	Suppressor of cytokine signalling 5
GAGTCAGCAA	0	4	227274	Protien regulator of cytokinesis 1
GTTGTTGTTA	7	4	78106	Semm/glucocorticoid regulated kinase 3
TTAATTACAG	0	19	28405	Serum/glucocorticoid regulated kinase
Staroidopon	onia any	IT inid.	motobal	ism related transprints
Steroluogen	osis and	r rubra i	Inclabor	isin related transcripts
GGTCAAGATA	46	4	188939	17β HSD 1
CTAAAAAAAA	9	7	12882	17β HSD 7
CACCACCACC	5	1	8877	17β HSD 2
GTGCATITCA	13	3	5199	Cytochrome P450 19 (aromatase)
GGGCATTTGA	11	108	108678	Cytochrome P450 11a (cholesterol side chain cleavage)
GAAGCTGTAT	10	0	5079	118 HSD 2
TGTGCCGGCC	1	18	142364	StAR
CAAACTGTAT	6	0	196405	36 HSD 2
GCTCTGGGAG	152	56	140811	36 HSD 1
ACTGAAGCAA	46	146	4603	Seavenaer recentor class B member I
GGTAACCTAA	10	9	3213	Low density linemation recentor
TGTCCACACA	, n	8	196675	I DI R related motein 8
GAAAATGAGA	133	78	30012	HDL binding protein
AGCAAGAATT	28	20	1061	Famalavia
GAGTCGATTC	7	20	277857	Hydrouwstatovid (17 beta) dobydongonygo 1
CACATTATCA	, ^	20	271027	Stern O acultura ferrase /abalactoral matchalicas)
CICCLORICAC	Ň	11	26033	Auglinguratein A. J
CLAUTTOCAA	10	24	20/43	Experipepiotein A-1
TOCTOTOCAN	21	2 <b>4</b> 7	39472	ramesyr aphosphate syndiciase
TCCTGTGUGA	21	6	4000	Agongoptotetti A-1V precusor
LOCICATC	40	10/	310034	5-nyoroxy-5-methylgiutaryl-Coenzyme A reductase
AACIGAGGGG	49	500	277498	Prosaposin 7. Astroduced and and and and and and and and and an
TGCAGIGITA	1	10	249342	7-denydrocholesterol reduciase
IGITATOTAA	1	10	2113/6	At P-binding cassene, sub-family A (ABC1), member 1
GIGIACITIC	U	10	20015	Peroxisoinal biogenesis ractor 11a
machacen	0	8	247704	Peroxisoine biogenesis factor 19
Transcriptio	n facto	rs and r	elated g	enes
GGGAGCGAAA	 ?	28	34871	Jultibitor of DNA binding 2
GGTGTTCCTT	2	0	31173	Depart bolog
CGACAATTT	7	1	2543	Indian bedgebog
TAGCCAACTT	, ^	13	4500	Runt related transcription factor 2
TACCTTTACC	0	12	30480	Cualin D hinding mub-like transactiution funtary 1
TOTOGTANTG	1	70	42400	Secreted frizzled related sequence protein 4
AAAGACACTA	0	 	360445	Interferan regulatory factor 2 hinding protoin 2
TCCACTOCTC	7	10	44151	Colortor required for Sal transacionical activation, submit 6
POLACIGCIO	2	19	191101	Contactor required for Sal (manufactured estimation, submit 2
COTTEXTCALAC	0 7	n n	20020	SM(12 magazon of mifting 2 humping 1 (most)
TOTICAAU	2	12	14540	Champing Register 2 (Disconting Register)
CURCULATION	4	12	14347	Unionobox noniolog 2 (Diosophia Pe class)
STGTTOT	1	10	20627	Romeodomann interacting protein kinase i
AACGTGAGGT	0	8	238775	And higher, MYND domain containing ()
AAGCTCCGAC	0	8	12917	Multiple endocrine neoplasia 1
GIATGIATGO	2	13	17977	Transcription factor Dp 2
TUUTACITTA	U	9	153415	E2F transcription factor 5
TAFIGIGGUT	0	9	195663	Cyclin-dependent kinase multitor (A (P21)
GAGGAGGAGG	0	10	136604	Nuclear factor, interleukin 3, regulated
GGTATCAGTC	4	19	21281	King tinger protein 4
GAGTGATTAT	0	12	256422	Zine finger protein 162
GGATATGTGG	19	42	181959	Early growth response 1
CTAGATGTCG	9	10	34537	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP), alpha
ΤርΤGΛΑCACA	10	2	287795	General transcription factor II E, polypeptide 1 (alpha subunit)
ACCAAGAGTC	2	12	641	Activating transcription factor 4

Tag Sequence	Tag n PMSG	umber hCG	Unigene	Gene	
Unknown function-significantly differentially expressed named genes					
TGGGTTGTCT	156	253	296922	Tumour protein translationally controlled 1	
ACCGGGTCAT	1	30	206919	Male sterility domain containing 2	
TTGAAATTAC	0	45	362063	Proline rich protein MPS	
AGAAGACAGA	0	15	16769	Testes enhanced gene transcript	
CTGCTCTGAC	2	17	153566	BC019776 Meteorin, glial cell differentiation regulator-like	
CCTGTGTATG	0	11	293605	Tumor protein p53 inducible nuclear protein 2	
GTTGAGGTTT	13	32	331964	DNA segment, Chr 8 ERATO Doi 531, expressed	
GCTCAGCACC	20	3	218957	Gene regulated by oestrogen in breast cancer protein	
CITCCCCGGG	0	10	34903	FSH primary response 1	
TACTGCTAAG	0	10	273915	Gene rich cluster, C3f gene	
AGCAGTGCTT	9	0	274715	Coiled-coil domain containing 3	
GTTCTGACAG	4	14	261025	Carnitine deficiency-associated gene expressed in ventricle 3	
TACCCCACAA	0	6	41849	Brain expressed, associated with Nedd4	
TTTGAGGATT	0	6	333893	Non imprinted in Prader-Willl/Angelman syndrome 2 homolog (human)	
CACTGACGAG	10	2	2871	DnaJ (Hsp40) homolog, subfamily C, member 9	
ATAAACTGCA	0	6	230654	Testis derived transcript	
TTCAGGCACT	1	9	38436	Tetratricopoptide repeat domain 13	
GTACTIGTCT	0	7	29658	Chemokine-like factor super family 3	
ATCAGTACTA	0	7	46401	Son cell proliferation protein	
CCTTTAATGC	7	0	219648	THO complex 1	
TCAACTIGGG	2	12	156727	Hyperparathyroidism 2 homolog (human)	
TGCCGTATGC	1	10	6442	Polycystic kidney disease 2	
GTTGAGGTTT	13	32	331964	DNA segment, Chr 4, Wayne State University 53, expressed	
TAACATTGTA	0	9	22225	Zine finger protein 313	
CTAATAAAGC	51	28	329631	Fau Finkel-Biskis-Reilly nutrine sarcoma virus (FBR-MuSV) ubiquitously expressed (fox derived)	
GTACTTGTCT	0	7	29658	Chemokine-like factor super family 4	

#### 3.4.4 Genes showing selective expression within granulosa cells

In order to select transcripts which have a direct luteinisaton-related function the SAGE libraries were compared to the other 81 murine libraries available on SAGEMAP. These included libraries constructed from embryonic stem cells, cardiac muscle, neural tissue, spleen, kidney, liver, adipose tissue and testis in a variety of physiological and pathological states. It is reasonable to presume that transcripts unique to granulosa cells when compared to other libraries may be considered more likely to possess a cellular specific function.

Table 3.4 lists the 20 highest expressed genes within the combined libraries which show no more than a single tag in any other non-gonadal murine SAGE library. Tags found in SAGE libraries sourced from testes tissue have been included in this list in order to include genes expressed within the Sertoli cell in the male since it has an analogous function to the granulosa cell in the female. These genes, while not necessarily unique to granulosa cells, are nonetheless showing highly selective expression patterns. Eight of these genes are unmatched, have multiple matches or are linked to uncharacterised sequences. The possibility that such narrow expression across tissue types is linked to a luteinisation-specific function is enhanced by the fact that 17 of the 20 genes listed show significant differential expression. This is borne out by the presence of the steroidogenic gene  $17\beta$  HSD 1 and the luteinisating hormone receptor within this group. Also of interest are leukocyte cell derived chemotaxin 1 and mastermind like 1 (Drosophilia) as genes likely to have influence on cell proliferation, survival and/or differentiation.

Table 3.5 lists the 20 most abundant tags which are unique to the granulosa cell, excluding those tags also found in the testis libraries. Six of these genes are unmatched, have multiple matches or are linked to uncharacterised sequences and 19 of the 20 genes are significantly differentially expressed. Likely to stimulate interest are 4 transcription factors found only within the granulosa cell namely transcription factor Dp 2, cyclin D binding myb-like transcription factor I, runt related transcription factor 2 and general transcription factor II E, polypeptide 1 (alpha subunit), all upregulated by hCG. It should be noted that

these genes are, of course, expressed in other tissues it is just that they have not been detected in SAGE libraries.

Table 3.4 Top 20 most abundant transcripts found specifically in gonadal tissue

Gonadal Tag_Sequence	PMSG	hCG	Unigene	Gene
CCATCGTCCT	13	66	······································	Unmatched
GTGTTTTGTG	44	25	201455	Secretory earrier membrane protein 1
TACTACATAG	0	54		Unmatched
GGTCAAGATA	46	4	188939	Ilydroxysteroid (17-beta) dehydrogenase 1
TACCTTGACA	0	45	4791	Epiregulin
TTGAAATTAC	0	45	4491	Proline-rich protein MP5
ACAATAATGA	2	38	261182	RIKEN cDNA 2310061B02 gene
ACAACTCCAC	0	39		Unmatched
CGAAGCACAA	2	35	264680	Cysteine-rich secretory protein LCCL domain containing 2
TTTTTGATAA	3	32	10504	3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase-1
TCCCCCCCCT	0	33	51116	Mastermind like 1 (Drosophila)
TTTGTAATAA	0	30	1366	Endothelin 2
AATTTCTCAA	24	3	2 <b>4</b> 295	Mus musculus transcribed sequences
TATATACTTC	3	22	33062	CDNA sequence BC010552
CCAAGAGACC	20	4	46561	Leukocyte cell derived chemotaxin 1
TTGCCATCTC	8	16	1644	Luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor
TTACTGCTAC	0	21	347368	Expressed sequence AI987712
AACAAACGCA	0	19		Unmatched
GGGTAGATAT	6	13	142929	Anti-Mullerian hormone type 2 receptor
TTAGATATTG	5	13	1664	Luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor

Granulosa	DMSG	60G	Thricana	Cané
Tag_Sequence	1 1420		Ongene	
TACTACATAG	0	54		Unmatched
TACCTTGACA	0	45	4791	Epiregulin
TTGAAATTAC	0	45	4491	Proline-rich protein MP5
ACAATAATGA	2	38	261182	RIKEN cDNA 2310061B02 gene
CGAAGCACAA	2	35	264680	Cysteine-rich secretory protein LCCL domain containing 2
ΤΓΓΓΤΓΓΑΤΑΛ	3	32	10504	3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase-1
TCCCCCCCT	0	33	51116	Mastermind like 1 (Drosophila)
TTTGTAATAA	0	30	1366	Endothelin 2
AATTTCTCAA	24	3	24295	Mus musculus transcribed sequences
CCAAGAGACC	20	4	46561	Leukocyte cell derived chemotaxin 1
CTGGAGACAT	0	18		Unmatched
CAAGTITCAG	0	17	312623	Membrane-associated ring finger (C3HC4) 3
ATTGTAATAT	2	13	4509	Runt related transcription factor 2
GTATGTATGG	2	13	17977	Transcription factor Dp 2
TGAGGCCTCG	0	14	21671	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3, subunit 9 (eta)
AGTTCATAAG	1	12	284855	Endothelin 2
TAGCTTTAGG	0	13	22480	Cyclin D binding myb-like transcription factor 1
TATAACACTG	1	12	358736	RIKEN cDNA 3830408G10 gene
TCTGAACACA	10	2	287795	General transcription factor II E, polypeptide 1 (alpha subunit)
CGACCTTTAC	0	12	27154	Vanin 1

Table 3.5 Top 20 most abundant transcripts found specifically in granulosa cells

14 Anite

#### 3.4.5 Source and Purity of Granulosa Cell cDNA

In order to confirm the purity of the source mRNA it is necessary to check for thecal contamination by searching for highly expressed thecal cell specific transcripts that we would not expect to find in granulsoa cell generated cDNA. Steroidogenic enzymes such as 17 alpha hydoxylase and signalling molecules such as BMP 7 and keratinocyte growth factor are known to be highly expressed in thecal cells at this time point and no detection has occurred in either SAGE library.

A number of oocyte specific genes are present since no effort was made to isolate oocytes from the aspirated follicle contents. GDF 9, BMP 15 and oogenesin are oocyte specific transcripts found in the SAGE libraries. GDF 9 and BMP 15, as paracrine effectors secreted to influence granulosa cell function, would be expected to be among the most highly expressed oocyte mRNAs. The level of transcript detection is sufficiently low that these transcripts would not be expected to skew the SAGE results. If doubt is raised about the source of a transcript of interest its expression can easily be localised using in situ hybridisation.

### 3.5 Investigation and Identification of Unmatched Transcripts

#### 3.5.1 RACE analysis of unknown SAGE tags

One of the inherent problems with SAGE is that many SAGE tags do not match to any known gene in the database. This could be because they correspond to novel transcripts, or because there is alternative splicing at the 3' end of the gene. The length of a tag does not unfortunately yield sufficient cDNA sequence for further analysis. In most cases searching the mouse genome for a particular tag sequence will give many matches. In addition, a SAGE tag may match to more than one gene in the database, these genes having no homology, functional or otherwise, except for this short sequence. In order to address this problem Chen et al (2000) developed a technique known as the generation of longer cDNA sequences from SAGE tags for gene identification (GLGI). This is a technique based on the original SAGE method which helps to validate and better characterise the information generated by the SAGE library. Essentially this technique uses the SAGE tag as the sense primer and a modified anchored oligo d(T) as an anti sense primer, thus converting the 10bp SAGE tag into a much longer sequence (figure 3.14). These longer 3' cDNAs provide much higher specificity than the SAGE tag for identifying correct genes for SAGE tags with multiple matches and for further characterisation of novel genes generated from the SAGE tags with no match. A high throughput protocol (Chen et al 2002) has improved the efficiency and permits a larger scale analysis of SAGE tags. By using this approach it is possible to efficiently generate longer 3'cDNA sequences up to a few hundred bases long (256 bases being the theoretical maximum for a 4 base recognition site) for multiple SAGE tags.

#### 3' RACE procedure

The RNA for the generation of longer cDNA fragments for gene identification (GLGI) procedure was obtained from multiple combined granulosa cell samples sourced from mice treated with PMSG and hCG and cells collected as described for the SAGE experiments. Equal aliquots from both PMSG and PMSG/hCG

treated mice were combined to give one sample. The RNA extraction, reverse transcription and 3'cDNA generation was as previously described for SAGE as was the annealing of SAGE linker A to the 5' end of the cDNA fragments (figure 3.14), the only difference was that the oligo dT primer had an additional sequence at the 5' end (figure 3.14). Following the 3'cDNA generation an additional PCR step is employed to increase the amount of cDNA for large scale GLGI analysis. Amplification is carried out using an oligo dT primer (figure 3.14) and а SAGE linker based primer (Primer 1: 5'-AACTAGGCAATATAGGGA-3'). This amplification was carried out in a 50µl reaction volume with 200nm of primer in each reaction, with other constituents as previously stated (Chapter 2). The product of this PCR reaction serves as the template for the gene specific amplification.

#### TTCTAGAATTCAGCGGCCGC(T)30(AGC)(AGCT)

Oligo dT based primer TTCTAGAATTCAGCGGCCGC



Gene specific amplification of 3'cDNA

Figure 3.14 Schematic representation of the large scale GLGI procedure for sequencing 3' cDNAs from SAGE tag transcripts. Annealing a known oligonucleotide linker to the 5' end of a 3' cDNA fragment allows gene specific amplification using a linker/SAGEtag based primer.

Oligo dT primer

Eleven novel SAGE tags representing unidentifiable transcripts were selected for amplification and sequencing on the basis of abundant, differential or selective expression patterns within the granulosa cell. The sense primer sequences are listed in table 3.6. The tag sequence on which the primer is based is underlined, the remainder of the primer is composed of the CATG recognition site and the last 7 bases of the SAGE linker sequence giving a total of 21 bases for each primer.

The oligo dT antisense primer was based on the oligo dT primer used for reverse transcription in the SAGE procedure.

Each PCR reaction was set up in a 50µl reaction volume containing 200nm of the gene specific primer and 200nm of the oligo dT primer. Reaction components were described for normal PCR in the basic laboratory methods section. Cycling parameters of 95°C for 90 seconds then 30 cycles at 95°C for 20 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 60 seconds were followed.

The subsequent PCR products were run on a 12% polyacrylamide gel (figure 3.15) containing ethidium bromide as described under basic laboratory procedures. The gel was visualised under u.v. light and bands excised and extracted from the gel using the electroelution and lavage method as described for SAGE.



Figure 3.15 PAGE gel containing 3'RACE reaction products from each of the individual reactions using GSPs listed in table 3.6

The PCR product was cloned into TOPO vector and electroporated using E.coli DH10B cells (both products from Invitrogen, Paisley, U.K.) as previously described, cell suspensions were plated out, incubated overnight, colonies sclected, plasmid inserts amplified and sequenced as previously described for SAGE using the plasmid based primers M13R (5'-GGA TAA CAA TTT CAC ACA GG-3') and M13F (5'-TGT AAA ACG ACG GCC AGT-3') (obtained from MWG Biotech, UK).

The sequences obtained arc listed below (figure 3.16). These sequences were then BLAST searched to obtain matching ESTs. The best match for each transcript is listed alongside that transcript.

Primer sequence	Transcript number		
(SAGE tag underlined)	PMSG	hCG	
ATAGGGACATG <u>CCTCCCCTTG</u>	1	98	
ATAGGGACATG <u>TCCGCGATCA</u>	58	1	
ATAGGGACATG <u>ATCAGTGTGC</u>	1	32	
ATAGGGACATG <u>ACAGTTAATT</u>	0	55	
ATAGGGACATG <u>TACTACATAG</u>	0	54	
ATAGGGACATG <u>ACAACTCCAC</u>	0	39	
ATAGGGACATG <u>GGAGCAGACC</u>	0	25	
ATAGGGACATG <u>AACAAACGCA</u>	0	19	
ATAGGGACATG <u>TCGCTGCCTT</u>	0	15	
ATAGGGACATG <u>AAAGCACACA</u>	0	128	
ATAGGGACATG <u>CAGTCAATAC</u>	212	30	

Table 3.6 Gene specific primer sequences for 3' race

Figure 3.16 3' RACE results for unidentified SAGE tags.

Tag-CCTCCCCTTGPMSG 1hCG 98

**CATG<u>CCTCCCCTTG</u>TAGTCACCAAGGAAAATTACCACTGCTCCCCCTGCCCTTCTGC ATAAGGGTTATTTCCCCTTTGATCTTTTGTATAAAAACTGTAAGTTTTGCTGAATAC AACGAGACCTTGACAAGATTC-poly(A)** 

Matches to 442bp mRNA, Accession number AA791500, GI:2854455, Stratagene mouse Tcell 937311 Mus musculus cDNA clone.

Tag-TCCGCGATCA PMSG 58 hCG 1

CATGTCCGCGATCATCGTTAGAAGCTTGAATTCGAGCAGT-poly(A)

Matches to 66 bp mRNA, Accession number BG370289, GI:13266826, Homo sapiens cDNA clone.

Tag-ATCAGTGTGC PMSG 1 hCG 32

CATGATCAGTGTGC-poly(A)

No significant similarity

Tag-ACAGTTAATT PMSG 0 hCG 55

**CATG<u>ACAGTTAATT</u>CCTTAGATTAAGTTCAATTGGTATTGTAAATATTTTCAACTGA** GTTTTTAATTGACAATAAATAAAATACCACATTATGCTG-poly(A)

Matches to 674 bp mRNA, Accession number CX567486, GI:57594515, Mus musculus cDNA clone.

Tag-TACTACATAG PMSG 0 hCG 54

CATG<u>TACTACATAG</u>CAATACCTTGTTAT-poly(A)

No significant similarity

Tag-ACAACTCCAC PMSG 0 hCG 39

CATG<u>ACAACTCCAC</u>TCTGGTGGAGTTCTCTCAAACTATAAGCCAAAATAAACCCTTC CTTCTT-poly(A)

509 bp mRNA, Accession number BG148701, GI:12652123, mouse\_NMGB\_bcell Mus musculus cDNA clone.

Tag-GGAGCAGACC PMSG 0 hCG 25

Matches to 273 bp mRNA, Accession number BB421909, GI:9243264, embryo spinal cord Mus nusculus cDNA clone, similar to D00472 Mus musculus mRNA for cofilin.

Tag-AACAAACGCA PMSG 0 hCG 19

CATGAACAAACGCAGGAAG-poly(A)

No significant similarity

Tag-TCGCTGCCTT PMSG 0 hCG 15

CATGTCGCTGCCTTATTAAATCCTGCCTTCTACATTGT-poly(A)

Matches to 311 bp mRNA, Accession number CX734226, GI:58061062, Mus musculus cDNA clone whole eye.

Tag-AAAGCACACA PMSG 0 hCG 128

Matches to 483 bp mRNA, Accession number BF453690, GI:11519859, Mus musculus cDNA clone

Tag-CAGTCAATAC PMSG 212 hCG 30

Matches to 457 bp mRNA, Accession number BB821750, GI:16994379, Mus musculus cDNA clone. Matches to Unigene cluster Mm 290944.

A number of sequences do not produce a significant match when BLAST searched against EST sequences. These sequences do so when the SAGE tag is immediately against or in close proximity to the poly (A) tail, leaving little additional sequence information to be recovered by 3' RACE. Further information about these can be acquired by sequencing the 5' end of the gene as described in the next chapter. Among those sequences giving clue as to function is the EST matching to the SAGEtag GGAGCAGACC which shows similarity to the mouse cofilin sequence. The EST match for the SAGEtag CAGTCAATAC is also intriguing since it matches to a Unigene cluster (Mm 290944) showing homology with a highly conserved noncoding human mRNA sequence. In addition this tag shows a selective expression pattern for the granulosa cell and has been investigated further (Chapter 4).

### 3.6 Validation of SAGE results using Real Time PCR.

Validation and further investigation of the SAGE results requires the use of another method of mRNA quantification - several are available. Hybridisationbased methods such as microarrays, northern blot, and in situ hybridisation are restricted by their requirement for large volumes of samples, by being labour intensive (Bird et al 1998, Duggan et al 1999), and by having a smaller dynamic range (Mirnics et al 2001). The real time PCR method requires less sample volume and has previously been used for validation of larger scale gene expression studies and for more precise analysis of selected genes (Chuaqui et al 2002).

Real time PCR is used to quantify cDNA produced by reverse transcription of mRNA. The reverse transcription reaction can be carried out using gene-specific, random, or oligo dT primers. Gene specific primers increase specificity and decrease background while random hexamers and oligo dT primers maxmise the number of mRNA molecules available for analysis (Bustin 2000). The reverse transcription step is the source of most variability between different reactions in quantative RT-PCR measurements (Freeman et al 1999). In order to minimise this variability a reference value can be used to adjust the obtained quantities of cDNA, this can be an added RNA standard of known amount added prior to the reverse transcription reaction, or the use of reference genes within the RNA sample.

Real time PCR measures the PCR product as it accumulates in the exponential phase of the reaction. The quantity is characterised by the point at which the amplified PCR product climbs above an arbitrary threshold (Ct). The greater the quantity of template, the sooner the PCR product level exceeds threshold. This is preferable to an endpoint measurement because the end PCR product quantity is sensitive to the reaction conditions, whereas during the exponential phase the reaction components are not limited; consequently Ct values are reproducible for reactions starting with the same copy number.

The PCR product can be detected by amplicon specific probes where fluorescence is released by removal of a quencher during the reaction. Alternatively, DNA intercalating dyes such as ethidium bromide or SYBR green can be used. These dyes are not sequence specific and will intercalate in unspecific amplification products and in primer dimers, although it is possible to study melting curve profiles to detect these artefacts (Bustin 2000).

S Second

This study used the Taqman 5' nuclease assay which utilises a probe, designed with a short sequence complementary to the sequence of interest, with both a fluorescent (5') (FAM) and quencher dye (3') attached (TAMRA). Prior to digestion of the probe by the PCR reaction the fluorescence is limited by the proximity of the quencher. As the reaction progresses fluorescence is released in direct proportion to the accumulation of PCR product. The higher the starting copy number of the nucleic acid target, then the sooner a significant increase in fluorescence is observed.

#### 3.6.1 Method

The mRNA extractions, DNAase treatments and reverse transcriptions are performed as previously described. The reverse transcription in this case employed random hexamers to prime the reaction in order to maximise the number of mRNA molecules available for analysis (Bustin 2000). Although the reverse transcription step is the source of most of the variability inherent in quantitative RT-PCR the later use of an internal reference gene negates the need to analyse and adjust obtained quantities of cDNA or to include external RNA standards in the sample.

To validate differences in gene expression between SAGE libraries real-time PCR was used to measure relative mRNA levels of a number of transcripts. In eukaryotic cells the use of stably expressed housekeeping genes as standards allows for the relative quantification of gene expression (Bustin 2000). In this case the ubiquitous housekeeping gene Glyceradehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as standard. GAPDH is one of the classical normalisation genes and has been shown in microarray studies to be the most invariable housekeeping gene (Lee et al 2002). In both SAGE libraries the expression levels of GAPDH were similar. The use of mRNA is preferable to the more stable ribosomal RNA which constitutes almost 90% of the total cellular

RNA and is therefore present at a far more abundant level, complicating comparison with mRNA which constitutes only 3-5% of cellular RNA (Alberts et al 1994). At the time of this study we lacked the equipment necessary to carry out multiplex PCR which would have allowed the reference gene to be measured in the same reaction as the gene of interest, with the advantage that PCR variability would be similar for both ampilcons, but also with the risk of primer interference between reactions.

In order to calculate a relative copy number from the Ct values we created standard curves from which to the measure amplification efficiency of a diluted series of samples. The DNA concentrations in these samples are relative, not absolute, values since an arbitrary quantity is sufficient. In this study a serial five-fold dilution was employed. For each standard the concentration was plotted against the cycle number at which the fluorescence increased above the threshold value (Ct value). An efficiency of one reflects a doubling of the product in each PCR cycle.

Each mRNA sample was prepared from the granulosa cells of 2 normal female mice which had undergone superovulation at 20 days of age with either PMSG or PMSG/hCG combination and collected at 48 hours or 12 hours post PMSG or hCG injection as for SAGE library construction. Each group contained 5' RNA samples. These samples were DNAase treated (Ambion, UK) and checked for genomic contamination using the GAPDH primers and probe for real time PCR. If any amplification was detected then samples were retreated and rechecked. No sample had to be treated more than twice in order to remove genomic contamination.

The primer and probe sequences used for this analysis are as listed in table 3.7. These sequences were either as previously published, or if novel, designed using Primer Express (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) with sequence information obtained from Genbank or in the case of the transcript associated with the SAGE tag CAGTCAATAC from RACE analysis of SAGE data. ÷

10.00

Real time PCR's were carried out in a  $25\mu$ l reaction volume in a 96 well plate format. The reaction was performed in 1x GeneAmp PCR Gold Buffer and 6.25mM magnesium chloride solution (both Applied Biosystems), 200 $\mu$ M dNTP's, 300nM of each primer, 200nM of probe and 0.15 units of enzyme (Amplitaq Gold; Applied Biosystems, UK) per 25µl reaction volume. A reference dye, Rox, was included in these reactions at a concentration of 60nmol/L. The thermal profile consisted of an initial 10 minute 95°C denaturation then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds denaturation with a 60°C extension step. Thermal cycling and flouresence detection was performed on a Stratagene MX3100P machine and reaction efficiencies were calculated using the Stratagene MX3100P software (Stratagene, UK).

#### 3.6.2 Results

Standard dilution series for the gene of interest and GAPDH were produced on each reaction plate and the associated standard curves and reaction efficiencies are shown in figure 3.16 for each reaction.

Each sample was run in duplicate and 6 samples from each time point (48hrs post PMSG injection and 12hrs post hCG injection) were collected, each consisting of granulosa cells from 2 normal superovulated mice. The mean values from the duplicate reactions, adjusted with reference gene GAPDH, are shown in Table 3.8 for each sample. The overall mean value between samples was used to calculate relative fold change in expression between the two time points.

The expression changes reveal genes both upregulated and downregulated within the two sample groups. The steroidogenic enzymes show an expected pattern of change, as do the gonadotrophic hormone receptors. These results show that there is good correlation between data obtained by real-time PCR and data derived from SAGE libraries (figure 3.18).

Gene	Primer/Probe	Sequence
Aromatase	Forward	CCGAAAAAGAATGACCTGTCCTT
	Reverse	TTGTCTGAATTCCTTGGAGAGAAAA
	Probe	CACCCAAATGAGGACAGGCACCTTGT
Unmatched	Forward	TTCTTTAACCAATGTCTGGCTAATG
SAGE tag	Reverse	TCCAACCGTTATCTCTTTAAACATAT
	Probe	TGAGTGCATTTCAACTATGTCAATGGTTTCTT
Kit ligand	Forward	GCCGGCAATGCCATG
	Reverse	AGGTCCCGAGAAAGGGAAA
	Probe	CTGTCAATTGTAGGCCCGAGTCTTCA
FOL	<b>T</b> 1	
FSH	Forward	
receptor	Reverse	
	Probe	CATCCAATTIGCAACAAGICTATTICAAGGCA
I H recentor	Forward	GACCAAAAGCTGAGGCTGAGA
Liliteeoptoi	Reverse	CAATGTGGCCATCAGGGTAGA
	Prohe	TGCCATCCCAATTATGCTCGGAGGA
	11000	roomroommoorosandan
Wbscr 1	Forward	CTGCAATGTCCACACGAAGTG
	Reverse	TCCCTGAAGGAGGCTCTGACT
	Probe	CCGGTCACCCAAGAGTGCACCG
Cholesterol	Forward	CCAGTGTCCCCATGCTCAAC
side chain	Reverse	TGCATGGTCCTTCCAGGTCT
cleavage	Probe	TGCCTCCAGACTTCTTTCGACTCCTCAGA
GADDIJ	Forward	TACCCCCATCTTCTCACATC
GAPDH	Poverse	TCATGAGCCCTTCCACAA
	Drohe	TGTCAGCAATGCATCCTGCACCAC
	11000	TOTATOATOATOCACCAC
StAR	Forward	CCGGAGCAGAGTGGTGTCA
	Reverse	CAGTGGATGAAGCACCATGC
	Probe	CAGAGCTGAACACGGCCCCACC

Table 3.7 Sequences of real-time PCR primers and probes used in this study.


Reaction Efficience	ey .
GAPDH	105%
Cholesterol scc	105%



Reaction Effici	ency
GAPDH	82%
Wbscr 1	101%



GAPDH and Non coding transcript

Reaction Efficien	су
GAPDH	104%
NC Transcript	102%



**GAPDH** and Aromatase

Reaction Efficie	incy
GAPDH	101%
Aromatase	101%



#### Gene of interest + GAPDH



Reaction Efficiency GAPDH 91%

3 beta HSD 1 118%



Reaction Effici	iency
GAPDH	95%
SIAR	107%

Quantity

GAPDH and LH Receptor

Reaction Efficien	ncy
GAPDH	94%
LH Receptor	90%



Figure 3.17 cont'd. Standard curves and reaction efficiencies for real time PCR reactions

	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Sample 4	Sample 5	Sample 6	Mean	SEM
FSH receptor	18.9	19	19.4	35.7	14.4	40	24.6	10.5
LH receptor	64.3	98.6	196.5	416.4	271.7	332.6	230	136.3
Wbscr 1	312.1	185	140.1	387	153	119.5	216.1	108.1
StAR	17.3	б	127.2	10.2	61.6	25.7	41.3	46.5
Cholesterol P450 sec	159.8	104.4	158.8	101.9	261.5	104	148.4	61.8
Aromatase	7.9	19.1	30.5	21.7	13.4	27.2	20	8.4
3b-HSD 1	86.1	51.2	79.5	42.5	78	89.2	70.6	19.4
Non-coding	102.6	530.3	271.7	519.4	356	<b>697</b> .4	412.9	212.4

Table 3.8 Real time PCR results for genes of interest relative to GAPDH expressionPMSG treated granulosa cell samples

PMSG and hCG treated granulosa cell samples

	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Sample 4	Sample 5	Sample 6	Mean	SEM
FSH receptor	8.5	7.6	16.9	7.2	10.1	15.7	11	4.2
LH receptor	277.8	355.8	189.7	306	917	38.7	347.5	300.4
Wbscr 1	90.2	111.9	180.5	498.3	729.5	118.8	288.2	264.4
StAR	219.9	184.2	192.1	308.9	386.9	32.8	220.8	120.7
Cholesterol P450 scc	611.3	1681.8	979.4	1144.7	491.4	84.5	832.2	559.5
Aromatase	2.2	2.1	1.1	1.4	1.5	3.7	2	0.9
3b-HSD l	21.2	11.2	25.7	22	25.9	49.8	17.3	12.8
Non-coding transcript	52.9	315.3	25.2	157.7	49,4	124.1	120.8	107.7



Figure 3.18 Comparison of SAGE and QRT-PCR expression levels

### **Chapter 4**

Investigation of the non coding transcript associated with the SAGE tag CATGCAATAC

### Chapter 4: Investigation of non coding transcript associated with the SAGE tag CAGTCAATAC

#### 4.1 Rationale for study

This particular tag warranted further investigation not only because it was the 6<sup>th</sup> highest transcribed sequence in PMSG treated granulosa cells and significantly differentially expressed during luteinisation but also because the 3'race data matched this tag to a unigene cluster (Mm.290944) showing 95% homology with a highly conserved noncoding human mRNA sequence. In addition this tag is not highly expressed in other mouse SAGE libraries, suggesting a selective expression within the granulosa cell.

Initially this investigation required the full length sequencing of the cDNA transcripts, followed by identification of the genomic location using bioinfomatical methods (BLASTn). The analysis of temporal and tissue specific expression was carried out using real time PCR and finally cellular localisation was achieved by in situ hybridisation.

#### 4.2 Full length sequencing of non coding transcript

The 5' RACE procedure (figure 4.1) allows the 5' extension of cDNA fragments using a single gene specific primer from the 3' end of a cDNA sequence. This procedure was performed using the SMART RACE cDNA Amplification Kit (BD Biosciences, UK).

The 5' primer utilises a oligonucleotide containing multiple G residues on the 5' end which anneal to multiple C residues left by the reverse transcritpase enzyme on the first strand cDNA and serves as an extended template for extension by the reverse transcritpase enzyme. This incorporates an extended oligonucleotide sequence at the 5' end which can subsequently be used for PCR amplification in conjunction with a 3' gene specific primer. The only requirement for performing this procedure is that enough 3' sequence information is available to enable the design of at least one but preferably two nested gene specific primers. The SMART RACE reaction kit (Clontech, UK) allows for further amplification by providing a nested SMART oligo primer.

The 5' RACE was carried out using RNA collected from the granulosa cells of 9 female mice 48 hours after PMSG treatment as previously described for SAGE.



Figure 4.1 Schematic illustration of 5' RACE. Synthetic oligonucleotide (SMART) hybridises to the 5' end of reversed transcribed cDNA by means of a short poly(C) tail and is extended in the 3' direction.

Isolated RNA solution  $(3\mu)$ ,  $1\mu$  5' CDS primer  $(12\mu M)$ ,  $1\mu$  of the BD SMART II oligo  $(12\mu M)$  (sequences listed in table 4.1) were mixed by pipetting and collected by pulse spinning, heated to 70°C for 2 minutes to remove secondary structure and then cooled on ice for 2 minutes to allow annealing. Added to this

mixture were 2µl 5x first strand buffer (250mM Tris IICl, 375mM KCl, 30mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>), 1µl DTT (20mM), 1µl dNTP mix (10mM) and 1µl BD Powerscript RTase to give a total reaction volume of 10µl. The reaction was gently mixed, pulsed and incubated at 42°C for 90 minutes. 20µl tricine/EDTA buffer (10mM tricine, 1mM EDTA) was then added and the reaction heated to 72°C for 7 minutes. This provided the PCR template for subsequent amplification using gene specific primers.

PCR amplification of gene specific sequence was carried out using  $0.5\mu$ l of 20mM gene specific primer (table 4.1) in a 50 $\mu$ l reaction mix containing 34.5 $\mu$ l rtH<sub>2</sub>O, 5 $\mu$ l BD Advantage 2 PCR Buffer, 1 $\mu$ l dNTP mix (10mM), 5 $\mu$ l Universal Primer Mix (long primer 0.4 $\mu$ M, short 2 $\mu$ M), 1 $\mu$ l BD Advantage 2 Polymerase Mix (All BD Biosciences, UK) and 2.5 $\mu$ l cDNA template from the 5' RACE amplification. Negative controls were set up without one of the two primers.

1. 1. Mar.

Cycling parameters were 94°C for 30 seconds followed by 72°C for 3 minutes repeated for 5 cycles, then another 5 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 70°C for 30 seconds, followed by 72°C for 3 minutes, and finally 25 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 68°C for 30 seconds, followed by 72°C for 3 minutes.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')
BD SMART II Oligonucleotide	AAGCAGTGGTATCAACGCAGAGTACGCGGG
5' RACE CDS Primer	$(T)_{25}$ VN (N=A,C,G,T; V=A,G,C)
Universal Primer	CTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGCAAGCAGTGGTATCAACGCAGAGT
Mix	CTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGC
Nested UPM	CTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGC
Gene Specific Primer for CAGTCAATAC	TAACATAAGGCCAAAGAAGCTATCGGGCATTGCTGAATACTGC
Nested GSP for CAGTCAATAC	ATCGGGCATTGCTGAATACTGC

Table 4.1 Primer sequences for 5	) KAC	Е
----------------------------------	-------	---

Products were visualised on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide using u.v. light. In this particular case the 5' RACE reaction gave a smear between the 300bp and 700bp markers.

The PCR product was diluted in Tricine-EDTA buffer (5µl in 245µl Tricine-EDTA) and reamplified using the Nested Universal Primer Mix (1µl, 10µM) (BD Biosciences, UK) and the nested gene specific primer (1µl, 10mM) (table 4.1). The reaction mixture was composed of 36µl rtH<sub>2</sub>O, 5µl BD Advantage 2 PCR Buffer, 1µl dNTP mix (10mM), 1µl BD Advantage 2 Polymerase Mix (All BD Biosciences, UK) and 5µl cDNA template. Cycling parameters of 94°C for 30 seconds, 68°C for 30 seconds, followed by 72°C for 3 minutes for 20 cycles were employed. The product was visualised on 12% polyacrylamide gel to reveal a smear of multiple products ranging from 200bp to 600bp in length (figure 4.2). The PCR product was TOPO cloned, electroporated into DH10B E.coli cells (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) and vector insert PCR amplified and sequenced as previously described using M13R and M13F primers for amplification and M13R for sequencing.



Figure 4.2 12% PAGE gel showing nested 5'RACE reaction products alongside 100bp ladder

#### 5' RACE Results

The sequenced transcripts were compared and aligned using NCBI BLAST (web address). All 81 sequenced transcripts had a constant sequence with variable 5' lengths. The longest sequence is shown in figure 4.3 with the Nla III site and the adjacent SAGE tag highlighted in red. The sequence length of the transcript varied from 70bp to 682bp, with a mean of 264bp (the distribution is shown in figure 4.5). This sequence contains no open reading frame suggesting it may function as an untranslated mRNA.

Its genomic sequence is located on chromosome 13 (bases 15480202-15480884) approximately 3500 bp downstream of the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit (figure 4.3), a component of both the inhibin and activin peptide hormones. Comparison of the rat, mouse and human genomic sequence is shown in figure 4.6

Figure 4.3 682 bp sequence for transcript associated with the SAGEtag CAGTCAATAC. The SAGE tag is highlighted in red and the hairpin fold in black.



Figure 4.4 Genomic location of noncoding transcribed fragment (NC) in relation to inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit





Figure 4.5 Variation in size of noncoding transcripts

	1				50
human	CATCCCAAAC	AGGTCTTTTT	ATTTAACATA	AGGCCAAAGA	AGCTATCAGG
mouse	CATCCCAAAC	AGGTCTTTTT	ATTTAACATA	AGGCCAAAGA	AGCTATCGGG
rat	CATCCCAAAC	AGGTCTTTTT	ATTTAACATA	AGGCCAAAGA	AGCTATCGGG
	51				100
human	CGTTGCTGAA	AC	TAACTGTACA	AAATATTGAC	TGCATGCCTC
mouse	CATTGCTGAA	TACTGCCTAC	TAACTGTACA	AAGTATTGAC	TGCATGCCTC
rat	CATTGCTGAA	TACTGTCTAC	TAACTGTACA	AAATATTGAC	TGCATGCCTC
				Mouse S	AGEtag
	101			1110000 01	150
human	GCAAACACCA	AAATATCCGC	TGGAATGCCA	TAGAAATAAA	TAACTTCTGC
mouse	GCAAACATCA	GAATATCCGC	TGGAATGGAA	TAGAAATAAA	TAACTTCTGC
rat	GCAAACACCG	GAGTATCTGC	TGGAATGGAA	TAGAAATAAA	TAACTTCTGC
	151				200
human	TATAAACACA	TGAAAACATA	TCAAACTGTT	ATCTCTTTAA	ACATATTGTA
mouse	TATAAACACA	TGAAAACATA	TCCAACCGTT	ATCTCTTTAA	ACATATCGTA
rat	TATAAACACA	TGAAAACATA	TCCAACCATT	ATCTCTTTAA	ACATATCGTA
	201		Carlos and a second		250
human	AAAAAAAAA	TTACCAGTAC	TTCTACACAA	TAAATATTAA	GAAACCATTG
mouse	AATAAAAAA.	TTACCAGCAC	TTCTACAAAA	TAAATATTAA	GAAACCATTG
rat	AATAAAAAA.	TTACCAGCAC	TTCTACAAAA	TAAATATTAA	GAAACCATTG
	251				300
human	ACATAGTIGA	AATGCACTCA	TATAAATTAA	CAACTITAAT	TACATTAGCC
mouse	ACATAGTTGA	AATGCACTCA	TATAAATTAA	CAACTITAAT	TACATTAGCC
rat	ACATAGTIGA	AATGCACTCA	TATAAATTAA	CAACTITAAT	TACATTAGEC
	301				350
human	DEBCAGACAT	TGGTTAAAGA	ACTGCATGTA	GTATGCARAA	CARACADAA
mouse	A GACAT	TGGTTAAAGA	ATTGCATGTA	GTATGCARAG	GAACTCA
ret	ANDCAGACAT	CGGTTAAGGA	ATTGCATGAA	GTATGCAAGG	GAACTCA
Lac	AAACAGACAI	COOTTAAOOA	ALIGUAIGAA	OTATOCAROG	GAACICA
	351				400
human	CAAAACAAAA	AACAAAGTAA	AAAACCAACA	AAATAGAAAC	AAACAAACAA
mouse	CARATARA	A	AAAAC	444	CAA
rat	CODDATABAB	ATAA AA	AAAAC	000	CAA
Lac	Unnini				
	401				450
human	ACAACATCAA	CCACAGAACA	TAAAAAGTTT	TAAAATAAAA	CAGGCTTCAG
mouse	ACAACATCAA	CCACATAACA	TAAAAAGTTT	TAGATCAAAA	CAGATTTCAG
rat	ACAACATCAA	CCACATAACA	TAAAAGGTTT	TAGAACAAAA	CAGA. TTCAG
	451				500
human	ATTATCTTGG	CTTTCATAAT	TATATTTTTC	TTTTAAAGAA	AAATATCAAC
mouse	ATTATCTTGG	CTTTCATAAT	TATATTTTTC	TTTTAAAGAA	AAATATCAAC
rat	ATTATCTTGG	CTTTCATAAT	TATATTTTTC	TTTTAAAGAA	AAATATCAAC
			Hair	pin fold sequen	ce
	501				550
human	CCATTGTCAA	TGCACTGTTT	TTCAAAGCAT	TTAAATAGAG	GGTAAAACCC
mouse	C. ATTGTCAA	TGCACTGTTT	TTCAAAGCAT	TTAAATAGAG	GGCAAACCCC
rat	C. ATTGTCAA	TGCACTGTTT	TTCAAAGCAT	TTAAATAGAG	GGTAAGACCC

Figure 4.6 Homology between noncoding transcript in mouse, rat and human DNA. Identical regions have yellow background.

	551				600
human	TTTGGAAATT	AATACAGAAG	AAATGATTCA	CTTTATGCAT	AAAAAAATAAA
mouse	ACTGAAAATT	AATACAGAAG	AAATGATTCA	CTTTATGCAT	AAAAA. TAAA
rat	ACTGAAGATT	AATACAGA.G	AAATTATTCA	CTTTATGCAT	AAAAA. TAAA
	601				650
human	TAATAATATA	GCTGAGACAT	GTGGTTTGCT	TCTGCTCTTG	AAGATGTGAA
mouse	TAATAATATA	GCTGAGACAC	GTGATTTGCT	TTTGCTCTTG	AAGATGTGAA
rat	TAATATA	GCTGAGACAT	GTGATTTGCT	TTTGCTCTTG	AAGATGTGAA
	651	Sec. 1			700
human	CAGCTTCTAA	GCATTCATTT	TCTCTGACCC	ATACAACAGC	TTCTCAGTGA
mouse	CAGCATCTAT	GCATTCATTA	TCTCTGACCC	CTCCAATAGC	TTCTCAGTGA
rat	CAGCATCTAT	GCATTCATTA	TCTCTAACCC	ATCCAATAGC	TTCTCGGTGA
	701				750
human	TACAGGGTTT	AATTTAAACA	CATACAATGT	CCACCCCCAA	ACCTTCTGCC
mouse	TACAGGGTTT	AATTTAAACA	CATACAATGT	CCATCCCCCA	ACCTCCTGCC
rat	TGTAGAGTTT	AATTTAAACA	CATACAATGT	CCATCCCCAA	ACCTCCTG

Figure 4.5 cont'd. Homology between noncoding transcript in mouse, rat and human DNA. Identical regions have yellow background.

4.3 Expression study of the non-coding transcript in multiple tissue types.

In addition to validation of the SAGE libraries, real time PCR was used to examine the expression pattern of the non-coding transcript represented by the sage tag CATGCAATAC. A range of tissue samples from male and female mice underwent RNA isolation, DNAase treatment and reverse transcription as previously described. Real time PCR was performed following the protocols listed in chapter 3 and using the primer/probe set already described (table 3.7)

Two separate samples of each tissue were collected and again each reaction run in duplicate. Standard curves were included on the same reaction plate to determine amplification efficiency, a typical example of one curve is shown in figure 4.7.

The expression of this transcript, relative to GAPDH, is present in a number of tissues, the highest expression levels being in the spleen and adult ovary. The ovaries used in this experiment were taken from normal adult cycling females and had grossly visible follicular development; the expression of this transcript in this tissue is therefore expected. The uterus, lung and small intestine also recorded a comparatively high degree of expression, with minimal levels in the heart, epididymis, brain, liver and bladder (table 4.2 and figure 4.8).





Tissue type	Duplicate	Mean		
Testes	0.31	0.21	0.26	
Epididymis	3.47	2.99	3.23	
Brain	0.62	0.41	0.52	
Lung	103.7	12.8	58.2	
Heart	0.81	0.68	0.74	
Liver	0.69	2.18	2.87	
Kidney	0.22	0.1	0.16	
Adrenal	0.06	0.21	0.14	
Bladder	0.98	0.77	0.88	
Small Intestine	13.2	11.8	12.5	
Skeletal Muscle	0.18	0.65	0.42	
Spleen	76.9	280.3	178.6	
Adult ovary	67.2	124.6	95.9	
Uterus	13.1	21.6	17.35	

Table 4.2 QRT PCR results of expression levels of noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH





# 4.4 Temporal expression of noncoding transcript within ovarian tissue

The expression pattern of this transcript can be assessed at each stage of follicle development by using neonatal and juvenile mouse ovaries. The newborn mouse ovary contains only primordial follicles. By post-natal day 20 a number of follicles have developed to antral follicle stage. Neonatal mouse ovaries therefore contain uniform follicle populations of similar sizes as determined by the number of days after birth (Sorensen et al 1976; Epigg 1991, Mannan and O'Shaughnessy 1991). The gonadotrophin-induced mouse model using PMSG and hCG at 20 days old, before the animal has entered its own oestrus cycle, simplifies the staging and collection of uniform populations of cells. In order to study the expression of this transcript during follicular development we collected whole ovaries from day 1, 3, 5, 7, 10, 15 and 20 neonatal mice to give a series of ovaries containing follicle populations which mimic primordial to antral follicle development (Mannan and O'Shaughnessy 1991). Following on from this day 20 mice injected with PMSG intraperitoneally were taken at 6, 12, 24, 36 and 48 hours post injection and whole ovaries harvested. Mice 48 hours after PMSG were then administered hCG (following the protocol used for SAGE library generation) and ovaries recovered at 2, 4, 8 and 12 hours post injection. Ovaries were recovered from 2 animals per sample at each time point, 4 duplicate sample series were collected. This produced a collection of samples which follow primordial to preovulatory follicle development. Real time PCR was performed using the previously stated protocols and primer/probe sets, all reactions were run in duplicate.

The results show (table 4.3, figure 4.9) that expression is not detectable in the post natal mouse ovary until day 15, rapidly increasing with the development of antral follicles by day 20. Following PMSG stimulation there is a gradual increase throughout antral follicle development, peaking 48 hours post injection and then a rapid decrease during the 12 hours immediately following hCG administration as the granulosa cells undergo luteinisation.

The lower level of relative expression of the non coding transcript in the sample taken 6 hours after PMSG injection compared to the day 20 neonatal mouse can perhaps be explained by a likely increase in GAPDH expression levels associated with the hormonally induced increasingly follicle mass and cell proliferation generated by the exogenous PMSG.

,	Time	4 Dupli	cate Tiss	ue Sampl	e Sets	Mean	SEM	Follicle stage
Age of mouse days after birth	dayl	0	0	0	0	0	0	Primordial
	day 3	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	day 5	0	0	0	0	0	0	Primary
	day 7	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	day 10	0	0	0	0	0	0	Secondary
	day 15	36.8	18	1.3	22.6	19.7	14.6	
	day 20	88.1	100	119.1	80.8	97	16.7	Antral
5iu PMSG given i/p to d20 mice	PMSG 6h	69.1	59	25.6	81,1	58.7	23.8	
	PMSG 12h	55.2	75	88.1	133	87.8	33.0	Mature antral
	PMSG 24h	60.6	90	52	179.2	95.4	58.2	
	PMSG 36h	64.5	97	128.1	107.3	99.2	26.5	Prc-ovulatory
	PMSG 48h	178	164	131.7	185.6	164.8	23.8	
15 iu hCG given i/p 48 hours after PMSG injection	hCG 2h	115.4	118	104.4	152.8	122.6	20.9	
	hCG 4h	69.1	82	67. <b>9</b>	106.9	81.5	18.1	
	hCG 8h	10.3	14	1.2	30.2	13.9	12.1	
	hCG 12h	11.7	12	5.6	16.3	11.4	4.4	Luteinising

Table 4.3 Real time PCR results showing expression of the noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH in staged whole ovary samples from neonatal mice and following exogenous hormone administration.



Figure 4.9 Real time PCR results showing expression of the noncoding transcript relative to GAPDH in staged whole ovary samples from neonatal mice and following exogenous hormone administration.

#### 4.5 In situ Hybridisation

Tissue complexity is an additional factor that affects the reliability of RNA quantity measurement. In situ hybridisation is a powerful technique allowing the localisation of specific nucleic acid sequences in morphologically fixed biological samples. The ability to detect the distribution of mRNA within tissues, and indeed within cellular compartments, allows evaluation of differential and spatial gene expression. In our case it is useful in validating the SAGE and real time expression data for the non-coding transcript associated with the SAGE tag CAGTCAATAC and confirming localisation of this transcript to the granulosa cell.

Our protocol utilised synthetic oligonucleotide probes (MWG Biotech) instead of the less stable riboprobes. DEPC (diethylpyrocarbonate) treated water was used in preparation of all solutions and standard procedures (baked glassware, disposable gloves) were used to avoid RNase contamination.

#### Method

#### Tissue and slide production

Normal d20 mice were administered 5IU PMSG intraperitoneally to induce superovulation and ovaries removed following euthanasia 48hrs post injection. Normal fertile cycling adult mice and normal last third trimester pregnant adult female ovaries were also freshly collected following euthanasia. Ovaries were immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 90 minutes and then transferred to 70% alcohol prior to wax embedding.

Embedded tissue was sectioned in slices  $7\mu$ m thick and mounted by flotation in a  $37^{\circ}$ C waterbath onto Superfrost Plus microscope slides (BDH Laboratories) and stored at 4°C until use. Sections from 4 normal, 6 PMSG treated and 2 pregnant mouse ovaries were mounted on each slide.

#### Probe preparation

Synthetic oligonucleotide probes corresponding to the sense and antisense sequence of the common 3' end of the cDNAs sequenced by 5' RACE were radioactively labelled with <sup>35</sup>S using terminal deoxynucleotide transferase (TdT) (Roche, UK).

#### Sense probe sequence (SAGE tag underlined)

TAACTGTACAAAGTATTGACTGCATGCCTCGCAAACATCA Antisense probe sequence

#### ATTGACATGTTT<u>CATAACTGAC</u>GTACGGAGCGTTTGTAGT

4µl oligonucleotide probe (25ng/µl), 5µl TdT Tail Buffer (1M Potassium cacodylate, 125 mM Tris-HCl, 1.25 mg/ml BSA) (Roche, UK), 1.5µl CoCl<sub>2</sub> (25mM), 1.5µl terminal transferase (400U/µL) (Roche, UK) and 2µl of radiolabelled<sup>35</sup>S ATP (25µCi/0.925MBq) (PerkinElmer, USA) were combined in a reaction volume of 24.5µl, incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes and then placed on ice. The oligonucleotide was then separated from the reaction mix using Biospin 6 columns (Bio-Rad Laroratories) according to manufacturers instructions, recovering approximately 25µl of probe in each case.

and the second of the second of

いたい 一下で 二日の 二日の

New York

0.5µl of radiolabelled probe was added to 5ml of Ecosinet A scintillation fluid (National Diagnostics, UK) and beta radioactivity measured using a 1600TR Liquid Scintillation Counter (Packard Bioscience, UK). Counts for the sense probe were 317628 and the antisense 259002, corresponding to a total count of 635256 counts per µl for the sense probe and 518004 counts per µl for the antisense probe. Probes were stored at -20°C until use (usually within 48 hours).

#### Slide Preparation

Slides were warmed to room temperature from 4°C then dewaxed by twice immersing in histoclear (National Diagnostics, UK) for 10 minutes. Hydration by immersion in decreasing concentrations of ethanol was followed by tissue digestion using hydrochloric acid and proteinase K, fixation with paraformaldehyde and then dehydration though an alcohol series as listed in table 4.4. Slides were then air dried under a dust cover for 1 hour prior to hybridisation.

Step	Solution	Time
		(minutes)
1	Histoclear	10
2	Histoclear	10
3	100% ethanol	5
4	90% ethanol	5
5	80% cthanol	5
6	70% ethanol	5
7	60% ethanol	5
8	30% ethanol	5
9	ddH <sub>2</sub> 0	2
10	ddH <sub>2</sub> 0	2
11	1/46 Hydrochloric acid	15
12	2xSCC	5
13	5µg/ml Proteinase K in 100mM Tris pH7.5, 50mM EDTA at 37°C	10
14	Phosphate buffered saline	l
15	Phosphate buffered saline	1
16	4% paraformaldehyde in PBS	20
17	Phosphate buffered saline	2
18	Acetylation using 0.1M Triethanolamine containing 1/400 acetic acid stirring continuously	y 10
19	Phosphate buffered saline	5
20	ddH <sub>2</sub> 0	2
21	30% ethanol	5
22	60% ethanol	5
23	70% edianol	5
24	80% ethanol	5
25	90% ethanol	S
26	100% ethanol	5

#### Table 4.4 Protocol for *in-situ* hybridisation slide preparation

#### Hybridisation of probe

The hybridisation buffer was prepared by combining 6ml H2O, 5ml 20xSCC, 12.5ml deionised formamide, 500µl 50x Denhardts solution (Invitrogen, UK) and 1ml salmon testes DNA (Invitrogen, UK) before adding 2.5g dextran sulphate then mixing thoroughly until dissolved. Probe was added to the hybridisation buffer at a ratio of 8µl per ml and 250µl of this solution was applied to each slide. This corresponds to just over 4 million counts per slide for both probes. Slides were covered with parafilm to prevent drying and incubated overnight at 37°C in a humidified container.

Following this the parafilm was removed and excess hybridsation buffer allowed to drain off. Slides were then rinsed in 1x SCC and mercapthethanol,  $H_2O$  and ethanol according to the protocol in table 4.5. Slides were then air dried and stored at 4°C until emulsification.

Equal number of slides were treated with the sense and antisense control probe.

#### Table 4.5 Washing protocol for hybridised slides

Step	Solution	Time	
1	1x SCC with 0.001% mercapiliethanol at room temperature	Rinsc	
2	Ix SCC with 0.001% mercapthethanol at room temperature	Rinse	
3	1x SCC with 0.001% mercapthethanol place in 55°C water bath (do not pre warm)	30 minutes	
4	1x SCC with 0.001% mercapthethanol at 55°C	30 minutes	
5	1x SCC with 0.001% mercapthethanol at 55°C	30 minutes	
6	1x SCC with 0.001% mercapthethanol at room temperature	60 minutes	
7	11 <sub>2</sub> O	Rinse	
8	70% ethanol with 300mM ammonium acetate	30 seconds	
9	100% ethanol	30 seconds	

#### Emulsification

Emulsification was carried out using Ilford K5 emulsion diluted 1:1 with 2% glycerol warmed to 42°C under dark room conditions. Slides were dipped then placed on an ice cooled tray, in the presence of silica gel, to dry for 2 hours, then boxed and stored at 4°C until development. Developing and fixation was carried out using Kodak D19 developer and Kodak Unifix on days 2, 3 ,4 and 6 after emulsification. Slides were warmed to room temperature, immersed in D19 developer for 5 minutes, rinsed in water, then immersed in Unifix solution for a further 5 minutes, rinsed once more in water then allowed to dry.

#### Staining of Slides

Staining was performed using haematoxylin and eosin by immersing slides in haematoxylin solution for 1 minute, washing in water, dipping once in acid alcohol solution followed by a 3 minute immersion in Scott's tap water substitute, rinsed again in water, 20 seconds immersion in eosin stain, rinsed again in water then dehydrated in 70%, 80%, 90%, and 100% ethanol by dipping in each 10 times consectutively. Mounting covers were applied with DPX mounting media.

#### Results

In the PMSG treated ovaries there is widespread follicle development and high levels of expression of the transcript of interest throughout the granulosa cell population (figure 4.10). No hybridisation of the antisense probe is visible (figure 4.11). Ovaries taken from pregnant mice in the last trimester of gestation containing multiple mature corpus lutei do not demonstrate expression of this transcript other than in adjacent antral follicles. There is no detectable expression in the mature corpus lutcum (figure 4.12). No hybridisation of the antisense probe is visible in any tissue (figure 4.13). In the normal adult ovary with no exogenous hormone treatment hybridisation can be seen on granulosa tissue within antral follicles (figure 4.14), again no hybridisation is visible with the antisense probe (figure 4.15).

#### Conclusion

The SAGE tag CAGTCAATAC relates to a variable length non coding transcript which shows a tissue and temporal specific expression pattern within granulosa tissue. Highest levels of expression are found within the gonadotrophin stimulated mature antral follicle prior to the LH surge. Exogenous hCG administration leads to rapid downregulation of expression.



Figure 4.10 Light field and dark field views of day 20 PMSG treated mouse ovary harvested 48 hours after PMSG administration and hybridised with sense probe



Figure 4.11 Light field and dark field views of day 20 PMSG treated mouse ovary harvested 48 hours after PMSG administration and hybridised with antisense probe.



Figure 4.12 Normal adult mouse ovary during last trimester of gestation hybridised with sense probe.



Figure 4.13 Normal adult mouse ovary during last trimester of gestation hybridised with antisense probe



Figure 4.14 Adult mouse ovary hybridised with sense probe



Figure 4.15 Adult mouse ovary hybridised with antisense probe

## **Chapter 5**

Discussion

192

#### Chapter 5: General Discussion

The application of SAGE alone and in combination with other methods has been proven to provide an accurate and representative method of gene expression analysis in a number of *in vivo* and *in vitro* systems. The objective of the work presented in this thesis has been to apply the technique of serial analysis of gene expression to identify the genes associated with the molecular changes of luteinisation. This objective has, largely, been successfully achieved. The use of SAGE is effectively an efficient method of producing an EST library from a particular tissue. Each SAGE tag represents one polyadenylated RNA molecule and contains enough information to uniquely identify that molecule without the laborious cloning and sequencing required to generate true EST libraries.

The frequently quoted limitations of SAGE are based on the required labour input in comparison to microarray and the sequencing costs to generate libraries capable of analysing low expression genes. One intrinsic flaw is the possible generation of bias within a library either by preferential amplification of specific ditags during the PCR reactions, or loss of some ditag populations through melting of the double strand while handling. Ligated ditags serve as template for PCR amplification and errors generated by the DNA polymerase early in the reaction will be continuously replicated during the subsequent steps. In order to minimise this possibility our protocol adopts the use of nested primers for PCR amplification. The issue of ditag loss during handling, and in particular gel extraction, is addressed by adopting low temperature protocols. The clectroelution lavage protocol need not be carried out at any higher than room temperature, and indeed can be performed at lower temperatures simply by adding chilled buffer should the operator consider it necessary.

I would also add one further criticism, that traditional data analysis of SAGE libraries, based on the generation of statistically differentially expressed tags (as performed here using the Chi squared test), takes no account of actual protein product levels, efficacy of gene product action, or gene product role within the cell. In the case of the SAGE libraries presented here many of the highly abundant or differentially expressed transcripts represent housekeeping or protein synthesis related genes (Table 3.1), while important members of the

193

signal transduction pathways (discussed later) are found expressed at much lower levels. This means that effective analysis of SAGE data still requires using manual curation rather than relying on the currently available bioinformatics tools if we are not to overlook frequently important transcripts expressed at lower levels.

In defence SAGE is the only technique available which has the potential to allow the simultaneous quantative analysis of the large number of genes studied here (40,248 unique transcripts) and has the ability to do so without prior knowledge of transcript sequence or expression pattern. The quantification of tag expression provides a direct measurement regarding the expression level of the corresponding transcript, this measurement is represented by absolute tag counts based on random sampling of transcripts, uniquely allowing data comparison between different experiments if adjustment is made for the total number of tags sequenced. SAGE thus has the theoretical ability to characterise the entire cellular transcriptome providing sufficient transcripts are sequenced.

#### 5.1 Validation of SAGE method

A number of previous studies have examined the mechanisms of luteinisation (Espey and Richards 2002, Rajapaksha et al 1997, Oksjoki et al 2001, Rodgers et al 1986, Hsich et al 2003 and Park et al 2004) but have been restricted to a limited number of genes and have generally studied the expression patterns within the whole ovary rather than within specific cellular compartments. Where comparable, the results from previous studies correlate well with results reported here. From previous work and from this study it is clear that there are many genes involved in the functional regulation of granulosa cell differentiation. It is also clear that some of the genes expressed may only contribute in a temporal fashion and expression may only be required for a short, but crucial time point. In this study the application of SAGE was restricted to time points before and after the induction of ovulation with hCG. While SAGE is unrivalled in its ability to detect unexpected and novel transcripts, even at low levels of expression, it is time-consuming and relatively expensive. This imposes a

Ż

practical limitation on its use but nonetheless the data produced has yielded a comprehensive list of genes undergoing regulation during luteinisation. This data will, serve as a baseline measurement for further studies into granulosa cell differentiation. For example, and as demonstrated in this thesis, a more complete analysis of transcripts likely to be of interest can easily be performed by studying their expression throughout the entire time course of follicle development and luteinisation using real time PCR.

This study has characterised the expression of genes novel to luteinisation, but also confirmed the expression pattern of many transcripts already known to be associated with this process. This in itself helps to validate the SAGE process. Table 5.1 lists a number of genes classically associated with either the granulosa or luteal phenotype whose changes in expression seen in the SAGE data match with previous work. Other studies (Espey and Richards 2002, Rajapaksha et al 1997, Oksjoki et al 2001, Rodgers et al 1986, Hsieh et al 2003 and Park et al 2004) examining the molecular changes during luteinisation have revealed a number of genes which are now known to be differentially expressed during this process. For example, several membrane binding and communication related components such as clusterin, annexin A2, and the gap junction membrane channel proteins (connexins) are known to show fluctuations in expression levels during granulosa cell development and luteinisation. The overwhelming level of Cx 43 expression in the PMSG SAGE library supports current thinking that this is the primary means of intercellular communication between granulosa cells and reinforces the hypothesis of a functional granulosa cell syncitium throughout folliculogenesis (Ackert et al 2001). Expression of Cx 43 decreases markedly after induction of luteinisaton, as shown previously (Itahana et al 1996), although it may continue to be expressed in the developing corpus luteum (Khan-Dawood et al 1998). In addition the steroidogenic enzymes such as aromatase, StAR, and cholesterol side chain cleavage (Espey and Richards 2002, Rajapaksha et al 1997, Rodgers et al 1986, Pescador et al 1996), genes involved in extracellular remodelling including ADAMTS-1, cathepsin L (Espey and Richards 2002, Oksjoki et al 2001), and a variety of signalling molecules including epiregulin and secreted frizzled related protein 4 (Hsieh et al 2003,

Park et al 2004) all display good correlation between SAGE and previously published data, confirming the reliability and accuracy of the SAGE method. In approaching this I intend to break down this discussion into four main themes, focusing mainly on novel transcripts and pathways. First, approaching those genes involved in signalling and communication, secondly those responsible for granulosa cell survival, growth and regulation of proliferation, thirdly genes implicated in controlling cellular differentiation and finally I will consider some novel transcripts which may be involved in the remodelling of cellular and follicular structure.

Other areas of granulosa cell function will be mentioned only briefly, if at all, purely because the SAGE data largely supports current thinking without introducing a substantial quantity of new information. For example the steroidogenic functions of the granulosa cell are well documented and expression data presented here matches well to that previously presented elsewhere and consequently will not feature in this discussion.

Gene	Change in gene expression level during luteinisation according to SAGE data	References
Steroidogenesis		
Aromatase	Decrease	Ronen-Fuhrmann et al 1995, Richards
Cholesterol side chain	Ingraoge	1994, O'Shaughnessy et al 1990, Snadhoff
cleavage	morease	and Maclean 1996, Ronen-Fuhrmann et al
StAR	Increase	1998, Rodgers et al 1986.
Scavenger receptor class B	Increase	Li et al 1998
member 1		
$11\beta$ HSD2	Decrease	Tetsuka et al 1997
Ferredoxin	Increase	Rodgers et al 1986
17β HSD1	Decrease	Rodgers et al 1986
Low Density Lipoprotein	Increase	Golos et al 1986, Golos and Strauss 1987
Receptor	T	D
17p HSD4	Increase	Brown 2004
Signaling		
LH recentor	Increase	Zeleznik et al 1974
		Elvin et al 1999, Havashi et al 1999, Vitt
GDF 9	Decrease	and Useuh 2002
Epiregulin	Increase	Park et al 2004
Comexin 43	Decrease	Acket et al 2001, Itahana et al 1996
Progesterone receptor	Increase	Natraj and Richards 1993
Early growth response 1	Increase	Espev et al 2000
Serum alucocorticoid	¥	1 9
regulated kinase	Increase	Alliston 2000, Gonzalez-Robayna 1999
Remodelling	Ŧ	
ADAMTS 1	Increase	Robker et al 2000, Espey et al 2000
ADAM184	Increase	Abbaszade et al 1999
Uathepsin L	Increase	Kobker et al 2000
VEGF Callegen trans DI	Increase	Schams et al 2001
Lonagen type IV	Increase	Yamada et al 1999
Integrins Symdoson 1	Increase	Tahimme et al 1999
Syndecan I	mcrease	Isinguro et al 1999
Others		
Frizzled 1	Increase	Richards et al 2002
Secreted frizzled related	T	
protein 4	Increase	HSIGN CL AL 2003
CAAT enhancer binding	Increase	Sirais and Richards 1993
protein beta (C/EBPβ)	mercase	Shots and Richards 1995
Cell cycle inhibitor P21	Increase	Robker and Richards 1998

Table 5.1 Comparison of SAGE transcripts with known expression profiles

#### 5.2 Cell signalling- novel components expressed during luteinisation

The established endocrine role of the granulosa cell has already been described in chapter 1. The essential role of steroid and peptide hormones in regulating pituitary function is supported by the expression changes of the inhibin  $\beta B$  and  $\alpha$ subunits, follistatin, and the decreased oestrogen and increased progesterone production caused by change in the aromatase and cholesterol side chain cleavage enzymes. The gonadotrophin receptors are expressed in both libraries, with LH showing a two-fold upregulation in response to hCG administration.

Numerous paracrine factors are expressed at relatively lower levels than the endocrine components, for example, kit ligand, responsible for oocyte growth and maturation, antrum formation and thecal proliferation (Driancourt et al 2000), is expressed in the PMSG-treated library and downregulated by hCG. Equally, components of the IGF (IGFBP 4), TGF (TGFBP 3, TGF $\beta$ R I and III), BMP (BMP 3, BMP 15, BMPR1A) and FGF (FGF 15, FGFR) systems, GDF 9, CTGF, EGFR, AmhR type II and early response factors such as epiregulin have established functions within the follicle, as outlined in chapter 1, and show expression within one or both libraries.

Novel transcripts, never previously associated with granulosa cell function, include several components of G protein coupled receptor signalling. Specifically G protein coupled receptor family C group 5, member C (GPRC5c), G protein coupled receptor 85 (GPR 85) and G protein coupled receptor 27 (GPR 27) are down regulated by hCG with G protein coupled receptor 48 (GPR 48), regulator of G protein signalling 2 and G protein coupled receptor associated sorting protein 2 showing significant upregulation by hCG. The functions of the G protein receptors listed above are unknown. GPRC5C is expressed in neurological tissue and postulated to mediate the cellular effects of retinoic acid. (Robbins et al 2000). GPR 85 is highly conserved across mammalian species, expressed in brain, spleen and placenta in man (Hellebrand et al 2001) but has only been identified in the brain of the mouse. GPR 48 is expressed in the kidney, placenta, brain and hcart, and has been detected as early as 7d post coitus in mouse (Loh et al 2001). GPR 27 is highly conserved

between mammalian species and abundantly expressed in neural tissue (Matsumoto et al 2000).

Apart from a common expression pattern in neural tissue the paucity of information about these particular transcripts limits our ability to hypothesise a function in the granulosa cell. However the expression patterns would suggest a capacity for functional significance. GPR 48, for example, undergoes 6-fold upregulation in response to hCG and GPR 85 a 10 fold downregulation.

GPR5C5 undergoes an 11 fold reduction in expression level following hCG administration. In vitro transfection experiments have shown than GPRC5C is expressed at the cell surface and is inducible by retinoic acid (Robbins et al 2000). The ovary is known to express retinoic acid receptors (Zhuang et al 1994) and retinoic acid is known to be required for normal reproductive function, affecting diverse functions of ovarian tissue such as follicular development (Scgweigert and Zucker 1988), steroidogenesis (Graves-Hogaland et al 1988) and oocyte maturation (Ikeda et al, 2005) as well as exerting influence on embryo development (Liu et al 1993) and the intrauterine environment (MacKenzie et al 1997). The molecular mechanisms involved in retinoic acidmediated gene expression in the granulosa cell have not however been fully elucidated. The SAGE libraries have revealed a number of genes associated with rctinoic acid metabolism not previously identified in the granulosa cell. In addition to GPR5C5, transglutaminase 2, C polypeptide and MAPK8 interacting protein 3, essential for early embryonic neurogenesis (Xu et al 2003) are both genes inducible by retinoic acid and upregulated by luteinisation while nuclear receptor coactivator 4, an enhancer of retinoic acid mediated transcription (Heinlein and Chang 2003), eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma 2, a mediator of retinoic acid induced differentiation (Yamanaka et al 2000) and chromobox homolog 2, thought to have a role in controlling access to retinoic acid response elements of several genes (Core et al 1997), are also all significantly upregulated.

GPR 27 and GPR 85 are members of the super-conserved receptor expressed in brain (SREB) family, SREB1 and SREB2 respectively (Matsumoto et al 2005). SREB2 is the most conserved receptor throughout vertebrate evolution

199

(Matsumoto et al 2000) indicating an essential function within the vertebrate group. SREB members have been identified in both the neural systems and genitalia and SREB2 is known to be temporally and spatially expressed during embryonic development and in adult brain (Hellebrand et al 2001). This suggests a specific functional role in neural development, which has been tentatively suggested to be in the maintainence of neural plasticity (Matsumoto et al 2005). Although no progress has been made towards identifying the ligands for GPR27 and GPR 85 their expression during luteinisation warrants further investigation. In addition there are cytokine related transcripts, B-cell stimulating factor 3 and stromal cell derived factor receptor 1, upregulated by hCG supporting the notion liking ovulation to an inflammatory reaction, and regulatory proteins such as suppressor of cytokine signalling 2 and 5, and protein regulator of cytokinesis 1.

#### 5.3 Intracellular metabolic adaptations to follicular luteinisation

Follicular cell multiplication and differentiation are cellular events requiring energy. The granulosa cells of preantral follicles are known to utilise both the glycolytic pathway and Krebs cycle when under the influence of gonadotrophins (Roy and Terada 1999). When oxygen is limited cells switch from oxidative phosphorylation to anaerobic glycolysis. The hypoxic response at the cellular level is manifest by the increased expression of genes coding for glycolytic enzymes. The oocyte is known to require the expression of glycolytic enzymes in adjacent cumulus cells to supply pyruvate, obligatory for resumption of meiosis and oocyte maturation (Downs and Hudson 2000, Rose-Hellekant et al 1998). Energy production in the antral follicle, prior to the LH surge, is regulated by the oocyte in a developmentally coordinated manner (Sugiura et al 2005). Following the LH surge, during the period of oocyte maturation, cumulus cells are unresponsive to oocyte secreted factors (Sutton et al 2003, Sugiura et al 2005). FSH and LH have been reported to activate glycolysis in cumulus cells while EGF, IGF-I and TGF $\beta$  have been hypothesised to do so on the basis of activity in other tissues (Roy and Terada 1999). This work is, however, based on preantral follicles using in vitro culture systems and the influence of
gonadotrophins on the glycolytic pathway varies with the maturation status of the follicle. The mechanisms responsible for the maintainence of the glycolytic state, post oocyte maturation, have not yet been identified.

Figure 5.1 Glycolytic pathway in granulosa cells during luteinisation



The red arrows indicate enzymes upregulated by luteinisation. PFKFB3 is a potent activator of glycolysis, controlling expression of the rate limiting enzyme (phosphofructokinase) in this pathway. Hexokinase 2 upregulation couples glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation

In both SAGE libraries high levels of the transcripts for hexokinase 1, GAPDH, aldolase, tirosephosphate isomerase, enolase, phosphoglycerate kinase, and lactate dehygrogenase (isoforms 1 and 2) can be found (table 5.2 figure 5.1). The rate-limiting enzyme in the glycolytic pathway is fructose-2,6-biphosphate (Fru-2,6-P2), a potent activator of glycolysis which is capable of exerting control over the rate of glucose utilisation (Kawaguchi et al 2001, Hue and Rosseau 1993, Okar and Lange 1999, Pilkis et al 1995). The enzyme 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase (PFKFB) controls the synthesis and

degradation of Fru-2,6-P2. Among the PFKFB mammalian isoforms PFKFB3 has the highest activity and is found highly expressed in transformed cells (Chesney et al 1999, Sakakibara et al 1997) implicating it as having some responsibility for the high glycolytic rate found in neoplastic cells. This particular isoform undergoes significant up-regulation following hCG administration, indeed while expression has not been detected by the PMSG SAGE library, 10 transcripts have been sequenced in the hCG library.

and the second second in the second

「「「「」」「「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」

The induction of PFKFB3 has been shown to occur in response to a hypoxic cellular state, compatible with an adaptive cellular response to enhance glycolysis during periods of oxygen deficiency (Minchenko et al 2002), but also in response to certain mitogens, growth factors and cytokines (Hue and Rousseau et al 1993). PFKFB3 has been found to be highly induced by hypoxia in various cell lines and *in vivo* (Minchenko et al 2003) and regulation of the PFKFB family is controlled by hypoxia inducible factor 1 (H1F-1) (Minchenko et al 2003).

Cone	Unicene	Tag count		
Oelle	Oligene	PMSG	hCG	
Hexokinase 1	196605	61	33	
Hexokinase 2	255848	1	12	
Phosphofructokinase	1166	149	70	
Fructose-2,6-biphosphatase (PFKFB)	19669	0	10	
Aldolase	16763	20	25	
Phosphoglycerate kinase	188	25	23	
Enolase	70666	32	18	
Pyruvate kinase	216135	1	5	
Lactate dehydrogenase 1 A chain	29324	38	31	
Lactate dehydrogenase 2 B chain	9745	18	15	
Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase	5289	23	24	
Triosephosphate isomerase	4222	24	12	

Table 5.2. SAGE expression of glycolytic enzymes

The establishment of a rarefied oxygen gradient across the follicle from the peripheral to central granulosa cells during follicular expansion (Tsafriri et al 1976) generates the hypoxic requirement for HIF-1 induction. HIF-1 consists of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits, the  $\beta$  subunit is constitutively expressed, but  $\alpha$  subunit stabilisation is hypoxia dependent (Semenza GL 1999). HIF-1 $\alpha$  is expressed in

both SAGE libaries and upregulated by hCG administration (2.4 fold). Although hypoxia plays a major role in the activation and stabilisation of HIF-1 the amplitude of this response can be modulated by a number of growth factors including EGF, IGF-1, FSH, androgens, TNF $\alpha$ , and TGF $\beta$  acting through the Ras/Raf/MAPK and PI3/PKB signalling cascades (Bardos and Ashcroft 2005). These observations suggest that microenvironmental hypoxia and paracrinc/endocrine signals both contribute to the high rates of granulosa cell glycolysis.

Another aspect of glycolysis is the multifunctional roles served by some of the glycolytic enzymes. Hexokinase irreversibly catalyses the phosphorylation of glucose, the first step of glycolysis. Hexokinase 1 (HK1) is highly expressed in both libraries, but hexokinase 2 (HK2) is only represented by a single tag in the PMSG library, and is significantly upregulated (12 transcripts) in the hCG library. Mammalian HK2 localises to the mitochondria and uses mitochondrial ATP to phosphorylate glucose, coupling the glycolytic pathway with oxidative phosphorylation (Golshani-Hebroni and Bessman 1997). HK2 has been implicated in having involvement in the transcriptional regulation coordinating glycolysis and in the enhanced glycolysis found in malignant and immortalised cells under aerobic conditions (Arora et al 1990). The upregulation of HK2 may therefore represent a hypoxia independent method of maintaining the glycolytic pathway in the granulosa cell following the LH surge and a means of linking the glycolytic pathway to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. In addition mitochondrial HK activity has been shown to be required for growth factor induced cell survival (Kim and Dang 2005), suggesting a role for HK2 in the apoptotic pathway.

The induction of HIF-1 in response to FSH occurs via the PI 3-kinase pathway and is known to be required for the up regulation of LHR and inhibin  $\alpha$  (Alam et al 2004). The importance of HIF-1 for follicular and luteal development is further demonstrated by the subfertile phenotypes of HIF-1 $\beta$  knockouts (Le Provost et al 2002) and by the major role the HIF family are known to play in the regulation of genes required for angiogenesis (Wang et al 1995, Zhang et al 2003) and, in hypoxic conditions, in the suppression of proliferation and

promotion of anti-apoptotic mechanisms (Leek et al 2005). The activation of HIF-1 is a critical response in neoplastic cells undergoing hypoxic and nutritional stress allowing adaptation to a suboptimal microenviroment. In the granulosa cell these adaptations are likely to include PFKFB3 to enhance cell survival by allowing metabolic adaptation to the hypoxic conditions created by the rapid follicular expansion and the avascular nature of the granulosa compartment. (Wenger and Gassmann 1999, Semenza 2000).

and a second meridian of the

いたい いまうたい アガル たいかい 一般 一般 いたいき 一般 いちゅう

Ş

1.111

Another transcription factor known to be upregulated by hypoxic conditions and significantly up regulated in the hCG SAGE library is early growth response 1 (Egr-1). This is a zinc finger transcription factor involved in a number of early responses to numerous stimuli (Cummins and Taylor 2005). Hypoxia induced Egr-1 activity is mediated through a PKC pathway and has been shown to be an important event in contributing to vascular remodelling (Semenza GL 2000, Yan et al 1999). The induction of Egr-1 by gonadotrophins is well documented (Espey et al 2000) and its essential role in female fertility has been extensively discussed elsewhere (Espey et al 2000, Russell et al 2003). The activation of such transcription factors is a critical response in granulosa cells ensuring the enhanced transcription of a number of genes that increase oxygen and nutrient supply.

Serum/glucocorticoid related kinase (sgk) is a serine/threonine kinase and another key component of the cellular stress response. It is known to exhibit a biphasic expression pattern under gonadotrophin stimulation correlating with granulosa cell proliferation and differentiation (Alliston et al 1997) with highest levels seen in differentiated non-proliferative mural granulosa cells. This confirms the expression pattern in the SAGE libraries, which show a 6.8 fold induction of sgk following luteinisation. Sgk plays a critical role in maintaining cell survival, is up regulated by multiple different stress stimuli (Leong et al 2003), and mediates survival signals via the phosphorylation and negative regulation of the pro-apoptotic forkhead transcription factor FKHRL1 (Brunet et al 2001). In addition, stimulation of sgk by glucocorticoids has been shown to cause cell cycle arrest, the opposite of the effect of serum induction which leads to cellular proliferation. These opposing effects indicate a dichotomy of function for sgk depending on its localisation within the cell with cytoplasmic compartmentalisation in cells undergoing glucocorticoid stimulated growth arrest and nuclear localisation necessary for cell proliferation. Forced retention of sgk within the cytoplasmic compartment is sufficient to suppress cell growth (Buse et al 1999). The granulosa cell is known to modulate intracellular glucocorticoid levels, generating increased glucocorticoid levels around ovulation. The downregulation of  $11\beta$ HSD2, which catalyzes the conversion of cortisol to the inactive metabolite cortisone will increase exposure to cortisone and under this influence the up-regulation of sgk may represent a mechanism contributing to the cessation of granulosa cell proliferation in the preovulatory follicle.

Glutathione transferases (GSTs) are induced by and participate in cellular defences against the oxidative damage during periods of cell stress (Hayes et al 2005). Murine GST alpha 4 is induced in vivo by tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFalpha), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Desmots et al 2002), and is significantly downregulated by luteinisation. These factors play crucial roles in cell survival and proliferation during cellular regeneration and GST04 may be considered as part of the cell survival mechanism during follicle growth. GST04 serves to regulate 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) intracellular levels (reviewed in Awasthi et al 2004), a toxic end product of lipid perioxidation, which affects signal transduction pathways controlling apoptosis (Kruman et al 1997), cell differentiation (Barrera et al 1991), and can modulate cell proliferation (Zarkovic et al 1993). In vitro GST04 transfection results in lower levels of HNE and increases proliferation while inhibiting differentiation and apoptosis (Awasthi et al 2004). These observations suggest a previously unrecognised mechanism in the granulosa cell for maintaining the undifferentiated phenotype during follicular expansion, with the observed 9-fold down-regulation of GSTa4 by hCG contributing to the cessation of cell proliferation and encouraging development of the differentiated phenotype via increased intracellular levels of HNE.

1000

0000

1. 3. K.V.

In summary we are witnessing a dynamic balance of hormonally and environmentally regulated peptide factors and metabolic changes, co-ordinately regulating an intricate network of intracellular processes that stringently control granulosa cell metabolism and survival during luteinisation.

8

A reactive secondary and a second reaction

御道に、 このかい いいの

#### 5.4 Cell survival: Apoptotic/survival signalling pathways

The balance between cell growth and proliferation, cell senescence, and cell death within the follicle is delicately controlled by many different pro-survival or pro-apoptotic factors. The LH surge acts to promote cell survival but local paracrine mediators are also essential for continued follicle health (discussed in section 1.8.3.6).

Transcriptional regulators of the cell cycle include the E2F transcription factor family, whose role in transcriptional control of cell proliferation has been well documented (Zhu et al 2005, Nevins 1998). Previous work has shown that overexpression of various E2F proteins will induce cell cycle progression, while dominant negative mutants inhibit cell growth (Johnson et al 1993, Dobrowolski et al 1994). E2F factor 5 (E2F-5) shows significant upregulation in the hCG library. Initially this expression appears anomalous in a cell population exiting from mitotic activity. E2F has been considered primarily as a family that promotes cell proliferation. However high E2F levels have been recorded in post mitotic cells which have exited the cell cycle and are undergoing differentiation in Drosphilia (Brook et al 1996) suggesting E2F has functions separable from its role in cell proliferation. Further studies suggest that the E2F family might actually serve to limit proliferation by repressing the transcription of growth promoting genes (He et al 2000, Zhang et al 1999) and Gaubatz et al 2000 showed that E2F5 is specifically required for G1 arrest of cycling cells. It has been suggested on the basis of expression patterns in murine epithelium that E2F2 and E2F4 participate in maintaining an undifferentiated proliferative phenotype while E2F5 is important in maintaining a terminally differentiated state (Dagnino et al 1997). It is now understood that activator and repressor E2Fs function in an opposing manner and that E2F5 functions by recruiting the pocket protein p130 to E2F regulated promoters thereby suppressing transcriptional activity and allowing cell cycle exit (Dimova and Dyson 2005). More intriguing yet is the finding that mice deficient for E2F4/5 exhibit defective differentiation of numerous cell lineages in a manner which appears context specific and differs between individual cell types (Dimova and Dyson 2005).

Gana	Unicene	Tag count		
Gene	Ongene	PMSG	hCG	
E2F transcription factor 5	153415	0	9	
Transcription factor Dp2	17977	2	13	
Retinoblastoma binding protein 7	<b>27</b> 01 <b>86</b>	7	24	
Cyclin dependant kinase 4	6839	0	6	
Cyclin dependant kinase 8	219645	2	10	
Cyclin 1	250419	9	11	
Cyclin D binding myb-like transcription factor 1	22480	0	13	
Cyclin dependant kinase inhibitor 1A (P21)	195663	0	9	
B Cell translocation gene 2	239605	0	12	

Table 5.3 SAGE	expression	of components	of the	E2F	system	for	cell
cycle regulation							

Also significantly upregulated is transcription factor DP2, a dimerisation partner of E2F (Zhang and Chellappan 1995). Numerous alternatively spliced forms of DP2 exist with either cytoplasmic or nuclear location, suggesting that DP binding may control E2F localisation. (Dyson 1998). Binding of DP2 to E2F can directly enhance heterodimer DNA affinity and transcriptional activity (Hitchens and Robbins 2003), however binding of DP/E2F complexes to members of the retinoblastoma (Rb) family of proteins can yield a complex which actively suppresses transcriptional activity (Dyson 1998). The concomitant 3.4 fold upregulation of retinoblastoma binding protein 7 in the SAGE libraries is likely to be related to this E2F/DP2 system and requires further investigation. Known to be a core component of two co-repressor complexes it has been shown to inhibit cell growth in vitro and in vivo (Yang et al 2002). It thus provides a link between gonadotrophin stimulation and cell cycle control having previously been shown to increase expression in the ovaries of FSH $\beta$  null mice (Burns et al 2003). The precise mechanisms utilised to carry out this role in vivo have not yet been identified.

Figure 5.2 Proposed action of E2F5 and associated genes in regulating cell cycle exit in the granulosa cell



E2F5 dimerises with DP2 and retinoblastoma protein 7 to suppress transcription and induce cell cycle exit. Phosphorylation of Rb7 by cdk would allow release of E2F and result in cell proliferation. Inhibition of cdk activation by BTG2 may be an early response inhibiting cdk action and inducing cell cycle exit. All components shown here, except cyclin D, demonstrate significant upregulation in the SAGE libraries in response to hCG administration.

The expression levels of cyclin dependant kinase 4 (cdk4), cyclin dependant kinase 8 (cdk8), and cyclin G associated kinase (Cgak) are all up-regulated by hCG. Cdk4 is responsible for phosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein (pRb). This is a process thought to result in the release of E2F and the expression of genes allowing S phase entry and cell proliferation (Cobrinik 2005), increased expression in a quiescent non proliferative cell cannot easily be explained using the current models. We also have a significant increase in expression of cyclin-dependant kinase inhibitor 1A (P21), perhaps serving to counteract the activity of the cdk's. B cell translocation gene 2 (BTG2) negatively regulates cell growth

and promotes differentiation (Guehenneux et al 1997) and can do so through its effects on pRb activity. Cyclin D1 is a target of, and negatively influenced by, BTG2 (Guardavaccaro et al 2000). D type cyclins bind and activate the cyclin dependant kinases that phosphorylate pRb (Matsushime et al 1992). Inhibition of this phosphorylation will prevent the release of E2F and discourage progression of the cell cycle. Inhibition of cyclin D function by BTG2 may therefore be an early response inhibiting Rb phosphorylation and cell cycle progression. This gene is also significantly up regulated by hCG.

Although this is the first report implicating the E2F system in granulosa cell luteinisation E2F5 has previously been shown to influence FSH-R expression with ectopic expression increasing FSH-R promoter activity (Putowski et al 2001). This may function as a feedback mechanism with increasing FSH sensitivity via increased FSHR expression negating the effects of E2F5 to maintain a proliferating phenotype during rapid follicle growth. Further work is required to elucidate fully the roles played by different components of the E2F mechanism during follicular expansion and luteinisation, and in particular the reasons behind the apparently anomalous increase in cdk expression.

A REAL AND A

A number of other transcripts implicated in the control of cell proliferation and/or senescence are also included among those tags significantly upregulated. Growth arrest specific 1 (Gas1) (no expression in PMSG library, 14 transcripts in hCG library) is a membrane protein up-regulated during cell quiescence and whose ectopic expression exerts a growth suppressing effect (Del Sal et al 1992). It has also shown induction in response to endothelial cadherin and VEGF and to inhibit endothelial cell apoptosis (Spagnuolo et al 2004). Two members of the mortality factor 4 (MORF 4) family (MORF 4 like 1 and MORF 4 like 2) are significantly upregulated in response to lutcinisation (no expression in PMSG library, 9 and 11 transcripts respectively following luteinisation). MORF 4 has been shown to induce replicative senescence in immortalised cells. Due to its nuclear location, and leucine zipper motif allowing DNA binding it is postulated to acts as, or interact with, a transcription factor influencing genes regulating cell cycle progression (Bertram et al 1999). Salvador is a gene influencing both cell cycle control and apoptosis in Drosophilia and in human cell lines. Loss of Salvador leads to increased cyclin E levels and delayed cell cycle exit. (Tapon et al 2002). The SAGE tag corresponding to Salvador homolog 1 (Drosophila) undergoes 40 fold upregulation in the granulosa cell in response to hCG administration.

This multilevel regulation permits several layers of control that can simultaneously or individually converge on the same cellular component in response to appropriate extracellular signals to regulate cell survival.

#### 5.5 Cell Differentiation and Transcription factors

A relatively small group of essential molecular signals are repeatedly used to regulate cellular development. Wingless, Hedgehog, TGF $\beta$ , Receptor tyrosine kinasc/phosphatase (RTK/P) and Notch pathways are the central molecular pathways acting individually and cooperatively to coordinate the transcriptive cellular response (Gerhart 1999). Within the granulosa cell the Wnt, TGF $\beta$ , and RTK/P signaling pathways have been recorded but the influence of the Notch and Hedgehog pathways on luteal development is as yet unknown. Both Indian and Desert Hedgehog are expressed in the PMSG treated library (7 and 3 transcripts respectively) and both are down regulated by hCG (1 and 0 transcripts respectively). Both are highly conserved and known to influence gonadal development and function, regulating thecal cell gene expression during folliculogenesis (Wijgerde et al 2005). The downregulation following hCG suggests they do not have an active role in luteinisation.

Mastermind like 1 (Drosophila) (Manl1) undergoes considerable up-regulation under hCG influence, no tags are recorded in the PMSG library yet 33 transcripts are present following luteinisation. Maml1 acts as a regulator of Notch signalling (Wu et al 2004). Notch receptors modulate the development of a broad spectrum of tissues and it has been firmly established that developing embryos use Notch signalling to amplify and consolidate molecular differences between adjacent cells. Notch is involved in the regulation of cellular differentiation, proliferation and specification, (Iso et al 2003, Hoyne 2003, Kojika and Griffin 2001). Binding of membrane Notch receptors by ligand initiates proteolytic cleavage and release of the Intracellular Domain of Notch (ICN or Ncid) which translocates to the nucleus and activates the DNA binding transcription factor CSL by displacement of co-repressors and recruitment of co-activators (Figure 5.3). These in turn regulate expression of tissue specific transcription factors that influence lineage commitment, apoptosis and proliferation (Wu et al 2002, Artavanis-Tsakonas et al 1999, Mumm and Kopan 2000). Johnson et al (2001) has previously demonstrated the presence of components of the Notch signalling pathway during folliculogenesis but recent transcript profiling has also revealed Notch expression in primordial follicles (Serafica et al 2005) while the essential role of Notch signalling in female fertility has been proven by the infertility, abberant folliculogenesis and failure of oocyte meiosis in lunatic fringe-null female mice (Hahn et al 2005). This is however the first report of differential expression of components of the Notch pathway during luteinisation. A name of the second

Maml1 is a highly conserved critical component in the transcriptional activation induced by Notch signalling and is dynamically expressed at different developmental stages suggesting tight regulation and a role in the modulation of cell fate determination (Wu et al 2000 and 2004). The effects of Notch signalling have been shown to extend beyond differentiation, influencing both growth potential (Weng et al 2003) and apoptosis (Artavanis-Tsakonas et al 1999). Maml1 inhibition has been shown to result in growth inhibition and death of Notch1-induced human and murine cell lines, indicating that signals transduced by nuclear Notch 1 via Maml1 are required for growth and survival. In addition to the induction of Maml1, A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase domain 10 and 17 (Adam10, Adam17) are also differentially expressed, both are involved in the proteolytic degradation of the Notch receptor. Adam 10 undergoes 2.2 fold upregulation and Adam 17 significant downregulation in response to hCG. Intracellular cleavage is mediated by presenilin 1 or 2, expressed at a much lower levels. A large number of other components of Notch signalling are also expressed in one or both libraries (table 5.4).

These findings expose the luteinisation process of mammalian granulosa cells as a novel site of active Notch signalling. Given that both Notch and its ligands are transmembrane proteins and that signalling only occurs between closely apposed cells it is logical to conclude that Notch must be acting in either an autocrine manner, influencing adjacent granulosa cells, or paracrine manner, influencing thecal and/or oocyte development. The Notch signalling pathway has been repeatedly demonstrated to play a crucial developmental role in tissues where it is expressed and consequently the proposition that it is involved in modulating final follicular maturation is reasonable. One problem with an intrafollicular role is presented by the rapid follicular expansion induced by hCG, loss of cell-cell and cell-oocyte contact is an inevitable prequel to ovulation, as demonstrated by the changes in Cx43 and cell adhesion proteins. Equally the separation of the thecal and granulosa compartments by the follicular basement membrane would surely hinder thecal/granulosa interaction by this method. The role of a signalling system dependant on contact with adjacent cells to operate in rapidly disintegrating tissue structure seems incongruous. Is induction of Maml1 in granulosa cells perhaps a final effort on the part of the oocyte to maintain cell survival during ovulation? Or is Notch responsible for the differentiation within the granulosa compartment of mural and cumulus cells?

Section 1999

A STATE AND STATE AND A STA

And the second second

10.00

In order to understand the potential role of Notch signalling in the granulosa cell we have to glance further afield and consider the synergistic manner in which signalling pathways interact to exert transcription control. Notch interacts with both TGF $\beta$  and Wnt signalling to regulate the implementation of particular developmental programs (Jacobsen 2005, Klüppel and Wrana 2005). To understand the potential interactions we have to draw comparisons with functions in other tissue types. Notch1 is essential for early embryonic development of haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) but dispensable for later differentiation (Radtke et al 2004). Notch signalling is active in phenotypically defined HSCs but absent following differentiation (Duncan et al 2005). Prevention of Notch cleavage, CSL transcription factor binding and Maml1 activation all resulted in enhanced lineage differentiation. In the same system it was found that Wnt stimulation upregulated expression of Notch target genes and the ability of Wnt signalling via Wnt3a to inhibit differentiation is dependent on Notch signalling (Duncan et al 2005) demonstrating that HSCs undergo continuous self renewal in vivo with involvement of both Notch and Wnt

signalling pathways. These interactions between signalling pathways also incorporate the TGF $\beta$  superfamily. Recent work has revealed the interactions between TGF $\beta$  and Notch (Dahlqvist et al 2003, Blokzijl et al 2003, Itoh et al 2004) in the transcriptional regulation of Notch target genes and the inhibition of cellular differentiation and migration. TGF $\beta$  signalling induces the expression of Hes-1, a known Notch target gene via a CSL/Nicd pathway mediated by Smad 2 and/or Smad3 (Bolkzijl et al 2003). It is now known that Samd and Ncid proteins can interact directly and that this interaction is enhanced by TGF $\beta$  (Bolkzijl et al 2003, Klüppel and Wrana 2005). This raises the prospect of TGF $\beta$  and Notch signals combining through recruitment of Smad 3 to activate Notch target sequences. During myogenesis this integration of signals leads to inhibition of myogenic regulatory factors and thus inhibition of myogenesis (Bolkzijl et al 2003). This work is supported by the interaction of the BMP family with Notch regulating myogenic differentiation and endothelial migration (Dahlqvist et al 2003, Itoh et al 2004).

Consequently, it becomes apparent that a major biological function of Notch is the suppression of cellular differentiation and the maintainence of a self renewing cell population. It also appears to be the case that, in some tissues at least, this function is mediated by exposure to members of the TGFB superfamily. As discussed earlier (Introduction) the oocyte produces members of this signalling family (GDF9, BMP15) during follicular development and through them regulates the differentiation of granulosa cells in a paracrine manner leading to a differentiative phenotypic gradient within the follicle. It would appear possible that oocyte-produced paracrine members of the TGF<sup>β</sup> family could interact with Notch signalling pathways to maintain the undifferentiated proliferative granulosa phenotype most apparent in cumulus cells, and that terminal luteinisation is allowed to proceed via a change in the transcriptional activity of the Notch pathway following reduced exposure to TGF<sup>β</sup> ligands created by a combination of follicular matrix expansion, downregulated connexin expression by the granulosa cell and reduced ligand expression by the oocyte.

This suggestion leaves us with unresolved questions as to the mechanisms by which Notch exerts its influence during the regulation of granulosa cell differentiation. Intrafollicular localisation of ligand/receptor pairs, particularly looking for oocyte expression of Notch ligands, and functional disruption of this pathway will be required to provide further insights into its role.

Table 5.4 Genes present in SAGE libraries known to be involved in or regulated by Notch signalling.

Game	Unicono	Tag count		
Gene	Omgene	PMSG	hCG	
Adam 10	3037	5	11	
Adam 17	27681	23	1	
Presenilin 1	998	4	3	
Presenilin-like protein 4	246376	14	7	
Mastermind like-1 (Drosophila)	51116	0	33	
Strawberry notch homolog 1 (Drosophilia)	104898	5	0	
Notch gene homolog 1 (Drosophila)	31255	4	3	
Delta/notch-like EGF-related receptor	39067	1	0	
Notch gene homolog 3 (Drosophila)	4945	0	1	
Notch regulated ankyrin repeat protein	46539	0	1	
Adaptor related protein complex 3, delta subunit	28463	10	7	
Jagged 2	186146	2	0	
Jagged 1	22398	1	0	
Hairy and enhancer of split 5 (Drosophila)	137268	0	1	
Hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif 2	103573	6	3	
Numb genc homolog (Drosophila)	4390	3	2	
Recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless (Drosophila)	180561	7	3	
SKI interacting protein	27094	6	7	
A pending anterior pharynx defective 1A homolog (C. elegans)	268053	14	1	
Cir-pending CBF1 interacting corepressor	268053	0	1	
Deltex 2 homolog (Drosophila)	29343	0	2	
Dishevelled, dsh homolog 1 (Drosophila)	3400	0	2	
Dishevelled associated activator of morphogenesis 1	87417	0	2	
Protein O-fucosyltransferase 1	216045	0	1	



Figure 5.3 Suggested Notch signalling pathway in the granulosa cell before and during luteinisation

Activation of the Notch 1 receptor on the granulosa cell generates release of ncid which translocates to the nucleus. BMP/TGF $\beta$  signalling acts via Smad proteins to form a complex with CSL and ncid in the nucleus to control transcription and maintain the cellular phenotype. Following luteinisation the withdrawal of the TGF $\beta$  influence and complexing of ncid/CSL with Maml1 changes the transcriptive response and allows cellular differentiation.

## 5.6 Cellular and follicular remodelling: Angiogenic and cytoskeletal remodelling

#### Angiogenesis

The high vascularity required by the corpus luteum necessitates the rapid development of a vascular system generated by the invasion of thecal microvessels and extensive angiogenesis. The angiogenic response is associated with changes in cellular adhesive interactions exemplified by the well documented changes in integrin  $\beta$  expression, the secretion of proteolytic enzymes and the remodelling of the adjacent ECM as previously discussed (section 1.8.3.7). Endothelial cell migration through the follicular basement membrane requires the local production of angiogenic factors, endothelial cell proliferation, orientation, differentiation, establishment of the basement membrane and lumen formation all of which eventually leads to the formation of intact microvessels.

Recent studies suggest that angiogenesis is mediated by 3 important ligand/receptor systems, namely VEGF/VEGFR, angiopoietins/Tie receptors and ephrins/Eph receptors (Yancopoulos et al 2000). The VEGF system has been well documented in luteinising granulosa cells, the angiopoietin and ephrin mediated systems less so. Components of all 3 mechanisms are found within the SAGE libraries with angiopoietin like 4 (Angptl4) and ephrin B class 2 both significantly upregulated by hCG administration. Ephrin B2 is an endothelial marker suggested to be involved in the formation of the arterial muscular wall in adults (Yancopoulos et al 2000). It serves to distinguish arteries from veins before any structural, physiologic, or functional distinctions can be made (Urness et al 2000). Upregulation prior to ovulation suggests a role marking the early development of the nascent corpra luteal arteriolar system.

Angiopoictins are major players in the formation and stabilisation of new blood vessels (Yancopoulos et al 2000). Angptl4 has recently been implicated as an angiogenic mediator in pathologic processes, to exert anti-apoptotic effects specifically on endothelial cells, and to function as a secreted protein likely to have paracrine effects (Hermann et al 2005). The expression pattern of Angptl4

is limited to specific tissue types (inflamed synovium, kidney, liver and adipose tissue) and induction of its expression has been recorded primarily in neoplastic and inflammatory tissue (Hermann et al 2005), expression in the granulosa cell not previously having been recognised. Expression and secretion of Angptl4 from luteinising granulosa cells could therefore provide a paracrine angiogenic signal to promote and stabilise blood vessel formation within the developing CL. In addition to the ephrin/angiopoietin/VEGF mechanisms we have identified other genes significantly differentially expressed within the SAGE libraries with known functions related to angiogenesis and endothelial remodelling.

Blood vessel epicardial substance (byes) is significantly upregulated following luteinisation, not showing expression in the PMSG treated library. It is a transmembrane protein thought to have involvement in cellular adhesion. Expressed during embryogenesis and in specific regions of developing epithelium (Osler and Bader 2004) it has never previously been detected in ovarian tissue. It is one of the first adhesion proteins to traffic to points of cellcell contact in forming epithelium (Wada et al 2001) and consequently is postulated to have a role in cell development and orientation through its function in morphogenesis. Its expression was first recorded during coronary blood vessel development in mesenchymal cells recruited to the blood vessel wall (Reese et al 1999), a unique occurrence in the developing embryo since the endothelial cells are usually derived from the endothelial sheet connected to the endocardium rather than local mesenchyme (Coffin and Poole 1988). This raises the intriguing possibility that it may be involved in the morphogenetic organisation of developing capillary structures within the new CL through the recruitment of mesenchymal cells to the vessel walls.

Fibroblast inducible growth factor 14 (Fn 14), undergoes a 4.3 fold upregulation after hCG and functions as a TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK) receptor. TWEAK promotes angiogenesis and endothelial migration (Jakubowski et al 2002, Wiley et al 2001) and has been shown to stimulate vascular formation in vivo (Lynch et al 1999). Interestingly TWEAK retains a functional ambiguity, promoting endothelial cell survival and regulating endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and morphogenesis by modulating the

response to bFGF and VEGF. In conjunction with bFGF TWEAK demonstrates pro-angiogenic behaviour but inhibits the endothelial cell morphogenesis induced by VEGF suggesting that its role regulating angiogenesis is dependent on the local microenviroment (Jakubowski et al 2002).

#### Cytoskeletal elements

Several cytoskeletal associated transcripts are differentially regulated during luteinisation including actin, vinculin, cofilin, tubilin and tropomyosin. It is known that gonadotrophins regulate structural gene expression in granulosa cells (Sasson et al 2004, Grieshaber et al 2003) and cytoskeletal remodelling during luteinisation is likely to be an essential part of the movement and morphological development of the cells. One transcript does show an unexpected upregulation. Vimentin is a cytoplasmic intermediate filament expressed in a variety of mesenchymal cell types during development (Evans 1998). Vimentin undergoes a dramatic 48-fold upregulation following hCG administration, yet appears to have little effect on the organisation of cytoplasmic structures other than filament associated proteins (Evans 1998). The explanation for such marked upregulation is found instead in the role of vimentin in lipid metabolism, vimentin filaments form structures around nascent lipid droplets (Franke et al 1987) and have been suggested to have involvement in the transport of cholesterol required for steroidogenesis (Almahbobi et al 1992). In cell culture there is a striking correlation between the presence of a vimentin If network and the ability of the cell to utilise lysosomal cholesterol. (Sarria et al 1992). However vimentin null mice appear phenotypically normal and can reproduce without obvious deficiencies suggesting that even this function has considerable redundancy (Colucci-Guyon et al 1994).

#### 5.7 Genes with a poorly defined role in luteinisation

In addition to confirming changes in gene expression previously reported or predicted, the SAGE data set reported here also identifies a number of genes of interest that have not previously been linked to the process of early luteinisation. This list is made up of genes with unknown function and genes with known function but with no previous association to granulosa luteinisation. Genes with known function and differentially regulated during luteinisation include syndecan-1, secreted phosphoprotein 1 (Spp1), secreted acidic cysteine-rich glycoprotein (SPARC), prosaposin, and vanin 1.

Syndecan-1 is a heparin sulphate-rich integral membrane proteoglycan, and it is expressed in a developmental and cell type-specific pattern (Bellin et al 2002), but it has not previously been indentified as having a role in folliculogenesis or luteinisation. Syndecans have major roles as matrix and cell surface receptors, coreceptors for growth factor signalling, internalisation receptors and soluble paracrine effectors (Bellin et al 2002). In addition, syndecan-1 appears to be capable of independent signalling and may play a role in regulation of Wnt signalling (Bellin et al 2002). Syndecan-1 is not expressed in the PMSG treated library but shows a high level of transcript expression after hCG administration. Syndecans have well-established involvement in the regulation of cytoskeletal organisation (Bellin et al 2002) and a likely function of syndecan-1 in the luteinising follicle is in the regulation of cytoskeleton assembly.

Spp1 (also known as osteopontin or Eta-1) is among the most highly upregulated tags after hCG administration. It is a multifunctional protein expressed in various cell types and involved in a number of physiological and pathological processes including biomineralisation, inflammation, leukocyte recruitment, cell survival, tissue repair, cell proliferation and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells (Mazzali et al 2002). It is possible therefore that Spp1 has multiple functions during luteinisation. For example, it may act as a survival factor preventing onset of apoptosis during the critical phase of ovulation and luteinisation. Equally the effects on vascular smooth muscle suggest a possible role in the angiogenic process that accompanies formation of the corpus luteum. Prosaposin is expressed at a medium level in the antral follicle but shows a 6fold upregulation after hCG administration. The protein is either secreted or acts as a precursor of smaller saposins, and it has been shown to have diverse functions including involvement in the MAPK and Akt signalling pathways and maintainence of cell growth, differentiation and survival (Morales et al 2000). The likely role of prosaposin in development of the corpus luteum is uncertain but may, again, relate to overall function as a survival factor.

Vanin 1 is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored cell surface molecule involved in thymic and gonadal development (Bowles et al 2000, Aurrand-Lions et al 1996). As with Spp1, it is also highly up regulated in granulosa cells after hCG administration. Vanin 1 is expressed specifically in the Sertoli cells of the developing foctal gonad, and it has been suggested that it may be involved in the migration of mesenchymal cells from the mesonephros into the developing gonad (Bowles et al 2000). The likely function of vanin 1 in the developing corpus luteum is unclear but, by analogy with developing thymic and gonadal tissue, it is possible that it may be involved in the cell migration that occurs early in corpus luteum formation to integrate both thecal and endothelial cells into the developing tissue.

Secreted acidic cysteine-rich glycoprotein (SPARC, osteonectin, basement membrane protein 40) is a highly expressed transcript which undergoes a 7-fold up regulation during luteinisation. SPARC is expressed *in vivo* where cells are undergoing proliferative or reorganisational activity (Lane and Sage 1994) and it has previously been identified in follicular granulosa cells after the LH surge (Bagavandoss et al 1998). It is possible that SPARC may play an essential role in the development of the corpus luteum because specific peptide fragments of the protein are strongly angiogenic (Reed et al 1993). In the follicle, SPARC is found in both granulosa cells and oocytes, although expression in the oocyte may derive from adjacent granulosa cells (Bagavandoss et al 1998). Calmodulin, a protein with strong functional and structural similarities to SPARC, has been implicated in the resumption of meiosis in the starfish oocyte (Santella and Kyozuka 1997), and it is possible that up-regulation of SPARC after hCG may play a role in allowing resumption of meiosis in the cocyte.

For those genes already discussed in this thesis it is possible to hypothesise a putative function in ovulation and corpus luteum development based on their known properties and functions in other tissues. The SAGE libraries described here also contain many other highly expressed or differentially expressed transcripts for which this is not currently possible. Included among this latter group are proline rich protein MP-5, tumour protein translationally controlled 1, testes enhanced gene transcript and polycystic kidney disease 2. In addition the list of tags differentially regulated after hCG contains a considerable number that are unmatched in the SAGEmap database or are matched only to EST clusters or uncharacterised transcripts. The challenge now will be to identify those genes from this list that are fundamentally involved in the process of luteinisation and those genes that have a more downstream role in the development of the corpus luteum.

#### 5.8 Non coding transcript

A final consideration has to be given to the role of non-coding transcripts in the regulation of luteinisation. Chapter 4 details the further investigations we have taken into the characterisation and expression of the RNA transcript represented by the SAGE tag CAGTCAATAC. We have demonstrated the expression, within the granulosa cell and other tissue types, of a variable length RNA without translation initiation sites that we propose acts as an RNA. Increasingly, cvidence is mounting that the role of cellular RNA extends far beyond that of an intermediary in protein synthesis. The high conservation of the genomic sequence for this transcript across the mammalian genomes and the specific temporal and spatial expression pattern suggest a significant cellular function. The abundant and differential expression exhibited in response to gonadotrophin stimulation suggests that this function may be associated with folliculogenesis.

A growing number of RNAs lacking open reading frames have been identified as transcriptional or protein function regulators (Szmanski et al 2003) and accumulating evidence suggests critical roles for noncoding RNAs in a variety of cellular processes, including developmental decisions relating to gene dosage, silencing or genome imprinting (Erdmann et al 2001). Among the groups are naturally occurring antisense RNAs (Brandl 2002), small interfering RNAs (siRNA) and small temporary RNAs (stRNA) which mediate down-regulation of gene expression either through interference and degradation of perfectly complementary mRNA (siRNA) or translational inhibition while retaining

stability of imperfectly complementary mRNA (stRNA) (Hutvagner and Zamore 2002). A further model suggests that ncRNAs function to define the domains of open chromatin necessary to facilitate transcriptional activation (Morey and Avner 2004). The essential nature of RNA metabolism to development and survival is demonstrated by the carly developmental arrest of Dicer enzyme null mice (Bernstein et al 2003). The discovery that ncRNAs are implicated in a disparate variety of regulatory systems, and likely to be integral to the overall molecular architecture of organisms, suggests that they are part of a cellular efficiency drive utilising signalling molecules which can be produced and destroyed at a lower metabolic cost than protein molecules. Comparison of mouse, human and other mammalian genomes shows a considerable degree of homology out-with protein coding regions (Mayor et al 2000, Mattick 2001).

States and some of the

and the second se

ċ

ł

We have demonstrated that the expression of this non-coding RNA is strongly induced by PMSG in granulosa cells, but not by hCG. The expression was first detected in early antral follicles and peaked 48hrs after PMSG administration before rapidly declining to basal levels 8 hrs following hCG administration. Sequencing analysis of the cDNA revealed a polyadenylated transcript with no extensive open reading frames. In addition several unexpected features are associated with this transcript, these include a 23 nucleotide hairpin fold centred on base 233 and several small 5-6 base complementary sequences located either side of the hairpin fold (Figure 4.2b) which may be involved in secondary folding of the RNA. While a high degree of homology is maintained by this transcript throughout mammalian, and even avain genomes, indicating an evolutionary conservation, no significant antisense match can be found to any known gene suggesting that an RNAi related function is unlikely.

The genomic location raises the possibility that this transcript may be part of the 3' UTR of the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit. 3' RACE carried out using primers for inhibin  $\beta A$  failed to produce a band greater than 600bp long (personal communication, Prof. PJ O'Shaughnessy) (Figure 5.4, provided courtesy of Prof PJ O'Shaughnessy) Southern blot showed that only the 350bp band was derived from the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit. This band yielded matching sequence (data provided courtesy of Prof PJ O'Shaughnessy) to the 3' genomic region of

inhibin  $\beta A$ . It is highly unlikely therefore, that the non-coding RNA is part of the inhibin  $\beta A$  3' UTR.



Figure 5.4 Agarose gel showing product of 3' RACE reaction and southern blot on inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit

Bands of 350bp and 600bp produced from 3' RACE are of insufficient size to demonstrate continuity between the inhibin subunit and the noncoding transcript

Although the biological functions of this transcript remain unknown the observation that induction occurs during PMSG stimulated folliculogenesis and downregulation preceeds hCG stimulated luteal differentiation suggests a possible role in granulosa cell proliferation or differentiation. The induction of a non-coding RNA transcript in cells undergoing TGF $\beta$  driven differentiation has previously been recognised. The bone morphogenic proteins (BMP) and osteogenic proteins (OP), members of the TGF $\beta$  superfamily and responsible for the induction of bone formation in vivo, have been shown to induce expression of a non-coding transcript. Two proteins BMP-2 and OP-1, specifically induce transcription of the 3Kb non coding BORG RNA (BMP/OP-responsive gene), which has been suggested to play a key role in osteoblast differentiation (Takeda et al 1998) although its precise function is unknown.

The potential for hairpin folding in the secondary structure of our transcript draws comparison with the E.coli thi-box structure. These are conserved RNA structures that co-regulate the expression of genes involved in thiamine metabolism (Miranda-Rios et al 2001, Lesnik et al 2005) and are utilised for small molecule-mRNA interactions involved in translation regulation in prokaryotes (Stormo and Ji 2001). Riboswitches consist of RNA that forms a selective binding site for a target metabolite, binding creates an allosteric structural changes that leads to transcriptional change. Such riboswitches are common in prokaryotes and archaea and there is some evidence for them in eukaryotes. A motif similar to the thiamine riboswitch has been found in eukaryotic genes involved in thiamine biosynthesis (Sudarsan et al 2003). In the eukaryotic examples the proposed riboswitches are contained within 3' UTR or intronic sequences of the genes in question.

्र

į

Regardless of the mechanism of action the obvious question arises regarding the genes and/or cellular functions that may be affected by the expression of this transcript. The obvious candidate is the adjacent inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit which serves as a component of inhibin A ( $\beta A$ ; $\beta B$ ) and activin A ( $\beta A$ ; $\beta A$ ), TGF $\beta$  family members regulating follicle development. The expression profiles of these during follicle development and ovulation have been studied elsewhere (Newton et al 2002). In summary as follicles develop under FSH stimulation inhibin A production begins to predominate over inhibin B. Following the LH surge there is a dramatic fall in inhibin A and B with a concomitant increase in activin A expression. The action of activin A on the oocyte is critical for maturation (Alak et al 1998) and has been suggested to mediate the LH surge in this regard (Newton et al 2002). In the rat the transcription of the  $\beta A$  subunit is reported to increase progressively within the follicle following recruitment from the primordial follicle pool (Meunier et al 1998, Arai et al 2002), following a pattern identical to that of the non-coding transcipt. This raises the question as to whether the non-coding transcript may act to control transcription and/or translation of the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit, or to affect the post-translational availability of the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit.

An additional clue to the possible function of this transcript is its global expression profile throughout the mammalian tissue range. Highest levels of expression are found in the spleen and ovary with lower levels in intestine, lung and uterus (figure 4.6). These tissues have in common the presence of a

proliferating and differentiating cell population, in ovary the granulosa cell, in spleen the haematopoietic cell lines, and in intestine, lung and uterus the constant turnover of epithelial tissue necessitates the continual regeneration and proliferation of cellular stock. The inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit has been heavily implicated in cellular differentiation and especially in haematopoietic and epithelial differentiation (Shav-Tal and Zipori 2002, Zhang et al 2004, Ball and Risbridger 2001), in particular negative regulation of activins during pancreatic epithelial differentiation. Whether the non coding transcript identified here has a role in this modulation of activin signaling requires investigation.

Much of this is highly speculative and further work is required to disclose the precise functional role of this transcript and its target and mechanisms of action in granulosa cell development. An analysis of expression patterns of both the noncoding transcript and the inhibin  $\beta A$  subunit in a variety of tissues and development situations where one or both is known to be expressed in conjunction with up/down regulation of the non coding transcript in cell or follicle culture is required. At the time of writing siRNA knockdown of this transcript in granulosa cell culture is being carried out and this study should provide some insight into the functional significance of the expressed RNA.

#### 5.9 Conclusion

A large number of differentially expressed transcripts have been successfully identified using SAGE as well as many more genes abundantly, if not differentially, expressed. A body of literature has already characterised the individual cellular events activated by either steroid hormones, peptide hormones and growth factors which trigger the principle signal transduction pathways employed by the granulosa cell to respond to external stimuli. We have isolated a large number of candidate genes related to the cellular differentiation processes occurring within the granulosa cell during luteinisation. In particular the finding of a number of novel transcription factors and signalling receptors with altered expression profiles in response to hCG requires further investigation. Equally we

: بر چ have demonstrated that there are a variety of potential mechanisms of cross talk and interaction between different signalling and/or metabolic pathways controlling the development of the terminal luteal phenotype. The data generated and presented here constitutes a new base for the testing of hypotheses in the field of follicle development and luteinisation. and the second se

1

ß

# Appendices

A set of the set of

. . .

Appendix 1: Significantly differentially expressed genes

Appendix 2: Abbreviations

Appendix 3: Reference list

### Appendix 1: Identified significantly differentially expressed transcripts with annontations briefly describing gene function.

100

× · ·

1) K

(\* 1997) (\* 1997)

10 1×1 10

1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -

- 1

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
TTGTTGCTAC	387	8	395	1.29x10 <sup>-77</sup>	268000	Vimentin
A member of a well char undergoes significant rec	acterised organisati	i class of cyl ion during o	toskeletal e ell division	lements. Class ] 1	ΠI internediate	filament specific for mesenchymal tissue,
TTGCTACTTT	367	6	373	1.23x10 <sup>-74</sup>	27961	Leprecan 1
Extracellular matrix prot suppressor activity	ein locat	ed in plasma	a membran	e whose human	homolog Gros	si has been shown to have growth
CCTTTAATCC	61	397	458	1.5x10 <sup>-58</sup>	347445	Hyaluronidase 1
A lysosomal hyaluronida	ise întrac	ellularly de	grades hyal	uronan, one of t	the major com	poments of the extracellular matrix,
CAAACACCGT	278	2	280	2.02x10 <sup>-58</sup>	288474	Secreted phosphoprotein 1
Forms part of the cell-EC	M intera	action and c	an also act	as a cytokine, e	nhancing inter	feron and interleukin production
AACTGAGGGG	306	49	355	6.38x10 <sup>-40</sup>	277498	Prosaposin
Glycoprotein which is a	precursos	r for 4 sapos	sins involve	d in the lysoso	mal degradatio	m of sphingolipids
TAATGTAGAC	116	405	521	2.43x10 <sup>-39</sup>	370184	Gap junction membrane channel protein alpha 1
A member of the connex	in gene f	âmily and a	componen	t of gap junctio	ns.	
AGCAAGAATT	226	28	254	1.95x10 <sup>-33</sup>	1061	Ferredoxin 1
An iron-sulfur protein fo cytochrome P450.	und in st	eroidogenic	tissues, tra	ansfers electrons	s from NADPI	I fhrough ferredoxin reductase to a terminal
AGGCAATAAA	143	3	146	1,95x10 <sup>-29</sup>	27154	Vanin 1
This is a member of a fai molecule.	mily that	includes se	creted and	ntembrane-asso	ciated proteins	s. This protein is a GPI-anchored cell surface
TAACTGACAA	140	11	151	2.62x10 <sup>-24</sup>	147226	Metallothionein 2
Metallothioneins are sma	all cystei:	ne-rich prot	cins with h	ighly specific re	oles in fundam	ental zinc-regulated cellular processes.
GGTTAAATGT	206	56	262	6.41x10 <sup>-19</sup>	930	Cathepsin L
A component of the lyso	somal pr	oteolytic sy	stem believ	ed to participat	e in intracellul	ar degradation and turnover of proteins.
ATACTAACGT	99	6	105	1.73x10 <sup>-18</sup>	34102	Ornithine decarboxylase, structural 1
The rate-limiting enzyme reponse to growth promo	e of the p sting stin	olyamine b nuli.	iosynthesis	pathway. An ii	nercase in the s	activity level of this enzyme is often seen in
TACAGTATAA	9	98	107	2.62x10 <sup>-18</sup>	3092	Inhibin beta-B
In combination with the cell proliferation negativ which stimulates FSH se (hypothalamic, pituitary,	inhibin a ely. Also cretion. l gonadal	lpha subuni o forms a ho Both compo l) and germ	t forms a p modimer, a sunds are in cell matura	ituitary FSH sea activin B, which avolved in regul tion.	erction inhibite 1 in combinatio ating a numbe	or also shown to regulate gonadal stromal on with the beta A subunit forms activin r of functions including hormone secretion
GGGCATTTGA	108	I1	119	9.31x10 <sup>-18</sup>	302865	Cytochrome P450 11a1
Cytochrome P450 choles in the synthesis of the st-	sterol sid eroid hor	le chain clea moues	vage, catal	yzes the conver	sion of choles	terol to pregnenolone, the rate-limiting step
CAAACTCTCA	116	16	132	4.98x10 <sup>-17</sup>	291442	Secreted acidic cysteine rich
Also called osteonectin. extracellular matrix (Bra	This is a Idshaw e	. matrix-asso t al., 2003)	ociated prof	ein inhibits cell	l-cycle progres	sion and influences the synthesis of
GATACTTGGA	73	3	76	9.97x10 <sup>-15</sup>	297	Actin, beta, cytoplasmic
Major cytoskeleton com	ponent a	nd mediator	of internal	cell motility		
AAAACAGTGG	16	91	107	1.68x10 <sup>-13</sup>	21529	Ribosomal protein L37a
Structural component of	ribosom	es				
GCTCTGGGAG	56	152	208	5.48x10 <sup>-}2</sup>	140811	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-1 delta<5>-3-B
The 3beta-HSD enzyme	plays a d	crucial role :	in the biosy	mthesis of all st	teroid hormone	25
ACTGAAGCAA	146	46	192	6.56x10 <sup>-12</sup>	282242	Scavenger receptor class B,

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
Facilitates the cellular up	take of c	holesterol fr	om high de	ensity lipoprotei	n	
GACTCAGGGC	47	0	47	4.98x10 <sup>-11</sup>	2580	Syndecan 1
Mediates cell-matrix and	l cell-cell	adhesion ar	nd inhibits o	ell invasion.		
GAAAAGTGGA	69	9	78	7.91x10 <sup>-11</sup>	15295	Epoxide hydrolase 2, cytoplasmic
This protein binds to spe	cific epo	xides and co	onverts ther	n to the corresp	onding dihy <b>d</b> r	odiols. Mutations in this gene have been
associated with familial	hypercho	lesterolemia	1.			Seizura related 6 homolog
UUAIUUUUAU	54	3	57	9.79x10 <sup>-11</sup>	283926	(mouse)-like 2
An extracellular protein	previous.	ly shown to	have a role	in CNS develo	pment, most a	bundant during/after neuronal differentiation
and during cell specifica	tion or a	cogenesis.		10		
TACCITGACA	45	0	45	1.33x10 <sup>m</sup>	4791	Epiregulin
Growth factor acting as a	a paraerii	ne mediator	of the LH s	ignal throughou	at the follicle.	
TTGAAATTAC	45	0	45	1.33x10 <sup>-10</sup>	362063	Proline-rich protein MP5
Unknown function						
AATCACTGTG	44	0	44	2.17x10 <sup>.10</sup>	33240	Epithelial V-like antigen 1
A cell membrane proteir	express	ed during ea	rly thymic	embryogenesis,	, mediates hou	nophilic cell-cell adhesion
TGGCTCGGTC	53	4	57	5.46x10 <sup>-10</sup>	300639	Actin, gamma, cytoplasmic 1
Major cytoskeleton com	ponent a	nd mediator	of internal	cell motifity		
TACATTCCAA	45	Т	46	5.54x10 <sup>-10</sup>	3401	Proprotein convertase
		-				subtilisin/kexin type 5
This encoded protein me	diates po	st-translatio	mal endopr	oteolytic proces	sing for sever	al integrin alpha subunits.
TAUTITATAA						A disintegrin-like and
	39	0	39	2.54x10 <sup>-09</sup>	1421	with thrombospondin type 1
Active metallonrotease	cleaves r	moteoglycan	s approcat	versican and l	ntevican Has	mofil, 1 meiosenin inhibitor activity. They have
been associated with var	ious role	s in connect	ive tissue o	rganization, co	igulation, infla	ammation, arthritis, angiogenesis and cell
migration as well as folli	icular ruj	oture.				TT 4
GOICAAGAIA	4	46	50	2,74x10 <sup>-09</sup>	188939	dehydroxysteroid (17-beta)
In ovarian granulosa cell	ls the act	ivity of 17H	SD1 is case	ential for gonad	al estradiol bio	osynthesis and is also involved in the
modulation of steroid ho	ormone ad	ction.				
TTAGAAGTGA	40	1	41	6.44x10 <sup>09</sup>	373563	Salvador homolog 1 (Drosophila)
Involved in regulating b	oth cell p in the ma	proliferation	and cell de molos hav	ath. In Drosphil e been involicat	la salvador is a ed in three cat	a gene that promotes both cell cycle exit and man call lines
GATTGTCAGA	42	2	44	9.18x10 <sup>-09</sup>	25613	Immediate early response 3
This gene functions in d	ne protect	tion of cells	from Fas-	or tumor necros	is factor type :	alpha-induced apoptosis. Alternative splicing
of this gene results in tw	o trauser	ipt variants.				~ ~ ~ ~
ACTICCTITC	36	0	36	$1.12 \times 10^{-08}$	282242	Scavenger receptor class B,
The Discount of the set of the set					۹.	member 1
- Facilitates the conular up	JUBRE OF (	noksterol f	rom nign a	ensity inpoprote	104268	Piberound protein I 22
	409	200	9/5	1.45X10 **	104508	Ribusoniai protein 1.52
Structural component of	ribosom	C .		B 2B 40-08		TT
GIGGUGCAUG	10	54	64	2,98x10**	214045	Hyanuronidase 3
A lysosomal hyaluronid	ase intra	cellulariy de	grades hya	luronan, one of	the major con	poments of the extracellular matrix
TCCACCAGAT	41	3	44	5.22x10***	279361	Vinculin
Vinculin is a highly con	served F	-actin ancho	ring cytosk	eleta) protein as	ssociated with	cell-cell and cell-matrix junctions.
AGACACITICC	48	6	54	5.62x10 <sup>-95</sup>	238343	Annexin A2
functions as an calcium	of meme binding :	tratic proteir autocrine fac	is have a ro stor knowu	to enhance oste	non of cellular	r growth and signal transduction. This protein for and bone resoration.
TCCCGGATCA	2	35	37	7.12x10 <sup>-08</sup>	18962	Catenin alpha 1
Cadherin associated acti	in bindin	g cell adhes.	ion protein	found at cell-ce	ll and cell-ma	trix boundaries
ААТТТСААЛА	5	4!	46	1.14x10 <sup>-07</sup>	371577	Ribosomal protein S17
Structural component of	fribosom	ie				-

and the second sec

1111日間、1111日間

.

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
TATGAATGCT	48	7	55	1.58x10 <sup>-07</sup>	158700	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 2
Secreted hyaluronic acid	binding	extracellula	r matrix pr	rotein which may	y play a role ir	– 1 intercellular signaling
GGGGGGAGCAT	6	42	48	2.03x10 <sup>-07</sup>	275973	Sialvltransferase 4C
Catalyses conversion of	glycopros	teins and gly	colipids.	Highly expressed	d in adult plac	enta, ovary and testes
TTTGTAATAA	30	0	30	2.18x10 <sup>-67</sup>	284855	Endothelin 2
Peptide hormone involve	ed in sign	al transduct	ion and ce	ll communicatio	n	
ATCAGTGTGC	32	1	33	3.29x10 <sup>-07</sup>	275555	Calponin 3, acidic
Cytoskeletal binding pro tropomyosin	tein asso	caited with	cell growti	h and maintainen	ice. Capable o	f binding to actin, cabnodulin, troponin and
TAAATGTGCA	8	45	53	3.44x10 <sup>-67</sup>	4913	Follistatin
Follistatin is a gonadal p antagonist.	rotein tha	at specificall	ly inhibits	FSH release, Bu	nds directly to	activin and functions as an activin
AAGATCAAGA	44	6	50	3.6x10 <sup>-07</sup>	360115	Actin, alpha, cardiac
Major cytoskeleton com	ponent ar	nd unediator	of internal	l cell motility		
TGCTGTGCAT	60	14	74	4.26x10 <sup>-07</sup>	289662	Fibroblast growth factor inducible 14
Fibroblast growth factor function as a TWEAK (a	-inducibl 1 TNF fai	e 14 mediat mily membe	es multiple r ) recepte	e pathways of inc r,	duced cell dea	th, proliferation and angiogenesis through its
CTCTGAATAC	43	6	49	5,71x10 <sup>-07</sup>	2442	Calcium binding protein, intestinal
Belongs to a family of ca function is unknown. In	aloium-bi the intest	inding prote line its expre	ins that in ession con	eludes calmoduli relates with calci	in, parvalbumi um transport e	n, troponin C, and S100 protein. Its exact activity.
TCCCCCCCCC	28	0	28	5.88x10 <sup>-0</sup>	35088	Cholinergic receptor, nicotinic,
After binding acetylebol transmission, signal tran stem (ES) cells to genera	ine respo sduction ate 'knocl	nds by open aud ion tran kout' mice d	ling an ior sport. Pice eficient in	-conducting char ciotto et al. (199; this subunit. Ho	nnel aeross (h 5) disrupted (h mozygous mic	beta polypeptide 2 (neuronal) e plasma membrane. Involved in synaptic e CHRNB2 mouse homolog in embryonic se were viable and had no physical deficits.
ACCGGGTCAT	30	1	31	8,83x10 <sup>-07</sup>	206919	Male sterility domain containing 2
Unknown function						
ATTTGACTGG	30	1	31	8.83x10 <sup>-07</sup>	29677	Myosin heavy chain IX
Structural component of	cvtoskel	eton.				•
TTGTCAGGTA	- 68	20	88	1.44x10 <sup>-06</sup>	148155	Malic enzyme, supernatant
Malate dehydrogenase (	oxaloacet	tate-decarbo	xylating)	(NADP+) activit	y	,,,
TCTCGTAATG	29	1	30	1.45x10 <sup>-06</sup>	42095	Secreted frizzled-related sequence protein 4
Acts as a soluble module gene expression. In the r	ator of W nouse ov	'nt signaling ary expressi	, In ventri ion has pre	cular myocardim eviously been sho	n expression of own to be up-r	f SFRP4 correlates with apoptosis related regulated in granulosa cells of large antral
follicles after hCG admi	nistration	).		D ( D ) (1000		Stars 1 O and the second stars 1
CACATTAICA	25	U •	25	2.62x10 <sup>-00</sup> Cutablesis the fea	28099 	Steroi O-acyntansierase 1
An endoplasmic redeat	in integr		e protein.	catalyzes the for		Hemoslabin aluka adult aluin 1
	10	44 • • • • • • • • •		3.41X10	190110	rientogioom aipita, admi ellam 1
GGATTTGGCT	sport to t 51	ne various p 107	eripheral t 158	3.5x10 <sup>.06</sup>	341719	Ribosomal protein, large P2
Structural component of	ribosom	e				
AAGAGGCAAG	37	87	124	3.6x10 <sup>-06</sup>	288212	Ribosomal protein S15a
Structural component of	f ríbosom	e				
TTAAATGCAG	27	1	28	3.89x10 <sup>-06</sup>	273188	Coagulation factor III
Cell surface glycoprotei coagulation factor VII.	n, enable	s cells to ini	tiate the c	oagulation casea	des and functi	ons as a high-affinity receptor for the
TATAGTGTAA	43	8	51	3.91x10 <sup>-06</sup>	158700	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 2
Secreted hyaluronic acid	l binding	extracellula	ir matrix p	rotein which ma	y play a role i	n intercellular signaling
GGCTTTGGTC	60	119	179	3,92x10 <sup>-06</sup>	3158	Ribosomal protein, large, P1
Structural component of	f ribosom	ie		-		· · · · · · · · ·

a strainford in the

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total	p-value	Unigene	Gene				
TTTTTGATAA	32	3	tags 35	3.97x10 <sup>-06</sup>	42095	Secreted frizzled-related sequence				
Acts as a soluble module gene expression. In the r follieles after hCG admir	ter of W nouse ov nistration	nt signaling ary expressi	. In ventric on has pre	cular myocardiu wiously been she	m expression c own to be up-r	protein 4 of SFRP4 correlates with apoptosis related egulated in granulosa cells of large antral				
GGGAGCGAAA	28	2	30	8.46x10 <sup>05</sup>	34871	Inhibitor of DNA binding 2				
This gene encodes a holix-loop-helix (HLH) protein that can form heterodimers with members of the basic HLH family of transcription factors and therefore can inhibit the DNA binding and transcriptional activation ability of proteins with which it interacts. This protein may play a role in cell growth, senescence, and differentiation.										
GGTTATAATA	34	5	39	1.32x10 <sup>-05</sup>	28405	Scrum/glucocorticoid regulated kinase				
This kinase has been shown to be important in activating certain potassium, sodium, and chloride channels. Expression of is stimulated by TGF-beta. Plays an important role in cellular stress response, mediates cell survival signals, phosphorylates and negatively regulates pro-apoptotic foxo3a										
TGGGTTGTCT	253	156	409	1.43x10 <sup>-05</sup>	296922	Tumor protein, translationally- controlled 1				
Molecular function unk platelets, keratinocytes,	nown. F crythrole	'ound in sev akemia cella	veral healt , gliomas,	by and tumoral metanomas, hep	l cells includi patoblastomas,	ng crythrocytes, hepatocytes, macrophages, and lymphomas.				
GAAAGCCTCT	24	1	25	1.72x10 <sup>-05</sup>	8245	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1				
The proteins encoded by in degradation of the ex- in response to many cyte	/ this get tracellula akines an	ue family co ar matrix) ar ad hormones	mplex wit ad irrevers and is also	h metalloprotein ibly inactivate the supp	ases (such as nem. TIMP1 is ress angiogene	collagenases, a group of peptidases involved s highly inducible at the transcriptional level esis				
ATCACACACT		_				UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-				
	21	0	21	1.94x10 <sup>-15</sup>	62886	galactosamine: polypeptide N-				
This gene catalyzes the linked protein glycosyla GGGAAGTCTG	$\begin{array}{r} \text{acetylgalactosaminyltransferase 7} \\ \text{This gene catalyzes the initial reaction in o-linked oligosaccharide biosynthesis controlling the initiation step of mucin-type O-linket protein glycosylation and transfer of N-acetylgalactosamine to scrine and theonine amino acid residues. \\ CGCAACTCTG 23 5 28 2 00 \times 10^{105} 247000 Perovised ovin 2 \\ \end{array}$									
This gene is involved in Speculated to participate concentrations of hydrog	redox re in the si gen perox	gulation of t ignaling case vide.	he cell. M cades of gi	ay play an antio rowth factors and	xidant protecti d tumor necros	ve role in cells by reducing peroxides. is factor-alpha by regulating the intracellular				
CTTGCTCTGT	35	6	41	2.21x10 <sup>-05</sup>	263396	Integrin beta 1 (fibronectin recentor beta)				
Integrin family member embryogenesis, hemost been shown to be need ischemic tissue	's are me asis, tissi essary fo	subrane recu ne repair, in r inducing a	eptors inventions inventions inventional and a second second second second second second second second second s anglogenes	olved in cell adl ponse and meta sis by regulating	hesion and rec tastatic diffusi g cell surviva	ion of tunor cells. Integrin-beta(1) has also t and differentiation after implantation into				
GATATGGTCT	23	I	24	2.83x10 <sup>-05</sup>	2863	Integral membrane protein 1				
Involved in protein glyc TTATCAAGTG	osylation	ı				Similar to development- and				
	4	28	32	2.86x10 <sup>-05</sup>	358946	differentiation-enhancing factor 2; PYK2 C terminus-associated protein				
PYK2 C is a GTPase ac	tivator ac	ctivity, signa	il transduc	tion and cell con	munication	-				
AACAGGTTCA	19	54	73	3.21x10 <sup>-05</sup>	292027	Ribosomal protein S25				
Structural component of	f ribosom 2	ie 23	25	4 በ5v 10 <sup>-05</sup>	306548	Ribosomal protein L26				
Structural component of	- ribosom	25 ne	20	-100210	5005-10	Ribbional protom D20				
TCTTTAATCC	2	23	25	4.05x10 <sup>-05</sup>	196638	CDC23 (cell division cycle 23, veast homolog)				
Part of the APC comple	x that fur	nctions as a	protein ub	iquitin ligase and	l governs exit	from mitosis.				
CAGGCAAAAC	3	25	28	<b>4.52</b> x10 <sup>-05</sup>	171378	Uncoupling protein 2, witochondrial				
Facilitates the transfer of outer to the inner mitoel	f anions hondrial	from the inr membrane	ter to the c	uter mitochondr	ial membrane	and the return transfer of protons from the				
GATTCCGTGA	36	78	114	4.84x10 <sup>-05</sup>	10474	Ribosomal protein L37				
Structural component of	f riboson	10 D	10	5 37-10 8	200102	Ronnovin 1-like				
OTIMONIULI	19	U	19	3,32%10 **	202122	коррони т-ике				

い アントレント アンド

LINE STORE

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
Interacts with both A-k	inase an	choring pro	tein and f	he Rho signalij	ng pathway, p	present on sperm and thought to be sperm
TTAATTACAG	19	0	19	5,32x10 <sup>-05</sup>	28405	Serum/glucocorticoid regulated kinase
This kinase has been sho stimulated by TGF-beta, negatively regulates pro-	wn to be Plays an anontoti	important i important i foxo3a	n activatin; ule in cellu	g certain potassi ilar stress respon	ium, sodium, a nse, mediates c	nd chloride channels. Expression of is cell survival signals, phosphorylates and
AATTAGTTGT	8	34	42	6.53x10 <sup>-05</sup>	353	ATP synthase, H+ transporting, mitochondrial F0 complex, subunit F
Catalyzes ATP synthesis	during o	oxidative ph	osphorylat	ion.		
CAACCATCAT	26	3	29	7.02x10 <sup>-05</sup>	30071	Lysosomal-associated protein transmembrane 4A
Suggested to have a role	in the tra	ansport of si	nall molec	ules across ende	somal and lys	osomal membranes.
GATAATGCAC	6	30	36	7.54x10 <sup>-05</sup>	253142	NADH-ubiquinonc oxidoreductase 18 kDa subunit,
Nuclear gene coding fo	or the 1	8 kD (IP,	AQDQ) si	bunit of respin	atory complex	mitochondrial precursor x I. Known to have a critical role in the
differentiation and function $TGCACCACCT$	ional acti 30	ivity of brain	n cells ar	8 27×10 <sup>-05</sup>	182470	Ribonuclesse H2 Jarge subunit
Of the multiple RNases 1	JU H in man	o nmale shou	oo Increased	activity during	DNA replicat	ion
CTCCCACCCA	18	0	18	8 83x10 <sup>-05</sup>	249318	Frequenții homolog (Drosophila)
This gene regulates G pr	atein-cor	unled recept	or phosnbo	nvlation in a cal	leium-denende	at manner and can substitute for calmodulin
GATGACACCA	39	80	119	9.84x10 <sup>-05</sup>	371603	Ribosomal protein S28
Structural component of	tibosom	e			- ,	
CCTACCAAGA	17	48	65	0.0001	328529	Ribosomal protein S20
Structural component of	ribosom	e				
AAAAGAAAAT						Solute carrier family 7 (cationic
	20	1	21	0,0001	276831	amino acid transporter, y-
High-affinity transport o	f large n	eutral amina	o acids,			
TTTTCTATT	3	23	26	0.0001	25594	Protein kinase, cAMP dependent regulatory, type II beta
cAMP-dependent proteir regulatory subunits and a of the regulatory suburn responsive element bind	n kinase three cata its, This ing prote	(AMPK) tr alytic subun subunit has sin 1 (CREB	ansduces s its of AMF been show (1) in active	ignals through j PK have been idd wn to interact w ated T cells.	phosphorylatic entified in hun with and suppr	on of different target proteins. Four different name, The protein encoded by this gene is one ress the transcriptional activity of the cAMP
TACAATATAC	35	8	43	0.0001	31403	Tumor necrosis factor, alpha-
				0.0001	01400	induced protein 9
Located on plasma mom	brauc an	d involved i	in electron	transport		
CCTGGCCAAG	29	5	34	0.0001 Caral Inc. 41 - 61	28099	Sterol O-acyltransferase 1
CoA and cholesterol	an megr	ai membran	e protein. u	Latatyzes the for	rination of che	sesterol esters from long-chain latry acyl
AACAATTTGG	42	83	125	0,0001	300271	Ribosomal protein L9
Structural component of	ribosom	le				
ACTCGGAGCC	9	34	43	0.0001	285993	Calmodulin 1
Calcium binding protein	involvo	d in cell sig	nal transdu	ction and comm	unication	
GTTGTTAACA	22	2	24	0.00015	143768	F-box only protein 3
Constitutes one of the ubiquitination. Involved	four sui in ubiqu	bunits of the distribution	he ubiquiti ligase activ	in protein ligas vity	e complex wi	hose function is phosphorylation-dependent
AGCAAGATGG	40	11	51	0.00016	290578	Aminolevulinie acid synthase 1
5-Aminolevulinate synt	nase (AL	AS) catalyz	es the first	step of the hem	e biosynthetic	pathway in mammalian cells
IGIAIUCAGI	8	32	40	0.00016	373561	Nucleosome assembly protein 1- like 5
Nucleosome assembly	26	4	30	0.00019	30221	Insulin induced gene 1
	+			-100015		

and the restriction of the second

. ,>

1 Alton and the state of the st

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
Regulated by peroxisom	e nuolife	rator- activa	ted recento		AR gammal w	nch regulates linid metabolism and glucose			
homestasis, providing a	link betw	een insulin	sensitizatio	m/glucose hon	neostasis and li	pid homeostasis. Also a key regulator in the			
GTGCTGTTGT	26	4 4	30	0.00019	196189	Angiopoietin-like 4			
This gene ia a transcriptible been demonstrated to inc	ional targ luce a str	et of PPAR	alpha and g	amma and is a so even in the s	proangiogenic bsence of VEC	factor produced during ischemia having			
ATGACATAGA	28	5	33	0.0002	235182	Calcium/calmodulin -dependent protein kinase II gamma			
The influx of Ca <sup>2+</sup> has been shown to activate multiple intracellular protein kinases pathways, such as PKA, PKC, PKG, nitric oxide synthase, as well as CaM kinase II. CaM kinase II plays a regulatory role in the maintenance of phosphorylation of CREB protein.									
CAAACAATGT	19	1	20	0.0002	277351	G protein-coupled receptor 48			
G-protein-coupled recep Additionally expressed a	tor involv is carly as	ved in signal s 7 days pos	l transductio l coitus in t	on. Also expre he mouse, sug	ssed in human j gesting some p	panereas, placenta, kidney, brain, and heart.			
GAACATTGCA	19	1	20	0.0002	291442	Secreted acidic cysteine rich			
Also called osteonectin extracellular matrix	. This is	s a matrix-a	issociated j	protein inhibit	is cell-cycle p	rogression and influences the synthesis of			
GTGGCTCTCA	0	15	15	0.00022	355306	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain 17			
Inclatoproteinase domain 17 A member of the ADAM protein family implicated in a variety of biologic processes involving cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions also functions as a tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme cleaving the membrane-bound precursor of tuf- alpha to its mature soluble form and is responsible for the proteolytic release of several other cell-surface proteins.									
TCCAACTCCT	0	15	15	0.00022	371616	S21			
Mitochondrial ribosoma	l structur	al protein							
TGGAACAATG	1 <b>8</b>	1	19	0.00034	338790	Proteoglycan 1, secretory granule			
This gene encodes a pro	tein best l	known as a l	hematopoie	tie cell granule	e proteoglycan.				
TGTGCCGGCC	18	1	19	0.00034	293314	Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein			
Key function in the regunded in the regunded in the second	lation of transpor	steroid horn t across the :	none synthe mitochondr	sis by enhanei ial membrane.	ing the conversi	ion of cholesterol into pregnenolone through			
AGAAGACAGA	15	0	15	0.00041	16769	Testis enhanced gene transcript			
A novel, conserved gen spermatogenesis indicat	e of the : ed that ac	rat that is de	evelopment of the short	ally regulated t transcript occ	in the testis. A arred mainly p	malysis of rat RNA from different stages of ostmelotically. Function unknown.			
AGAGGACTAG	15	0	15	0.00041	358930	G protein-coupled receptor associated sorting protein 2			
G protein associated ccl	l signallii	ng molecule							
TAAAGAGGCC	51	91	142	0.00043	261679	Ribosomal protein S26			
Structural component of	ribosom	e							
TTCTTGTATT	22	3	25	0.00047	276405	FK506 binding protein 51			
Expression of FKBP5 is Best studied is its role as	strongly s a compe	enhanced b onent of ster	y glucocort oid honnor	icoids, progest ic receptors. It	ins, and androg has been sugge	ens. It has diverse biochemical functions. asted that increased expression of FKBP5			
GATGTGGCTG	15	41	56	0.00047	2718	Eukaryotic translation elongation			
This gene encodes a ta	ranslation	1 elongation	factor, ac	ts as a guarin	ne nucleotide (	exchange factor involved in the transfer of			
GTITGTACAA	24	4	28	0.0005	182396	Latent transforming growth factor beta binding protein 3			
An extracellular matrix secretion after coexpress abnormalities and high :	form of T sion with falatity le	FGF-β bindi TGF-β. Nu vels 3-4 wee	ng protein, Il mice sho eks after bir	which requires w growth retan rth.	a complexing w dation, splenic	ith Cys33 of the TGP-beta propeptide for and thymic involution, multiple skeletal			
AGGATCAATG	28	6	34	0.0005	205601	Cortactin			
Cytoskeleton binding cy	/toplasmi	e protein re	gulating int	eractions betw	een adherens ju	metions and cytoskeletal organisation.			

ŝ

1.28 1 2. 1

2

-". .,

as?

14, 14

12.1

1...

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
TAAATGATAA						A disintegrin-like and
	28	6	34	0.0005	1421	metalloprotease (reprolysin type) with thrombospondin type 1
Known to be hormonally ECM. Expression pattern	regulated	ed in the ova to that of ve	ary by LH : rscian and	and the progest hyalutonan.	erone receptor	(PR). Protease involved in regulation of the
ΑΤΑΑΤΑCΑΤΑ	231	154	385	0.00051	200362	Cytochrome b-245, beta polypeptide
Cytochrome b is compris	ed of a l	ight chain (a	ulpha) and a	a heavy chain (l	oeta).	
ATGATGGTAG	24	54	78	0.00052	353171	Eph receptor A6
Eph receptors and their expression patterns with	ligands. proven r	, the ephrin oles in regul	<li>s, representation of tis</li>	it a class of ou isue deveopmen	il-cell comm n	inication molecules with organ-site-specific
GCTCAGCACC	3	20	23	0.00059	21 <b>8</b> 957	Gene regulated by estrogen in breast cancer protein
The expression pattern o	f this get	ne has been :	shown to c	orrelate with th	at of cestrogen	receptor, no function has been determined.
AGGAATCCAC	14	0	14	0.00067	22701	Growth arrest specific 1
Growth arrest protein wl	nich bloc	ks entry to s	phase prev	venting mitotic	cycling of nor	nal and transformed cells.
TGAGGCCTCG	14	0	14	0.00067	21671	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3, subunit 9 (eta)
EIF3 binds to 40S ribose	onial subi	units and sti	mulates rec	ruitment of Me	t-tRNAiMet a	nd mRNA to the pre-initiation complex.
TGATGTGTGA	14	0	14	0.00067	260988	Solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter, y+
Membrane bound solute	transpor	t				systemy, member 11
AGCCAAATAC	19	2	21	0.00067	261831	Basic leucine zipper and W2 domains 1
Regulation of translation	al initiat	ion				
TTTCAAGGCA	19	2	21	0.00067	46067	Solute carrier family 25, member 30
Membrane bound solute	transpor	t i				
CTATCCTCTC	29	7	36	0.00073	200916	Glutathione peroxidase 3
Glutathione peroxidase	catalyze	s the reduct	ion of hyd	lrogen peroxide	e and lipid pe	roxides and protects cells against oxidative
TTTCATTGCC	25	5	30	0.00078	308452	Transforming, acidic coiled-coil containing protein 1
The function of this gen known to interact with n	e has not nicrotubi	yet been de des and tubu	termined, i ilin and to [	t is expressed a be involved one	t high level du togenic transfe	ring early embryogenesis and is ormation.
TTCATCTGTC	16	1	17	0.00092	272675	Solute carrier family 20, member 1
Membrane bound solute	transpor	t				
GTGATGITTC	26	55	81	0.00097	31018	Cytochrome b-5
Membrane bound hemor	protein w	hich functio	ous as an <mark>el</mark>	ectron carrier fi	or several men	brane bound oxygenases.
GAGGAGAAGA	15	39	54	0.001	290899	Ribosomal protein L3
Structural component of	ribosom	ic .				
TATAGTATGT	30	8	38	0.001	210745	Glutamine synthetase
Cytoplamsic enzyme, ce	ntral role	e in cellular	nitrogen u	etabolism, cone	erts glutamate	Diberry Langtain 52
GGGAAGGCGG	22	49	71	0.0011	331113	Ribosomai protein S3a
AGAAGGACCT	ribosoir 13	ue Q	13	0.0011	21002	Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated glucose transporter), member 1
Membrane bound solute	transpol	t				
ATGAGAACAG	13	0	13	0.0011	236123	Splicing factor 3b, subunit 3

and the substance of the Advisor

- 認知語のないとなる。

÷

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene		
Forms part of a small nuclear ribonucleoproteins complex (U2 strRNP). These complexes may function in chromatin modification,								
TAATAAAATT		iepan.				Solute carrier family 7 (cationic		
	13	0	13	0.0011	276831	amino acid transporter, y+ system), member 8		
Membrane bound solute	transport	:						
TAGCCAACIT	13	0	13	0,0011	4509	Runt related transcription factor 2		
Transcription factor inw	olved in	osteoblastic	and skelet	al differentiation	on and morphe	ogenesis. Runx2 overexpression upregulates		
TACCTTTACC	ists, meiu	iamg collag	en type I an	d osteocalcin.		Cuclin D binding mub-like		
1100111100	13	0	13	0.0011	22480	transcription factor 1		
DNA dependant regulation	on of trai	scription						
GAAACTGAAC		,		A	10101	Ubiquitin-like, containing PHD		
	0	12	12	0.0011	42196	and RING finger domains, 1		
Interacts with topoisome	ase II-a	lpha which	introduces	transient doub	le-stranded bro	taks in DNA, required during the cell cycle.		
(Hopfiner et al., $2000$ ).						Phonybodiosterano 6A of MD		
CAAUUIUACA	20	3	23	0.0012	328846	specific rod alpha		
Hydrolase activity, Meta	bolism a	nd energy n	athways.			specific, rou, appla		
TCGCTGCTGC	20	3	23	0.0012	276647	Cyclin G associated kinase		
Governs the cell cycle.	expressio	n oscillates	slightly du	ring the cell o	vele, peaking a	at gl. Cyclin G is a transcriptional target of		
and functions downstread	m of, p53	3. Also regu	lates epider	mal growth fac	tor receptor si	gnaling.		
CCCTCACCCA	22	4	26	0.0012	371591	Tubulin, alpha 1		
Major constituent of mic	rotubule	З.						
GAGCGTTTTG	28	57	85	0.0012	5246	Peptidylprolyl isomerase A		
Encodes a member of the protein-folding events the	e cycloph rough ca	ulin family. Italyzation (	They have of cis-trans:	been proposed isomerization of	to act either an of peptidylprol;	s catalysts or as molecular chaperones in yl imide bonds in oligopeptides		
AGGAAGATCA	1	14	15	0.0014	4078	Antigen identified by monoclonal antibody Ki 67		
Cell surface protein used	l as cellui	lar marker e	f apoptosis			·		
TTCTCTCCCT	1	14	15	0.0014	306954	Carbonic anhydrase 14		
Carbonic anhydrases (C	As) are a	a large faini	ily of zine (	metalloenzyme	s that catalyze	the reversible hydration of carbon dioxide.		
They participate in a var	iety of bi	ological pro	ocesses.					
CAGAACAATG	15	1 • • •	16	0.0015	282084	Adhesion regulating molecule 1		
Plasma membrane prote	in promo	ting cell adl	iesion.			12/1		
GUUTAAIGIA	36	67	103	0.0015	371575	Ribosomal protein L21		
Structural component of	ribosom	B						
CCAAGAGACC	4	20	24	0.0015	46561	Leukocyte cell derived		
Bilingtional algeometri	n that eti	mulates the	առավե օք լ	-hondrawalas a	nd inhibits the	Chemotaxin I tube formation of analythalial cells. Serves as		
a growth regulator that s	timulates	the growth	of cultured	chondrocytes	in the presence	of basic fibroblast growth factor (fgf) but		
inhibits the growth of cu	ltured va	iscular endo	thelial cells					
TGACCCCGGG	72	112	184	0.0015	297372	Ribosomal protein 140		
Structural component of	tibosom	с						
CTGCICIGAC	17	2	19	0.0017	153566	BC019776 Meteorin, glial cell		
						differentiation regulator-like		
Unknown function								
TAGAATCCIA	12	33	45	0.0018	4132	Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2		
Cytokine-inducible nega	tive regu	ilator of cyte	okine signal	ling.				
CGACCTTTAC	12	0	12	0.0019	263396	Integrin beta 1 (fibronectin receptor beta)		
Critical cell adhesion me	olecule fo	or inducing	therapeutic	angiogenesis.	Has been show	on to regulate cell survival and differentiation		
in ischemic tissue						D coll transformation and 0 a st		
UTIAAAIUTI	12	0	12	0.0019	239605	p-cen translocation gene 2, anti- proliferative		

1000

1.1

5

. L.

States and the

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
A member of the BTG/Tob family. This family has structurally related proteins that appear to have antiproliferative properties. This encoded protein is involved in the regulation of the G1/S transition of the cell cycle. Modulates transcription regulation						
mediated by csri.	12	0	12	0.0010	256422	Zine finger protein 162
Also known as solicing f	12 actor ( )	v velonos to a	new and or	o.0019 wwing femily (	200922 of genes dubbed	STAR (signal transduction and activator
of RNA) proteins, Thoug	t to pla	y a downstr	eam role in	cell signaling	and RNA bindi	ng.
GGAATTTAGA	12	O	12	0.0019	332793	Blood vessel epicardial substance
This gene is expressed in cardiac and skeletal muscle and is involved in the regeneration of adult skeletal muscle and may act as a cell adhesion molecule in coronary vasculogenesis. By is an early marker of developing vascular smooth muscle cells						
TGCAGGAGCT	12	0	12	0.0019	333388	Chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 4
Part of the nucleosome remodelling and histone deacetylation (nurd) complex. Expression increases in vascular endothelium in response to TNF alpha secretion						
GTGAAACTAA	9	28	37	0.002	66	Ribosomal protein S4, X-linked
Structural component of	ribosom	ė,				
AAAATGTACT	0	11	11	0.002	3752	RAN binding protein 1
Interacts with GTP mea progression through the e	tabolism cell cycle	and consec by regulati	juently may ng the trans	y act in an int sport of protein	racellular signa i and nucleic ac	ling pathway with possible involvement in its across the nuclear membrane.
AATCCAGCCC	0	11	11	0.002	20206	Aquaporin 2
This gene encodes a wat plasma monbranes perm GCTATACAGA	er chann eability i 0	to water, the	reby permi 11	thing water to r	nove in the dire	orms a water-specific channel that increases often of an osmotic gradient. I encine aminopentidase 3
Cotaluzes the removal of	'uusubet	ibited n-tem	nine lecte	o.co≠ acids firam ua	rique pestidee	2. Souther than the provide of the souther states of the souther states of the souther
ATTOCTTAGA	A	10	- 73	ο (γι <b>25</b>	371574	RNA binding motif protein 3
PNA binding and process		17	23	0.0010	5/15/4	Alter offening mover protones
ΔΔ <u><u><u></u></u>ΔΔ<u>Δ</u>Δ<u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u><u>Δ</u></u>	1	12	14	0.0025	3003	RAS devamethasone-induced 1
This gene encodes a nov	el GTP-ì	inding prote	ein (G nrote	ein) that is stim	ulated by since	exercise to function as an
inhibitor of the ERK mit morphology, growth and	ogen act cell-exti	ivated prote racellular ma	in kinase ca atrix interac	scade. It may j ctions.	play a role in de	examethasone-induced alterations in cell
CGCTGGTTCC	21	45	66	0.0026	371622	Ribosomal protein L11
Structural component of	ribosom	e				
GCCCGGGAAT	33	61	94	0.0028	322491	Ribosomal protein L17
Structural component of ribosome						
TACTIGTGTT	18	3	21	0.003	15125	Stromal cell derived factor receptor 1
Small cytokine that belongs to the intercrine family, members of which activate leukocytes and are often induced by proinflammatory stimuli such as lipopolysaccharide, TNP, or ILI. Chemoattractant active on lymphocytes and monocytes, but not						
neutrophils. ACTCCTTAGT	11	0	11	0.0032	336400	Syntrophin, gamma 1
Syntrophins are cytoplas	mio peri	pheral meni	brane prote	ains. Involved i	n actin and prot	ein binding
CCTGTGTATG	11	0	11	0.0032	293605	Tumor protein p53 inducible nuclear protein 2
Function unknown						-
CTGGAGACGC	11	0	11	0.0032	26743	Apolipoprotein A-I
Apolipoprotein A-I (apo	A-l) is th	ne major pro	tein in high	h density lipopt	rotein (HDL),	
GCTTGCCTCC	11	0	11	0.0032	232293	Ubiquitin specific protease 36
Ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation comprises a major proteolytic pathway in eukaryotes. Usp36 has growth-suppressing activity and induces arrest in g1 phase upon controlled expression.						
TAAATTCAGG	11	٥	11	0.0032	275909	Sema domain, immunoglobulin domain (Ig), transmembrane domain (TM) and short
						cytoplasmic domain, (semaphorin) 4B
Semaphorins have been implicated in neuronal growth and differentiation. Sema4b is expressed differentially in the olfactory pathway both during development and regeneration						
TTAGAACGTG	11	0	1!	0.0032	27218	Mortality factor 4 like 2
Involved in growth regulation and replicative senescence. The human homolog MRGX can repress or activate the B-myb promoter depending on the cell type studied, suggesting that there may be tissue-specific functions of this protein.						

1. N. A.C.

.

. . . . .

\* 92 X

いた。 「「「「「」」の「「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」」では、「」

たいがたる きんざい いたいく うわい いっきがあたい いたい

2.
Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene				
CCCCTATATT	37	14	51	0.0033	288639	RAB guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) 1				
Regulatory protein Rab inflammation in vivo.	GEF1 )	sinds to R	as and ne	gatively regula	ates Ras activ	ration. RabGEF1 null mice develop skin				
GGGTTTGGAG	27	8	35	0.0034	274463	Endothelin converting enzyme 1				
Converts big endothelin-1 to endothelin-1 type if membrane protein. Mice null for Ece 1 have numerous eraniofacial and cardiac										
ATTAATCAGT	32	13	43	0.0035	46754	Solute carrier family 38, member				
Membrane bound solute	transpor	l				4				
ACCCTGCTTA	0	10	10	0.0035	206417	Cystathionine beta-synthase				
This enzyme has an impo	ortant rol	le of this enz	yme in glu	tathione-depend	dent redox hon	nestasis				
GAAGCTGTAT	0	10	10	0.0035	5079	Hydroxysteroid 11-beta				
Catalwzes the conversion	of cortis	sol to the ins	white meta	bolite cortisope		denyorogenase 2				
GTCTGCTTGT	010010.	10	10	0 00 <b>35</b>	4375	Fatso				
Thought to be involved	in the r	nocesses of	DIDERAIDU	ned cell death.	craniofacial d	evelopment, and establishment of left-right				
asymmetry during embry	onie dev	velopment.	P8							
TGCCACCACT	Q	10	10	0.0035	327037	Similar to Phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate 3-kinase C2 domain- containing beta polypeptide (Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase-C2- beta) (PtdIns-3-kinase C2 beta) (Pt3K-C2beta) (C2-Pt3K)				
GTTCACTTTC						ATP synthese. H+ transporting				
01101101110	S	20	25	0,0036	20841	mitochondrial F1 complex, epsilon subunit				
Energy metabolism										
GGCAATAATG	53	25	78	0.004	9925	Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (NADP+), soluble				
The protein encoded by	y this g	ene is the	NADP(+)-	dependent isoc	itrate dehydro	genase which serves a significant role in				
GGAGTAAGAA	4	. 18	22	0.0041	371563	H3 histope, family 3B				
Histones are basic nucle	ar protei	ns that are r	esponsible	for the nucleos	ome structure	of the chromosomal fiber. Histone h3, along				
with histone h4, plays a	central re	ole in nuclet	some form	ation.						
GIGITAACCA	13	1	14	0.0041	2050	Ribosomal protein L15				
Structural component of	ribosom	C								
TCATTCICCA	13	1	14	0.0041	257837	ATPase, class VI, type TIA				
Integral memorane ATPa transport of ions such as	ase. The calcium	across merr	stein 18 pro ibranes	oably phosphor	ylated in its in-	connectate state and likely drives the				
GTGGTGCACA	2	14	16	0.0046	28779	Ubiquitin specific protease 54				
Member of the ubiquitin	-specific	protease (U	SP) family	functions in th	e extremely co	mplex and diverse USP proteolytic system.				
TGAAGTACTG	15	2	17	0.0047	17519	Zfp259 Zinc finger protein 259				
Interacts with the surviv SMN in nuclear bodies.	al motor	r neurons (s	mn) gene i	n mice, essenti	al for embryou	tic viability. Required for the localization of				
GGGTTTTTAT	36	14	50	0.0047	258204	Nuclease sensitive element binding protein 1				
Also called MSY 1. Reg	ulates ex	pression of	the murine	growth hormor	ne receptor ger	ie.				
GGTATCAGTC	19	4	23	0.0047	21281	Rng finger protein 4				
Transcription regulator, transcription. Studies in Enhances steroid reacht	interacts the mou	with, and in use suggest a ted transcript	thibits the a trole for the tional activ	activity of, TRP is protein in spe- vation as well as	SI, a transcrip ermatogenesis, activating ba	tion suppressor of GATA-mediated also highly expressed in human testes. cal transcription				
ACAGTTAAGC		uansonp 0	10	0.0054	209813	Ephrin-B class 2				
The ephrins and EPH-re implicated in mediating	lated rec develops	eptors comp mental even	rise the lar ts, especial	gest subfamily ly in the pervou	of receptor pro	tein-tyrosine kinases and have been n erythropoiesis. The ephrin-B (EFNB) class				
are transmembrane prote	ins impl	licated in a c	ontrol syst	em integrating l	blood vessel ar	d tissue morphogenesis.				
ACGAAAACCA	10	0	10	0.0054	4509	Runt related transcription factor 2				

A Sector

ì

A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF

1

-

A DA REPAIR AND A DE

ひょうがいましょう いっぱん そしょい かいあげき

PART NO PARTY

and the second second second

2.1.1.1

. . . .

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
Transcription factor invo	lved in sts. inclu	osteoblastic ding collage	and skelet	al differentiati d esteccalcin.	on and morpho	ogenesis. Runx2 overexpression upregulates			
CCACTGTACA	10	0	10	0.0054	267473	PHD finger protein 20-like 1			
Nucleic acid binding	10	0	10	0.0054	34903	FSH primary response 1			
Function as yet unknown	. May fu	nction as a	transcription	nal regulator.					
GAGGAGGAGG	10	0	10	0.0054	136604	Nuclear factor, interleukin 3, regulated			
The NFIL3 (E4BP4) transcription factor has been identified as a key regulation protein affecting murine interleukin-3 (IL-3)- dependent cell survival. Expression of NFIL3 is regulated by oncogenic Ras mutants through both the Raf-mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathways. NFIL3 inhibits apoptosis without affecting Bcl-xL expression. F4BP4 may play a role in the glucocorticoid repression of genes.									
GUGAAGGUIG	10	0	10	0.0054	2718	factor 1 beta 2			
Translation elongation is the process of adding amino acylated tRNAs to the growing polypeptide chain. Translation elongation factor 1A, eEF1A, transfers aminoacylated tRNAs to the A site of the ribosome. This is a GTP-dependent process catalyzed by eEF1B, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor.									
GTGTACTTTC	10	0	10	0.0054	20615	Peroxisomal biogenesis factor 11a			
A PPAR alpha target g	ene PEX	11 proteins	s play a di	rect role in pe	roxisome divis	sion and that their loss inhibits peroxisome			
TACTGCTAAG	erhaps du 10	ie to altered 0	membrane 10	structure or dy 0.0054	mamics. 273915	Gene rich cluster, C3f gene			
Unknown function						· -			
TGGACATTTG						Low density lipoprotein receptor-			
	10	0	10	0,00 <b>5</b> 4	276656	related protein 8, apolipoprotein e			
Apolipoprotein E is a component of lipoprotein such as chylomicron remnants, very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), and high density lipoprotein (HDL). Binds lipoprotein and transports it into cells by endocytosis.									
TTCTGTGTCA		• •			* *	6-phosphofructo-2-			
	10	0	10	0.0054	19669	kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase			
3 Hypoxia inducible factor-1 inducible gene. A key regulator of glycolytic flux. Up regulated in response to hypoxia by HIF-1 to									
AATGCTTGAT	24	7	31	0.0057	270186	Retinoblastoma binding protein 7			
Together with metastasis functions in the regulation tunnor cells through inter	s-associa m of cell fering w	ted protein-: proliferatio ith normal c	2, it deacety on and differ cell cycle an	dates p53 and rentiation. Hig d/or enhancing	modulates its e h levels of RbA g apoptotic cell	ffect on cell growth and apoptosis and potential of the spression inhibit the transformation of death.			
TGTATAAAAA	12	30	42	0.0058	87773	Tumor rejection antigen gp96			
Molecular chaperone that	at functio	ns in the pro	occssing an	d transport of s	secreted protein	1\$,			
CCCCAGCCAG	35	61	96	0.0058	236868	Ribosomal protein S3			
Structural component of AGAGCGAAGT	ribosom 44	с 72	116	0.0063	290786	Ribosomal protein L41			
Structural component of	ribosom	e				-			
AATATGGATG	0	9	9	0.0063	30012	High density lipoprotein (HDL)			
High density lipoprotein tissues and in the reverse	(HDL) j e transpo	alays a key r rtation of el:	role in the tr tolesterol fr	ransportation c om extrahepati	of cholesterol to ic tissues to the	extrahepatic tissues including steroidogenic liver. Previously shown to be present in the			
rodent ovary and regulat AGCAGTGCTT	ed by go 0	nadotrophir 9	15 9	0.0063	274715	Coiled-coil domain containing 3			
Unknown function	•								
CCTTGACACC	0	9	9	0.0063	1262	Cytochrome P450, family 17,			
Cholesterol side choin a	leavage -	uzvme no	gestenne e	unthesis		subraining a, perspeptitie 1			
GCAGAAAGCA	navago t	۵۵۲۲۵۵۰, più م	economo aj A	0.0063	268397	Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein			
GTPase activating prote	v In involu	ed in reares	nisation of	the actin ester	keleton	ere in ere noe nourning protoni			
TGAAACACTC	U 111014	o miconga	6	0 0063	1405	Provrammed cell death 4			
Thought to also a set of	V Anonto-		₹ nenific col-1	hanat vet E	LUUI	i rogiannikat con ticatif 4			
AAGTAATGTG	1 apoptos 12	na out the SI	13	0.0069	10516	Prolactin receptor			

.

1000

and the second state of the second second

and the second second

いたい とう たいしょう かい いまま きょうたい

Ś

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
Prolactin has been implied shown to be present in lu	cated in p atcinized	ahysiologica granulosa o	I functions ells	such as immur	toregulation an	d ovarian steroid production. Prir has been
AGTTCATAAG	12	1	13	0.0069	359654	Similar to airway trypsin-like 3
GTGTCCGTAC	12	1	13	0.0069	294882	F11 receptor
Regulator of tight junctic platelet receptor.	on assemì	bly in epithe	elia. Can als	io act as a recej	ptor for reoviru	is, a ligand for the integrin LFA1 and a
TGATGTTAAC	12	1	13	0.0069	255848	Hexokinase 2
Hexokinases phosphoryli Expression of this gene is in rapidly growing cance	ate gluco s insulin- s cells,	se to produc responsive,	e glucose-( and studies	5-phosphate, th in rats sugges	t that it is invol	glucose to the glycolytic pathway. lved in the increased rate of glycolysis seen
TGTTGGTTGA	12	1	13	0.0069	246990	Reticulon 3
Retinal expressed protein	n implica	ted in axon	developme	nt, precise fund	tion unknown	
TTACCACATA	20	5	25	0.0069	28262	Regulator of G-protein signaling 2
Known to regulate meml	brane sig	naling pathy	vays, expre	ssed in ovarian	follicles in res	ponse to an ovulatory dose of gonadotropin.
TCTCCAGGCG	31	55	86	0.0075	200608	Clusterin
An anti-apoptotic factor:	regulated	i by IGF-1R	/Src/MAPF	VEgr-1 signali	ng	
ACAGCCAGGG	-		10	0.0076		G protein-coupled receptor,
	1	11	12	0.0075	242413	family C, group 5, member C
Member of the type 3 G	protein-c	oupled rece	ptor family	. The specific i	function of this	protein is unknown
ATAGTAAGCT	1	11	12	0.0075	289707	Fascin homolog 1, actin bundling protein (Strongylocentrotus)
						purpuratus)
Crosslinks F-actin into h	ighly ard	lered bundle	s within dy	namic cell exte	ensions, acts as	an actin bundling protein.
GAAATGTTGT	I	11	12	0.0075	22117	Polymerase (RNA) II (DNA directed) polypeptide G
Subunit of the polymeras	se respon	sible for sy	nthesizing r	nessenger RN/	A in cukaryotes	
GCCTTTATGA	16	35	51	0.0076	16775	Ribosomal protein S24
Structural component of	ribosom	e				
ATAAGGGATT	14	2	16	0.0076	4593	UDP-galactose translocator 2
GTCAACGTAC	25	8	33	0.0076	179189	Ribosomal protein L36a-like
Structural component of	ribosom	e				
ATACACCAGA		-				Protein tyrosine phosphatase-like
	10	3	19	0.0077	27286	(proline instead of catalytic arginine), member b
ATGTTCGTGG	16	3	19	0.0077	1791	Dual specificity phosphatase 6
Also known as Mitogen- phosphoserine/threonine fibroblast growth factor	-activated and pho signallin	l protein kir sphotyrosin g.	ase phosph e residues. ´	atase 3. Inactiv This gene prod	ates target kina luot inactivates	ases by dephosphorylating both the ERK2 and mediates the response to
CTAATAAAGC						Finkel-Biskis-Reilly murine
	28	51	79	0.0078	329631	sarcoma virus (FBR-MuSV) ubiquitously expressed (fox derived)
Function unknown						,
GGATATGTGG	42	19	61	0.0078	181959	Early growth response i
Functions as a transcript	tional reg	ulator. Acti	vates target	genes required	l for differentit	ation and mitogenesis.
GTCTTGGGCG	36	15	51	0.0079	30156	Protease, serine, 11 (Igf binding)
Proposed to regulate the suggested to be a regular beta 1	availabi tor of cel	lity of insuli I growth. Bi	in-like grow inds to varie	th factors (1G) ous TGF-beta p	Fs) by cleaving proteins and inl	IGF-binding proteins. It has also been abits the signaling of BMP-4, -2 and TGF-
TGACTGGGAG	36	15	51	0.0079	333849	Nur77 downstream gene 2
(Nur77-NGFIB) Novel has been implicated in n	gene of i legative s	unknown fu selection.	nction who	se expression i	s regualted by	Nur77, a nuclear orphan steroid receptor that
TGGGCAAAGC	8	23	31	0.0085	371625	Eukaryotic translation elongation

ŝ

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
Translation elongation fa translation in eukaryotic	actor-1 (I cells, EF	EF-1), a ubio 1-1 binds au	uitously ea inoacyl-tR	pressed protein NAs and then the	that regulates	the efficiency and fidelity of mRNA o 80 S ribosomes, while binding and			
TGTACCCAGG	23	7	30	0.0086	3196	Alpha glucosidase 2 alpha neutral subunit			
Structural gene for lysos	somal enz	ymes							
AAGGAAATGG	26	48	74	0.0087	285021	Ribosomal protein L31			
Structural component of	fribosom	e							
ACACTCTTTG	9	0	9	0.0091	309193	Ropporin 1-like			
Interacts with both A-l specific.	cinase an	choring pro	otein and t	he Rho signalii	lng pathway, j	present on sperm and thought to be sperm			
CAAACACCGG	9	0	9	0.0091	30208	Mitochondrial ribosomal protein S27			
Structural component of	f mitocho	ndrial ribose	ome.						
CACTGTCTTC						Solute carrier family 3 (activators			
	9	0	9	0.0091	4114	of dibasic and neutral amino acid transport), member 2			
Membrane bound solute	transpor	t							
CIGTAGAGIG	9	0	9 5	0.0091	196508	Mortality factor 4 like 1			
Component of the ma4 histone acetyltransferase (hat) complex which is involved in transcriptional activation of scleet genes. This may both alter nucleosome - dna interactions and promote interaction of the modified histones with other proteins which positively regulate transcription. May be required for the activation of transcriptional programs associated with oncogene and proto-oncogene mediated growth induction, tumor suppressor mediated growth arrest and replicative senescence, apoptosis, and dna repair. Interestingly, MRG15 is most highly expressed in adult testis and Sp1 is a testis-enriched protein, suggesting a rotorial rola for MRG15 is most degram and differentiation.									
CTTTAGAAAA			o.	0.0001	249709	Solute carrier organic anion			
Mamhrona hourd solute	y transmor	4	y	0.0094	208798	transporter family, member 3a1			
GCTGGATGTG	G G	۰ ۵	9	0.0091	2580	Syndecan 1			
Mediates cell-matrix au	d celi-cel	ladhesion a	nd inhibits	cell invasion	2000	Syndoodin 1			
GGAAATGACT	9 9	0	9	0.0091	46497	Ras homolog gene family, member E			
Members of the Rho far response to extracellular GTP-bound form.	nily of R: r growth :	as-related G factors. Rho	TPases, su family me	ch as ARHE, re mbers appear to	gulate the orga o cycle between	nization of the actin cytoskeleton in a an inactive GDP-bound form and an active			
GGGGCAATCC	9	0	9	0.0091	296202	Inositol polyphosphate-5- phosphatase B			
Involved in sertoli celly	vacuoliza	tion and ger	m cell adh	eston in mouse t	testes	<b>1</b>			
GGGGGGAGGGA	9	0	9	0.0091	273915	Gene rich cluster, C3f gene			
A PPARalpha regulated	l gene inv	olved in lip	id metaboli	sm and known	to be upregula	ted in cells with peroxisome proliferation,			
GTGCTGCCTT	9	0	9	0.0091	295565	Echinoderm microtubule associated protein like 4			
Cytoskeletal componen	t								
GTGTCTGATA	9	0	9	0.0091	738	Procollagen, type IV, alpha 1			
Major type IV alpha co T $\triangle$ $\triangle$ C $\triangle$ TTGT $\triangle$	llagen elu o	ain of basen	nent membr a	aucs.	22225	Zine (inster protein 313			
Unbrown function		U	-	0.0091	~~~~	Enile Hilger protoin 515			
ΤΑΑΥΓΩΑGΑΓ	a	0	a	0.0001	277812	Villin 2			
Involved in connection	s of mai	or ovtoskele	z tal structu	res to the plasm	na membrane.	It plays a key role in cell surface storeure			
adhesion, migration, an TAGACAAAGG	d organiz	ation.		<b>-</b>		Adenosine deaminase. RNA-			
	9	0	9	0.0091	276815	specific, B1			
Responsible for pre-mR	NA editi	ing of the glu	utamate rec	eptor subunit B	;				
TATTGTGGCT	9	0	9	0.0091	195663	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor $1\Lambda$ (P21)			
Transcription factor/reg	gulator res	sponsive to a	activin A s	ignalling and p	reviously show	n to regulate sertoli cell proliferation			

- -

· · ·

いたのである。 おやいたち 松木 ちょうこう ディア 読み やまや 御には感がたなる シー・・・・

一日,如何有有人。 化合物合金 化合物合金 化合物合金 化合物合金

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
TCAGTTTAAT	9	0	9	0.0091	275266	Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) 12			
Rho GTPases mediate of particular transcript is h with the insulin-like gro IGF-1	cellular p ighly exp wth fact	processes th pressed in h pr-1 (IGF-1)	at are init aematopoi receptor,	iated by extract etic stem cell fr suggesting a po	cllular stimuli actions and ha tential physiol	through G protein coupled receptors. This as been shown to demonstrate colocalization logic as an activator of RhoA in response to			
TGCAATATGG	9	0	9	0.0091	260084	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4A2			
Subunit of a protein complex involved in cap recognition and is required as a single polypeptide chain for mRNA binding to ribosome									
TGCTACTTTA	9	0	9	0.0091	153415	E2F transcription factor 5			
The E2F family plays a crucial role in the control of cell cycle. This is an transcriptional activator of many genes whose products are involved in cell proliferation. E2F5 is dispensable for cell cycle progression but necessary for G1 arrest of cycling cells and while other members of the E2F family participate in maintaining a proliferative unifferentiated data.									
TGGATTTGCT	9	0	9	0.0091	248337	Slit-like 2 (Drosophila)			
Unknown function									
TTGAGGTAGA						A disintegrin-like and			
	9	0	9	0.0091	1421	metalloprotease (reprolysin type) with thrombospondin type 1			
Active metallogratesee	elequer r	untenalveat		n versiean and i	hrovican Has	monti, 1 anglogenic inhibitor activity. They have			
been associated with var	ious role	s in counect	ive tissue	organization, co	agulation, infl	augiogene influence activity. They have augustation, arthritis, angiogenesis and cell			
migration as well as folli	icular rup	oture.				<b>D</b> <sup>(1)</sup> 10			
GITGUIGAGA	30	53	83	0.0092	100113	Ribosomal protein 10			
Structural component of	ribosotu	e				~ .			
AATGGCTAGC	5	18	23	0.0092	35389	Cytochrome c, somatic			
Component of the electron	on transp	ort chain in	mitochon	iria. Cytochrom	e e is also inve	olved in initiation of apoptosis.			
TGTGAAGTAG	37	16	53	0.0093	371546	ADP-ribosylation factor 1			
The ARF1 protein is localized to the Golgi apparatus and has a central role in intra-Golgi transport.									
TCCTTATATT	73	42	115	0.0099	290285	RAB39, member RAS oncogene family			
Rab39 is a novel Golgi-a	associate	d Rab GTPs	ise involve	d in cellular end	locytosis.				
GAATTAACAT						Tyrosine 3-			
	7	21	28	0.01	234700	monooxygenase/tryptophan 5- monooxygenase activation			
One of a family of ubique development and neuror	itous ph al migra	osphoserine tion. There i	/threonine is a crucial	binding protein role for 14-3-36	s. Mice deficie epsilon in neur	protein, epsilon polypeptide ant in Ywhae have defects in brain onal development through sunstance of the			
effects of CDK5 phosph TOCTOTOGGA	orylation 7	1 - 21	28	0.01	4511	Apolinoprotein A-IV presureor			
Analizamentale A IV	1	21	20	0.01	+333	Aponpoprotein A-14 precusor			
Aponpoprotein A-1V pp $\bigcirc A \land A $ $\bigcirc A \land T \land T \land T \land T \land T \land$	ecutsor.					ATD mathema Hills transmarting			
GAAATATATA	11	27	38	0.01	2966	mitochondrial F0 complex,			
						subunit c (subunit 9), isoform 3			
Energy metabolism.	9	24	33	0.01	371629	Ribosomal protein L38			
Structural component of	f ribosom	ie.							
AGAGAGAGAG						Phospholipase A2, group VII			
	19	5	24	0.01	9277	(platelet-activating factor acetylbydrolase, plasma)			
The secretory PLA2 (sP requiring secretory enzy	LA2) fat unes that	nily, in whi have been i	ch 10 isozy mplicated	nnes have been in a number of l	identified, con biological proc	sists of low-molecular weight, Ca2+- ecses, such as modification of elcosanoid			
GTGCTTCAA	in, and hi	ost actense.				GTL2_imprinted maternally			
OT GOT TOTAL	4	16	20	0.01	289645	expressed untranslated mRNA			
The mouse Gtl2 gene is	different	tially expres	sed during	embryonic dev	elopment, ence	odes multiple alternatively spliced transcripts,			

and the second of the second

and may act as an RNA.

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
GTTGAGGTTT	32	13	45	0.01	331964	DNA segment, Chr 4, Wayne State University 53, expressed			
Unknown function									
GGCAGCACAA	24	8	32	0.011	9043	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein L			
Plays a major tole in the formation, packaging, processing, and function of mRNA.									
AAGGTCTTTA	0	8	8	0.011	298893	Casein kinase II, alpha 1 polypeptide			
Casein kinase II is a seri-	ne/threor	ine protein	kinase that	phosphorylates	acidic protein	s such as casein.			
CGTGGTGGCC	0	-	0	0.011	10071	Cartilage oligomeric matrix			
	0	ð	8	0.011	45071	protein			
Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein is a noncollagenous extracellular matrix protein previously thought to have a relatively cartilage-specific expression pattern.									
TAAAGGATAC	0	8	8	0.011	1213	Mannan-binding lectin serine			
Also known or the Police	active fo	ator (RARE	) this is a <i>i</i>	umanlumant dan	and aut hactar	protease 1 initial feator that hinds to the Pa and P2			
Also known as the Ra-reactive factor (RARF), this is a complement-dependent bactericidal factor that binds to the Ra and R2 polysaccharides expressed by certain enterobacteria. This gene is involved in the mannan-binding lectin (MBL) pathway of complement activation.									
TTCCTATATT	59	32	91	0.011	179011	Vav2 oncogene			
VAV2 is the second mer	nber of t	he VAV ond	ogene fam	ily universally e	expressed in m	ost tissues. Acts as a guanine nucleotide			
exchange factor for the rho family of ras-related gtpases. Vav-2 has a role in B cell antigen receptor calcium signaling and is critical to B cell development and function									
ATCACTCCAA	11	I.	12	0.011	273142	Membrane interacting protein of			
A mammalian glyceror	bosohoi	nositol pho	snhodieste	rase regulated	by stimulatio	n of G protein-coupled recentors. MIR16			
provides a link between	phospho	inositide me	tabolism a	nd G protein sig	nal transductio	on,			
GTGCTACTCC	11	1	12	0.011	738	Procollagen, type IV, alpha 1			
Cytoskeletal component									
TGCAGTGTTA	11	1	12	0.011	249342	7-dehydrocholesterol reductase			
Catalyzes the reduction	of 7-deby	/drocholeste	rol (DHC),	, the terminal re	action in chole	sterol biosynthesis.			
TTGTTACTGC	11	1	12	0.011	280231	Annexin A7			
Calcium/phospholipid-b function in electromecha	inding p mical co	rotein which upling, prob	h promotes ably throug	s membrane fus gh Ca(2+) homo	sion and is in costasis.	volved in exceptosis. Suggested to have a			
ССПТААТІС	3	14	17	0.012	154306	Ubiquitin specific protease 45			
Has a role in the negative 1,6-bisphosphatase (fbp: that would compete with	e regulat ase), Ace 1 ubiquiti	ton of glucc elerates pro nated protei	ncogenesis tcosomal b ins to bind	: Required for p reakdown of ubi to the proteoson	proteosome-de iquitinated pro ne.	pendent catabolite degradation of fructose- oteins as it disassembles free ubiquitin chains			
AGGGGCCGGT	15	3	18	0.012	232930	Neuritin 1			
Neuritín is an immedia	te-early g	gene induce	d by Ca(2-	+) influx throug	th NMDA rec	eptors and L-type voltage-sensitive calcium			
channels. Expression is this is an effector gene i	mediated targeted l	l through th by signal tra	e CaM kin insduction	ase and MAP ki pathways media	inase pathway ating synaptic	s and is induced by camp. In neuronal tissue plasticity. It has also been shown to undergo			
TTGATGTACA	15	3	18	0.012	223946	Splicing factor, arginine/serine-			
The function of this prometers	stein is n	iot yet knuv	vn but stru	cture and immu	nolocalization	i data suggest that it may play a role in pre-			
ATTGTAATAT	13	2	15	0.012	4509	Runt related transcription factor 2			
A member of the Core specific gene expressio	Binding n pattern	Factor gen is which op	e family (, erate to re	Runx 1, Runx 2 gulate developn	2 and Runx 3 nent in different	) of transcription factors with distinct tissue ent cellular lineages. Runx genes have been			
identified as potential or GGGGCAGGGA	ncogenes 13	. 2	15	0.012	204670	Thioredoxin domain containing 1			
Modifies molecules wit	h its oxid	loreductase	activity and	l be involved in	the redox rega	alation in the endoplasmic reticutan,			
GTATGTATGG	13	2	15	0.012	17977	Transcription factor Dp 2			
Can stimulate e2f-dope	ndent tr	anscription	by binding	DNA coopera	tively with e2	If transcription factor family members. The			
dp2/e2f complex funct proliferation and apopto	ions in isís.	the control	of cell-cy	cle progression	from Gi to	S phase and appears to mediate both cell			
TCCCGATATC	13	2	15	0.012	263414	Poliovirus receptor-related 4			
Expressed on different outgrowth.	lating ne	uronal cells	nuring t	eurogenesis, in	ay piay a role	e in early neuronal differentiation and axon			

та 

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
TGTTCATCTT	13	2	15	0.012	249555	Procollagen, type III, alpha 1
Component of cytoskele	ion					
CAAATGCTGT	l	10	11	0.013	20943	FK506 binding protein 9
Also known as Peptidyl-	prolyl cis	s-trans isom	erase, acce	lecates the foldi	ng of proteins	during protein synthesis
GGAGATCTTT	1	10	11	0.013	167 <b>62</b> 5	G protein-coupled receptor 85
G-protein coupled recept	lor with i	dentical pro	tein sequer	uce in man and i	mouse, previo	usly believed to be confined to the brain in
the mouse GGAGCCATTG						NADH dehydrogeness
GUNDEENITG	l	10	11	0.013	275780	(ubiquinone) 1 alpha subcomplex, 5
Energy metabolism						
AATAAACACG	20	6	26	0.014	257629	Protease, serine, 35
Chymotrypsin and trypsi	n activity	y, proteolysi	s and pept	idolysis		
AACGTGAGGT	8	0	8	0.015	258773	Zinc finger, MYND domain containing 11
Functions as a transcript	ional rep	ressor, inhib	its the tran	scriptional activ	ity of c-Myb.	-
AAGCTCCGAC	8	0	8	0.015	12917	Multiple endocrine neoplasia 1
Men1 encodes menin, a repression of the endoge	nuclear j nous IGF	protein. Inter FBP-2, a gen	nets with a contract of the second second	several transcrip regulate cell pro	stion factors a diferation.	nd inhibits their activities and is essential for
AGAATATTTI	8	0	8	0.015	253564	Actinin, alpha 1
Alpha actinin is an f-acti isoform is found along n AGATCATCTA	n cross-l ticrofilar 8	inking prote nent bundles 0	in with mu s and adhes 8	dliple roles in d rens-type junctio 0.015	ifferent cell ty ons, where it i: 246003	pcs. In nonmuscle cells, the cytoskeletal s involved in binding actin to the membrane. Frizzled homolog 1 (Drosophila)
Members of the 'frizzled	i' gene fa	amily are re	ceptors for	Wnt signaling	proteins. The	FZD1 protein contains a signal peptide and
belongs to the g-protein	coupled	receptor fz/s	mo family		-	
ATCCGGCGCC	8	0	8	0.015	153758	Transcription elongation factor B (SIII), polypeptide 2
Encodes the protein clon clongation by RNA poly	igin B, w merase I	hich is a reg I.	ulatory sul	bunit of the tran	scription facto	or B (SIII) complex. This complex activates
ATGTTTGGGG	8	0	8	0.015	17461	Serine/threonine kinase 16
CCCTCTGGAT	8	0	8	0.015	100144	S100 calcium binding protein A6 (calcyclin)
Implicated in the regulat	ion of ce	ll growth an	d prolifera	tion,		
CTCAGATAAC	8	0	8	0.015	34399	Zinc metalloproteinase, STE24
1		- 	-	······································		homolog (S. cerevisiae)
A multispanning memory premature death in home GGGGGGAAGA	rane proi ozygous- 8	null mice. Z	aismbutea mpstc24-n 8	ull mice are def 0.015	ective in the p 27308	roteolytic processing of prelamin A. ADP-ribosylation factor 6
A small guanine nucleot	ide-bindi	ing protein t	hat plays a	role in vesícula	r trafficking a	nd as an activator of phospholipase D.
GTAGCGCTCA				0.015		Peptidylglycine alpha-amidating
	8	0	8	0.015	5121	monooxygenase
The protein encoded b monooxygenase, and ma TCCCCCCCTT	y this g ty he inv 8	ene localize olved with t 0	es to perin he trafficki 8	nuclear endoson ing of this enzyr 0.015	ues and asso ne through sea 4946	ciates with peptidylglycine alpha-amidating cretory or endosomal pathways. Ins2 Insulin II
Insulin upregulated gene	,					
TCTCTCAGTC	8	0	8	0.015	1620	Annexin A5
The protein encoded by which have been imp phospholipase A2 and p transduction, inflammat	this gea licated a protein k ion, grow	ne belongs i in membran inase C inh vth and diffe	to the annu ne-related sibitory pro- rentiation.	exin family of a cvents along stein with calci-	calcium-deper exocytotic an um channel a	ident phospholipid binding proteins some of id endocytotic pathways. Annexin 5 is a ctivity and a potential role in cellular signal
TGACATCCAT	8	0	8	0.015	233889	Solute carrier family 39 (zinc transporter), member 10
Membrane bound solute	transpor	ri				
TGTCCACACA	8	0	8	0.015	276656	Low density lipoprotein receptor- related protein 8, apolipoprotein e

ŗ

Solution of the second second

the second second second

金子 二部第二人 一人 二人

1.0

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
This gene encodes an apolipoprotein E receptor, a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family. Apolipoprotein E is a small lipophilic plasma protein and a component of lipoproteins such as chylomicron remnants, very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), and high density lipoprotein (HDL). The apolipoprotein E receptor is involved in cellular recognition and internalization of these lipoproteins. Alternative splicing generates three transcript variants for this gene; additional variants have been described, but their full length nature has not been determined.									
TGTGGATGGC	8	0	8	0.015	30602	Ubiquitin specific protease 22			
Belongs to the peptidase	e c19 fam	ily, Invovle	d in the syn	thesis and deg	radation of prot	eins.			
TTGCTGCCCT	8	0	8	0.015	247764	Peroxisome biogenesis factor 19			
PEX genes encode the r these (PEX 3, 16, and 19	machiner 9)	y required t	o assemble	the peroxisor	ne. Membrane	assembly and maintenance requires three of			
TTCATTCTAG	18	5	23	0.016	122366	Heterogeneous nuclear			
<b>RNA binding protein co</b>	omplexes o influen	with heters	geneous m A processi	uclear RNA (1	mRNA). These spects of mRN/	proteins are associated with pre-mRNAs in metabolism and transport			
TATCCCACGC	23	8	31	0.016	280038	S100 calcium binding protein A11			
Proinflammatory evroki	ne and a	chemostica	etant for m	onorates and a	aramulocytes St	(Calizzarin)			
mouse embryo and in tu hypoxic and apoptotic a arrest of lung airway epi	mor neor cells. It i ithelial m	osis factor a s also an ar orphogenesi	upha (TNF) nti-angiogen is and apop	)-treated murin lic protein wh tosis	ie cells, High le	vel expression correlates predominantly with al lung neovascularization and leads to the			
TAACAGTTGT	38	18	56	0.017	248827	Calnexin			
Calcium-binding protein that interacts with newly synthesized glycoproteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. It may act in assisting protein assembly and/or in the retention within the ER of unassembled protein subunits. Seems to play a major role in the quality control apparatus of the ER by the retention of incorrectly folded proteins									
GCACAACTTG	12	27	39	0.017	329243	Calmodulin 2			
Calmodulin is the prin processes.	cipal me	diator of th	e intracelli	ilar calcium s	signa and is the	erefore involved in regulation of numerous			
AAGCAGAAGG	16	4	20	0.017	1	S100 calcium binding protein A10 (calpactin)			
The protein encoded by this gene is a member of the S100 family of proteins and is involved in the regulation of a number of cellular processes such as cell cycle progression and differentiation. May function in exceptosis and endocytosis.									
CIGAACATCT	16	4	20	0.017	5286	Acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein P0			
Structural component of	f ribosom	ie							
TCCATATATT	21	7	28	0.018	759667	RNA binding motif, single			
_		, 	40	0.016	207007	stranded interacting protein 1			
This gene encodes a me region upstream of the 1 and VEOF expression	ember of e-mye ge blocking	a small fam ne and may angiogenes	ily of prote have a role sis	ins which bind c in DNA repl	d single strande ication, Has bee	d DNA/RNA. This protein interacts with the en shown to suppres hypoxia inducible factor			
AAGGGTGCTG	10	1	11	0.019	265347	Annexin A6			
Annexin VI belongs to still not clearly defined, and endocytotic pathwa enithelia during exocyto	a family several r ys. Anne osis	of calcium- nembers of xin VI has h	dependent i the annexim teen implica	nembrane and I family have t ated in mediati	l phospholipid h been implicated ing the endoson	inding proteins. Although their functions are in membrane-related events along exocytotic te aggregation and vesicle fusion in secreting			
<b>ÅCAACAĞAGĞ</b>	10	1	U	0.019	24807	Prostaglandin F2 receptor			
Induces a decrease in re	centor tu	mber suga	esting a nor	-connetitive :	means of inhibit	tion of prostavlandin recentors			
ATAGAGAAGG	10	1 1	11	6.619	250419	Cvelin I			
Controls cell-cycle prov	newsion f	• w regulating	, the activit	v of evelo-der	nendent kinases	0,000			
CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	10	ly regulating	11	0.019	29346	Guanosine monophosphate			
A sussessing memories	nhata rad		nromota th	a manantia di	farantistion of	reductase 2			
CCTGATCTTT	phatered	uomao, oan	promote un	e monocyne u	indication of	Laminin recentor 1 (ribosomat			
cerometri	10	1	11	0.019	4071	protein SA)			
Structural constitutent of	of ribosor	ne							
GCCACTTCCT	10	1	11	0.019	371598	Nuclear receptor coactivator 4			
<ul> <li>AKA /U enhances andro translocation. Also regulation</li> </ul>	igen reception	ptor transact uction and r	nvation thre epression o	ougn the increa f PPAR aloho	ase or receptor e transcription	expression, protein stability, and nuclear			
GTTGTTTGTT	10	1	11	0.010		Homeodomain interacting protein			
	10	L	11	0.019	20827	kinase 1			

Burnet (1)

C. Same of

小学会

いったい いってい ないない ないしょう とうしょう しゅうきょう

Sugar in some the way

. M

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene				
The protein encoded by	this gene	belongs to	the Ser/Th	r family of pro	tein kinases. A	lso modulates localization, phosphorylation,				
and transcriptional activi	ty of Day	ix, a transcr	iptional reg	ulator importa-	nt for transduci	ing growth regulatory signals.				
ICACATAAAT	10	1	11	0.019	31752	integrin-associated signal				
This gene cucodes a mer	This gene encodes a membrane protein involved in the increase in intracellular calcium concentration that occurs upon cell									
adhesion to extracellular	matrix,					<b>T</b> 1 11				
ICATHOOIG	10	1	11	0.019	172	Lysyl oxidase				
Initiates the crosslinking	of collag	gens and ela	sun.							
TCTAGCCAGA	10	1	11	0.019	35253	Solute carrier family 12 (potassium/chloride transporters), member 8				
Mediates sodium and ch	loride rea	bsorption, p	olays a role	in the regulation	on of ionic bala	nce and cell volume				
TGCCGTATGC	10	1	11	0.019	6442	Polycystic kidney disease 2				
PKD2 encodes a protein	of unknu	wn function	n, mutated i	n 15% of autos	somal dominan	t polycystic kidney disease families.				
TGTACAAATG						UDP-Gal:betaGlcNAc heta 1.4-				
	10	1	11	0.019	15622	galactosyltransferase, polypeptide				
Binds to specific glycoside residues on multiple extracellular ligands, mediates cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions in a variety of cells. Also acts as a sperm surface receptor binding to the zona pellucida glycoprotein during fertilisation.										
TGTTATGTAA	10	1	11	0.019	277376	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family A (ABC1), member 1				
ABC proteins transport various molecules across extra- and intracellular membranes. Functions as a cholesteral offlux pump in the cellular lipid removal pathway. Essential for high density lipoprotein (HDL) formation and considered rate-controlling for reverse cholesterol transport.										
CTGAGGAAGT	14	3	17	0.019	29027	SPARC-like 1 (mast9, hevin)				
An extracellular calcium a matricellular protein th	i-medulai iat regula	ted protein ( tes cell adh	hat binds c esion, cell c	ollagen I, Simi yele, and matr	lar to SPARC ( ix assembly an	(secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine), d remodeling,				
CAAAATACAT	8	21	29	0.019	27578	Melanoma antigen, family D, 1				
Mediates p75 neurotroph p75ntr-mediated apoptos during pametosenesis	nin recept sis. Close	tor-depende ely related i	nt apoptosi: o the magpl	s binding in ne hinin proteins }	aronal cells. In cnown to be pre	hibits cell cycle progression, and facilitates esent in the male and female germ cells				
GTGTTTTGTG	25	44	69	0.019	201455	Secretory carrier membrane				
Functions as a carrier to	the cell s	urface in po	st-golgi rex	veling nathwa	vs.					
AAGGTCGAGC	3	13	16	0.019	282814	Ribosomal protein L24				
Structural component of	- Tribosom			0.017						
CCCTGATTT	11003011	0				Eukaryotic translation initiation				
	3	13 	16	0,019	185453	factor 4, gamma 2				
nathways required for ce	sliular dif	Terentiation	s transiano . Nuli cells	n minaion ia exhibit an imp	aired ability to	differentiate.				
GTGCATTTCA	3	13	16	0.019	5199	Cytochrome P450, family 19, subfamily a. polypeptide 1				
Cytochrome P450 aroma	atase cata	lyzes the la	st steps of e	strogen biosyr	thesis.					
GTGCTATTCA	12	2	14	0.019	1639	Myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1				
Belongs to the Bel-2 fan (isoform I) enhances cel promotes apoptosis and conditions	nily. Alte ll surviva is death-i	rnative split l by inhibiti inducing. A	ng apoptos ng apoptos ts via the f	and two distin is while the alt MAPK pathway	ct isoforms hav ematively splic y and can prolo	te been identified. The longer gene product ed shorter gene product (isoform 2) mg cell viability under a variety of cytotoxie				
TACATTAATA	12	2	14	0.019	225505	Choline kinase alpha				
Implicated in hematope closely related protein ty	victie dev grosine ki	elopment l	nut null mi	ce develop no	rmally suggest	ting action is compensated by activity of a				
TCAACTIGGG	12	2	14	0.019	156727	Hyperparathyroidism 2 homolog (human)				
Unknown function										
TCCTTATTGC	12	2	14	0.019	14547	Chromobox homolog 2 (Drosophila Po class)				

si i H

: •••••••••• 11.2

· • •

100.00

.

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
Transcriptional repressor	Homoz	ygous null i	nice show g	reatly retarde	d growth, home	otic transformations of the axial skeleton,			
stemal and limb malform $A = A = C^{2} C^{2} C^{2} C^{2} C^{2} A = A$	lations a	nd a failure i	to expand in	vitro of sever	al cell types in	Luding lymphocytes and fibroblasts.			
MACTITIMM	0	7	7	0.02	354643	hinding protein 3			
Necessary for the conder	sation of	fnucleosom	e chains inte	o higher order	structures. Thi	s product appears during meiosis in			
spermatogenesis, express	ed in pa	chytene spei	nnatocytes d	luring melotic	prophase 1.	I The second sec			
AATTGTATTT	0	7	7	0.02	10651	GTP cyclohydrolase 1			
Amino acid synthesis									
ССЛАТБЛАСТ	0	7	7	0.02	235123	Inner membrane protein, mitochondrial			
Structural component of	initochoi	ndrial memb	mane						
CCTTTAATGC	n	γ γ	7	0.02	219648	THO complex 1			
Unknown function	v	,	,	0.04	.17040	the complex i			
GCATCCAGCT	0	7	_			Poly(A)-binding protein.			
	0	7	7	0.02	277091	cytoplasmic pseudogene			
Binds to the poly(A) tail	present a	at the 3-prin	te ends of m	iost eukaryotia	mRNAs.	* 1 1 6			
GCTCACAACC			_			Component of oligomeric golgi			
	0	7	7	0.02	272930	complex 4			
Component of Golgi app	aratus					<u>F</u>			
GGTTTTCAAG						SMT3 suppressor of mif two 3			
donnio	0	7	7	0.02	259278	homolog i (veast)			
Has a key role in the more	lification	i of many to	anscription	factors includi	ng PPAR gam	na			
GTCTATGTTG	n	7	7	0.02	1057	Insulin recentor substrate 1			
The oringinal substrate :	for the i	, nsulin and i	nsulin-like	u.v. arowth factor		notors Dispution of IRS1 results in insulin			
resistance, but not DM, b	ecause o	of compensal	tory hyperin	sulinemia.		parts, costopuon of fresh festing in insum			
AAAATGTCAA	l	9	10	0,022	208554	Oogenesin I			
Mouse protein expressed in occytes during follicle development and in early cleavage-stage embryos specific function unknown									
GGCTTTTTCG					<b>,</b> <u>-</u> -	V-ral simian leukemia viral			
0001111100	1	9	10	0.022	27832	oncogene homolog B (ras related)			
This gene encodes a GTP-binding motein that belongs to the small GTPase superfamily and Ras family of proteins. GTP-binding									
proteins mediate the tran	ancmbra	anc signalin	g initiated b	y the occupan	cy of certain ce	Il surface receptors.			
TATGCAGATG	1	9	10	0.022	2662	Glutathione S-transferase, alpha 4			
In mice GSTA4 has been	n shown	to be indu	eed by TNF	Falpha, IL-6 a	nd EGF, factor	s that play crucial roles in cell survival and			
proliferation suggesting	an antiap	optotic role				Dilles and a metric gao			
CIAGICITIG	68	94	162	0.025	154915	Ribosomal protein S29			
Structural component of	ribosom	с							
AAATGCACTA	7	0	7	0.026	57734	LIM and senescent cell antigen-			
		-				like domains 1			
Involved in the regulation	n of inte	grin-mediate	ed cell adhe	sion					
ACTCTAAGTT	7	0	7	0.026	347919	B-cell stimulating factor 3			
Recently indentified cyto	o <mark>kine</mark> act	s as a novel	myeloma g	rowth and sur	vival factor				
AGAAAGGATA	7	0	7	0.026	296814	Phosphodiesterase 7A			
Plays a role in signal trai	asduction	n by regulati	ing the intra	cellular conce	attration of cyci	ie nucleotides, particularly cAMP			
AGACAAGCTG					-	Splicing factor, arginine/serine-			
	7	0	7	0.026	43331	rich 5 (SRp40, HRS)			
Plays a role in constituti	ve solici	ng and cau r	nodulate the	e selection of a	alternative solid	e sites.			
AGATGTACTG	7	0	7	0.026	21767	Cadherin 5			
Internate with filementor	u natin f	òrminu a fu	uational cor	onev centrall	ing and othelial	tubu Connection			
	15 45011 1	onning a ra		ubies controll	ing chuomonn	Mitagon activated protein kings			
MUUUAAAUAA	7	0	7	0.026	172897	kinagen aufvaleu protein Kniase			
Protein serine/threasine	kinase v	which nlave	an active pa	ut in cellular i	moesses relate	d to terminal differentiation. With cell-type-			
specific expression in th	e semini	ferous tubal	es of mature	e testes, and of	ther tissues.	a second and a second second second by the second by the second			
AGTGTGACGT	7	n	7	0.026	42001	Mitogen-activated protein kinase			
	'	U	1	0.020	40001	8 interacting protein 3			
Encodes a scaffold mote	sin for e-	hm N-termi	nal kinase e	aseades					

1.1.1.1.1

0.55

1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -

`

5 S. S.

-----

87 B

÷

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
ΑΤϹΑΘΊΛϹΤΑ	7	0	7	0.026	46401	Son cell proliferation protein			
Unknown function									
CGAAAGAACA	7	0	7	0.026	23335	YME1-like 1 (S. cerevisiae)			
The protein encoded by this gene is the mouse ortholog of yeast initochondrial AAA metalloprotease, Yme1p. It is proposed that									
this gene plays a role in : CTGTAGACTG	mitochon 7	drial protei: 0	n metabolis 7	m. 0.026	3158	Ribosomal protein, large, Pl			
Structural component of	ribosom	2							
GCTGACTCCG	7	0	7	0.026	34374	Chymotrypsinogen B1			
Inactive precursor of alp	ha-chymo	otrypsin, or	ne of a fain	ily of serine pro	teases				
GTACTTGTCT	-1	0	7	0.024	20669	Chemokine-like factor super			
	,	0	· ·	0.020	29038	family 4			
Function unknown									
TAAATAAGAT	7	0	7	0.026	158700	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 2			
May play a role in interc	ellular si	gnaling and	in connect	ing cells with t	he extracellular	matrix, Binds hyaluronie acid.			
TATCTATACA	7	0	7	0.026	258475	Zinc finger and BTB domain			
Regulator of Bax-media	ated sign	aling pathw	ays for ap	optosis. Bax is	a proapoptot	ic member of the Bel-2 protein family that			
commits the cell to unde	ago progi	ammed cel	l death in r	esponse to apop	totic stimuli.	A 17 1 A 1 11 1			
IGUCAATAAT						A disintegrin-like and			
	7	0	7	0.026	23156	with thromboshondin type 1			
						motif. 4			
Member of the ADAM	TS protei	n family. F	Responsible	for the degrad	lation of aggre	ecan, a major proteoglycan of cartilage, and			
brevican, a brain-specifi	c extracel	llular matri:	x protein.	0.007	2264				
A positive regulator of the	/ ha altaror	() ta nathwar	7 of complu	0.026 ment Rinds to r	3064 and stabilizes t	properain			
The structural locus for i	murine tis	ssue inhibit	or of metal	lothionine prote	ases (Timp) ar	ad properdin are located together.			
TGGTCGCTGA	т	a	7	0.026	205031	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box			
	,	ý	,	0.010	275051	polypeptide 27			
Probable ATP-dependen	it RNA b	elicase DD2	X27						
TGTGCTGTTG	_		_			Sterol-C5-desaturase (fungal			
	1	0	7	0.026	32700	ERG3, deita-5-desaturase)			
The second difference in a	ا مىمەم ا	matche B	_			nomolog (S. cerevisae)			
	UKI SIGNI	metaoonsi	1			Solute corrier femily 20 member			
IIQQIAAUAA	7	0	7	0.026	272675	1			
Sodium-phosphate symm	oorter. Ae	tive in early	v growth pl	nase.		-			
TIGGCIGGAT	7	0	7	0.026	3815	Syndecan 4			
Member of the syndecar	) gene fai	nily of hepa	aran sulfate	proteoglycans	with the ability	to bind and activate protein kinase C-alpha.			
Production stimulated by	y TNF alj	pha in ischa	iemic envir	onments and it	is an importan	t cell-surface receptor in wound healing and			
angiogenesis TGTAACTGGT	15	4	19	0.027	233000	RAS related protein 1b			
Belongs to a superfamil	lv of RA		1 GTP-hind	ling proteins in	volved in cell	signalling. Promotes integrin-dependent cell			
adhesion and can modul	ate integ	rin alpha(II	o)beta(3) iu	teractions with	the actin cytos	keleton.			
TGTGAACGAA	15	4	19	0.027	18522	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1a, liver			
Responsible for the initi	ation of t	he mitocho	ndrial oxid:	ation of long-ch	ain fatty acids				
GAGTGGATTC	20	7	27	0.027	277857	Hydroxysteroid (17-beta) dehydrogenase 4			
Bifunctional enzyme ac	ting on th	e peroxisor	nal beta- or	cidation pathwa	y for fatty acid	ls. Catalyzes the formation of 3- ketoacyl-coa			
intermediates from both	straight-	chain and 2	-methyl- bi	anched-chain fa	atty acids.	Due the set of a full -			
IIUALTAIAA Nusleer protoin there-	6 • • •	17	23 rola in orti	0.028 Iular and famili	19187 on Transaction	rromymosin alpha			
During mouse foetal d coincide with the nattern	evelopme of profi	a critical ent the tem symosin also	poral, spat ha.	ial and tissue-s	specific expres	ion activated by the proto-oncogene e-mye, sion patterns of both mye proto-oncogenes			
CTGTAGGTGA	36	56	92	0.029	295618	Ribosomal protein S23			

and the second second

Acres 14.8

如此,如此是一些人的。""你们就是我们的,你们就是你们的,你们就是你的。""你们就是你的,你们就是你们的?""你们就是你们的,你们就是你们的,你们就是你们的?""

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene			
Structural component of	ribosom	e.							
AACTGCTTCA	13	3	16	0.03	30010	Actin related protein 2/3 complex, subunit 1B			
Part of a complex implie	ated in th	ie control of	actin poly	merization in e	clls				
ATACGGAGCA	13	3	16	0.03	333183	Mitochondrial ribosomal protein L53			
Structural component of	ribosom	e							
ATCTCAAACC	13	3	16	0.03	248163	Mitochondrial ribosomal protein L52			
Structural component of ribosome									
ATTATACAGT	13	3	16	0.03	29192	Asparaginyl-tRNA synthetase			
Protein synthesis									
CTCTGGGGTT	13	3	16	0.03	271711	Transgelin 2			
The protein encoded by	this gen	e is a home	log of the	protein transgo	elin, which is	one of the earliest markers of differentiated			
smooth muscle. It is an a	ietiii-asso	solated prote	in with a u	inque cell linea	ge-restricted p	attem of expression.			
	13	3	16	0.03	373569	family 3			
Unknown function						<b>NN 1</b>			
CHICIATUCG	20	36	50	0.03	4419	Ribosomal protein LS			
Structural component of	nbosom	с.							
ACCACIGATA	9	1	10	0.031	50424	Taxi (human T-cell leukemia			
VITUS type 1) DINGING protein 1 Cellular myosin, appears to play a role in cytokinesis, cell shape, and specialized functions such as secretion and capping.									
ACTCCTCCCT	o G	s pronways. 1	10	0.031	331868	RAS-related protein-1a			
RAPIA belongs to a sur	perfamily	of RAS -lil	e small Gl	CP-binding prot	eins involved i	in cell signaling. Involved in interactions			
with beta 1 and beta 2 in	ntegrins								
ATACTGAAGC	9	1	10	0.031	319719	Ribosomal protein L13			
Structural component of	ribosom	e							
ATCAAAGTTC	9	i i	10	0.031	10299	Col5a2 Procollagen, type V, alpha			
						2			
Alpha chain for one of t	he low at	oundance fit	villar colia	gens.					
AIGCACAGAI	9	1	10	0.031	2551	SEC22 vesicle trafficking protein-			
Cytoplasmically oriente	ed integ	al membra	ae protein	involved in y	vesiele doekin	nke 1 (5. cerevisiae) offusion fidelity between the endoplasmic			
reticulum and Golgi.	ou nices	ar memora	ne protein	moored m		Erusion menty octaven an endoplasmic			
ATTTCCCGAG	9	1	10	0.031	288974	Actin related protein 2/3 complex, subunit 5			
This gene encodes a sub	unit of th	he human Ai	p2/3 prote	in complex whi	oh has been in	plicated in the control of actin			
polymerization in cells a	and is hig	thly conserv	ed across s	pecies.	101000	Troppersuite 1 slabs			
Ubianitous protein ass	۲ مointed 1	l vith the out	IV in filomen	U.U.3.1 Ne of muofibri	1218/6 Is and stress	fiber in approvale cells is implicated in			
stabilizing cytoskeleton	actin fila	iments.	an manier	as of myonon	is and succes	noers. In nonintipole cens is impricated in			
GGTAACCTAA	9	1	10	0.031	3213	Low density lipoprotein receptor			
Cell surface protein inv membrane and taken int	volved in to the cel	i receptor-m l. Providing	ediated en the substra	docytosis. Low te for cholester	<ul> <li>density lipop</li> <li>ol synthesis.</li> </ul>	protein (LDI.) is normally bound at the cell			
TGAACTGTAA	9	1	10	0.031	270647	Solute carrier family 39 (zinc transporter), member 14			
No literature informatio	n availab	le							
TGATGCTAAA	9	1	10	0.031	304976	Down-regulated by Ctnnb1, a			
DRCTNNB1A has been	n shown t	o be involve	a in the be	ta-catenin-Tcf/l	Lef signaling p	bathway.			
TTCAGGCACT	9	1	10	0.031	38436	Tetratricopeptide repeat domain			
No literature informatio	n availai	le							

Contraction of the second

and the second second

ŝ

10 C

Ξ.

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
GCAGCTCACA						Dolichyl-di-
	3	12	15	0.031	7236	phosphooligosaccharide-protein glycotransferase
Essential subunit of n-ol	igosaccha	aryl transfer	ase enzyme	which catalyze	es the transfer (	of a high maunose oligosaccharide.
TCTGTGCACC	3	12	15	0.031	196538	Ribosomal protein S11
Structural component of	ribosom	c.				
ATGAGTGAGC						Phenylalkylamine Ca2+
	11	2	13	0.031	27183	antagonist (emopamil) binding
Emopamil-binding prote and may be a member of EBP shares structural fea	in (EBP) f a superf atures wi	is an integr amily of hig th bacterial	al membrar gh affinity d and eukarye	te protein of the rug-binding protocology trans	e endoplasmic oteins in the en porting proteir	protein reticulum. It is similar to sigma receptors doplasmic reticulum of different tissues. is.
CAGACCTCAA	11	2	13	0.031	250605	Sel1 (suppressor of lin-12) 1
Impacts on the expression Expression has been asso CAGATTGTGA	n of gene ociated w	es involved with a reduct	in regulatio ion in both	n of cellular gr proliferative ac	owth, possibly tivity in vitro a	homolog (C. elegans) through the TGF-beta signaling pathway, and in vivo neoplastic aggressiveness Thioredoxin domain containing 4
	11	2	13	0.031	317701	(endoplasmic reticulum)
May be involved in the c	ontrol at	f oxidative p	rotein foldi	ng.		
GGGAACAACT	11	2	13	0.031	8687	CAP, adenylate cyclase-associated
Highly conserved actin i important for cell morph and is required for seven	nonomen nology, n al central	binding pro nigration, ar l cellular pro	otein preser id endocyto occsses in n	nt in all eukaryo sis. CAP prom nammals.	ates, promotes lotes rapid acti	rapid actin filament depolymerization and is a dynamics in conjunction with ADF/cofilm
TGAGTICCCT	11	2	13	0.031	38390	Copine IIJ
Ubiquitously expressed,	intrinsic	kinase activ	ity. Repres	ents a novel un	conventional k	inase family.
GAACTTGCAA	24	10	34	0.034	39472	Farnesyi diphosphate synthetase
Catalyzes the sequential and then with the resulta Involved in cholesterol b	condens nt gerany piosynthe	ation of isop /lpyrophosp sis.	entenyl pyr hate to the	rophosphate wi ultimate produc	th the allylic p et famesyl pyrc	yrophosphates, dimethylallyl pyrophosphate, ophosphate
ATGTCTCAAA	30	48	78	0.035	324696	Tubulin, alpha 2
Cytoskeletal component						
AGGCAGACAG	131	94	225	0.036	335315	Eukaryotic translation clongation factor 1 alpha 1
Tissue-specific isoform of peptide elongation factor-1A (eEF1A-1); its mRNA is expressed only in, tissues dominated by terminally differentiated, long-lived cells such as brain, heart, and skeletal muscle. Has been shown to be a specific translational target of TrkA signalling with eEF1A-1 mRNA translation stimulated by the NGF-signalling pathway						
This protein is an auxili-		in of DNA r	alumanica	involved in the	control of sub	anotic due replication
	u's brote	III OI DINA J	orymenase	nivoived ni me	COMINION OF BUK	Dug (Hon40) howalog subfamily
CACIGACGAG	2	10	12	0.036	2871	C, member 9
Novel member of the Dr	naJ famil	y, is express	sed in the go	erminal zone of	f the rat brain, l	iver lung and kidney.
AAGAAAACAT	0	6	6	0.036	218851	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, subunit 3, structural gene
X-linked eIF-2 is composed of three subunits, [alpha], [beta] and [gamma], which, in the presence of GTP, form a ternary complex with Met tRNA remaining it to the 40S chowered complex						
AAGAGAAAAG	0	6	6	0.036	240066	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) activator subunit 4
Nuclear proteasome acti	vator inv	olved in Di	VA repair.			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
CAAACTGTAT	û	6	6	0.036	196405	IIydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-2, delta<5>-3-beta
Bifunctional enzyme, ca ketosteroids. Plays a cru	talyzes ti icial role	he oxidative in the biosy	conversior nthesis of a	ı of delta(5)-en Il classes of ho	e-3-beta-hydro rmonal steroid	xy steroid, and the oxidative conversion of s.
CGCTCTAACG	0	6	6	0.036	25594	Protein kinase, cAMP dependent regulatory, type II beta

× • • •

the second se

and the second

N. 1. 1. N.

and the second of the second second

						·····
Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Fotal taos	p-value	Unigene	Gene
cAMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK) transduces signals through phosphorylation of different target proteins. Four different regulatory subunits and three catalytic subunits of AMPK have been identified in humans. The protein encoded by this gene is one of the regulatory subunits. This subunit has been shown to interact with and suppress the transcriptional activity of the cAMP series along the binding metrics. (CR FBL) is activated T calls						
GTCTTTGTGA	0 0	6	6	0.036	200775	Transforming growth factor, beta
Transforming growth fa	eter beta	(TGF-beta) si	enaline is	mediated by t	he cell surface	receptor III TGF-beta type I (ALKS), type II, and the
accessory type III recept expression of the type II	tors endo receptor	glin and betag	lycan. Th	ie type III reco	ptor may regul	ate the ligand-binding ability or surface
TCTGGCAGTC	0	6	6	0.036	221452	RAN binding protein 5
TGAAATGGCC	lasmic tr	ansport. The p	roten en	coded by this g	ene 18 a memb	Cofactor required for Sp1
IGHENIOGOO	0	6	6	0.036	28020	transcriptional activation, subunit
Sp 1 transcriptional fact	or cofacte	or implicated i	n metasta	sis suppression	i in neoplastic	colls.
AACAAATTCT	1	8	9	0.039	35628	Fucosyltransferase 8
The product of this go expression of this gene t	ene cataly may contr	zes the trans ibute to the m	fer of fu	cose from Gl of cancer cell	DP-fucose to s and to their i	N-linked type complex glycopeptides. The nvasive and metastatic capabilities.
CAGGGCTCCG	1	8	9	0.039	19 <b>30</b> 96	Stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase
Integral membrane pro desaturuse system, that spectrum of fatty acyl-c	tein, bek utilizes o oa substn	ongs to the fa (2) and electronics.	atty acid ons from	desaturase far reduced cytoc	nily. Terminal hrome b5 to es	component of the microsomal stearyl-coa atalyze the insertion of a double boud into a
TACAAAATTA	1	U C	0	0.030	255206	A disintegrin and
		¢	9	0.039	333300	metalloproteinase domain 17
matrix interactions, incl a tumor necrosis factor- activation of the Notch EGF-like growth factor.	uding fer alpha cor signaling	tilization, mus worting enzyn pathway. Also	cle devel ie; binds bidentifie	opment, and ne mitotic arrest d xl as the major	urogenesis. Tl leficient 2 prot convertase of	te member encoded by this gene functions as ein; and also plays a prominent role in the epircgulin, TGF alpha, amphiregulin and
TTTACTGTGT Regulates constituency	l of extrac:	8 Ilufar matrix	9	0.039	28897	Pyrophosphatase
CGTCTGTGGA	19	7 7	26	0.04	30155	ATPase, H+ transporting, V0 subunit C
Encodes a component of vacuolar ATPase (V-ATPase), an enzyme that mediates acidification of organelles, necessary for						
TCCACTCCTC	in sorting	, nymogon aou	i tunon, o	1400) (0010) (ali	i byimpilo vosi	Cafastar required for Sal
ICALIGU	19	7	26	0.04	44151	transcriptional activation, subunit
Nuclear receptor cofact	or for Sp	1				
CATTGCGTGG						Williams-Beuren syndrome
	22	9	31	0.041	27955	chromosome region 1 homolog (human)
Translation initiation fa	ctor, func	tions to stimu	late the ir	itiation of prot	ein synthesis a	t the level of mRNA utilization.
GTTCTGACAG	14	4	18	0.041	261025	Carnitine deficiency-associated
gene expressed in ventricle 3 Localized mainly in cytoplasm, phosphorylated preferentially by Abl. Phosphorylation of tyrosine 120 in this protein leads to an apparent mobility shift in sedium dodecyl sulfate-polyaerylamide gel electrophoresis, suggesting conformational change in the						
phosphorylated protein.	. Thus, ap	pears to be a 1	iovel sub	strate of Abl ty	rosine kinase.	Function unknown.
GITTAOTOGA	6	16	22	0.043	252255	subunit, alpha type 2
Part of a multicataly histocompatibility com	tic protei plex class	nase complex I molecules.	k that pl	ays a role in	i the generati	on of peptides for presentation by major
AAAGACACTA	6	0	6	0.046	360445	Interferon regulatory factor 2 binding protein 2
Interacts specifically a transcriptional co-repre	with Inte ssors that	feron Regula can inhibit bo	tory Fac oth enhau	tor-2 (IRF-2). cer-activated at	Nuclear proto nd basal transc	in with the properties of IRF-2-dependent ription

de antes 1988 - Antes Antes antes antes de la construcción 1988 - Antes Antes antes antes antes de la construcción de la

C. B. S. S. S. S. S. S. S.

. -

. . . . .

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
AACTGCACAC	6	0	6	0.046	246965	Succinate dehydrogenase complex, subunit B, iron sulfur (lp)
Complex II of the respire CoQ.	atory che	un, which is	s specifical	ly involved in (	the oxidation of	f succinate, carries electrons from FADH to
AGGCGTGGCT Involved in the degradat levels in mouse liver, kie	6 ion of pro dney, hea	0 enylated pro rt, and brain	6 steins to yic 1. Homozyj	0.046 eld free cysteine gous null mice s	30849 c and the aldeh are both health	Prenylcysteine oxidase 1 yde of the isoprenoid lipid, expressed at high y and fertile.
AGGTGGCATT	6	0	6	0.046	2442	Calcium binding protein, intestinal
Belongs to a family of function is unknown. In	caleium-b the intest	anding proteine its expression	eins that is ession corr	neludes calmod	ulin, parvalbu ium transport a	min, troponin C, and \$100 protein. Its exact activity
AGGTGTACAG	6	0	6	0.046	29397	Splicing factor, arginine/serine- rich 15
Acts to physically and ft	unctional	y link trans	críption an	d pre-mrna proc	essing (by sin	illarity).
ATAAACIGCA	6	0	6	0.046	230654	Testis derived transcript
ATCAGTGTGA	6	0	6	0.046	275555	Calponin 3, acidic
ATGCTTCTCA	6	0	6	0.046	248313	RAB12, member RAS oncogene family
Localized to the Golgi c segregation of apical tig	omplex w	/ith a role ii	the specif	ication of the aj	picolateral junc	tional complex sites and the formation and
ATTAGGATGT	6	0	6	0.046	22347	Pinin
Involved in translation in CAAGAATTAA	nitiation 1 6	oy promotin 0	g the bindi 6	ng of the formy 0.046	dmethionine-ti 294083	NA to ribosomes. Annexin A11
Calcium-dependent pho transport, nuclear localiz	spholipid zation, ex	l-binding p tracellular t	rotein. Dis argeting, a	tinctive proper nd tyrosine pho-	tics include ca sphorylation,	alcyclin binding, autoantigenicity, organelle
CAGAACTTTG6060.0464352Procollagen, type XVIII, alpha 1Alpha chain of type XVIII collagen, one of the multiplexins, an extracellular matrix proteins that contains multiple triple-helix domains interrupted by non-collagenous domains. Potently inhibits endothelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis. May inhibit angiogenesis by binding to the heparan sulfate proteoglycans involved in growth factor signalling such as POP-2.CAGCAATAAA6060.046291326Mahogunin, ring finger 1						
C3HC4 RING-containin	ng protein	with E3 ub	iquitin liga	se activity.	****	Discharges 1 (014 DII)
Oxidoreductase particip	o ating in 1	0 NO produci	o lion from	0,046 vasorelaxants. (	22560 Can convert se	Diaphorase ((NADH) lected NO donors, giyeerol trinitrate (GTN)
and formaldoxime (FAL CTCTCCAGAA	.) to nitrit 6	es and nitra 0	tes with N <sup>i</sup>	0.046 0.046	diate. 274810	HRAS like suppressor 3
Growth inhibitory RAS	target ge	me, target o	of interfere	n-regulatory fa	etor-1 and is i	nvolved in IFNgamma-induced cell death in
human ovarian caremon	na celis.					
CTGAATATCT	6	0	6	0,046	371545	Acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein P0
60S acidic ribosomal pr	otein P0,	structural o	omponent	of ribosomes.		
CTGAGAATGC	6	0	6	0.046		Unmatched tag
GAGTCTCTTC	6	0	6	0.046	184021	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type. D
Regulates the tyrosine p GTAATCACGT	hosphory 6	lation that o 0	controls cel 6	l activities and 0.046	proliferation. 2654	WD repeat domain 1
The encoded protein ina	ty help in	duce the dis	assembly	or actin filamen	ts.	Dracastarona resentar membrana
TACAATAAAC	6	0	б	0.046	40321	component 2
Steroid binding integral	membrai	ne protein				
ТАССССАСАА	6	0	6	0.046	41849	Brain expressed, associated with Nedd4
No literature available						<b>- · · ·</b>
TACTATAGTC	6	0	6	0.046	123211	Polymerase (DNA directed), beta
DNA polymerase beta : be involved in the renai	is involve r-type DN	d in DNA A synthesis	base excisi s associate	on repair. mRN d with the recor	IA most abund nbination proc	ant in spermatocytes at early pachytene may ess.

41 A A

日本 とうななな あっと たまたい い

and an article field

N.

ż

· 4 · · ·

. .

Tag sequence	hCG	PMSG	Total tags	p-value	Unigene	Gene
TGAACACTGA	6	0	6	0.046	330731	Transglutaminase 2, C polypeptide
Catalyzes the cross-linki	ng of pro	teins and th	e conjugati	ion of polyamin	les to proteins	L. M. L. W.
TGAATGAATG	6	0	6	0.046		Unmatched tag
TGAATGAGCG	6	0	6	0.046	1401	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4
Chemokine receptor spec	olfic for s	stromal cell-	derived fa	otor-1. Involved	l in neoplastic i	netastasis and in endothelial cell survival
TGGAGCGTTG	6	0	6	0.046	6839	Cyclin-dependent kinase 4
phase progression. The a activity of the c-Myb tra	noteur ri ictivity o nscriptio	f this kinase n factor	is restricte	d to the G1-S p	hase. Regulate	s cell proliferation and hypertrophy and the
TGGCTCCATC	6	0	6	0.046	316652	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl- Coenzyme A reductase
3-hydroxy-3-methylgluta HMG-CoA reductase in proliferation through char reductase transcript level	aryl-coen hibitors l olesterol- ls	azyme A (l have been si independen	HMG-CoA hown to uj t pathways	) reductase ca pregulate the cy Growth horm	italyses the ra clin-dependen one significant	te-limiting step for cholesterol synthesis, t kinase inhibitor p27Kip1 and to block cell ly increases both the LDL-r and HMG-CoA
TGTGTCCCGC	6	0	6	0.046	287810	Importin 13
Importin beta-related rec allows them to bind and directed nucleocytoplasm a case where a single im-	eptors in subseque nic transp portin be	nediate trans ently release port. Imp13 sta-like recep	location th their subs also shows stor transpo	rough nuclear p trates on opposi s export activity wts different su	ore complexes ite sides of the towards the tr bstrates in opp	. Co-operation with the RanGTPase system nuclear envelope, which in turn ensures a anslation initiation factor eIF1A and is thus osite directions.
TGTTAGCTCC		•	-			Proteasome (prosome, macropain)
	6	0	6	0.046	21667	26S subunit, non-ATPase, 12
Receptor protein, mediat	tes TNF a	alpha memb	rane transp	froot		Non imprinted in Prader-
	6	0	6	0.046	333893	Willi/Angelman syndrome 2
						homolog (human)
Novel gene, ubiquitously	y express	ed, highly c	onserved v	with predicted it	inction as rece	ptor or transporter protem
AGGAAGGCGG Structural component of CTCCTGCAGA	48 Tribasom	08 e	116	0.046	11376	Solute carrier family 7 (cationic
0100100101	12	3	15	0.046	275489	amino acid transnorter. v+
						system), member 1
High-affinity, low capac hepatic tissues.	ity penn	ease involve	ed in the tr	ansport of the c	ationic amino	acids (arginine, lysine and ornithine) in non-
TCTTCATCAA						SWI/SNF related, matrix
	12	3	15	0.046	229151	associated, actin dependent regulator of chromatin, subfamily
Members of the Initat differentiated neurons a: Suggested to have distin	ion Swit fter birth et function 12	tch (ISWI) and in adul ons associat	family of t animals a ed with cel	chromatin ren nd in terminally l maturation or 0.046	nodeling prote differentiated differentiation [815	a, member 1 ins. Predominantly expressed in terminally cells within ovaries and testes of adult mice.
The catalytic conversion	of UTP	to CTP, im	portant in t	he biosynthesis	of phospholip	ids and nucleic acids, key role in cell growth,
CAAAAATAAA	1gonesis. 18	32	50	0.047	70666	Enolase 1, alpha non-neuron
TAAGTGGAAT	r the ind	ucible condr	ого груро:	cia mouorble la	CIOT I	Tyrosine 3-
	26	12	38	0.047	3360	monooxygenase/tryptophan 5- monooxygenase activation
This highly conserved	gene #	moduct belo	ongs to a	family of pro	teins which :	protein, zeta polypeptide mediate signal transduction by binding to

が非常なない。そのではないではないでは、「ない」ない。その「ない」ではないではないではないでは、「ない」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」は、「ない」は、「ない」では、「ない」」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」では、「ない」」では、「ない」では、「ない」」では、「ない」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」では、「ない」」」では、「ない」」」では、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」、「ない」」、「ない」」」、「ない」」」、「ない

2.5. M. . . .

17 - C S S S S

phosphoserine-containing proteins. Found in both plants and mammals, this protein is 99% identical in the mouse, rat and sheep. Involved in initiating the embryonic cellular communication system

## **Appendix 2: List of abbreviations**

ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase
ADAMTS	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
Amh	Antimullerian hormone
Apaf-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor 1
Ar	Amphiregulin
AR	Androgen receptor
ARC	Apoptotic repressor
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bad	Bcl-2 antagonist of cell death
BAG1	BAG family molecular chaperone regulator-1
Bax	Bel-2 associated X protein
Bcl-2	B cell leukaemia/lymphoma 2
BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMP	Bone morphogenic protein
Bok	Bcl-2 related ovarian killer protein
Boo	Apoptosis regulator Bcl-B
BORG	BMP/OP-responsive gene
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
B⊕W	Binding and washing buffer
BTC	Betacellulin
BTG2	B cell transclocation gene 2
C/EBPβ	CAAT enhancer binding protein $\beta$
CAM	Cell adhesion molecule
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cdk	Cyclin dependant kinase
C-fos	Proto-oncogene protein c-fos
Cgak	Cyclin G associated kinase
c-jun	Transcription factor AP-1
c-kit	Kit ligand receptor
CL	Corpus luteum
C-mye	Myc proto-oncogene protein
COC	Cumulus oocyte complex
COX-2	Prostaglandin endoperoxidase synthetase 2
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
Cx	Connexin
CYP 51	Lanosterol 14a-demethylase
Cyp11a1	Cytochrome P450 side chain cleavage enzyme
Cyp19	Cytochrome P450 aromatase enzyme
Dax-1	Nuclear receptor 0B1
DES	Diethylstilbestrol
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	DNA nucleotides
DTT	Dithiothreital

E2	Oestrogen
eCG	Equine chorionic gonadotrophin
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetracetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
Egr-1	Early growth regulatory factor
EMBL	European Molecular Biology Laboratory
EPI	Epiregulin
ER	Oestrogen receptor
ERK	Extracellular regulated kinase
EST	Expressed sequence tag
FABP	Fatty acid binding protein
FIGα	Factor in the germline alpha
Fru-2,6-P2	Fructose-2,6-biphosphate
FS	Follistatin
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
FSHR	Follicle stimulating hormone
Fz	Frizzled
GAPDH	Glyceraldchyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
RACE	Rapid amplification of complementary ends
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
G-CSFR	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor
GDF-9	Growth and differentiation factor 9
GnRH	Gonadotrophin releasing hormone
GnSAF	Gonadotrophin surge attenuating factor
GPR	G protein coupled receptor.
SREB	Super-conserved receptor expressed in brain
GSTs	Glutathione S transferases
GVBD	Germinal vesicle breakdown
hCG	Human chorionic gonadotrophin
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HIF-1	Hypoxia inducible factor 1
HK	Hexokinase
HNE	4-hydroxynonenal
HSC	Haematopoietic stem cell
HSD	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
ICN	Intracellular domain of notch
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGFBP	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein
IGF-R	Insulin-like growth factor receptor
IHOP	Information hyperlinked over proteins
GLGI	Generation of longer gene fragments for gene identification
11	Interleukin
IL-1-ra	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
INSL3	Insulin like 3
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
Jun D	Jun proto-oncogene related gene d1
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor

1000

No. 100 Contraction of the

(1)11日の「10日」の「10日の「10日」の「10日」

NAMES AND A DAMAGE

2017年1月1日 - 11日 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 1100 - 110

KL	Kitligand
LB	Luria bertani
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LDLR	Low density lipoprotein receptor
LGR8	Leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 8
LH	Luteinising hormone
LHR	Luteinising hormone
Maml1	Mammalian homolog 1 (Drosphilia)
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MAS	Meiosis activating sterol
MCAM	Melanoma cell adhesion molecule
MGF	Mast cell growth factor
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MORF 4	Mortality factor 4
MPF	Maturation promoting factor
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NGFI-B	Nerve growth factor induced
p21 CIP/KIP	Cyclin dependant kinase inhibitors
P4	Progesterone
P450see	Cytochrome P450 side chain cleavage enzyme
PACAP	Pituitary cyclase-activating polypeptide
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAPP-A	Pregnancy associated plasma protein A
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDE4D	cAMP specific phosphodiesterase 4D
PFKFB	6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase
PGS-2	Prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2
PI	Phosphatidyllinositol
PI3	Phosphatidyllinositol-3-kinase
PKA	Protein kinase A
РКВ	Protein kinase B
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMSG	Pregnant mare serum gonadotrophin
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PR	Progesterone receptor
pRb	Retinoblastoma protein
PRL	Prolactin
QRT-PCR	Quantative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RIP 140	Nuclear receptor interacting protein 1
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RTK/P	Receptor tyrosine kinase/phosphatase
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SAGE	Scrial analysis of gene expression
SF-1	Steroidogenic factor 1
SFRP-4	Secreted frizzled related protein 4
Sok	Scrum/glucocorticoid regulated kinase

Smad	Mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 2
Snk	Serum induced kinase
SPARC	Secreted acidic cysteine-rich glycoprotein
Spp1	Secreted phosphoprotein 1
SR-B1	Scavenger receptor B1
StAR	Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein
STC	Stanniocalcin
TAE	Tris acetate EDTA
TEMED	Tetra-methylethylene-diamine
TGFα	Transforming growth factor alpha
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TWEAK	TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis
TZPs	Transzonal projections
UTR	Untranslated region
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
Angptl4	Angiopoietin like 4
Zp	Zona pellucida protein

•

١Ť.

## **Appendix 3: Reference list**

- Abbaszade I, Liu R-Q, Yang F, Rosenfeld SA, Ross OH, et al. 1999. Cloning and characterization of ADAMTS-11, an aggrecanase form the ADAMTS family. J. Biol. Chem. 274:23443-50
- Acket CL, Gittens JEI, O'Brien MJ, Eppig JJ, Kidder GM. (2001) Intracellular communication via connexin 43 gap junctions is required for ovarian folliculogenesis in the mouse. Dev Biol 233 pp258-270.
- 3. Adams JC & Watt FM 1993 Regulation of development and differentiation by extracellular matrix. Dev. 117 :1183–1198.
- Adams MD, Celniker SE, Holt RA, Evans CA, Gocayne JD, Amanatides PG, Scherer SE, Li PW, Hoskins RA, Galle RF et al (2000). The genome sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Sci. 287: 2185-2195
- 5. Adashi EY (1998a) The potential role of interleukin-1 in the ovulation process: an evolving hypothesis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 140 pp77-81.
- 6. Adashi FY, (1998b) The IGF family and folliculogenesis. J Reprod Immunology 39 pp13-19.
- Agarwal P, Peluso JJ, White BA 1996 Steroidogenic factor-1 expression is transiently repressed and c-myc expression and deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis are induced in rat granulosa cells during the periovulatory period. Biol Reprod 55:1271–1275
- Alak B, Coskun S, Friedman C et al (1998) Activin A stimulates meiotic maturation of human oocytes and modulates granulosa cell steroidgenesis in vitro. Fertil steril 70, 1126-1130.
- 9. Alam H, Maizels ET, Park Y, Gheay S, Feiger ZJ, Chandel NS, Hunzicker-Dunn M. (2004) Follicle stimulating hormone activation of hypoxia inducible factor 1 by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT/Ras homolog enriched in brain (Rheb)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway is necessary for the induction of select protein markers of follicular differentiation. Journal of Biol Chem 279, 19431-19440.
- 10. Albertini DF and Rider V (1994) Patterns of intercellular connectivity in the mammalian cumulus-oocyte complex Micro. Res. Tech. 27 125–133
- Alberts B, Bray D, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberst K et al (1994). Chapter 8. The Cell Nucleus: RNA synthesis and RNA processing. Molecular Biology of the Cell. R Adams. New York, Garland Publishing: 369.
- 12. Alila, H. W., and W. Hansel. (1984). Origin of different cell types in the bovine corpus Inteum as characterized by specific monoclonal antibodies. Biol. Reprod. 31:1015
- Allen, W. M., and 0. Wintersteiner. (1934). Crystalline progestin. Sci. (Washington, DC) 80:190
- 14. Alliston TN, Gonzalez-Robayna IJ, Busc P, Firestone GL, and Richards JS. (2000). Expression and localization of serum/glucocorticoid-induced kinase in the rat ovary: relation to follicular growth and differentiation.Endocrinol. Jan;141(1):385-95
- Alliston TN, Maiyar AC, Buse P, Firestone GL, Richards JS (1997) Follicle stimulating hormone-regulated expression of serum/glucocorticoid-inducible kinase in rat ovarian granulosa cells: a functional role for the Sp1 family in promoter activity. Mol Endocrinol 11:1934–1949

16. Alliston TN, Maiyar AC, Buse P, Firestone GL, Richards JS. (1997) Follicle stimulating hormone regulated expression of serum/glucocorticoid inducible kinase in rat ovarian granulosa cells: a functional role for the Sp1 family in promoter activity. Mol Endocrinol 11, 1934-1949.

- 17. Almahbobi G, Williams LJ, Hall PF. (1992) Attachment of steroidgenic lipid droplets to intermediate filaments in adrenal cells. J Cell Sci 101, 383-393.
- Almog B, Gold RS, Tajima K, Dantes A, Salim K, Rubinstein M, (2001). Leptin attenuates follicular apoptosis and accelerates the onset of puberty in immature rats. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 183:179–191
- Amoroso, E. C. (1968). Reproductive physiology: From a distinguished past to a promising future. J. him. Sci. 27(Suppl. 1):214
- 20. Amsterdam A, and Rotmensch S, (1987) Structure-function relationships during granulosa cell differentiation. Endocr. Rev. 8 :309-337
- 21. Amsterdam A, and Sasson R, (2002) The anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoids is mediated by cell type specific regulation of apoptosis. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 189 :1–9
- Amsterdam A, Gold RS, Hosokawa K, Yoshida Y, Sasson R, Jung Y. (1999). Crosstalk among multiple signaling pathways controlling ovarian cell death. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 10:255-262.
- Amsterdam A, Josephs R, Lieberman ME and Lindner HR, (1976) Organization of intramembrane particles in freeze-cleaved gap junctions of rat greafian rollicles: opticaldiffraction analysis. J. Cell Sci. 21 :93–105.
- Amsterdam A, Keren-Tal I, Aharoni D, Dantes A, Land-Bracha A, Rimon E, Sasson R, Hirsh L. (2003). Steroidogenesis and apoptosis in the mammalian ovary. Steroids. Nov;68(10-13):861-7.
- Amsterdam A, Knecht M, and Catt KJ. (1981), Hormonal regulation of cytodifferentiation and intercellular communication in cultured granulosa cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78 :3000–3004.
- Amsterdam A, Koch Y, Lieberman ME, Linder HR. (1975) Distribution of binding sites for human chorionic gonadotrophin in the preovulatory follicle of the rat. J Cell Biol 67 pp894-900.
- Amsterdam A, Rotmensch S, and Ben-Ze'ev A, (1989). Coordinated regulation of morphological and biochemical differentiation in a steroidogenic ceil: the granulosa cell model. Trends Biochem. Sci. 14 :377–382
- Amsterdam A, Rotmensch S, Furman A, Venter EA, and Vlodavsky I, (1989) Synergistic effect of human chorionic gonadotropin and extracellular matrix on in vitro differentiation of human granulosa cells: progesterone production and gap junction formation. Endocrinol. 124 :1956–1964
- Amsterdam A, Tajima K, and Sasson R, (2002) Cell-specific regulation of apoptosis by glucocorticoids: implication to their anti-inflammatory action. Biochem. Pharmacol. 64 :843-850
- Amsterdam, A., Plehn-Dujowich, D., and Suh, B. S. (1992) Structure-function relationships during differentiation of normal and oncogene-transformed granulosa cells Biol. Reprod. 46, 513-522
- 31. Anderson E and Little B, (1985). Proceedings of the Fifth Ovarian Workshop. In: D.O. Toft and R.J. Ryan, Editors, (1985), pp. 203–225 Champaign IL

s) S 1

- 32. Anderson E, and Albertini DF 1976. Gap junctions between the oocyte and companion follicle cells in the mammalian ovary. J Cell Biol 71: 680-686.
- 33. Anderson R, Copeland TK, Scholer H, Heasman J, Wylie C (2000) The onset of germ cell migration in the mouse embryo. Mech Dev 91(1-2), 61-68.
- 34. Andreasen, P.A., Egelund, R., and Petersen, H.H. (2000). The plasminogen activation system in tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis. Cell. MoI. Life Sci. 57:25-40
- 35. Angelastro JM, Klimaschewski LP, Vitolo OV (2000) Improved NlaIII digestion of PAGE-purified 102bp ditags by addition of a single purification step in both the SAGE and microSAGE protocols. Nuc Acids Res. 28(12); e62.
- 36. Angelastro JM, Ryu EJ, Torocsik B, Fiske BK, Greene LA. (2002) Blue-white selection step enhances the yield of SAGE concatamers. Biotech. 32(3); 484-486.
- 37. Arai KY, Ohshima K, Watanabe G, Arai K, Uehara K, Taya K (2002) Dynamics of messenger mRNAs encoding inhibin/activin subunits and follistatin in the ovary during the rat oestrus cycle. Biol Reprod 66, 1119-1126.
- Argraves WS, Drake CJ (2005) Genes critical to vasculogenesis as defined by systematic analysis of vascular defects in knockout mice. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol (Epub ahead of print Aug 21).
- Arici, A., E. Oral, O. Bukulmez, S. Buradagunta, O. Engin, D. L. Olive, 1996: Interleukin-8 expression and modulation in human preovulatory follicles and ovarian cells. JEndocrinol. 137, 3762-3769.
- Armstrong DG, Gutierrez CG, Baxter G, Glazyrin AL, Mann GE, Woad KJ, Hogg CO, Webb R. (2000) Expression of mRNA encoding IGF-I, IGF-II and type I IGF receptor in bovine ovarian follicles. J Endocrinol 165, 101-113.
- 41. Armstrong DT, Dorrington JH. 1976. Androgens augument FSH-induced progesterone secretion by cultured rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol. 99: 1411-1414.
- 42. Arora KK et al (1990) Glucose phosphorylation in tumour cells. Cloning, sequencing, and overexpression in active form of a full-length cDNA encoding a mitochondrial bindable form of hexokinase. J Biol Chem 265, 6481-6488.
- 43. Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ. (1999) Notch signalling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Sci. 284, 770-776.
- 44. Asselin, E., Wang, Y. and Tsang, B.K., (2001). X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase–Akt pathway in rat granulosa cells during follicular development. Endocrinol. 142, pp. 2451–2457
- 45. Aten RF, Kolodecik TR, Behrman HR 1995. A cell adhesion receptor antiserum abolishes, whereas laminin and fibronectin glycoprotein components of extracellular matrix promote, luteinisation of cultured rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol. 136: 1753-8.
- 46. Auerbach, W. & R. Auerbach, 1994: Angiogenesis inhibition: a review. Pharmac. Ther. 63, 265 311.
- 47. Aurrand-Lions M, Galland F, Bazin H, Zakharyev VM, Imhof BA, Naquet P 1996 Vanin-1, a novel GPI-linked perivascular molecule involved in thymus homing. Immunity 5:391-40
- Aurrand-Lions M, Galland F, Bazin H, Zakharyev VM, Imhof BA, Naquet P 1996 Vanin-1, a novel GPI-linked perivascular molecule involved in thymus homing. Immunity 5:391–405

- Contraction of the 「大学の「おという」で、おいていていた。 たいしん 地名加尔 计 ø A Strain a state 「大学のない」というである。
- 49. Avalos BR, (1996) Molecular analysis of the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor. Blood 88 :761–777
- Awasthi YC, Yang Y, Tiwari NK, Patrick B, Sharma A, Li J, Awasthi S (2004) Regulation of 4-hydroxynonenal mediated signalling by glutathionie S-transferases. Free Radical Biol Med 37:5, 607-619.
- 51. Babu PS, Danilovich N, Sairam MR, (2001) Hormone induced receptor gene splicing: enhanced expression of growth factor type 1 FSH receptor motif in the developing mouse ovary as a new paradigm in growth regulation. Endocrinol. 142 pp381-389.
- Baibin, M., Fueyo, A., Lopez, J.M., Diez-Itza, I., Velasco, G., and Lopez-Otin, C. (1996).
   Expression of collagenase-3 in the rat ovary during the ovulatory process. Endocrinol. 149:405-415.
- 53. Baker J, Hardy MP, Zhou J, Bondy C, Lupu F, Bellve AR, Efstratiadis A (1996) Effects of an IGF gene mutation on mouse reproduction. Mol Endocrinol 10 pp903-913.
- 54. Baker SJ, Srsen V, Lapping R & Spears N 2001 Combined effect of follicle-follicle interactions and declining follicle-stimulating hormone on murine follicle health in vitro. Biol Repro. 65 1304–1310
- 55. Bakke LJ, Dow MPD, Pursley JR, Smith GW 2000. Differentiatl upregulation of interstitial collagenase (MMP-1) mRNA transcripts following the LH surge in bovine preovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Serono Symposia USA, XIIIth Ovarian Workshop, Madison WI.
- 56. Bakke LJ, Pursley JR, Smith GW 1999. Regulation of membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase and matrix metalloproteinase-2 mRNA expression within bovine preovulatory follicles. Pages 124. 32<sup>nd</sup> Annual meeting, Society for the Study of Reproduction. Biol Reprod. Pullman, WA.
- Balbin, M., Fueyo, A., Lopez, J.M., Dicz-Itza, I., Velasco, G., and Lopez-Otin, C. (1996). Expression of collagenase-3 in the rat ovary during the ovulatory process. J. Endocrinol. 149:405–415.
- 58. Balchak SK, Marcinkiewicz JL. Evidence for the presence of tumor necrosis factor alpha receptors during ovarian development in the rat. Biol Reprod 1999; 61:1506-1512
- Ball EMA, Risbridger GP. (2001) Activins as regulators of branching morphogenesis. Dev Biol 238, 1-12.
- 60. Banks, W. J., 1992: Applied Veterinary Histology, 3rd edn. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- 61. Bao B, Thomas MG, Griffith MK, Burghardt RC, Williams GL. (1995). Steroidogenic activity, insulin-like growth factor-1 production, and proliferation of granulosa and theca cells obtained from dominant preovulatory and nonovulatory follicles during the bovine oestrus cycle: Effects of low density and high density lipoproteins. Biol Reprod, 53 :1271-1279.
- Bao, B. N., Calder, M. D., Xie, S. C., Smith, M. F., Salfen, B. E., Youngquist, R. S. & Garverick, II. A. (1998). Expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein messenger ribonucleic acid is limited to theca of healthy bovine follicles collected during recruitment, selection, and dominance of follicles of the first follicular wave. Biol Reprod. 59, 953-959.
- Barboni B, Turriani M, Galeati G, Spinaci M, Bacci ML, Forni M, Mattioli M, 2000: Vascular endothelial growth factor production in growing pig antral follicles. Biol Reprod. 63, 858-864.

64. Barboni, B. and Mattioli, M., 1996. Oocyte maturation involves important changes required for activation competence. Reprod. Domestic Animals 31, pp. 589–594.

100 C

The second second

ステック たいちゅうという

いたのからのである ないの 御田長に いいい

- 65. Bardos JI, Ashcroft M. (2005) Negative and positive regulation of HIF-1: a complex network. Biochem Biophys Acta, pp1-14.
- 66. Barkan D, Jia H, Dantes A, Vardimon L, Amsterdam A, and Rubinstein M, (1999) Leptin modulates the glucocorticoid-induced ovarian steroidogenesis. Endocrinol 140 :1731– 1738
- Barrera G, Di Mauro C, Muraca R, Ferrero D, Cavalli G, Fazio VM, Paradisi L, Dianzani MU. (1991) Induction of cell differentiation in human HL-60 cells by 4-hydroxynonenal, a product of lipid peroxidation. Exp Cell Res 197, 148-152.
- 68. Bathgate, R., Balvers, M., Hunt, N. & Ivell, R. (1996) Relaxin-like factor gene is highly expressed in the bovine ovary of the cycle and pregnancy: sequence and messenger ribonucleic acid analysis [published erratum appears in Biol Reprod 1997 Mar;56(3):788]Biol. Reprod. 55, 1452-1457
- 69. Beckmann AM, Wilce PA 1997 Egr transcription factors in the nervous system. Neurochem Int 31:477–510
- 70. Berisha B, Schams D, Kosmann M, Amselgruber W, Einspanier R, 2000: Expression and tissue concentration of vascular endothelial growth factor, its receptors, and localization in the bovine corpus luteum during estrous cycle and pregnancy. Biol Reprod 63, 1106-1114.
- 71. Bernstein E, et al (2003) Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat Genet 35, 215-217.
- 72. Bertram MJ, Berube NG, Hang-Swanson X, Ran Q, Leung JK, Bryce S, Spurgers K, Bick RJ, Baldini A, Ning Y, Clark LJ, Parkinson EK, Barrett JC, Smith JR, Pereira-Smith OM. (1999) Identification of a gene that reverses the immortal phenotype of a subset of cells and is a member of a novel family of transcription factor like genes. Mol Cell Biol 19:2, 1479-1485.
- 73. Bianco F, Basini G, Grasselli F, Tamanini C, 2003: PO2 in swine follicular fluid. Reproduction (Abstr Series) 30, P58.
- 74. Biggers JD, Whittingham DG, Donahue RP. 1967. The pattern of energy metabolism in the mouse oocyte and zygote. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 58, 560-567.
- 75. Bigler D, Takahashi Y, Chen MS, Almeda EAC, Osbourne L, White JM. 2000. Sequence specific interaction between disintegrin domain of mouse ADAM 2 (fertilin Ø) and murine eggs. J. Biol. Chem. 275:11576–84
- 76. Bikfalvi A, Savona C, Perollet C, Javerzat S, 1998: New insights in the biology of fibroblast growth factor-2. Angiogenesis 1, 155-173.
- 77. Bilezikjian LM, Corrigan AZ, Vale WW. Activin-B, inhibin-B and follistatin as autocrine/paracrine factors of the rat anterior pituitary. In: Burger HG, editor. Challenges in endocrinology and modern medicine. Vol. 3. Rome, Italy: Ares Serono Symposium;1994. p. 81.
- 78. Billig H, Chun S-Y, Eisenhauer K, Hsuch AJW. Gonadal cell apoptosis: hormoneregulated cell domise. Hum Reprod Update, 1996; 2: 103-117.
- 79. Billig H, Furuta I, Hsueh AJW 1994 Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone directly induces apoptosis cell death in the rat ovary: biochemical and in situ detection of deoxyribonucleic acid fragmentation in granulosa cells. Endocrinol 134, 245-252.

80. Billig H, Furuta I, Hsueh AJW. Estrogens inhibit and androgens enhance ovarian granulosa cell apoptosis. Endocrinol. 1993; 133: 2204-2212.

And the second of the second of the second

100

and the state of a second s

- 81. Bird IM (1998) Size separation and quantification of mRNA by northern analysis. Methods Mol Biol 105; 325-336.
- Birnbaumer M. (1995). Mutations and diseases of G proteins coupled receptors. J. Recept. Signal Transd. Res. 15:133-60
- 83. Bjersing, L., and Cajander, S. (1975). Ovulation and the role of the ovarian surface epithelium. Experentia 31:605-608.
- Black RA, White JM. 1998. ADAMs: focus on the protease domain. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10:654–59
- Black, R.A., Rauch, C.T., Kozlosky, C.J., Peschon, J.J., Slack, J.L., Wolfson, M.F., Castner, B.J., Stocking, K.L., Reddy, P., Srinivasan, S., Nelson, N., Boiani, N., Schooley, K.A., Gerhart, M., Davis, R., Fitzner, J.N., Johnson, R.S., Paxton, R.J., March, C.J., and Cerretti, O.P. (1997). A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour necrosis factor-a from cells. Nature 385:729-733.
- 86. Bleach ECL, Muttukrishna S, Cunningham FJ, Knight PG, Glencross RG. Effect of inhibin immunization using different synthetic peptide fragments of the bovine aCsubunit on plasma anti-inhibin titers, plasma FSH concentrations and the incidence of multiple ovulation in heifers. Anim Reprod Sci 1996; 41:1-12.
- 87. Blokzijl A et al (2003) Cross talk between Notch and TGFβ signalling pathways mediated by interaction of the Notch intracellular domain with Smad3. J Cell Biol 163, 723-728.
- Boerboom D, Sirois J. 1998. Molecular characterization of equine prostaglandin G/H synthase-2 and regulation of its messenger ribonucleic acid in preovulatory follicles. Endocrinology 139:1662-70
- 89. Boheler KR, Stern MD (2003). The new role of SAGE in gene discovery. Trends Biotech. 21(2); 55-57.
- 90. Boone, D.L. and Tsang, B.K., (1998). Caspase 3 in the rat ovary: localization and possible role in follicular atresia and lutcal regression. Biol. Reprod. 58, pp. 1533–1539
- Borman SM, Chaffin CL, Schwinof KM, Stouffer RL, Zelinski-Wooten MB. 2004. Progesterone promotes oocyte maturation, but not ovulation, in nonhuman primate follicles without a gonadotrophin surge. Biol Reprod. Jul;71 (1):366-73.
- Boujrad, N., Ogwuegbu, S.O., Garnier, M., Lee, C.H., Martin, B.M., and Papadopoulos, V. (1995). Identification of a stimulator of steroid hormone synthesis isolated from testis. Science 286:1609–1612.
- Bourguignon LY, Gunja-Smith Z, Iida N, Zhu HB, Young LJ, Muller WJ, Cardiff RD 1998 CD44v is involved in cytoskeleton-mediated tumor cell migration and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-9) association in metastatic breast cancer cells. J Cell Physiol 176:206-215
- 94. Bowles J, Bullejos M, Koopman P 2000 A subtractive gene expression screen suggests a role for vanin-1 in testis development in mice. Genesis 27:124–135
- 95. Braissant O, Foufelle F, Scotto C, Dauca M, Wahli W. 1996. Differential expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs): tissue distribution of PPAR- $\alpha$ , - $\beta$ , and - $\gamma$  in the adult rat. Endocrinol 137, 354-366.

- and the second second second and the second A CONTRACTOR OF V 86 . A + 10 and the second second
- 96. Brandl S, (2002) Antisense-RNA regulation and RNA interference. Biochim, Biophys Acta 1575: 15-25.
- 97. Brännström M and Norman RJ, (1993) Involvement of leukocytes and cytokines in the ovulatory process and corpus luteum function. Hum Reprod 8 :1762-1775.
- 98. Brännström M, Bonello N, Norman RJ and Robertson SA, (1995) Reduction of ovulation rate in the rat by administration of a neutrophil-depleting monoclonal antibody. J Reprod Immunol 29 :265–270
- 99. Brännström M, Wang L & Norman RJ (1993) Ovulatory effect of interleukin-1 on the perfused rat ovary. Endocrinol 132 399–404.
- 100. Brännström, M., Bonello, N., Wang, L.J., and Norman, R.J. (1995). Effects of tumour necrosis factor a (TNFa) on ovulation in the rat ovary. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 7:67-73.
- 101. Braw RH, BarAmi S, Tsafriri A. Effect of hypophysectomy on atresia of rat preovulatory follicles. Biol Reprod 1981; 25:989-996.
- 102. Braw RH, Tsafriri A. Follicles explanted from pentobarbitone-treated rats provide a model for atresia. J Reprod Fertil, 1980; 59: 259-265.
- Brook A, Xie J-E, Du W, Dyson N. (1996) Requirements for dE2F function in proliferating cells and in post-mitotic differentiating cells. EMBO Journal 15:14, 3676-3683.
- 104. Brower PT, Schultz RM. Intercellular communication between granulosa cells and mouse occytes: existence and possible nutritional role during occyte growth. Dev Biol 1982; 90: 144-153
- 105. Brown KA, Boerboom D, Bouchard N, Dore M, Lussier JG, Sirois J. 2004. Human chorionic gonadotropin-dependent regulation of 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 4 in preovulatory follicles and its potential role in follicular luteinization. Endocrinol Apr;145 (4):1906-15
- 106. Brown, M. S. & Goldstein, J. L. (1997). The SREBP pathway: Regulation of cholesterol metabolism by protoclysis of membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell 89, 331-340.
- 107. Brunet A, Park J, Tran H, Hu LS, Hemmings BA, Greenberg ME. (2001) Protein kinase sgk mediates survival signals by phosphorylating the forkhead transcription factor FKHRL1 (FOXO3a). Mol and Cell Biol 21:3 952-965.
- 108. Brunet, A., Park, J., Tran, H., Hu, L.S., Hemmings, B.A. and Greenberg, M.E., 2001. Protein kinase SGK mediates survival signals by phosphorylating the forkhead transcription factor FKHRL1 (FOXO3a). Mol. Cell Biol. 21, pp. 952–965
- 109. Buccione R, Schroeder AC and Eppig JJ (1990) Interactions between somatic cells and germ cells throughout mammalian oogenesis Biol of Reprod 43 543--547
- 110. Buccione R, Vanderhyden BC, Caron PJ, Eppig JJ (1990) FSH induced expansion of the mouse cumulus cophorus in vitro is dependent on specific factors secreted by the cocyte. Dev Biol 138 pp16-25
- 111. Burghardt RC, and Anderson E, (1981) Hormonal modulation of gap junctions in rat ovarian follicles. Cell Tissue Res. 214 :181–193.
- 112. Burns KH, Owens GE, Ogbonna SC, Nilson JH, Matzuk MM. (2003) Expression profiling analyses of gonadotrophin responses and tumour development in the absence of inhibins. Endocrinol 144:10, 4492-4507.

113. Büscher, F.C.K. Chen, H. Kentenich, and H. Schmiady. 1999.Cytokines in the follicular fluid of stimulated and non-stimulated human ovaries; is ovulation a suppressed inflammatory reaction? Hum. Reprod. 14: 162-166 いたい ない かいてい たいに かいてい

であるという。

- 114. Buse P, Tran SH, Luther E, Phu PT, Aponte GW, Firestone GL. (1999) Cell cycle and hormonal control of nuclear cytoplasmic localisation of the serum and glucocorticoid inducible protein kinase sgk in mammary tumour cells. J Biol Chem 274:11, 7253-7263.
- 115. Bussemakers MJ, van Bokhoven A, Verhaegh GW, Smit FP, Karthaus HF, Schalken JA, Debruyne FM, Ru N, Isaacs WB. (1999) DD3: a new prostate specific gene, highly overexpressed in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 59, 5975-5979.
- 116. Bustin SA (2000) Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays. J Mol Endocrinol. 25(2); 169-193.
- 117. Butenandt, A., and U. Westphal. (1934). Zur. Isoliersungund Charakteriserung des corpus-luteum hormons. Ber. Chem. Ges. Frankfurt 63:659.
- Byskov, A.G., Andersen, C.Y., Hossaini, A. and Xia, G.L., 1997. Cumulus cells of oocyte-cumulus complexes secrete a meiosis-activating substance when stimulated with FSH. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 46, pp. 296–305.
- Byskov, A.G., Andersen, C.Y., Nordholm, L., Thogersen, H., Xia, G.L., Wassmann, O., Andersen, J.V., Guddal, E. and Roed, T., 1995. Chemical structure of sterols that activate oocye meiosis. Nature 374, pp. 559–562.
- 120. C. elegans Sequencing Consortium. (1998) Genome sequence of the nematode C. elegans: A platform for investigating biology. Science 282: 2012-2018.
- 121. Cadigan KM, Nusse R (1997) Wnt signaling: a common theme in animal development. Genes Dev 11:3286-3305
- 122. Callesen H, Greve T, Hyttel P. Preovulatory endocrinology and oocyte maturation in superovulated cattle. Theriogenology 1986; 43: 1115-28
- 123. Cameron, M. R., Foster, J. S., Bukovsky, A., and Wimalasena, J. (1996) Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases by gonadotropins and cyclic adenosine 5'monophosphates in porcine granulosa cells Biol. Reprod. 55, 111-119
- 124. Camp TA, Rahal JO, Mayo KE. (1991) Cellular localisation and hormonal regulation of follicle stimulating hormone and luteinising hormone receptor messenger mRNA in the rat ovary. Mol Endocrinol 5 pp 1405-1417.
- 125. Canipari R, Epifano O, Siracusa G, Salustri A (1995) Mouse oocytes inhibit plasminogen activator production by ovarian cumulus and granulosa cells. Dev. Biol 167 pp371-378.
- 126. Caraty A, Locatelli A, Martin GB 1989 Biphasic response in the secretion of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in ovariectomized ewes injected with oestradiol. J Endocrinol 123:375-382
- 127. Carlone D, Richards JS (1997) Functional interactions, phosphorylation and levels of CREB and SF-1 mediate hormone-regulated and constitutive expression of aromatase in gonadal cells, Mol Endocrinol 11:292–304
- 128. Carmeliet, P., Schoonjans, L., Kieckens, L., Ream, B., Degen, J., Bronson, R., De Vos, R., van den Oord, J.J., Collen, D., and Mulligan, R.C. (1994). Physiological consequences of loss of plasminogen activator function in mice. Nature 368:419-424.

129. Cataldo NA, Rabinovici J, Fujimoto VY, Jaffe RB (1994) Follistatin antagonises the effects of activin A on steroidogenesis in human luteinising granulosa cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79 pp272-277.

- Catt K, Dufau ML. (1991). Gonadotropic hormones: biosynthesis secretion, receptors and actions. Reprod Endocrinol, ed. SSC Yen, RB Jaffe, pp. 105-55, Philadelphia: Saunders
- Catt KJ, Dufau ML, Tsuruhara T. (1973). Absence of intrinsic biological activity in LH and hCG subunits. J. Clin. Endocrinol. 36:73-78
- 132. Cavazos, L. F., L. L. Anderson, W. D. Belt, N. M. Henricks, R. R. Kraeling, and R. M. Melampy. (1969). Fine structure and progesterone levels in the corpus luteum of the pig during the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 1:83
- 133. Chabbert-Buffet, N., C. Djakoure, S. C. Maitre, P. Bouchard, 1998: Regulation of the human menstrual cycle. Front. Neuroendocrinology 19, 151 186.
- Chaffin CL, Brogan RS, Stouffer RL, Vandevoort CA. 2003. Dynamics of Myc/Max/Mad expression during luteinization of primate granulosa cells in vitro: association with periovulatory proliferation. Endocrinol. Apr;144(4):1249-56.
- Chaffin CL, Dissen GA, and Stouffer RL. (2000). Hormonal regulation of steroidogenic enzyme expression in granulosa cells during the peri-ovulatory interval in monkeys. Mol Hum Reprod 6: 11–18,
- 136. Chaffin CL, Stouffer RL, Duffy DM. 1999. Gonadotrophin and steroid regulation of steroid receptor and aryl hydrocarbon receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in macaque granulosa cells during the periovulatory interval. Endocrinol 140, 4735-4760.
- 137. Chang AC, Dunham MA, Jeffrey KJ, Reddel RR 1996 Molecular cloning and characterization of mouse stanniocalcin cDNA. Mol Cell Endocrinol 124:185–187
- 138. Chang AC, Janosi J, Hulsbeek M, de Jong D, Jeffrey KJ, Noble JR, Reddel RR 1995 A novel human cDNA highly homologous to the fish hormone stanniocalcin. Mol Cell Endocrinol 112:241–247
- 139. Chang SCS, Anderson W, Lewis JC, Ryan RJ, and Kang YH. (1977) The porcine ovarian follicle. II. Electron microscopic study of surface features of granulosa cells at different stages of development. Biol. Reprod. 16 :349–357
- 140. Channing CP, Hillensjo T, Schaerf FW. Hormonal control of oocyte meiosis, ovulation and luteinization in mammals. Clin Endocrinol Metab 1978; 7: 601-24.
- 141. Chen et al (2002) Identifying novel transcripts and novel genes in the human genome by using novel SAGE tags. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99; 12257-12262.
- 142. Chen J, Lee S, Zhou G, Wang SM. (2002) High throughput GLGI procedure for converting a large number of serial analysis of gene expression tag sequences into 3' complementary cDNAs. Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 33; 252-261.
- 143. Chen J, Lee S, Zhou G, Wang SM. (2002) High throughput GLGI procedure for converting a large number of scrial analysis of gene expression tag sequences into 3' complementary cDNAs. Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 33; 252-261.
- Chen JJ, Rowley JD, Wang SM, (2000) Generation of longer cDNA fragments from serial analysis of gene expression tags for gene identification. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97; 349-353.

145. Chen L, Russell PT, Larsen WJ 1993 Functional significance of cumulus expansion in the mouse: roles for the preovulatory synthesis of hyaluronic acid within the cumulus mass. Mol Reprod Dev 34:87–93 A DESCRIPTION OF

金融ができた時代によりために、1980年に1990年できる1980年では、1990年に1990年で、1990年に19

- 146. Chen YJ, Feng Q and Liu YX, (1999) Expression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and luteinizing hormone receptor and their regulation by tumor necrosis factor alpha in rat corpora lutea, Biol. Reprod. 60 :419–427
- 147. Chen, L., Wert, S.E., Hendrix, E.M., Russel, P.T., Cannon, M. and Larsen, W.J., 1990. Hyaluronic acid synthesis and gap junction endocytosis are necessary for normal expansion of the cumulus mass. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 26, pp. 236–247.
- 148. Chesney J, Mitchell R, Benigni F, Bacher M, Spiegel L, Al-Abed Y, Han JH, Metz C, Bucala R (1999) An inducible gene product for 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase with an AUrich instability element: role in tumor cell glycolysis and the Warburg effect. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96, 3047-3052
- Ching M 1982 Correlative surges of LHRH, LH and FSH in pituitary stalk plasma and systemic plasma of rat during procestrus. Effect of anaesthetics. Neuroendocrinol 34:279– 285
- 150. Chong H, Pangas SA, Bernard DJ, Wang E, Gitch J, Chen W, Draper LB, Cox ET and Woodruff TK, (2000) Structure and expression of a membrane component of the inhibin receptor system. Endocrinol 141 :2600
- 151. Chongthammakun S, Terasawa E 1993 Negative feedback effects of estrogen on luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone release occur in pubertal, but not prepubertal, ovariectomized female rhesus monkeys. Endocrinol 132:735–743
- 152. Chuaqui RF, Bonner RF, Best CJ, Gillespie JW, Flaig MJ et al (2002) Post analysis follow-up and validation of microarray experiments. Nat Genet 32(6); 509-514.
- 153. Chun S.Y., Eisenhauer, K.M., Minami, S., Billig, H., Perlas, E. and Hsueh, A.J., (1996). Hormonal regulation of apoptosis in early antral follicles: follicle-stimulating hormone as a major survival factor. Endocrinol 137, pp. 1447–1456
- Chun S-Y, Eisenhauer KM, Kubo M, Hsueh AJW. Interleukin-1β suppresses apoptosis in rat ovarian follicles by increasing nitric oxide production. Endocrinol 1995; 136:3120-3127.
- Chun, S.Y., Billig, H., Tilly, J.L., Furuta, I., Tsafriri, A. and Hsueh, A.J., (1994).
   Gonadotropin suppression of apoptosis in cultured preovulatory follieles: mediatory role of endogenous insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinol 135, pp. 1845–1853
- Clark DE, Tisdall DJ, Fidler AE, McNatty KP. Localisation of mRNA encoding c-kit during the initiation of folliculogenesis in ovine fetal ovaries. J Reprod fertile 1996; 106: 329-335
- 157. Clark-Lewis I, Dewald B, Geiser T, Moser B, and Baggiolini M (1993) Platelet factor 4 binds to interleukin 8 receptors and activates neutrophils when its N terminus is modified with Glu-Leu-Arg. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90, 3574–3577.
- 158. Clemens JW, Robker RL, Kraus WL, Katzenellenbogen BS, Richards JS (1998) Hormone induction of progesterone receptor (PR) messenger ribonucleic acid and activation of PR promoter regions in ovarian granulosa cells: evidence for a role of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate but not estradiol. Mol Endocrinol 12:1201–1214
- 159. Cobrinik D. (2005) Pocket proteins and cell cycle control. Oncogene 24, 2796-2809.

- たけではな
- 160. Coffin JD, Poole TJ. (1988) Embryonic vascular development: Immunohistochemical identification of the origin and subsequent morphogenesis of the major vessel primordial in quail embryos. Development 102, 735-748.
- Colonna R, Mangia F. Mechanisms of amino acid uptake in cumulus enclosed mouse oocytes. Biol Reprod 1983; 28: 797-803.
- 162. Colucci-Guyon E, Portier MM, Dunia I, Paulin D, Pournin S, Babinet C. (1994) Mice lacking vimentin develop and reproduce without an obvious phenotype. Cell 79, 679-694.
- Conneely OM, Mulac-Jericevic B, DeMayo F, Lydon JP, and O'Malley BW, (2002)
   Reproductive functions of progesterone receptors. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 57:339-355
- Cooke, B. A. (1999) Signal transduction involving cyclic AMP-dependent and cyclic AMP-independent mechanisms in the control of steroidogenesis. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 151, 25-35
- 165. Core N, Bel S, Gaunt SJ, Aurrand-Lions M, Pearce J, Fisher A, Djabali M (1997) Altered cellular proliferation and mesoderm patterning in Polycomb-M33-deficient mice. Development. 124:3, 721-729.
- 166. Corner GW. 1963. The Hormones in HumanReproduction, pp. 33–75. New York: Athenum
- 167. Corton JC, Bocos C, Moreno ES, Merritt A, Marsman DS, Sausen PJ, Cattley RC, Gustafsson JA. 1996 Rat 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type IV is a novel peroxisome proliferator-inducible gene. Mol. Pharmacol. 50, 1157-1166.
- Coulombre JL, Russel ES. Analysis of pleitropism at the W-locus in the mouse: the effects of W and Ww substitution upon postnatal development of germ cell. J exp Zool 1954; 126: 27-296.
- 169. Couse JF, Korach KS. 1999. Estrogen receptor null mice: What have we learned and where will they lead us? Endocr. Rev. 20:358-417
- 170. Couse JF, Lindsey J, Grandien K, Gustafsson J-A, Korach KS (1997) Tissue distribution and quantitation analysis of oestrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) and oestrogen receptor  $\beta$  (ER $\beta$ ) messenger ribonucleic acid in the wild type and ER $\alpha$  knockout mouse. Endocrinol 138 pp4613-4621.
- Cui Y, Miyoshi K, Claudio E, Siebenlist UK, Gonzalez FJ, Flaws J, Wagner KU, Hennigbansen L. 2002. Loss of the peroxisome proliferation-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) does not affect mammary development and propensity for tumour formation but leads to reduced fertility. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 17830-17835.
- 172. Curry TE, Jr. and Nothnick WB, (1996) Mifepristone and ovarian function. Clin. Obstet. Gynecol. 39 (2) :486–497
- 173. Curry, T.E., Jr., and Osteen, K.G. (2001). Cyclic changes in the matrix metalloproteinase system in the ovary and uterus. Biol. Reprod. 64:1285-1296.
- 174. Dagnino L, Fry CJ, Bartley SM, Farnham P, Gallie BL, Phillips RA. (1997) Expression patterns of the E2F family of transcription factors during murine epithelial development. Cell Growth Differ 8:5, 553-563.
- 175. Dahlqvist C et al (2003) Functional Notch signalling is required for BMP4-induced inhibition of myogenic differentiation. Development 130, 6089-6099.

- 176. Dajee M, Fey GH, Richards JS (1998) Stat 5b and the orphan nuclear receptors regulate expression of the  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin ( $\alpha 2M$ ) gene in rat ovarian granulosa cells. Mol Endocrinol 12:1393–1409
- 177. Dajee M, Kazansky AV, Raught B, Hocke GM, Fey GH, Richards JS 1996 Prolactin induction of the  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin gene in rat granulosa cells; Stat 5 activation and binding to the interleukin-6 response element. Mol Endocrinol 10:171-184
- Daniel SA, Armstrong DT. 1980. Enhancement of follicle stimulating hormone induced aromatase activity by androgens in cultured rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol 107:1027-1033.
- 179. Das S, Maizels ET, DeManno D, St. Clair E, Adam SA, Hunzicker-Dunn M (1996) A stimulatory role of cyclic-adenosine-3',5',-monophosphate in follicle-stimulating hormone-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway in rat ovarian granulosa cells. Endocrinol 137:967–974
- 180. Datson NA, van der Perkide Jong J, van der Berg MP, de Kloet ER, Vreugdenhill E. (1999) MicroSAGE: a modified procedure for serial analysis of gene expression in limited amounts of tissue. Nucleic Acids Res 27 pp1300-1307.
- 181. Davis BJ, Lennard DE, Lee CA, Tiano HF, Morham SG., Anovulation in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice is restored by prostaglandin E2 and interleukin-1 (IL-1)<sup>D</sup>. Endocrinol 140 (1999), pp. 2685–2695
- 182. Davis BJ, Maronpot RR, Heindel JJ, 1994a Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate suppress estradiol and ovulation in cycling rats. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 128, 216-223.
- 183. Davis BJ, Weaver R, Gaines LJ, Heindel JJ. 1994b. Mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate suppress estradiol production independent of FSH-cAMP stimulation in rat granulosa cells. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 128, 224-228.
- 184. Davis JS, West LA, Farese RV. (1984). Effects of LH on phosphoinositide metabolism in rat granulosa cells. J. Biol. Chem. 259:32768-74
- 185. Davis JS, Rueda BR, Spanel-Borowski K, 2003: Microvascular endothelial cells of the corpus luteum. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 1, 89
- 186. Davis, J.S., Weakland, L.L., Farese, R.V. and West, L.A., 1987. Luteinizing hormone increases inositol trisphosphate and cytosolic free Ca<sup>2+</sup> in isolated bovine luteal cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, pp. 8515–8521
- 187. De Loos F, Kastrop P, Van Maurik P, Van Beneden TH, Kruip TAM. Heterologous cell contacts and metabolic coupling in bovine cumulus oocyte complexes. Mol Reprod Dev 1991; 28: 255-9.
- 188. De Matos DG, Furnus CC, Moses DF. Glutathione synthesis during in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes: role of cumulus cells. Biol reprod 1997; 57; 1420-1425.
- 189. De Winter JP, ten Dijke T, de Vries CJ, van Achterberg TA, Sugino H, de Waele P, Huylebroeck D, Verschueren K, and van den Eijnden-van Raaij AJ, (1996). Follistatins neutralize activin bioactivity by inhibition of activin binding to its type II receptors. Mol Cell Endocrinol 116 :105
- 190. Dean J. 2002. Occyte-specific genes regulate follicle formation, fertility and early mouse development.J Reprod Immunol. Jan;53(1-2):171-80
- 191. Dekel N, Beers WH. 1978. Rat oocyte maturation in vitro: relief of cyclic AMP inhibition by gonadotrophins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 75, 4369-4373.

- 1.000 12 and the second the first states of the こうゆう 2雪く ALL REPAIRS OF いったり、 こう しょう 御御御御御御御御御御 、 、 御御御御 、 いをむ 、 の間の やまいで あた
- 192. Dekel N, Kraicer PF, Phillips DM, Sanchez RS, and Segal SJ. 1978. Cellular association in the rat oocyte-cumulus cell complex: morphology and ovulatory changes. Gamete research 1: 47-57.
- 193. Dekel N, Phillips DM. 1979. Maturation of the rat cumulus oophorus: a scanning electron microscope study. Boil Reprod 21: 9-18.
- 194. Dekel N. 1996. Protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation in the meiotic cell cycle of mammalian oocytes. Rev Reprod. May;1(2):82-8.
- Dekel, N., Galiani, D. and Beers, W.H., 1988. Induction of maturation in follicleenclosed oocytes: the response to gonadotropins at different stages of follicular development. Biol. Reprod. 38, pp. 517–521.
- 196. Del Sal G, Ruaro ME, Philipson L, Schneider C. (1992) The growth arrest specific gene, gas 1, is involved in growth suppression. Cell 70, 595-607.
- 197. Demetri GD, and Griffin JD, (1991) Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and its receptor. Blood 78 :2791–2808
- 198. DeMola, J.R.L., Goldfarb, J.M., Hecht, B.R., Baumgardner, G.P., Babbo, C.J., and Friedlander, M.A. (1998). Gonadotropins induce the release of interleukin-1ß, interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-a from the human preovulatory follicle. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 39:387-390
- 199. DePaolo LV, Bicsak TA, Erickson GF, Shimasaki S, and Ling N, (1991) Follistatin and activin: a potential intrinsic regulatory system within diverse tissues. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 198 :500
- 200. Desmots F, Rissel M, Gilot D, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Morel F, Guguen-Guillouzo C, Guillouzo A, Loyer P. (2002) Pro-inflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 and survival factor epidermal growth factor positively regulate the murine GSTA4 enzyme in hepatocytes. J Biol Chem, 2002 May 17;277(20):17892-900.
- 201. Desmots F, Rissel M, Gilot D, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Morel F, Guguen-Guillouzo C, Guillouzo A, Loyer P. (2002) Pro-inflammatory cytokines tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 and survival factor epidermal growth factor positively regulate the murine GSTA4 enzyme in hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 227:20, 17892-17900.
- 202. Dieleman SJ, Kruip TAM, Fontijne P, de Jong WHR, van der Weyden GC. Changes in oestradiol, progesterone and testosterone concentration in follicular fluid and in micromorphologyof preovulatory bovine follicles relative to the peak of luteinizing hormone. J Endocrinol 1983; 97: 31-42.
- 203. Dicrich A, Sairam MR, Monaco L, Fimia GM, Gansmuller A, LeMeur M, Sassone-Corsi P. 1998 Impairing follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) signalling in vivo: targeted disruption of the FSH receptor leads to abberant gametogenesis and hormonal imbalance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 13612-13617.
- 204. Dimova DK, Dyson NJ. (2005) The E2F transcriptional network: old acquaintances with new faces. Oncogene 24, 2810-2826.
- 205. Dinchuk JE, Car BD, Focht RJ, Johnston JJ, Jaffee BD, Covington MB, Contel NR, Eng VM, Collins RJ, Czerniak PM, Gorry SA, Trzaskos JM (1995) Renal abnormalities and an altered inflammatory response in mice lacking cyclooxygenase II. Nature 378:406-409
- 206. Dobrowolski SF, Stacey DW, Harter ML, Steine JT, Hiebert SW (1994) An E2F dominant negative mutant blocks E1A induced cell cycle progression. Oncogene 9, 2605-2612.

- 207. Donahue RP, Stern S. 1968 Follicular cell support of oocyte maturation: production of pyruvate in vitro. J Reprod Fertil 17, 395-398.
- 208. Dong J, Albertini DF, Nishimori K, Kumar TR, Lu N, and Matzuk MM, (1996), Growth differentiation factor-9 is required during early ovarian folliculogenesis. Nature 383 :531– 535.
- 209. Dorn C, Ou Q, Svaren J, Crawford PA, Sadovsky Y 1999 Activation of luteinizing hormone β gene by gonadotropin-releasing hormone requires the synergy of early growth response-1 and steroidogenic factor-1, J Biol Chem 274:13870–13876
- 210. Dow MPD, Pursley JR, and Smith GW 2000. LH surge induced regulation of urokinase plasminogen activator and its receptor mRNA expression within bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Serono Symposia USA, XIIIth Ovarian Workshop, Madison WI.
- 211. Dow MPD,Bakke LJ, Pursley JR, and Smith GW 1999. The LH surge upregulates expression of tissue type plasminogen activator mRNA in bovine preovulatory follicles. Pages 123, 32<sup>nd</sup> Annual meeting, Society for the Study of Reproduction. Biol Reprod. Pullman, WA
- 212. Downs SM, Daniel SA, Eppig JJ. 1988. Induction of maturation in cumulus cell enclosed mouse oocytes by follicle stimulating hormone and epidermal growth factor: evidence for a positive stimulus of somatic cell origin. J Exp Zool 245, 86-96.
- 213. Downs SM, Houghton FD, Humpherson PG, Leese HJ. 1997. Substrate ultilization and maturation of cumulus cell enclosed mouse oocytes: evidence that pyruvate oxidation does not mediate meiotic induction. J Reprod Fertil. 110, 1-10.
- Downs SM, Hudson ED. 2000. Energy substrates and the completion of spontaneous meiotic maturation. Zygote 8, 339-351.
- Downs SM, Humpherson PG, Leese HJ. 1998 Meiotic induction in cumulus cell enclosed mouse oocytes: involvement of the pentose phosphate pathway. Biol Reprod 58, 1084-1094.
- 216. Downs SM, Humpherson PG, Leese HJ. 2002 Pyruvate utilisation by mouse oocytes is influence by meiotic status and the cumulus oophorus. Mol Reprod Dev. 62, 113-123.
- Downs SM, Humpherson PG, Martin KL, Leese HJ. 1996. Glucose utilisation during gonadotrophin induced meiotic maturation in cumulus cell enclosed mouse occytes. Mol Reprod Dev 44, 121-131.
- 218. Downs SM, Mastropolo AM. 1994 The participation of energy substrates in the control of meiotic maturation in murine occytes. Dev Biol 162, 154-168.
- 219. Downs SM, Utecht AM 1999. Metabolism of radiolabelled glucose by mouse oocytes and oocyte-cumulus cell complexes. Biol Reprod 60, 1446-1452.
- 220. Driancourt M-A, Reynaud K, Corvrindt R, Smitz J (2000) Roles of kit and kit ligand in ovarian function. Reprod 5 pp143-152.
- 221. Drummond, A. E. & Findlay, J. K. (1999). The role of estrogen in folliculogenesis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 151, 57-64.
- 222. Du Z, Scott AD, May GD (2003) Amplification of high-quantity serial analysis of gene expression ditags and improvement of concatamer cloning efficiency. Biotechniques 35; 66-72.

 Dudley AT, Lyons KM, Robertson EJ, (1995). A requirement for BMP-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. Genes Dev 9 pp2795-2807. and the second second

State of the second

a strategy developments

and the second se

- 224. Dufau ML. (1988). Endocrine regulation and communicating function of the Leydig coll. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 50:483-508
- 225. Dufau Ml. (1998). The luteinizing hormone receptor. Annu Rev Physiol. 1998;60:461-96
- 226. Duffy DM, Molskness TA, Stouffer RL (1996) Progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein in luteinised gramulosa cells of rhesus monkeys are regulated in vitro by gonadotrophins and steroids. Biol Reprod 54 pp888-895.
- 227. Duffy DM, Stouffer RL (1995). Progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in the primate corpus luteum during the menstrual cycle: a possible regulation by progesterone. Endocrinol 136, pp1869-1876.
- 228. Duggan DJ, Bittner M, Chen Y, Meitzer P, Trent JM (1999) Expression profiling using cDNA microarrays. Nat Genet 21(1); 10-14.
- 229. Duncan AW Rattis FM, DiMascio LN, Congdon KL, Pazianos G, Zhao C, Yoon K, Cook JM, Willert K, Gaiano N, Reya T (2005) Integration of Notch and Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. Nat Immunol. 2005 Mar;6(3):314-22.
- 230. Durlinger ALL, Ktamer P, Karels B, de Jong FH, Uzlenbrock JTJ, Grootegoed JA, Themmen APN, (1999) Endocrinol 140 pp5789-5796.
- Dyson N (1998) The regulation of E2F by pRB family proteins. Genes and Dev 12, 2245-2262.
- 232. Eddy SR (2001) Non coding RNA genes and the modern RNA world. Nat Rev Genet 2(12); 919-929.
- 233. Edvardsen K., Chen W., Rucklidge G., Walsh FS, Öbrink, B. and Bock E. Transmembrande neural cell-adhesion molecule (NCAM), but not glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored NCAM, down-regulates secretion of matrix metalloproteinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 90, 11463-11467 (1993).
- 234. Eisenhauer KM, Chun S-Y, Billig H, Hsueh AJW. Growth hormone suppression of ovarian follicle apoptosis and partial neutralization by insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP). Biol Reprod, 1995; 53: 13-20.
- 235. El-Fouly MA, Cook B, Nekola M, Nalbandov AV. Role of the ovum in follicular luteinisation. Endocrinol 1970; 87: 288-293.
- Elledge SJ (1996) Cell cycle checkpoints: preventing an identity crisis. Science 274:1664–1671
- Elvin JA, Clark AT, Wang P, Wolfren NM, Matzuk MM. (1999) Paracrine actions of GDF-9 in the mammalian ovary. Mol Endocrinol 13 pp1035-1048.
- 238. Elvin JA, Matzuk MM. 1998. Mouse models of ovarian failure. Rev. Reprod. 3:183-95
- Elvin JA, Yan C, Matzuk MM (2000) GDF-9 stimulates progesterone synthesis in granulosa cells via a prostaglandin EP/EP2 receptor pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97 pp10288-10293.
- 240. Elvin JA, Yan C, Matzuk MM (2000) Oocyte expressed TGF-beta superfamily members in female fertility. Mol Cell'Endocrinol 159 pp1-5.

241. Elvin JA, Yan C, Wang P, Nishimori K, Matzuk MM. (1999) Molecular characterisation of the follicle defects in the GDF-9 deficient ovary. Mol Endocrinol 13 pp1018-1034.

ł

- 242. Enders, A. C. (1973). Cytology of the corpus luteum. Biol. Reprod. 8:158.
- Epigg JJ. (1991) Mammalian oocyte development in vivo and in vitro. In Wassarman PM (ed), Elements of mammalian fertilisation: CRC Press, Boca Raton; 57-76.
- 244. Eppig JJ (1991) Intercommunication between mammalian oocytes and companion somatic cells. Bioessays 13 pp569-574.
- 245. Eppig JJ and Wigglesworth K, (2000) Development of mouse and rat oocytes in chimeric reaggregated ovaries after interspecific exchange of somatic and germ cell components. Biol Reprod 63, 1014-23
- Eppig JJ, Chesnel F, Hirao Y, O'Brien MJ, Pendola FL, Watanabe S, Wigglesworth K (1997). Occyte control of granulosa cell differentiation: how and why. Hum. Reprod. 12. pp127-132.
- 247. Eppig JJ, O'Brien M, Wigglesworth K (1996) mammalian oocyte growth and development in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 44 pp260-273.
- 248. Eppig JJ, O'Brien MJ, Pendola FL, Watanabe S. (1998) Factors affecting the developmental competence of mouse oocytes grown in vitro: FSH and insulin. Biol Reprod 59 pp1445-1453.
- 249. Eppig JJ, Wigglesworth K, Pendola FC (2002) The mammalian oocyte orchestrates the rate of ovarian follicular development. Proc Nati Acad Sci 99 pp2890-2894.
- Eppig JJ, Wigglesworth K, Pendola FL, Hirao Y. Murine oocytes suppress expression of luteinizing receptor messenger ribonucleic acid by granulosa cells. Biol Reprod 1997; 56: 976-984.
- 251. Eppig JJ. (1979) FSH stimulates hyaluronic acid synthesis by oocyte-cumulus cell complexes from mouse preovulatory follicles. Nature 281 pp483-484.
- 252. Eppig JJ. 1976 Analysis of mouse oogenesis in vitro. Oocyte isolation and the utilisation of exogenous energy sources by growing oocytes. J Exp Zool 198, 375-382.
- 253. Eppig JJ. 1979. Gonadotrophin stimulation of the expansion of cumulus oophori isolated from mice: general conditions for expansion in vitro.J Exp Zool 208, 111-120.
- 254. Eppig JJ. Analysis of mouse oogenesis in vitro, oocyte isolation and utilisation of exogenous energy sources by the growing oocyte. J Exp Zool 1977; 198:375-382.
- 255. Eppig JJ. Mammalian oocyte development in vivo and in vitro. In: Wassarman PM (ed), Elements of Mammalian Fertilisation: CRC Press, Boca Raton; 1991: 57-76
- 256. Eppig, J. J. (1991). Intercommunication between mammalian oocytes and companion somatic cells, BioEssays 13, 569-574.
- 257. Eramaa M, Hilden K, Tuuri T, Ritves O (1995) Regulation of inhibin/activin subunit mRNAs by activin A and expression of activin receptor mRNAs in cultured human granulosa-luteal cells. Endocrinology 136 pp4382-4389.
- 258. Erdmann VA, Szymanski M, Hochberg A, De Groot N, Barciszewski J. (2001) Regulatory RNAs. Cell Mol Life Sci 58, 1-18.
- 259. Erickson GF, (1983) Primary cultures of ovarian cells in serum free medium as models of hormone dependant differentiation. Mol Cell Endocrinol 29 pp21-49.
260. Erickson GF, Shimasaki S (2000) The role of the oocyte in folliculogenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab 11 pp193-198.

4

and the second second second

Alter Parts aller and

10000

0.000

- 261. Erickson GF, Shimasaki S (2001) The physiology of folliculogenesis: the role of novel growth factors. Fertility and Sterility 76 pp943-949.
- 262. Eriksen GV, Carlstedt I, Morgelin M, Uldbjerg N and Malmstrom A (1999) Isolation and characterization of proteoglycans from human follicular fluid Biochemistry Journal 340 613-620
- Espey LL, Lipner H 1994 Ovulation. In: Knobil E, Neill JD (eds), Physiol Reprod. Raven Press, New York, pp 725-780
- Espey LL, Ovulation as an inflammatory reaction: a hypothesis. Biol Reprod 22 (1980), pp. 73–106
- 265. Espey LL, Ujioka T, Russell DL, Skelsey M, Vladu B, Robker RL, Okamura H, Richards JS. 2000. Induction of early growth response protein-1 gene expression in the rat ovary in response to an ovulatory dose of human chorionic gonadotropin. Endocrinol, Jul;141(7):2385-91
- 266. Espey LL, Ujioka T, Russell DL, Skelsey M, Vladu B, Robker RL, Okamura H, Richards JS (2000) Induction of early growth response protein 1 gene expression in the rat ovary in response to an ovulatory dose of human chorionic gonadotrophin. Endocrinol 141, 2385-2391.
- 267. Espey LL, Ujoka T, Russell DL, Skelsey M, Vladu B, et al. 2000. Induction of early growth response protein-1 (Egr-1) gene expression in the rat ovary in response to an ovulatory dose of hCG. Endocrinol 141:2385–91
- 268. Espey LL, Yoshioka S, Russell DL, Robker RL, Fujii S, Richards JS. 2000. Ovarian expression of a disintegrin metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs during ovulation in the gonadotropinprimed immature rat. Biol. Reprod. 62: 1090–95
- 269. Espey LL. Current status of the hypothesis that mammalian ovulation is comparable to an inflammatory reaction. Biol Reprod 1994; 50:233-238
- 270. Evans NP, Dahl GE, Glover BH, Karsch FJ 1994 Central regulation of pulsatile gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion by estradiol during the period leading up to the preovulatory GnRH surge in the ewe. Endocrinol 134:1806–1811
- 271. Evans RM. (1998) Vimentin: the conundrum of the intermediate filament gene family. BioEssays 20, 79-86.
- 272. Evans SJ, Datson NA, Kabbaj M et al (2002) Evaluation of affymetrix gene chip sensitivity in rat hippocampal tissue using SAGE analysis. Serial Anal Gene Expression. Eur J Neurosci 16; 409-413.
- 273. Evans, R. M. (1998). Vimentin: the conundrum of the intermediate filament gene family. BioEssays 20, 79-86
- 274. Everett J, Sawyer CH 1950 A 24 h periodicity in the "LH release apparatus" of female rats, disclosed by barbiturate sedation. Endocrinol 46:198–216
- 275. Eyre, D.R., Paz, M.A., and Gallop, P.M. (1984). Cross-linking in collagen and elastin. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 53:717-748.
- 276. Faerge, I., Grøndahl, C., Ottesen, J.L. and Hyttel, P., 2001. Autoradiographic localization of specific binding of meiosis-activating sterol to cumulus-oocyte complexes from marmoset, cow, and mouse. Biol. Reprod. 64, pp. 527–536.

ななないと、自己ながくさいとい いたかない。 大学 たんぞう ていたい 開空の いたちゃう かばいてき ひょう かないしゃ しゅう - いたかいや

- 277. Fanchin R, Righini C, Olivernnes F, Ferreira AL, de Ziegler D and Frydman R, (1997), Consequences of premature progesterone elevation on the outcome of in vitro fertilization: insights into a controversy. Fertil. Steril. 68 : 799–805.
- 278. Farookhi R and Desjardins J (1986) Luteinizing hormone receptor induction in dispersed granulosa cells requires estrogen Molecular and Cellular Endocrinol. 47 13–24
- 279. Fawcett, D. T., J. A. Long, and A. L. Jones. (1969). The ultrastructure of endocrine glands. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 25:315
- 280. Ferrara N, Chen H, Davis-Smyth T, Gerber HP, Nguyen TN, Peers D, Chisholm V, Hillan KJ, Schwall RH. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor is essential for corpus luteum angiogenesis. Nat Med 4, 336-340.
- 281. Ferrara N, Davis-Smyth T. 1997. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. Endocr. Rev. 18, 4-25.
- Ferrara, N. (2000) Vascular endothelial growth factor and the regulation of angiogenesis. Recent Prog. Horm. Res., 55, 15–35
- 283. Ferraretti AP, Garcia JE, Acosta AA and Jones G (1983) Serum luteinising hormone during ovulation induction with human menopausal gonadotrophin for in vitrofertilization in normally menstruating women. Fert and Steril 40 742–747
- 284. Findlay, J. X., 1986: Angiogenesis in reproductive tissues. J. Endocrinol. 111, 357 366.
- Findlay, J. X., 1994: Peripheral and local regulators of folliculogenesis. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 6, 127 139.
- 286. Fink G. (1988) oestrogen and progesterone interactions in the control of gonadotrophin and prolactin secretion. J Steroid Biochem 30: 169-178.
- 287. Fitzgerald KA, O'Neill LA 1999 Characterization of CD44 induction by IL-1: a critical role for Egr-1. J Immunol 162:4920-4927
- 288. Fitzpatrick SL, Carlone DL, Robker RL, Richards JS 1997. Expression of aromatase in the ovary: down regulation of mRNA by the ovulatory luteinizing hormone surge. Steroids 62, 197-206.
- 289. Fitzpatrick SL, Richards JS (1991) Regulation of cytochrome P450 aromatase mRNA and activity by steroids and gonadotropins in rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol 129:1452–1462
- 290. Flaws JA, Abbud R, mann RJ, Nilson JH and Hirshfield AN. (1997), chronically elevated luteinising hormone depletes primordial follicles in the mouse ovary. Biol Reprod. 57: 1233-7.
- 291. Flechon JE, Kopecny V, Motlik J and Pavlov A. 1986. Origin, structure and texture of the zona pellucida of mammalian eggs. Histochem J. 18: 138
- 292. Flores JA, Leong DA, Veldhuis JD (1992) Is the calcium signal induced by folliclestimulating hormone in swine granulosa cells mediated by adenosine cyclic 3',5'monophosphate-dependent protein kinase? Endocrinol 130:1862–1866
- 293. Fortune JE 1994 Ovarian follicular growth and development in mammals. Biol Reprod 50:225-232
- 294. Fortune JE, (1986) Bovine theca and granulosa cells interact to promote androgen production. Biol. Reprod. 35 :292–299

The second second second The second se 「と、「私にはなかい」となって、 ちょうだいか。 1999年で、1991年1997年1997年1 1987 - 1997 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 - 1989 with the solution of the

- 295. Fortune JE, Eppig JJ (1979) Effects of gonadotrophins on steroid secretion by infantile and juvenile mouse ovaries in vitro. Endocrinol 105(3), 760-768.
- 296. Fortune, J. E. & Quirk, S. M. (1988). Regulation of steroidogenesis in bovine preovulatory follicles. J Anim Sci. 66 (Suppl. 2), 1-8.
- 297. Fowler PA, Mason HD, Melvin WT, Wilson Y, Cash P, Sorsa-Lesley T & Harris W 2002 A 60-66 kDa protein with gonadotrophin surge-attenuating factor (GnSAF) bioactivity is produced by human ovarian granulosa cells. Mol Hum Reprod 8 823–832
- 298. Fowler PA, Sorsa-Lesley T, Harris W & Mason HD 2003 Ovarian gonadotrophin surge attenuating factor (GnSAF): where are we after 20 years of research? Reproduction 126 689-699
- 299. Fowler PA, Spears N. 2004. The cultured rodent follicle as a model for investigations og gonadotrophin surge attenuating factor (GnSAF) production. Reproduction 127: 679-688.
- 300. Franke WW, Hergt M, Grund C. (1987) Rearrangement of the vimentin cytoskeleton during adipose conversion: Formation of an intermediate filament cage around lipid globules. Cell 49, 131-141.
- 301. Fraser HM, Lunn SF, Cowen GM, Illingworth PJ 1995 Induced luteal regression in the primate: evidence for apoptosis and changes in c-myc protein. J Endocrinol 147:131–137
- 302. Freeman ME 1994 The neuroendocrine control of the ovarian cycle in the rat. In: Knobil E, Neill JD (eds) The Physiology of Reproduction. Raven Press, New York, pp 613–658
- Freeman WM, Walker SJ, Vrana KE (1999) Quantitative RT-PCR: pitfalls and potential. Biotechniques 26(1); 112-122, 124-5.
- 304. Friedman, C.I., Danforth, D.R., Herbosa-Encarnacion, C., Arbogast, L., Alak, B.M. and Seifer, D.B. (1997) Follicular fluid vascular endothelial growth factor concentrations are elevated in women of advanced reproductive age undergoing ovulation induction. Fertil. Steril., 68, 607–612
- 305. Frojdman K, Pelliniemi LJ and Virtanen I (1998) Differential distribution of type IV collagen chains in the developing rat testis and ovary Differentiation 63 125-130
- 306. Fujii T, Hoover DJ, and Channing CP, (1983) Changes in inhibin activity, and progesterone, oestrogen and androstenedione concentrations, in rat follicular fluid throughout the oestrous cycle. J. Reprod. Fertil. 69 (1):307–314.
- 307. Fujiwara H, Kataoka N, Honda T, Ueda M, Yamada S, Nakamura K, Suginami H, Mori T. and Macda M. Physiological roles of integrin alpha 6 beta 1 in ovarian functions. Horm Res., 50 Suppl 2, 25-29 (1998).
- 308. Fujiwara, H., Fukuoka, M., Yasuda, K., Ueda, M., Imai, K., Goto, Y., Suginami, H., Kanzaki, H., Macda, M. and Mori, T. (1994) Cytokines stimulate dipeptidyl peptidase-IV expression on human luteinizing granulosa cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 79, 1007– 1011
- 309. Fukumoto, M., Yajima, Y., Okamura, H., and Midorikawa, O. (1981). Collagenolytic enzyme activity in human ovary: An ovulatory enzyme system. Fortil. Steril. 36:746-750.
- 310. Fukunaga R, Ishizaka-Ikeda E, Seto Y and Nagata S. Expression cloning of a receptor for murine granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Cell 61 (1990), pp. 341–350.
- Gaede,S.D., Sholley,M.M., and Quattropani,S.L. (1985). Endothelial mitosis during the initial stages of corpus luteum neovascularization in the cycling adult rat. Am. J. Anat. 172, 173-180.

- •
- Gaetje, R., 1994: IGF-1 and EGF influence on steroid secretion and morphology of human granulosa cells of IVF-cycles and natural cycles in vitro. Clin. Exp. Obstet. Gynecol. 21, 14 23.
- 313. Galloway SM, McNatty KP, Cambridge LM, Laitinen MP, Juengel JL, Jokiranta TS, McLaren J, Luiro K, Dodds KG, Montgomery GW, Beattie AE, Davis GH, and Ritvos O, (2000), Mutations in an oocyte-derived growth factor gene (BMP15) cause increased ovulation rate and infertility in a dosage-sensitive manner. Nat. Genet. 25 :279 -283.
- 314. Garmey JC, Guthrie HD, Garrett WM, Stoler MH, and Veldhuis JD. (2000) Localization and expression of low-density lipoprotein receptor, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage and P450  $17\alpha$ -hydroxylase/C17–20 lyase in developing swine follicles: in situ molecular hybridization and immunocytochemical studies. Mol Cell Endocrinol 170: 57–65,
- 315. Gashler A, Sukhatme VP 1995 Early growth response protein 1 (Egr-1): prototype of a zine-finger family of transcription factors. Prog Nucleic Acids Res Mol Biol 50:191-224
- Gaubatz S, Lindeman GJ, Ishida S, Jakoi L, Nevins JR, Livingston DM, Rempel RE.
  (2000) E2F4 and E2F5 play an essential role in pocket protein-mediated G1 control. Mol Cell 6:3, 729-735.
- 317. Gebauer, G., Peter, A.T., Onesime, D. and Dhanasekaran, N., (1999). Apoptosis of ovarian granulosa cells: correlation with the reduced activity of ERK-signaling module. J. Cell. Biochem. 75, pp. 547–554
- 318. Gelety TJ, Magoffin DA. (1997) Otogeny of steroidogenic gene expression in ovarian theca-interstitial cells in the rat: regulation by a paracrine theca differentiating factor prior to achieving luteinising hormone responsiveness. Biol Reprod 56 pp938-945.
- 319. Gérard N, Caillaud M, Martoriati A, Goudet G and Lalmanach AC. (2004). The interleukin-1 system and female reproduction. J Endocrinol. Feb;180(2):203-12
- Gerhart J (1999) 1998 Warkany lecture: Signaling pathways in development. Teratology 60, 226-239.
- 321. Gharib SD, Wierman ME, Shupnik MA, Chin WW. (1990) Molecular biology of the pituitary gonadotrophins. Endocrine Rev 11: 177-199.
- 322. Ghersevich S, Nokelainen P, Poutanen M, Orava M, Autio-Harmainen H, Rajaniemi H, Vihko R (1994) Rat 17ß-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type1: primary structure and regulation of enzyme expression in rat ovary by diethylstilbestrol and gonadotropins in vitro. Endocrinol 135:1477–1487
- 323. Gibori G (1992) The corpus luteum of pregnancy. In: Adashi EY, Leung PCK (eds) The Ovary. Raven Press, New York, pp. 261–317
- 324. Giebel J, De Souza P. and Rune G.M. Expression of integrins in marmoset (Callithrix jacchus) ovary during folliculogenesis. Tissue Cell., 28, 379-385 (1996).
- 325. Ginther, O. J., M. C. Wiitbank, P. M. Fricke, J. R. Gibbons, K. Kot, 1996: Selection of the dominant follicle in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 55, 1187 1194.
- 326. Glass C, Pittman RC, Civen M, Steinberg D (1985) Uptake of high-density lipoproteinassociated apoprotein A-I and cholesterol esters by 16 tissues of the rat in vivo and by adrenal cells and hepatocytes in vitro.J Biol Chem260; 2443-2450.
- 327. Glass I.E. Localisation of autologous and heterologous serum antigens in the mouse ovary. Dev Biol 1961; 3: 787-804.

- $(1, N, \omega) \in \mathcal{I}_{2}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ 10 24.20
- 328. Glencross RG, Bleach ECL, Wood SC, Knight PG. Active immunization of heifers against inhibin: effects on plasma concentrations of gonadotropins, steroids and ovarian follicular dynamics during prostaglandin-synchronized cycles. J Reprod Fertil 1994; 100:599-605.
- 329. Glister C, Kemp CF, Knight PG (2004) Bone morphogenic protein (BMP) ligands and receptors in bovine ovarian follicle cells: actions of BMP-4, -6 and -7 on granulosa cells and differential modulation of Smad-1 phosphorylation by follistatin. Reproduction 127, 239-254.
- 330. Glister, C, Groome, NP, & Knight, PG: (2003) Oocyte-mediated suppression of folliclestimulating hormone- and insulin-like growth factor-induced secretion of steroids and inhibin-related proteins by bovine granulose cells in vitro: possible role of transforming growth factor α Biol reprod, 68:758-765
- Goede V, Schmidt T, Kimmina S, Kozian D, Augustin HG 1998. Analysis of blood vessel maturation processes during cyclic ovarian angiogenesis. Lab Invest 78, 1385-1394.
- 332. Gold, R.S., Homburg, R., Dantes, A., Amit, A. and Amsterdam, A. (1999) Testosterone stimulates the development of polycystic ovaries in immature rats and stimulates the production progesterone production in primary culture of human granulosa cells. In Proc An Meet Israel Soc Reprod, Tel Aviv, p. 16 (abstr.)
- 333. Goldschmit D, Kraicer P, Orly J (1989) Preiovulatory expression of cholesterol side chain cleavage cytochrome P450 in cumulus cclls. Endocrinol 124 pp369-378.
- 334. Golos TG and Strauss F Jr. (1987) Regulation of low-density lipoprotein receptor gene expression in cultured human granulosa cells: roles of human chorionic gonadotropin, 8bromo-3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate, and protein synthesis. Mol Endocrinol 1: 321-326,
- 335. Golos, T.G., August, A.M. and Strauss III, J.F. (1986) Expression of low density lipoprotein receptor in cultured human granulosa cells: regulation by human chorionic gonadotropin, cyclic AMP, and sterol. J. Lipid Res., 27, 1089–9610
- 336. Golshani-Hebroni SG, Bessman SP. (1997) Hexokinase binding to mitochondria: a basis for proliferative energy metabolism. J Bioener Biomembr. 29, 331-338.
- 337. Gondos B, Westergaard L, Byskov AG (1986). Initiation of oogenesis in the human foetal ovary: ultrastructural and squash preparation study. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 155, 189-95.
- 338. Gonzalez-Robayna I.J., Falender, A.E., Ochsner, S., Firestone, G.L. and Richards, J.S., (2000). Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) stimulates phosphorylation and activation of PKB (PKB/Akt) and serum and glucocorticoid-induced kinase (Sgk): evidence for A kinase-independent signaling by FSH in granulosa cells. Mol. Endocrinol. 14, pp. 1283– 1300
- 339. Gonzalez-Robayna IJ, Alliston TN, Buse P, Firestone GL, and Richards JS. (1999). Functional and subcellular changes in the A-kinase-signaling pathway: relation to aromatase and Sgk expression during the transition of granulosa cells to luteal cells. Mol Endocrinol. 1999 Aug;13(8):1318-37.
- 340. Goodman RL 1994 The neuroendocrine control of the ovine estrous cycle. In: Knobil E, Neill JD (eds) The Physiology of Reproduction. Raven Press, New York, pp 659–709
- 341. Goodman, S.B., Kugu, K., Chen, S.H., Preutthipan, S., Tilly, J.L. and Dharmarajan, A.M. (1998) Estradiol mediated suppression of apoptosis in the rabbit corpus luteum is associated with a shift in expression of bcl-2 family members favoring cellular survival. Biol. Reprod. 59, 820-827

- 342. Gordon I, Lu KH. Production of embryos in vitro and its impact on livestock production. Theriogenology 1990; 33: 77-87
- 343. Goren S and Dekel N (1994) Maintenance of meiotic arrest by a phosphorylated p34cdc2 is independent of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate Biol Reprod 51 956-962

し、「「「「ない」」であっているという。 「「ない」」、「「ない」」、「ない」、「ない」、 たい、 読ん

A COMPANY AND A COMPANY

「おいていていた」では、それでは、ためのないであった。

- 344. Gorospe WC, Hughes FM Jr, Spangelo BL 1992 Interleukin-6: effects on and production by rat granulosa cells in vitro. Endocrinol 130 1750-1752.
- 345. Gospodarowicz D, Cheng J, Lui GM, 1985: Corpus luteum angiogenic factor is related to fibroblast growth factor. Endocrinol 117, 2383-2389
- 346. Goto J, Kanayama N, Asahina T, Okada Y, Kobayashi T, and Terao T, (1997) Induction of follicular growth by exogenous interleukin-8. Hum Reprod 12 :2729-2734
- 347. Goto J, Suganuma N, Takata K, Kitamura K, Asahina T, Kobayashi H, Muranaka Y, Furuhashi M, Kanayama N. 2002. Morphological analyses of interleukin-8 effects on rat ovarian follicles at ovulation and luteinization in vivo. Cytokine Nov 24;20(4):168-73
- 348. Gougeon A, Busso D. (2000). Morphologic and functional determinants of primordial and primary follicles in the monkey ovary. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 163: 33-41.
- 349. Gougeon, A. (1994) Regulation intragonadique de la folliculogenese humaine: faits and hypotheses. Ann. Endocrinol. Paris, 55, 63–73
- 350. Grandori C, Cowley SM, James LP, Eisenman RN 2000 The Myc/Max/Mad network and the transcriptional control of cell behavior. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16:653–699
- 351. Grasselli F, Basini G, Tirelli M, Cavalli V, Bussolati S, Tamanini C, 2003: Angiogenic activity of porcine granulosa cells cocultured with endothelial cells in a microcarrier-based three-dimensional fibrin gel. J Physiol Pharmacol 54, 361-370.
- 352. Graves-Hoagland RL, Hoagland TA, Woody CO. (1988) Effects of beta-carotene and vitamin A on progesterone production by bovine luteal cells. J Dairy Sci 71, 1059-1062.
- 353. Greenwald GS and Rothchild I (1968) Formation and maintenance of corpora lutea in laboratory animals Journal of Animal Science 27 139–162
- 354. Greenwald, G. S., 1989: Temporal and topographic changes in DNA synthesis after induced follicular atresia. Growth Factors 12, 131 144.
- 355. Grieshaber NA, Ko C, Grieshaber SS, Ji I, Ji TH. (2003) Follicle-stimulating hormoneresponsive cytoskeletal genes in rat granulosa cells: class I β-tubulin, tropomyosin-4, and kinesin heavy chain. Endocrinol 144:29-39
- 356. Griffin TJ, Gygi SP et al (2002) Complementary profiling of gene expression at the transcriptome and proteome levels in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell proteomics 1(4); 323-333.
- 357. Grøndahl, C., Breinholt, J., Wahl, P., Murray, A., Hansen, T.H., Færge, I., Stidsen, C.E., Raun, K. and Hegele-Hartung, C., 2003. Physiology of meiosis-activating sterol: endogenous formation and mode of action. Hum. Reprod. 18, pp. 122–129
- 358. Grøndahl, C., Hansen, T.H., Marky-Nielsen, K., Ottesen, J.L. and Hyttel, P., 2000. Human oocyte maturation in vitro is stimulated by meiosis-activating sterol. Hum. Reprod. suppl 15 5, pp. 3–10.
- 359. Grøndahl, C., Lessl, M., Faerge, I., Hegele-Hartung, C., Wassermman, K. and Ottesen, J.L., 2000. Meiosis-activating sterol-mediated resumption of meiosis in mouse occytes in

vitro is influenced by protein synthesis inhibition and cholera toxin. Biol. Reprod. 62, pp. 775–780

- 360. Grøndahl, C., Ottesen, J.L., Lessl, M., Faarup, P., Murray, A., Grønvald, F.C., Hegele-Hartung, C. and Ahnfelt-Rønne, I., 1998. Meiosis-activating sterol promotes resumption of meiosis in mouse oocytes cultured in vitro in contrast to related oxysterols. Biol. Reprod. 58, pp. 1297–1302.
- 361. Grummer RR and Carroll DJ. (1988) A review of lipoprotein cholesterol metabolism: importance to ovarian function. J Anim Sci 66: 3160–3173,
- 362. Grunenfelder B, Rummel G, Vohradsky J, Roder D, Langen H et al (2001) Proteomic analysis of the bacterial cell cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(8);4681-4686.
- 363. Guardavaccaro D, Corrente G, Covone F, Micheli L, D'Agnano I, Starace G, Caruso M, Tirone F. (2000) Arrest of G(1)-S progression by the p-53 inducible gene PC3 is Rb dependant and relies on inhibition of cyclin D1 transcription. Mol Cell Biol 20, 1797-1815.
- 364. Gubbay J, Collignon J, Koopman P, Capel B, Economou A, Munsterberg A, Vivian N, Goodfellow P, Lovell-Badge R (1990) A gene mapping to the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome is a member of a novel family of embryonically expressed genes. Nature 346(6281), 245-250.
- 365. Guderman T, Birnbaumer M, Birnbaumer L. (1992). Evidence for dual coupling of the murine luteinizing hormone receptor to adenyiate cyclase and phosphoinositide breakdown and Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization. J. Biol. Chem. 267:4479-88
- 366. Guehenneux F, Duret L, Callanan MB, Bouhas R, Hayette S, Berthet C, Samarut C, Rimokh R, Birot AM, Wang Q, Magaud J-P, Rouault J-P (1997) Cloning of the mouse BTG3 gene and definition of a new gene family (the BTG family) involved in the negative control of the cell cycle. Leukemia 11, 370-375.
- 367. Gwynne, J. T. & Strauss, J. F. (1982). The role of lipoproteins in steroidogenesis and cholesterol metabolism in steroidogenic glands. Endo Rev 3, 295-329.
- 368. Haas TL, Stitchman D, Davis SJ, Apte SS, Madri JA. 1999. Egr-1 mediates extracellular matrix-driven transcription of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase in endothelium. J. Biol. Chem. 274:22679–85
- 369. Hägglund, A.C., Ny, A., Liu, K., and Ny, T. (1996). Coordinated and cell-specific induction of both physiological plasminogen activators creates functionally redundant mechanisms for plasmin formation during ovulation. Endocrinol 137:5671-5677.
- 370. Hahn KL, Johnson J, Beres BJ, Howard S, Wilson-Rawls J. (2005) Lunatic fringe female mice are infertile due to defects in meiotic maturation. Development 132, 817-828.
- 371. Halpin DM, Jones A, Fink G, and Charlton HM, (1986), Postnatal ovarian follicle development in hypogonadal (hpg) and normal mice and associated changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary ovarian axis. J. Reprod. Fertil. 77 :287–296
- Hanahan, D. & J. Folkman, 1996: Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell 86, 353-364.
- 373. Haplin DMG, Charlton HM. (1988). Effects of short term injection of gonadotrophins on ovarian follicle development in hypogonadal (hpg) mice. J Reprod Fertil. 82: 393-400.
- 374. Harlow CR, Hillier SG (2002) Connective tissue growth factor in the ovarian paracrine system. Mol Cell Endocrinol 187 pp23-27.

- 375. Hartman CG. 1932. Ovulation and the transport and viability of ova and sperm in the female genital tract. In Sex and Internal Secretions, ed. E Allen, pp. 647--88. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins
- Hartmann, M., and A. Wettstein. (1934). Zur kenntnis der corpus luteum-hormone (Z. Mitteilung) Helv. Chem. Acta 17:1365
- 377. Hasegawa T, Zhao L, Caron KM, Majdic G, Suzuki T, et al. 2000. Developmental roles of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) as revealed by StAR knockout mice Mol. Endocrinol. 14:1462–71
- Hasimoto S, Suzuki T, Dong AY, Yamazaki N, Matsushima K (1999b). Serial analysis of gene expression in human monocytes and macrophages. Blood 94 pp837-844.
- 379. Hattori N, Fujiwara H, Maeda M, Fujii S, Ueda M. 2000. Epoxide hydrolase affects oestrogen production in the human ovary. Endocrinol 141, 3353-3365.
- 380. Hattori, N., Ueda, M., Fujiwara, H., Fukuoka, M., Maeda, M. and Mori, T. (1995) Human luteal cells express leukocyte functional antigen (LFA)-3. J. Chin. Endocrinol. Metab., 80, 78-84

- Haung EJ, Manova K, Packer AI, Sanchez S, Bachvarova RF, Besmer P (1993). The murine steel panda mutation affects kit ligand expression and growth of early ovarian follicles. Dev Biol 157 pp100-109.
- 382. Havelock JC, Smith AC, Seely JB, Dooley CA, Rodgers RJ, Rainey WE, Carr BR (2005) The NGFI-B family of transcription factors regulates expression of 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in the human ovary. Mol Hum Reprod 11:2, 79-85.
- 383. Hayashi M, McGee EA, Min G, Klein C, Rose UM, Van Duin M, Hseuh AJW(1999) Recombinant growth differentiation factor-9 (GDF-9) enhances growth and differentiation of cultured early ovarian follicles. Endocrinol 140 pp1236-1244
- Hayes JD, Flanagan JU, Jowsey IR (2005) Glutathione transferases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45, 51-88.
- 385. He S, Cook, BL, Deverman BE, Weihe U, Zhang F, Prachand V, Zheng J, Weintraub SJ. (2000) E2F is required to prevent inappropriate S phase entry of mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 20:1, 363-371.
- 386. Hedin L, Rodgers RJ, Simpson ER, Richards JS. (1987) Changes in the content of cytochrome P450(17)alpha, cytochrome P450scc, and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl CoA reductase in developing rat ovarian follicles and corpora lutea:correlation with theca cell steroidogenesis. Biol Reprod 37 pp211-223.
- 387. Heinlein CA, Chang C (2003) Induction and repression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha transcription by coregulator ARA70. Endocrine. 21:2, 139-46.
- 388. Heinrich MC, Dooley DC, Keeble WW. (1995). Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of the gene products for steel factor and its receptor (c-kit). Blood, 85: 1769-280.
- 389. Heilberg P, Thomsen P, Janson PO and Brännström M, Leukocyte supplementation increases the luteinizing hormone-induced ovulation rate in the in vitro-perfused rat ovary. Biol Reprod 44 (1991), pp. 791–797.
- 390. Hellebrand S, Schaller HC, Wittenberger T. (2001) The brain-specific G-protein coupled receptor GPR85 with identical protein sequence in man and mouse maps to human chromosome 7q31. Brain Res Gene Expr Patterns 1:1, 13-6

- and the states of the states and the states たちゃ おおがたい たいたい たんかい たまえ いきい 「ないないない」というないないです。 er. 1981: Alex e Alis - - Alis and a substruction for an and a first for a substruction of the substruction of the こうどうきょうかい こうごう しんしん い 2 1.11.11.11.11.1
- Heller DT, Cahill DM, Schultz RM. Biochemical studies of mammalian oogenesis: metabolic cooperativity between granulosa cells and growing mouse oocytes. Dev Biol 1981; 84:455-464.
- 392. Herlands RL, Schultz RM. Regulation of mouse oocyte growth: probable nutritional role for intercellular communication between follicle cells and oocytes in oocyte growth. J Exp Zool 1984; 229; 317-325.
- 393. Hermann LM, Pinkerton M, Jennings K, Yang L, Grom A, Sowders D, Kersten S, Witte E, Hirsch R, Thornton S. (2005) Angiopoietin like 4 is a potential angiogenic mediator in arthritis. Clin Immunol 115, 93-101.
- 394. Hernandez ER, Hurwitz A, Vera A, Pellicer A, Adashi EY, Leroith D, Roberts CT Jr. (1992) Expression of the genes encoding the insulin like growth factors and their receptors in the human ovary. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 74 pp419-425.
- 395. Herrlich A, Kühn B, Grosse R, Schmid A, Schultz G, Gudermann T. (1995). Involvement of Gs and Gi proteins in dual coupling of the luteinizing hormone receptor to adenylate cyclase and phospholipase C. J. Biol. Chem. 271:16764-72
- 396. Herschman H.R., 1991. Primary response genes induced by growth factors and tumor promoters. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 60, pp. 281–319
- 397. Hess KA, Chen L and Larsen WJ (1998) The ovarian blood follicle barrier is both chargeand size-selective in mice Biol of Reprod 58 705-711
- 398. Hibi K, Liu Q, Beaudry GA, Madden SL, Westra WH, Wehage SL, Yang SC, Heitmuller RF, Bertelsen AH, Sidransky D, Jen J. (1998). Serial analysis of gene expression in non small cell lung cancer.
- 399. Hickey GJ, Chen SA, Besman MJ, Shively JE, Hall PF, Gaddy-Kurten D, Richards JS. 1998. Hormonal regulation, tissue distribution and content of aromatase cytochrome P450 messenger ribonucleic acid and enzyme in rat ovarian follicles and corpora lutea: relationship to oestradiol biosynthesis. Endocrinol 122, 1426-1436.
- 400. Hickey GJ, Krasnow JS, Beattie WG, Richards JS (1990) Aromatase cytochrome P450 in rat ovarian granulosa cells prior to, after luteinization: cyclic AMP-dependent, independent regulation. Cloning, sequencing of rat aromatase cDNA, 5' genomic DNA. Mol Endocrinol 4:3–12
- 401. Hild-Petito S, West NB, Brenner RM, Stouffer RL. 1991. Localisation of androgen receptor in the follicle and corpus luteum of the primate ovary during the menstrual cycle. Biol Reprod 44: 561-568
- 402. Hillensjö, T., 1976. Oocyte maturation and glycolysis in isolated preovulatory follicles of PMSG-injected immature rats. Acta Endocrinol. 82, pp. 809–830
- 403. Hillier SG (1991) regulatory functions for inhibin and activin in human ovaries. J Endocrinol 13 pp171-175.
- 404. Hillier SG, de Zwart FA (1982) Androgen/antiandrogen modulation of cyclic AMP induced steroidogenesis during granulosa cell differentiation in tissue culture. Mol Cell Endocrinol 28 pp347-361.
- 405. Hillier SG, De Zwart FA. 1981. Evidence that granulosa cell aromatasc induction/activation by follicle stimulating hormone is an androgen receptor regulated process in vitro. Endocrinol 109: 1303-1305
- 406. Hillier SG, Purohit A, Reichert LE Jr. 1985. Control of granulosa cell lactate production by follicle stimulating hormone and androgen. Endocrinol 116, 1163-1167.

- 1. VI. 4. C. C. and sugar and and the state of the second of the これ、このこと、11日、「「「ころ」、読んたいたない All the second second President and the second second
- 407. Hillier SG, Tetsuka M (1998) Antiinflammatory role for glucocorticoids in the ovaries? J Reprod Immunity 39 pp21-27.
- 408. Hillier SG, Tetsuka M. (1997) Role of androgens in follicle maturation and atresia. Balliere's Clin Obstet Gynaecol 11 pp249-260.
- 409. Hillier SG, Whitelaw PF, Smyth CD. (1994) Follicular oestrogen synthesis: the 'two cell, two gonadotrophin' model revisited. Mol Cell Endocrinol 100 pp51-54.
- 410. Hillier SG, Yong EL, Illingworth PG, Baird DT, Schwall RH, Mason AJ. (1991) Effect of recombinant inhibin on androgen synthesis in cultured human thecal cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 79.
- 411. Hillier SG. (2001) Gonadotrophic control of ovarian follicular growth and development. Mol and Cell Endocrinol Vol 179 pp39-46.
- 412. Hirai M, Hirata S, Osada T, Hagihara K, Kato J. 1994. Androgen receptor mRNA in the rat ovary and uterus. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 49:1-7.
- 413. Hirshfield AN. (1991), Development of follicles in the mammalian ovary. Int. rev. Cytol. 124: 43-101.
- 414. Hirshfield, A. N. (1994). Relationship between the supply of primordial follicles and the onset of follicular growth in rats. Biol. Reprod. 50, 421-428.
- 415. Hirst RC, Abel MH, Wilkins V, Simpson C, Knight PG, Zhang F-P, Huhtaniemi I, Kumar TR, Charlton HM. (2004) Influence of mutations affecting gonadotropin production or responsiveness on expression of inhibin subunit mRNA and protein in the mouse ovary. Reproduction 128, 43-52.
- 416. Hisaw FL. 1947. Development of the graafian follicle and ovulation. Physiol. Rev. 27:95–119
- 417. Hitchens MR, Robbins PD (2003) The role of the transcription factor DP in apoptosis. Apoptosis 8, 461-468.
- 418. Hofer T, Wenger RH, Kramer MF, Ferreira GC, Glassman M. (2003) Hypoxic upregulation of erythroid 5-aminolevulinate synthase. Blood 101, 348-350.
- 419. Honda T, Fujiwara H, Ueda M, Maeda M. and Morí T. Integrin alpha 6 is a differentiation antigen of human granulosa cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab., 80, 2899-2905 (1995).
- 420. Honda, T., Fujiwara, H., Yamada, S., Fujita, K., Nakamura, K., Nakayama, T., Higuchi, T., Ueda, M., Maeda, M. and Mori, T. (1997) Integrin α5 is expressed on human luteinizing granulosa cells during corpus luteum formation, and its expression is enhanced by hCG in vitro. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 3, 979–984
- 421. Horie K, Takakura K, Fujiwara H, Suginami H, Liao S, Mori T. 1992. Immunohistochemical localisation of androgen receptor in the human ovary throughout the menstrual cycle in relation to cestrogen and progesterone receptor expression. Hum reprod 7:184-190
- 422. Horie K, Takakura K, Taii S, Narimoto K, Noda Y, Nishikawa S, Nakayama H, Fujita J, Mori T. The expression of c-kit protein during cogenesis and early embryonic development. Biol Reprod 1991; 45: 547-552.
- 423. Horowitz KB, Koseki Y, McGuire WL (1978) Estrogen control of progesterone receptor in human breast cancer: role of estradiol and antiestrogen. Endocrinol 103: 1742-1751.

- The second s 111 AUG - 11
- Hosokawa K, Dantes A, Schere-Levy C, Barash A, Yoshida Y, Kotsuji F(1998) Induction of Ad4BP/SF-1, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, and cytochrome P450scc enzyme system expression in newly established human granulosa cell lines. Endocrinol 139 :4679–4687.
- 425. Hoyne GF (2003) Notch signalling in the immune system. J Leukoc Biol 74, 971-981.
- 426. Hseuh Aj, Adashi EY, Jones PB, Welsh TH Jr (1984) Hormonal regulation of the differentiation of cultured ovarian granulosa cells. Endocr Rev 5 pp76-127.
- 427. Hseuh AJ, Billig H, Tsafriri A, 1994 Ovarian follicle atresia: a hormonally controlled apoptotic process. Endocr Rev 15 pp707-724.
- 428. Hscuh AJ, Dahl KD, Vaughn J, Tucker E, Rivier J, Bardin CW, Vale W. (1987) Heterodimers and homodimers of inhibin subunits have different paraorine action in the modulation of luteinising hormone stimulated androgen biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84 pp5082-5086.
- 429. Hseuh, A.J.W., Adashi, E. Y., Jones, P.B.C., Welsh, T. H. Jr. 1984. Hormonal regulation of the differentiation of cultured ovarian granulosa cells. Endocr. Rev. 5;76-127
- 430. Hsieh M, Johnson MA, Greenberg NM, Richards JS (2002) Regulated expression of Wnts and Frizzleds at specific stages of follicular development in the rodent ovary. Endocrinol 143:898–908
- 431. Hsieh M, Mulders SM, Friis RR, Dharmarajan A, Richards JS. (2003). Expression and localization of secreted frizzled-related protein-4 in the rodent ovary: evidence for selective up-regulation in luteinized granulosa cells. Endocrinol. Oct;144(10):4597-606
- 432. Hsu S.Y. and Hsueh, A.J., 2000. Tissue-specific Bcl-2 protein partners in apoptosis: an ovarian paradigm. Physiol. Rev. 80, pp. 593–614
- 433. Hsu SY, Kaipia A, McGee E, Lomeli M, Hsueh AJW. Bok is a pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein with restricted expression in reproductive tissues and heterodimerizes with selective anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1997; 94: 12401-12406.
- 434. Hsu SY, Lai RJ-M, finegold M, Hseuh AJW 1996 Targeted overexpression of Bel-2 in ovaries of transgenic mice leads to decrease follicle aoptosis, enhanced folliculogenesis, and icreased germ cell tumourigenesis. Endocrinol 137, 4837-4838.
- 435. Hue L, Rousseau GG (1993) Fructose 2,6-biphosphate and the control of glycolysis by growth factors, tumour promoters and oncogenes. Adv Enzyme Regul 33: 97-110.
- 436. IIuet C, Pisselet C, Mandon-Pepin B, Monget P, Monniaux D. 2001. Extracellular matrix regulates ovine granulosa cell survival, proliferation and steroidogenesis: relationships between cell shape and function. J Endocrinol. May;169(2):347-60.
- 437. Huet, C., Monget, P., Pisselet, C. & Monniaux, D. (1997). Changes in extracellular matrix components and steroidogenic enzymes during growth and atresia of antral ovarian follicles in the sheep. Biol Reprod 56, 1025-1034.
- Huhteniemi I (1994) Fetal testis-a very special endocrine organ. Eur J Endocrinol 130 pp25-31.
- 439. Hunter RHF (2003) Physiology of the graafian follicle and ovulation. Cambridge University Press. UK.

- The Contraction 200 The state of the second
- 440. Hunter RHF, Cook B, Baker TG. 1976. Dissociation of response to injected gonadotrophin between the Graafian follicle and oocyte in pigs. Nature (London). 260: 156-8.
- 441. Hunter T, Pines J (1994) Cyclins and cancer II: cyclin D and cdk inhibitors come of age. Cell 79:573–582
- Hunzicker-Dunn M, Birnbaumer L (1976) Adenylyl cyclase activities in ovarian tissues.
  II. Regulation of responsiveness to LH, FSH, and PGE1 in the rabbit. Endocrinology 99:185-197
- 443. Hutvagner G, Zamore PD. (2002) RNAi: nature abhors a double strand. Curr Opin. Gen Develop. 12, 225-232.
- 444. lchikawa, S., Ohta, M., Morioka, H., and Murao, S. (1983). Blockage of ovulation in the explanted hamster ovary by a collagenase inhibitor. J. Reprod. Fertil. 68:17-19.
- 445. Ikeda S, Kitagawa M, Imai H, Yamada M. (2005) The roles of vitamin A for cytoplasmic maturation of bovine oocytes. J Reprod Dev 2005: 51: 23-35.
- 446. Ingram, 1962. D.L. Ingram, The Ovary. In: S.S. Zuckerman, A.M. Mandl and P. Eckstein, Editors, Academic Press, NY (1962), pp. 247–273.
- 447. Ireland JJ, Roche JF. Development of antral follicles in cattle after prostaglandin-induced huteolysis: Changes in serum hormone, steroids in follicular fluid and gonadotropin receptors. Endocrinol 1982; 111: 2077-2086.
- 448. Isabelle Runembert<sup>1</sup>, Guillaume Queffeulou<sup>1</sup>, Pierre Federici<sup>2</sup>, François Vrtovsnik<sup>1</sup>, Emma Colucci-Guyon<sup>3</sup>, Charles Babinet<sup>3</sup>, Pascale Briand<sup>2</sup>, Germain Trugnan<sup>4</sup>, Gérard Friedlander<sup>1</sup> and Fabiola Terzi<sup>1</sup> (2002) Vimentin affects localization and activity of sodium-glucose cotransporter SGLT1 in membrane rafts J Cell Sci 115, 713-724.
- 449. Iseki S, Amano O, Fujii H, Kanda T, Ono T. 1995. Immunohistochemical localisation of two types of fatty acid binding proteins in rat ovaries during postnatal development and in immature rat ovaries treated with gonadotrophins. Anat Rec 241, 235-243.
- 450. Ishidoh K, and Kominami E. (1998), Gene regulation and extracellular functions of procathepsin L. J Biol Chem 379 :131-135
- 451. Ishiguro K, Kojima T, Taguchi O, Saito H, Muramatsu T, Kadomatsu K. 1999. Syndecan-4 expression is associated with follicular atresia in mouse ovary. Histochem. Cell Biol. 112:25–33
- 452. Ishii M, Hashimoto S, Tsutsumi S, Wada Y, Matsushima K, Kodama T, Aburatani H. (2000) Direct comparison of genechip and SAGE on the quantitative accuracy in transcript profiling analysis. Genomics 68(2); 136-43.
- 453. Iso T, Hamamori Y, Kedes L (2003) Notch signalling in vascular development. Arterioseler Thromb Vasc Biol 23, 543-553.
- 454. Itahana K, Morikazu Y, Takeya T 1996 Differential expression of four connexin genes, Cx-26, Cx-30.3, Cx-32, and Cx-43, in the porcine ovarian follicle. Endocrinol137:5036– 5044
- 455. Ito A, Sato W, Mori Y. 1985. Identification and partial characterisation of the cytoplasmic androgen receptor in bovine ovarian capsule. J Steroid Biochem 23:27-31.
- 456. Itoh F et al (2004) Synergy and antagonism between Notch and BMP receptor signalling pathways in endothelial cells. Embo J 23, 541-551.

- 457. Jaatenin R, Rosen V, Tuuri T, Ritvos O (1996) Indentification of ovarian granulosa cells as a novel site of expression for bone morphogenic protein 3 (BMP 3/osteogenin) and regulation of BMP 3 messenger ribonucleic acids by chorionic gonadotrophin in cultured human granulosa-lutein cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81, 3877-3882.
- Jablonka-Shariff, A., P. M. Fricke, A. T. Grazul-Bilska, L. P. Reynolds, D. A. Redmer, 1994; Size, number, cellular proliferation and atresia of gonadotropin-induced follicles in ewes. Biol. Reprod. 51, 531 540.
- 459. Jacobsen SEW. (2005) Defining'stemness': Notch and Wnt join forces? Nature immunology. 6:3, 234-236.
- 460. Jakubowski A, Browning B, Lukashev M, Sizing I, Thompson JS, Benjamin CD, Hsu Y-M, Ambrose C, Zheng TS, Burkly LC. (2002) Dual role for TWEAK in angiogenic regulation. J Cell Sci 115, 267-274.

and a second second second

. . . . . . . . . .

- 461. Jasper, M.L., Brannstrom, M., Olofsson, J.I. et al. (1996) Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; presence in human follicular fluid, protein secretion and mRNA expression by ovarian cells. Mol. Hum. Reprod, 2, 555–562
- 462. Jelinkova L, Kubelka M, Motlik J and Guerrier P (1994) Chromatin condensation and histone H1 kinase activity during growth and maturation of rabbit occytes. Mol Reprod Dev 37 210–215
- 463. Jiang JY, Macchiarelli G, Tsang BK, Sato E, 2003: Capillary angiogenesis and degeneration in bovine ovarian antral follicles. Reproduction
- 464. Jin S-LC, Richard FJ, Kuo W-P, D'Ercoel AJ, Conti M. 1999. Imparied growth and fertility of cAMP-specific phosphodiesterase PDE4D-deficient mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:11998–2003
- 465. Johnson AL, Bridgham JT, and Swenson JA, (2001). Activation of the Akt-protein kinase B signaling pathway is associated with granulosa cell survival. Biol. Reprod. 64, pp. 1566–1574
- 466. Johnson AL. 2003. Intracellular mechanisms regulating cell survival in ovarian follicles. Anim Reprod Sci. Oct 15;78(3-4):185-201
- 467. Johnson DC, Crane LH. (1998) Inhibitory and stimulatory effects of oestrogens upon 17α hydroxylase/C17,20 lyase in immature hypophysectomised rats treated with gonadotrophin. J Endocrinol 145 pp59-67.
- 468. Johnson DG, Schwarz JK, Cress WD, Nevins JR (1993) Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. Nature 365, 349-352.
- 469. Johnson J, Canning J, Kaneko T, Pru JK, Tilly JL (2004) Germline stem cells and follicular renewal in the postnatal mammalian ovary. Nature 428(6979), 145-50.
- 470. Johnson J, Espinoza T, McGaughey RW, Rawls A, Wilson-Rawls J. (2001) Motch pathway genes are expressed in mammalian ovarian follicles. Mech of Development 109, 355-361.
- 471. Johnson RS, Spiegelman BM, Papaioannou V. 1992. Pleiotropic effects of a null mutation in the c-fos proto-oncogene. Cell 71:577–86
- Johnson, M.L., Murdoch, J., Van Kirk, E.A., Kaltenbach, J.E., and Murdoch, W.J. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor a regulates collagenolytic activity in preovulatory ovine follicles: Relationship to cytokine secretion by the oocyte-cumulus cell complex. Biol. Reprod. 61:1581-1585.

473. Jorgez CJ, Klysik M, Jamin SP, Behringer RR, Matzuk MM 2004 Granulosa cell-specific inactivation of follistatin causes female fertility defects. Mol Endocrinol 18:953–967

-

「「「「」」」」を見たいので、」

and the second second second

11日の日本語の日本の一日の一日の一日

ę,

A State of the second se

- 474. Josefsberg LB, Galiani D, Lazar S, Kaufman O, Seger R, Dekel N. 2003. Maturationpromoting factor governs mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and interphase suppression during meiosis of rat oocytes. Biol Reprod. Apr;68(4):1282-90
- 475. Joyce IM, Pendola FL, Wigglesworth K, Eppig JJ (1999) Oocyte regulation of kit ligand expression in mouse ovarian follicles. Dev Biol 214 pp342-353.
- 476. Juneja SC, Barr KJ, Enders GC, and Kidder GM, (1999) Defects in the germ line and gonads of mice lacking connexin43. Biol. Reprod. 60 :1263-1270
- 477. Jung, Y.D., Liu, W., Reinmuth, N., Ahmad, S.A., Fan, F., Gallick, G.E. and Ellis, L.M. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor is upregulated by interleukin-1 ß in human vascular smooth muscle cells via the P38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Angiogenesis, 4, 155–162
- 478. Kaipai A, Chun S-Y, eisenhauer K, Hsuch AJW 1996 Tumour necrosis factor-α an its second messenger, ceramide, stimulate apoptosis in cultured ovarian follicles. Endocrinol 137, 4864-4870.
- 479. Kaipia, A. and Hsueh, A.J. (1997) Regulation of ovarian follicle atresia. Annu. Rev. Physiol., 59, 349–363
- 480. Kaneko H, Nakanishi Y, Akagi S, Arai K, Taya K, Watanabe G, Sasamoto S, Hasegawa Y. immunoneutralization of inhibin and estradiol during the follicular phase of the estrous cycle in cows. Biol Reprod 1995; 53:931–939.
- 481. Kaneko H, Taya K, Watanabe G, Noguchi J, Kikuchi K, Shimada A, Hasegawa Y. Inhibin is involved in the suppression of FSH secretion in the growth phase of the dominant follicle during the early luteal phase in cows. Domest Anim Endocrinol 1997; 14:263–271.
- 482. Kannbley U, Kapinya K, Dirnagl U, Trendelenburg G (2003) Improved protocol for SAGE tag to gene allocation Biotehniques 34(6): 1212-4, 1216-9.
- 483. Karl J, Capel B (1998) Sertoli cells of the mouse testis originate from the coelomic epithelium. Dev Biol. 203:2, 323-333.
- 484. Karsch FJ, Bowen JM, Caraty A, Evans NP, Moenter SM 1997 Gonadotropin-releasing

hormone requirements for ovulation. Biol Reprod 56:303-309.

- 485. Kaul SC, Sugihara T, Yoshida A, Nomura H and Wadhwa R (2000) Gros1, a potential growth suppressor on chromosome 1: its identity to basement membrane-associated proteoglycan, leprecan. Oncogene Jul 27;19(32):3576-83.
- 486. Kawaguchi T, Veech RL, Uyeda K (2001) Regulation of energy metabolism in macrophages during hypoxia. Roles of fructose 2,6-bisphosphate and ribose 1,5-bisphosphate J Biol Chem 276, 28554-28561.
- 487. Kawakami Y, Capdevilla J, Buscher D, Itoh T, Esteban CR, Belmonte JCI. 2001. WNT signals control FGFdependent limb initiation and AER induction in the chick embryo. Cell 104:891–900
- 488. Kawamura K, Kumagai J, Sudo S, Chun SY, Pisarska M, Morita H, Toppari J, Fu P, Wade JD, Bathgate RA, Hsueh AJ. 2004. Paracrine regulation of mammalian oocyte

and a state with a state of the state of the 一般に たい とく 御鮮 しいたい Vertine and

高大のであっ

maturation and male germ cell survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. May 11;101(19):7323-8.

- 489. Kenzelmann M, Muhlemann K, (1999) Substantially enhanced cloning efficiency of SAGE (Serial analysis of gene expression) by adding a heating step to the original protocol. Nucleic Acids Res (1999) Vol 27 No 3 pp917-918.
- 490. Kim JW, Dang CV (2005) Multifaceted roles of glycolytic enzymes. Trends in Biochem Sci 30:3, 142-150.
- 491. Kim, Y.M., Kim, Y.M., Lee, Y.M., Kim, H.S., Kim, J.D., Choi, Y., Kim, K.W., Lee, S.Y. and Kwon, Y.G. (2002) TNF-related activation-induced cytokine (TRANCE) induces angiogenesis through the activation of Src and PLC in human endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 277, 6799–6805
- 492. Kiriakidou, M., McAllister, J. M., Sugawara, T., and Strauss, J. F., III (1996) Expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) in the human ovary. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 4122-4128
- 493. Kirschke H, Barrett AJ, and Rawlings ND, (1998), Editors, Lysosomal cysteine proteases, Oxford Univ. Press, New York pp.13–18
- 494. Klüppel M, Wrana JL. (2005) Turning it up a Notch: cross talk between TGFβ and Notch signalling. BioEssays 27, 115-118.
- 495. Knight PG, Glister C (2003) Local roles of TGF-β superfamily members in control of ovarian follicular development. An Reprod Sci 78, 165-183.
- 496. Knight PG, Glister C. (2001) Potential local regulatory functions of inhibins, activins and follistatin in the ovary. Reproduction 121, 503-512.
- 497. Knobil E 1980 Neuroendocrine control of the menstrual cycle. Recent Prog Horm Res 36:53-88
- 498. Koga, K., Osuga, Y., Tsutsumi, O., Momoeda, M., Suenaga, A., Kugu, K., Fujiwara, T., Takai, Y., Yano, T. and Taketani, Y. (2000) Evidence for the presence of angiogenin in human follicular fluid and the up-regulation of its production by human chorionic gonadotropin and hypoxia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 85, 3352–3355
- 499. Kogaua K, Nakamura T, Sugino K, Takio K, Titani K, Sugino H (1991) Activin binding protein is present in pituitary. Endocrinol 128 pp1434-1440.
- Kojika S, Griffin JD (2001) Notch receptors and hematopoeisis. Exp Hematol 29, 1041-1052.
- 501. Komar CM, Braissant O, Wahli W, Curry TE Jr. 2001. Expression and localisation of PPARs in the rat ovary during follicular development and the periovalatory period. Endocrinol 142, 4831-4838.
- 502. Komar, C.M., Matousek, M., Mitsube, K., Mikuni, M., Brannstrom, M., and Curry, T.E., Jr. (2001). Effects of genistein on the periovulatory expression of messenger ribonucleic acid for matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in the rat ovary. Reproduction 121:259-265.
- 503. Kondo S, Sauder DN. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor type I (p55) is a main mediator for TNF-alpha-induced skin inflammation. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27:1713-1718
- 504. Kong.S, H., Choy, Y.M., Fung, K.P. and Lee, C.Y., 1991. Membrane depolarization induces protein kinase C translocation and voltage operated calcium opening in PU cells. Second Messengers Phosphoproteins 13, pp. 117–130.

- and the second second second March 2011 and the second second
- 505. König, H. E. & W. Amselgruber, and I. Rüsse, 1988: Zur Mikrozirkulation in Follikeln und Corpora lutea des Rinderovars - eine korrosionsanatomische Studie. Tierärztl. Prax. 16, 25 31.
- 506. Kosugi S, Mori T, Shenker A. (1996). The role of Asp<sup>578</sup> in maintaining the inactive conformation of the human lutropin/chorionic gonadotropin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 271:31813-17
- 507. Kotsuji F, Tomiaga T. (1994) The role of granulosa and theca cell interactions in ovarian structure and function. Microse Res Tech 27 pp97-107.
- 508. Krozowski ZS. (1992) 11 beta HSD and the short chain alcohol dehydrogenase (SCAD) superfamily. Mol Cell Endocrinol 84 pp25-31.
- 509. Kruman I, Bruce-Keller AJ, Bredesen D, Waeg G, Mattson MP. (1997) Evidence that 4hydroxynonenal mediates oxidative stress induced neuronal apoptosis. J Neurosci 17, 5089-5100.
- 510. Kubelka M, Motlik J, Fulka JJ, Prochazka R, Rimkevikova Z, Fulka J. Time sequence of germinal vesicle breakdown in pig oocytes after cycloheximide and p-aminobenzamidine block. Gam. Res. 1988; 19: 423-431
- 511. Kumagai, J., Hsu, S. Y., Matsumi, H., Roh, J. S., Fu, P., Wade, J. D., Bathgate, R. A. & Hsueh, A. J. (2002) INSL3/Leydig Insulin-like Peptide Activates the LGR8 Receptor Important in Testis Descent J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31283-31286
- 512. Kumar M, Nishii K, Nakamura K, Takeda N, Suzuki M, Shibata Y (2000). Loss of connexin 45 causes a cushion defect in early cardiogenesis. Development 127 pp4179-4193.
- 513. Kumar TR, Low MJ, Matzuk MM (1998) Genetic recue of follicle stimulating hormone beta deficient mice. Endocrinol 139 pp3289-3295.
- 514. Kumar TR, Wang Y, Lu N, Matzuk MM. (1997) Follicle stimulating hormone is required for ovarian follicle maturation but not male fertility. Nat Genetics 15 pp201-204.
- 515. Kuno K, Kanada N, Nakashima E, Fujiki F, Ichimura F, and Matsushima K, (1997). Molecular cloning of a gene encoding a new type of metalloproteinase-distintegrin family protein with thromobospondin motifs as an inflammation associated gene. J Biol Chem 272, :556-562.
- 516. Kuno K, Okada Y, Kawashima H, Nakamura H, Miyasaka M, et al. 2000. ADAMTS-1 cleaves a cartilage proteoglycan, aggrecan. FEBS Lett. 478:241–45
- 517. Kuno K, Terashima Y, Matsushima K. 1999. ADAMTS-1 is an active metalloproteinase with the extracellular matrix. J. Biol, Chem. 274:18821-26
- 518. Laitinen M, Ristimäki A, Honkasalo M, Narko K, Paavonen K, Ritvos O, 1997: Different hormonal regulation of vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF, VEGF-B, and VEGF-C messenger ribonucleic acid levels in cultured human granulosa-luteal cells. Endocrinology 138, 4748-4756.
- 519. Lander ES, Linton LM et al (2001) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409; 860-921.
- 520. Lapthorn AJ, Harris DC, Littlejohn A, Lustbader JW, Canfield RE, et al. (1994). Crystal structure of human chorionic gonadotropin. Nature 369:455-61
- 521. Lara HE, MacDonald JK, Ojeda SR. (1990). Involvement of nerve growth factor I female sexual development. Endocrinol 126: 364-75.

522. Larsen, W.J., Wert, S.E. and Brunner, G.D., 1987. Differential modulation of rat follicle gap junction population at ovulation. Dev. Biol. 122, pp. 61–71.

A The second second

and the second of the second of the second second

a state of the state

الملكيات المالية المركبة مؤمر لاسماع لارتباطهم

戦い いいた あっこう

1.14

- 523. Lash AE Tolstoshev CM, Wagner L, Schuler GD, Strausberg RL, Riggins GJ, Altschul SF (2000). SAGEmap: A public gene expression resource. Genome Res 10; 1051-1060.
- 524. Latham KE, Bautista FD, Hirao Y, O'Brien MJ, Eppig JJ (1999) Comparison of protein synthesis patterns in mouse cumulus cells and mural granulosa cells: effects of follicle stimulating hormone and insulin on granulosa cell differentiation in vitro. Biol Reprod 61 482-492.
- 525. LaVoie HA, Benoit AM, Garmey JC, Dailey RA, Wright DJ, and Veldhuis JD. (1997) Coordinate developmental expression of genes regulating sterol economy and cholesterol side-chain cleavage in the porcine ovary. Biol Reprod 57: 402–407,
- 526. LaVoie HA, Garmey JC, Day RN, and Veldhuis JD (1999). Concerted regulation of lowdensity lipoprotein receptor gene expression by follicle-stimulating hormone and insulinlike growth factor I in porcine granulosa cells: promoter activation, messenger ribonucleic acid stability, and sterol feedback. Endocrinol 140: 178–186.
- 527. Lavranos et al., 1994. T.C. Lavranos, H.F. Rodgers, I. Bertoncello and R.J. Rodgers. Anchorage-Independent Culture of Bovine Granulosa Cells: The Effects of Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor and Dibutyryl cAMP on Cell Division and Differentiation. Exp. Cell Rcs. 211 (1994), pp. 245–251.
- 528. Lawerance TS, Dekel N, Beers WH. (1980) Binding of human chorionic gonadotrophin by rat cumuli oophori and granulosa cells; a composite study. Endocrinol 106 pp1114-1118.
- 529. Lazar S, Galiani D, Dekel D. Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) negatively regulates polyadenylation of c-mos mRNA in rat oocytes. Mol Endocrinol 2002 16:331-341
- Le Provost F, Reidlinger G, Yim G, Benedict J, Gonzalez FJ, Flaws J, Hennighausen L. (2002) Genesis 32, 231-239.
- 531. Lebrun JJ and Vale WW, (1997) Activin and inhibin have antagonistic effects on liganddependent heteromerization of the type I and type II activin receptors and human erythroid differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 17:1682.
- 532. Lee PD, Sladek R, Greenwood CM, Hudson TJ (2002). Control genes and variability: absence of ubiquitous reference transcripts in diverse mammalian expression studies. Genome Res 12(2): 292-297.
- 533. Lee SL, Sadovsky Y, Swirnoff AH, Polish JA, Goda P, et al. 1996. Luteinizing hormone deficiency and female infertility in mice lacking the transcription factor NGFI-A (Egr-1). Science 273:1219-21
- 534. Lee WS, Otsuka F, Moore RK, Shimasaki S (2001). Effect of BMP-7 on folliculogenesis and ovulation in the rat. Biol Reprod 65 pp994-999.
- 535. Leek RD, Stratford I, Harris AL (2005) The role of hypoxia inducible factor 1 in three dimensional tumour growth, apoptosis, and regulation by the insulin signalling pathway. Cancer Res 65, 4147-4152.
- 536. Leese HJ, Barton AM. 1985 Production of pyruvate by isolated mouse cumulus cells. J Exp Zool 234, 231-236.
- 537. Legan SJ, Coon GA, Karsch FJ 1975 Role of estrogen as initiation of daily LH surges in the ovariectomized rat. Endocrinol 96:50-56

- The second se
- 538. Lelièvre S, Weaver VM & Bissel MJ 1996 Extracellular matrix signaling from the cellular membrane skeleton to the nuclear skeleton: a model of gene regulation. Recent Progress in Hormone Research 51 417–432.
- 539. LeMarie, W. J. (1989). Mechanisms of ovulation. Steroids 54:455
- 540. Leo CP, Pisarska MD, Hseuh AJ, 2001. DNA array analysis of changes in preovulatory gene expression in the rat ovary. Biol Reprod 65, 269-276.
- 541. Leong MLL, Maiyar AC, Kim B, O'Keefe BA, Firestone GL. (2003) Expression of the serum and glucocorticoid inducible protein kinase sgk is a cell survival response to multiple types of environmental stress in mammary epithelial cells. Journal of Biol Chem 278:8, 5781-5882.
- Lesnik EA, Fogel GB, Weekes D, Henderson TJ, Levene IIB, Sampath R, Ecker DJ. (2005) Identification of conserved regulatory RNA structures in prokaryotic metabolic pathway genes. Biosystems 80, 145-154.
- 543. Levine JE, Bauer-Dantoin AC, Besecke LM, Conaghan LA, Legan SJ, Meredith JM, Strobl FJ, Urban JH, Vogelsong KM, Wolfe AM 1991 Neuroendocrine regulation of luteinizing hormone pulse generator in the rat. Recent Prog Horm Res 47:97–153
- 544. Li X, Peegel H, Menon KMJ. (1998) In situ hybridisation of high density lipoprotein (scavenger, type 1) receptor messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) during folliculogenesis and luteinisation: Evidence for mRNA expression and induction by human chorionic gonadotrophin specifically in cell types that use cholesterol for steroidogenesis. Endocrinol 139 (7):3043-49.
- 545. Liang LF, Soyal SM, and Dean J, (1997) FIGa, a germ cell specific transcription factor involved in the coordinate expression of the zona pellucida genes. Development 124 :4939-4949.
- 546. Liew CC (2005) Expressed genome molecular signatures of heart failure. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2005;43(5):462-9.
- 547. Lin D, Sugawara T, Strauss III JF, Clark BJ, Stocco DM, Saenger P, Rogol A and Miller WL, Role of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in adrenal and gonadal steroidogenesis. Science 267 (1996), pp. 1828–1831.
- 548. Lindheim SR, Chang PL, Vidali A, Ferin M, and Sauer MV, (1998), The utility of serum progesterone and inhibin A for monitoring natural-cyclc IVF-ET. Assis. Reprod. Genet. 15:538-541
- 549. Ling NC, Liu XJ, Malkowski M, Guo YL, Erickson GF, Shimasaki S. (1993) Structural and functional studies of insulin like growth factor binding proteins in the ovary. Growth Regul 3 pp70-74.
- 550. Littman BA and Hodgen GD (1984) Human menopausal gonadotrophin stimulation in monkeys: blockade of the luteinising hormone surge by a highly transient ovarian factor Fertility and Sterility41 440-447
- 551. Liu G, Chen X. (2002) The ferredoxin reductase gene is regulated by the p53 family and sensitizes cells to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Oncogene. 2002 Oct 17;21(47):7195-204
- 552. Liu J, Carriere PD, Dore M, Sirois J. 1997. Prostaglandin G/H synthase-2 is expressed in bovine preovulatory follicles after the endogenous I. Hsurge of luteinizing hormone. Biol. Reprod. 57:1524–31

- 553. Liu K, Wahlberg P, Ay T, (1998) Coordinated and cell specific regulation of membrane type matrix metalloproteinase1 (MTI-MMP) and its substrate matrix metalloprotein 2 (MMP-2) by physiological signals during follicular development and ovulation. Endocrinol 139 pp4735-4738.
- 554. Liu KH, Dore JJ, Roberts MP, Krishnan R, Hopkins FM, Godkin JD. (1993) Expression and cellular localisation of retinal binding protein messenger ribonucleic acid in bovine blastocysts and extraembryonic membranes. Biol Reprod 49, 393-400.
- 555. Liu Z.G., Smith, S.W., McLaughlin, K.A., Schwartz, L.M. and Osborne, B.A., 1994. Apoptotic signals delivered through the T-cell receptor of a T-cell hybrid require the immediate-early gene mir-77. Nature 367, pp. 281–284
- Liu, K., Olofsson, J.I., Wahlberg, P., and Ny, T. (1999). Distinct expression of gelatinase A [matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-2)], collagenase-3 (MMP-13), membrane type MMP 1 (MMP-14), and tissue inhibitor of MMPs type 1 mediated by physiological signals during formation and regression of the rat corpus luteum. Endocrinol 140:5330-5338.
- 557. Löffler S, Horn L-C, Webber W, and Spanel-Bororwski K. (2000) The transient disappearance of cytokeratin in human fetal and adult ovaries. Anat Embryol (Berl), 201, 217-15.
- 558. Loh ED, Broussard SR, Kolakowski LF. (2001) Molecular characterization of a novel glycoprotein hormone G-protein-coupled receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 282:3, 757-64.
- 559. Lohrke B, Viergutz T, Shahi SK, Pohland R, Wolenhaupt K, Goldammer T, Walzel H, Kanitz W. 1998. Detection and functional characterisation of the transcription factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma in lutein cells. J. Endocrinol 159, 429-439.
- 560. Loukides, J.A., Loy, R.A., Edwards, R. et al. (1990) Human follicular fluids contain tissue macrophages. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 71, 1363–1367
- 561. Louvet JP, Harman SM, Schrieber JR, Ross GT. 1975. Evidence of a role of androgens in follicular maturation. Endocrinol 97: 366-372.
- 562. Lovekamp-Swan T, Jetten AM, Davis BJ. 2003. Dual activation of PPARα and PPARγ by mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in rat ovarian granulosa cells. Mol Cel Endocrinol. 201, 133-141.
- 563. Lu, Z., Xia, G.L., Andersen, C.Y. and Byskov, A.G., 2000. Effects of amphotericin B and ketoconazole on mouse occyte maturation: implications on the role of a meiosisactivating sterol. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 164, pp. 191–196.
- 564. Lucidi P, Bernabo N, Turriani M, Barboni B, Mattioli M. (2003). Cumulus cells steroidogenesis is influenced by the degree of oocyte maturation. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. May 28;1(1):45
- 565. Luck, M.R. (1994). The gonadal extracellular matrix. Oxf. Rev. Reprod. Biol. 16:34-85.
- 566. Lund SA, Murdoch J, Van Kirk EA, and Murdoch WJ, (1999) Mitogenic and antioxidant mechanisms of estradiol action in preovulatory ovine follicles: relevance to luteal function. Biol. Reprod. 61 :388–392.
- 567. Luo CW, Kawamura K, Klein C, Hsueh AJ. 2004. Paracrine regulation of ovarian granulosa cell differentiation by stanniocalcin (STC) 1: mediation through specific STC1 receptors. Mol Endocrinol. Aug;18(8):2085-96

568. Lutz LB, Cole LM, Gupta MK, Kwist KW, Auchus RJ, Hammes SR. 2001. Evidence that androgens are the primary steroids produced by Xenopus laevis ovaries and may signal through the classical androgen receptor to promote oocyte maturation. Proc natl Acad Sci USA 98: 13728-13733.

いたい こうえい ない たいがまたい いたいにん しゅうじん かいかい ディング・ディング ひょうしん いちょう ほうちょう しんしょう マック・アック たいさん 支援的

「いたいない」 「こうない」 しょうかい しょうない いたい たましょう

「ためたまっ」とないないというというという

第二人のとうないの あいてい ちょうちょう

145 CO. 17

- 569. Lydon JP, DeMayo F, funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CA, Shyamala G, Conneely OM, O'Malley BW (1995) Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit reproductive abnormalities. Genes Dev 9:2266–2278
- 570. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM and O'Malley BW, (1996) Reproductive phenotpes of the progesterone receptor null mutant mouse. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 56 1-6 :67–77
- 571. Lynch CN, Wang YC, Lund JK, Chen Y, Leal J, Wiley SR (1999) TWEAK induces angiogenesis and proliferation of endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 274, 8455-8459.
- 572. MacArthur ME, Irving-Rodgers HF, Byers S, Rodgers RJ. 2000. Identification and immunolocalization of decorin, versican, perlecan, nidogen, and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in bovine small-antral ovarian follicles. Biol. Reprod. 63:913–24
- 573. MacFarland C, Sprengel R, Phillips HS, Kohler M, Rosemblit N, Nikolics K, Segaloff DL, Seeburg PH. (1989) Lutropin-choriogonadotropin receptor: and unusual member of the G protein coupled receptor family. Science 245 pp2062-2069.
- 574. Machell NII, Farookhi R. 2003. E- and N-cadherin expression and distribution during luteinization in the rat ovary. Reproduction Jun;125(6):791-800.
- 575. Machelon, V. & D. Emilie, 1997: Production of ovarian cytokines and their role in ovulation in the mammalian ovary. Eur. Cytokine Netw. 8, 137 143.
- 576. Machelon, V., Nome, F., Duran-Gasselin, I. et al. (1995) Macrophage and granulosa interleukin-1 ß mRNA in human ovulatory follicles. Hum. Reprod., 10, 2198–2203
- 577. MacKenzie SH, Roberts MP, Liu KH, Dore JJ, Godkin JD. (1997) Bovine endometrial retinal-binding protein secretion, messenger ribonucleic acid expression, and cellular localisation during the oestrus cycle and carly pregnancy. Biol Reprod 57, 1445-1450.
- 578. Magoffin DA, Erickson GF (1982) Primary culture of differentiating ovarian androgen producing cells in defined medium. J Biol Chem 257 (1982) pp4507-4513.
- 579. Maizels ET, Cottom J, Jones JCR, Hunzicker-Dunn M (1998) Follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) activates the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, inducing small heat shock protein phosphorylation and cell rounding in immature rat ovarian granulosa cells. Endocrinol 139:3353–3356
- 580. Makrigiannakis A, Coukos G, Blaschuk O and Coutifaris C (2000) Follicular atresia and luteolysis. Evidence of a role for N-cadherin Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences900 46–55
- 581. Maller, J. L. (1985) Regulation of amphibian oocyte maturation. Cell Differ. 16, 211-221
- 582. Maloney EK, Waxman DJ. 1999. Trans-activation of PPARα and PPARγ by structurally diverse environmental chemicals. Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol. 161, 209-218.
- 583. Man MZ, Wang X, Wang Y. (2000) POWER SAGE: comparing statistical tests for SAGE experiments. Bioinformatics 16: 953-959.
- 584. Mannan MA, O'Shaughnessy PJ (1991) Steroidogenesis during postnatal development in the mouse ovary. J Endocrinol 130:1, 101-106.

- 痛ぎるい ちょうしい 彼 2010 - 1910 14 19 A RULE REPORTED TO
- 585. Manolagas SC. (2000) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of postmenopausal osteoporosis. In: Bellino FL ed. Proceedings of the international symposium on the biology of the menopause. Norwell, MA: Springer :134-146.
- 586. Manova K, Bachvarova RF. Related articles, expression of c-kit encoded at the W locus of mice in developing embryonic germ cells and presumptive melanoblasts. Dev Biol 1991; 146:321-324.
- 587. Manova K, Huang EJ, Angeles M, deLeon V, Sanchez S, Pronovost SM, Besmer P, Bachvarova RF. The expression of the c-kit ligand in the gonads of mice supports a role for the c-kit receptor in oocyte growth and in proliferation of spermatogonia. Dev Biol 1993; 157: 85-99.
- 588. Martens JW, de Winter JP, Timmerman MA, McLuskey A, van Schaik RH, Themmen AP, and de Jong FH, (1997) Inhibin interferes with activin signaling at the level of the activin receptor complex in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Endocrinol 138 :2928
- 589. Martinez-Chequer JC, Stouffer RL, Hazzard TM, Patton PE, Molskness TA, 2003: Insulin-like growth factors-1 and -2, but not hypoxia, synergize with gonadotropin hormone to promote vascular endothelial growth factor-A secretion by monkey granulosa cells from preovulatory follicles. Biol Reprod 68, 1112-1118.
- 590. Marvin MJ, DiRocco G, Gardiner A, Bush SM, Lassar AB. 2000. Inhibition of Wnt activity induces heart formation from posterior mesoderm. Genes Dev. 15:316–27
- 591. Masui Y, Clarke HJ. Oocyte maturation. Int Rev Cytol 1979; 57: 185-282.
- 592. Masui Y, Market CL. Cytoplasmic control of nuclear behavior during maturation of frog occyte. J Exp Zool 1971 177:129-146
- 593. Mather JP, Woodruff TK, and Krummen LA, (1992) Paracrine regulation of reproductive function by inhibin and activin. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 201 :1.
- 594. Matsumoto M, Beltaifa S, Weickert CS, Herman MM, Hyde TM, Saunders RC, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR, Kleinman JE. (2005) A conserved mRNA expression profile of SREB2 (GPR85) in adult human, monkey and rat forebrain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 138:1, 58-69.
- 595. Matsumoto M, Saito T, Takasaki J, Kamohara M, Sugimoto T, Kobayashi M, Tadokoro M, Matsumoto S, Ohishi T Furuichi K (2000) An evolutionarily conserved G-protein coupled receptor family, SREB, expressed in the central nervous system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 272:2, 576-82.
- 596. Matsushime H, Ewen ME, Strom DK, Kato JY, Hanks SK, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ (1992) Identification and properties of an atypical catalytic subunit (p34PSK-J3/cdk4) for mammalian D type G1 cyclins. Cell 71, 323-334.
- 597. Matthews KA, Kuller LH, Sutton-Tyrell K. (2000) Changes in cardiovascular risk factors during the peri- and post-menopausal years. In Bellino FL ed. Proceedings of the international symposium on the biology of the menopause. Norwell, MA: Springer :147-158.
- 598. Mattick JS (2001) Non coding RNAs: the architects of eukaryotic complexity. EMBO Rep 2(11): 719-726.
- 599. Mattioli, M, Bacci, ML, Galeati, G, & Seren, E (1991) Effect of LH and FSH on the maturation of pig oocytes in vitro Theriogenology, 36:95–105.
- 600. Mattioli, M, Barboni, B, Bacci, ML, & Seren, E (1990) Maturation of pig oocytes: observation of membrane potential Biol Reprod, 43:318-322

4 ) 1 1 1 Зў We could what have 

- 601. Mattioli, M., 1994. Transduction mechanisms for gonadotrophin-induced oocyte maturation in mammals. Zygote 2, pp. 347–349
- 602. Mattioli, M., Barboni, B. 2000. Signal transduction mechanism for LH in the cumulusoccyte complex. Mol Cell Endocrinol. Mar 30;161(1-2):19-23
- 603. Mattioli, M., Barboni, B. and Gioia, L., 1996. Activation of PKA and PKC mediates the depolarizing effect of LH in ovine cumulus- corona cells. J. Endocr. 150, pp. 445-456.
- 604. Mattioli, M., Barboni, B. and Seren, E.:, 1991. Luteinizing hormone inhibits potassiuin outward currents in swine granulosa cells by intracellular calcium mobilization. Endocrinol 129, pp. 2740–2745.
- 605. Mattioli, M., Barboni, B., 1998. Induction of occyte maturation. In: Gametes: development and functions, A. Lauria et al., Eds., Serono Symposia, Rome, 141–153
- 606. Mattioli, M., Barboni, B., Gioia L., 1998a. Membrane depolarization triggers maturation in meiotically arrested pig oocytes by activating P type Ca channels on the oolemma. J. Reprod. Fertil. Abstract series 21, abs. 27 p.16.
- 607. Mattioli, M., Galeati, G., Bacci, M.L. and Seren, E., 1988. Follicular factors influence oocyte fertilizability by modulating the intercellular cooperation between cumulus cells and oocyte. Gamete Res. 21, pp. 223–232.
- 608. Mattioli, M., Galeati, G., Barboni, B. and Seren, E., 1994. Concentration of cyclic AMP during the maturation pig oocyte in vivo and in vitro. J. Reprod. Fert. 100, pp. 403–409.
- Mattioli, M., Gioia, L. and Barboni, B., 1998. Calcium elevation in sheep cumulusoocyte complexes after luteinising hormone stimulation. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 50, pp. 361– 369.
- 610. Mattioli, M., Lucidi, P. and Barboni, B., 1998. Expanded cumuli induce acrosome reaction in boar sperm. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 51, pp. 445–453.
- 611. Mattoli M, Barboni B, Turriani M, Galeati G, Zamoni A, Castellani G, Berardinelli P, Scapolo PA (2001) Follicle activation involves vascular endothelial growth factor production and increased blood vessel extension. Biol Reprod 65 pp1014-1019.
- 612. Matzuk M (2000) Revelations of ovarian follicle biology in the gene knockout mouse. Mol Cell Endocrinol 163 pp61-66.
- 613. Matzuk MM, DJ Lamb, (2002) Genetic dissection of mammalian fertility pathways. Nat Cell Biol 4(suppl) 41-49.
- 614. Matzuk MM, Finegold MJ, Su J-GJ, Hsueh AJW, Bradley A. 1992. α-Inhibin is a tumour suppressor gene with gonadal specificity in mice. Nature 360:313-319
- 615. Maurer RA, Kim KE, Day RN, Notides AC. (1990) Regulation of prolactin gene expression by estradiol. Prog Clin Biol Res 322: 159-169.
- 616. May BK, Bhasker CR, Bawden MJ, Cox TC. (1990) Molecular regulation of 5aminolevulinate synthase: diseases related to heme biosynthesis. Mol Biol Med 7, 405-421.
- 617. Mayerhofer A, Dissen GA, Parrott JA, Hill DF, Mayerhofer D, Garfield RE, Costa ME, Skinner MK, Ojeda SR. (1996) Involvement of nerve growth factor in the ovulatory cascade: trkA receptor activation inhibits gap junctional communication between theca cells. Endocrinol 137 pp5662-5670.

- the state of the second en Artisti - Artista Artistatati
- 618. Mayerhofer A, Lahr G, Gratzl M. Expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule in endocrine cells of the ovary. Endocrinol. 129, 792-800 (1991).
- 619. Mayor C, Brudno M, Schwartz JR, Poliakov A, Rubin EM, Frazer KA, Pachter I.S, Dubchak I (2000) VISTA: visualising global DNA sequences of arbitary length. Bioinformatics 16, 1046-0147.
- McArthur GA, Laherty CD, Queva C, Hurlin PJ, Loo L, James L, Grandori C, Gallant P, Shiio Y, Hokanson WC, Bush AC, Cheng PF, Lawrence QA, Pulverer B, Koskinen PJ, Foley KP, Ayer DE, Eisenman RN 1998 The Mad protein family links transcriptional repression to cell differentiation. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 63:423-433
- 621. McClellan MC, Diekman MA, Abel JR and Niswender GD. (1975) Luteinizing hormone, progesterone and the morphological development of normal and superovulated corpora lutea in sheep. Cell Tissue Res. 164 :291–307.
- 622. McGee EA, Chun SY, Lui S, He Y, Hseuh AJW. (1999) Keratinocyte growth factor promotes the survival growth and differentiation of preantral ovarian follicles. Fert and Steril 71 pp732-738.
- 623. McLaren A. (2003) Primordial germ cells in the mouse. Dev Biol 262(1), 1-15.
- 624. McMahon SB, Monroe JG 1996 The role of early growth response gene 1 (egr-1) in regulation of the immune response. J Leukocyte Biol 60:159-166
- 625. McNatty KP, Fidler AE, Juengel JL. (2000). Growth and paracrine factors regulating follicular formation and cellular function. Mol Cell Endocrinol 163: 11-20.
- 626. McNatty KP, Makris A, De Grazia C, Osthanondh R, Ryan KJ. 1979. The production of progesterone, androgens and oestrogens by granulosa cells, thecal tissue, and stromal tissue from human ovaries in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 49: 687-699.
- 627. McNatty KP, Makris A, Reinhold VN, De Grazia C, Osathanondh R, Ryan KJ. 1979. Meatbolism of androstenedione by human ovarian tissues in vitro with particular reference to reductase and aromatase activity. Steroid 34: 429-443.
- 628. McNatty, K. P. (1979). Follicular determinants of corpus luteum function in the human ovary. Adv. Exp. Mcd. Biol. 112:465
- 629. McNatty, K. P., and R. S. Sawers. (1975). Relationship between the endoerine environment within the Graafian folliele and the subsequent rate of progesterone secretion by human granulosa cells in vitro. J. Endoerinol. 66:391
- 630. McNatty, K. P., M. Gibb, C. Dobson, D. C. Thurley, 1981: Evidence that changes in Inteinizing hormone scoretion regulate the growth of the preovulatory follicle in the ewe. J. Endocrinol. 90, 375 389
- 631. Meidan, R., E. Girsh, O. Blum, and E. Aberdam. (1990). In vitro differentiation of bovine theca and granulosa cells into small and large luteal-like cells: Morphological and functional characteristics. Biol. Reprod. 43:913
- 632. Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH. (1999) The protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. N Engl J Med 340: 1801-1811.
- 633. Merchant, H. (1975). Rat gonadal and ovarian organogenesis with and without germ cells. An ultrastructural study. Dev. Biol. 44, 1-21.
- 634. Messinis IE and Templeton A (1986) The effect of pulsatile follicle stimulating hormone on endogenous luteinizing hormone surge in women Clin Endocrinol 25 633–640

(1) たいしいない。 如此是"我们的",我们就是这个人的人,我们们们的是是一个人,我们就是不是是不是一个人,我们就是有些是我们的是一些,我们们的人们也是一个人,也不是一个人,也能能够不 ž 金属 いたい たいたいたい ひ

- 635. Meunier H, Cajander SB, Roberts VJ, Rivier C, Sawchenko PE, Hseuh AJ, Vale W (1998) Rapid changes in the expression of inhibin alpha, beta A, and beta B subunits in ovarian cell types during the rat oestrus cycle. Mol Endocrinol. 2, 1352-1363.
- 636. Micheal AE, Evagelatou M, Norgate DP, Clarke RJ, Antoniw JW, Stedman BA, Brennan A, Welsby R, Bujalska I, Stewart PM, Cooke BA. (1997) Isoforms of 11beta HSD in human granulosa-lutein cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 132 pp43-52.
- 637. Mielcarek M, Roecklein BA, and Torok-Storb B, (1996) CD14+ cells in granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF)-mobilized peripheral blood mononuclear cells induce secretion of interleukin-6 and G-CSF by marrow stroma. Blood 87:574–580
- 638. Migliaccio A, Di Domenico M, Castoria G, de Falco A, Bontempo P, Nola E, and Auricchio F (1996) Tyrosine kinase/ p21ras/MAP-kinase pathway activation by estradiol receptor complex in MCF-7 cells. EMBO J 15: 1292-1300.
- 639. Mikosz, C.A., Brickley, D.R., Sharkey, M.S., Moran, T.W. and Conzen, S.D., 2001. Glucocorticoid receptor-mediated protection from apoptosis is associated with induction of the serine/threonine survival kinase gene, sgk-1, J. Biol. Chem. 276, pp. 16649-16654
- 640. Mikuni M, Pall M, Peterson CM., The selective prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 inhibitor, NS-398, reduces prostaglandin production and ovulation in vivo and in vitro in the rat. Biol Reprod 59 (1998), pp. 1077–1083.
- 641. Miller JR, Hocking AM, Brown JD, Moon RT (1999) Mechanism and function of signal transduction by the Wnt/β-catenin and Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> pathways. Oncogene 18:7860–7872
- Miller WL. (1988) Molecular biology of steroid hormone synthesis. Endocr Rev 9: 295– 318,
- 643. Minchenko A, Leshchinsky I, Opentanova I, Sang N, Srinivas V, Armstead V, Caro J (2002) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-mediated expression of the 6-phosphofructo-2kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase-3 (PFKFB3) gene. J Biol Chem. 277, 8, 6183-6187.
- 644. Minchenko O, Opentanova I, Caro J. (2003) Hypoxic regulation of the 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase gene family (PFKFB-1-4) expression in vivo. Fcd Eur Biochem Soc 554, 264-270.
- 645. Miranda-Rios J, Navarro M, Soberon M (2001) A conserved RNA structure (thi box) is involved in regulation of thiamin biosynthetic gene expression in bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98, 9736-9741.
- 646. Mirnics K, Middleton FA, Lewis DA, Levitt P. (2001) Analysis of complex brain disorders with gene expression microarrays: schizophrenia as a disease of the synapse. Trends Neurosci 24(8); 479-486.
- 647. Miro F, Hiller SG. (1996) Modulation of granulosa cell deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis and differentiation by activin. Endocrinol 137 pp464-468.
- 648. Mitchell PA, Burghardt RC. (1986) The ontogeny of nexuses (gap junctions) in the ovary of the foetal mouse. Anat Rec 214 pp283-288.
- 649. Moenter SM, Caraty A, Karsch FJ 1990 The estradiol-induced surge of gonadotropinreleasing hormone in the ewe. Endocrinology 127:1375–1384
- 650. Monniaux D, Huet C, Besnard N, Clement F, Bose M, Pisselet C, Monget P and Mariana JC, (1997) Follicular growth and ovarian dynamics in mammals. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 51 :3–23

- 651. Moor RM, Osborn JC, Crosby IM. 1985. Gonadotrophin induced abnormalities in sheep oocytes after superovulation. J Reprod Pertil 74, 167-172.
- 652. Moor, R.M. and Heslop, J.P., 1981. Cyclic AMP in mammalian follicle cells and oocyte during maturation. J. Exp. Zool. 216, pp. 205–209.
- 653. Moore RK, Otsuka F, Shimasaki S (2001) Role of ERK ½ in the differential synthesis of progesterone and oestradiol by granulosa cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 289 pp796-800.
- 654. Morey C, Avner P. (2004) Employment opportunities for noncoding RNAs. FEBS letters 567, 27-34.

- 655. Morham SG, Langenback R, Loftin CD, Tiano HF, Vouloumanos N, Jennette JC, Mahler JF, Kluckman KD, Ledford A, Lee Ca, Smithies O (1995) Prostaglandin synthase 2 gene disruption causes severe renal pathology in the mouse. Cell 83:473–482
- 656. Morham SG, Langenback R, Loftin CD., Prostaglandin synthase 2 gene disruption causes severe renal pathology in the mouse. Cell 83 (1995), pp. 473-482,
- 657. Mori T, Nihnobu K, Takeuchi S, Onho Y and Tojo S (1983) Interrelation between luteal cell types in steroidogenesis in vitro of human corpus luteum J Ster Biochem. 19 811–815
- 658. Morin PJ. (2002) Functional genomics approaches in cancer research. Curr Geomics 3; 425-436.
- 659. Morris DG, Grealy M, Sreenan JM. Effect of immunization against synthetic peptide sequences of bovine inhibin a-subunit on gonadotrophin concentrations in heifers. Anim Reprod Sci 1995; 38:63–71
- 660. Morris JK, Richards JS (1995) Luteinising hormone induces prostaglandin endoperoxide synthetase 2 and luteinisation in vitro by A-kinase and C-kinase pathways. Endocrinol 136 pp1549-1558.
- 661. Morris JK, Richards JS. (1993). Hormone induction of luteinisation and prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 involves multiple cellular signaling pathways. Endocrinol 133: 770-779.
- 662. Motro B, Bernstein A. Dynamic changes in ovarian c-kit and Steel expression during the oestrus reproductive cycle. Dev Dyn 1993; 197: 69-79
- 663. Motta PM, Makabe S, Naguro T and Correr S (1994) Oocyte follicle cells association during development of human ovarian follicle. A study by high resolution scanning and transmission electron microscopy Arch Histol and Cyt 57 369–394
- 664. Mu YM Yanase T, Nishi Y, Waseda N, Oda T, Tanaka A, Takayanagi R, Nawata H. 2000. Insulin sensitizer, troglitazone, directly inhibits aromatasc activity in human ovarian granulosa cells. Biochem, Biophys. Res. Commun 271, 710-713.
- 665. Mukherjee A, Park-Sarge O-K, Mayo KE (1996) Gonadotropins induce rapid phosphorylation of the 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein in ovarian granulosa cells. Endocrinol. 137:3234–3245
- 666. Mulsant P, Lecerf F, Fabre S, Schibler L, Monget P, Lanneluc I, Pisselet C, Riquet J, Monniaux D, Callebaut I, Cribia E, Thinomier J, Teyssier J, Bodin L, Cognie Y, Chitour N, Elsen JM. (2001) Mutation in BMPr-1B is associated with increased ovulation rate in Booroola Merino ewes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98 pp 5104-5109.
- 667. Mumm JS, Kopan R. (2000) Notch signalling: from the outside in. (2000) Dev Biol. 228, 151-165.

- 2011年、Anno 1997、Anno 1997 Web and the state of the 高いたい 日本 かいしょう いったい 大学 かんぞう ほうじ 「たいという」、「ころのないとないとない
- 668. Murdoch WJ, Gottsch ML. 2003. Proteolytic mechanisms in the ovulatory folliculo-luteal transformation. Connect Tissue Rcs;44(1):50-7.
- 669. Murdoch WJ, Van Kirk EA, Murdoch J. Plasmin cleaves tumor necrosis factor α exodomain from sheep follicular endothelium: implication in the ovulatory process. Biol Reprod 1999; 60:1166-1171
- 670. Murdoch, W. J. (1985). Follicular determinants of ovulation in the ewe. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 2:105
- 671. Murdoch, W. J., and J. L. Cavender. (1987). Mechanisms of ovulation. Adv. Contracept. Delivery Syst. 3:353
- 672. Murdoch, W.J. (1994). Ovarian surface epithelium during ovulatory and anovulatory ovine estrous cycles. Anat. Rec. 240:322-326.
- 673. Murdoch, W.J. (1995). Programmed cell death in preovulatory ovinc follicles. Biol. Reprod. 53:8-12
- 674. Murdoch, W.J. (2000). Proteolytic and cellular death mechanisms in ovulatory ovarian rupture. Biol. Signals Recept. 9:102-114
- 675. Murdoch, W.J., and McCormick, R.J. (1992). Enhanced degradation of collagen in apical vs. basal wall of ovulatory ovine follicle. Am. J. Physiol. 263:p221-225.
- 676. Murdoch, W.J., Peterson, T.A., Van Kirk, E.A., Vincent, D.L., and Inskeep, E.K. (1986). Interactive roles of progesterone, prostaglandins and collagenase in the ovulatory mechanism of the ewe, Biol. Reprod. 35:1187-1194.
- 677. Murdoch, W.J., Wilken, C., and Young, D.A. (1999). Sequence of apoptosis and inflammatory necrosis within the formative ovulatory site of sheep follicles. J. Reprod. Fertil. 117:325-329.
- 678. Murphy BD (2000) Models of luteinization. Biol Reprod. 63 2-11
- 679. Murray AA, gosden RG, Allison V, Spears N. 1998. Effect of androgens on the development of mouse follicles growing in vitro. J Reprod Fertil 113: 27-33.
- Murray GI, Melvin WT, Greenlee WF, Burke MD 2001. Regulation, function, and tissue specific expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 41, 297-316.
- 681. Nacht M, Dracheva T, Gao Y, Fujii T, Chen Y, Player A, Akmaev V, Cook B, Dufault M, Zhang M, et al (2001) Molecular characteristics of non-small cell lung cancer. Proc, Natl, Acad Sci 98; 1690-1694.
- 682. Nagata S, and Fukunaga R, (1991), Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and its receptor. Prog Growth Factor Res 3 :131–141
- 683. Nagata S, and Fukunaga R., Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor and its related receptors. Growth Factors 8 (1993), pp. 99–107
- 684. Nahum R, Thong KJ, Hillier SG (1995) Metabolic regulation of androgen production by human thecal cells in vitro. Hum Reprod 10 pp75-81.
- 685. Nakamura H, Fujii Y, Inoka I, Kazuhiko S, Tanzawa K, et al. 2000. Brevican is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases and aggrecanase-1 (ADAMTS-4) at different sites. J. Biol. Chem. 275:38885–90

686. Nakamura K., Fujiwara H, Hihuchi, T, Honda, T, Nakayama T, Kataoka N, Fujita K, Ueda M., Maeda M. and Mori T. Integrin alpha6 is involved in follicular growth in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun., 235, 524-528 (1997). 9

ì

and a second second

- 687. Nakamura T, Hasegawa Y, Sugino K, Kogawa K, Titani K, Sugino H (1992) Follistatin inhibits activin induced differentiation of rat follicular granulosa cells in vitro. Biochem Biophys Acta 1135 pp103-109.
- 688. Nakamura T, Takio K, Eto Y, Shibai H, Titani K and Sugino II, (1990) Activin-binding protein from rat ovary is follistatin. Science 247 :836
- 689. Nakanishi-Matsui M, Zheng Y-W, Sulciner DJ, Weiss EJ, Ludeman MJ, Coughlin SR, 2000. PAR3 is a cofactor for PAR4 activation by thrombin. Nature 404:609-13
- 690. Nakatani A, Shimasaki S, Depaolo LV, Erickson GF, Ling N. (1991) Cyclic changes in follistatin mRNA and its protein in the rat ovary during the cestrus cycle. Endocrinol 129 pp603-611.
- 691. Nanbu-Wakao R, Fujitani Y, Masuho Y, Muramatu M, Wakao H (2000) Prolastin enhances CCAAT enhancer binding protein beta (C/EBPβ) and peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARγ) messenger mRNA expression and stimulates adipogenic conversion of NIH-3T3 cells. Mol Endocrinol. 14, 307-316.
- 692. Nandedkar TD. 1981. Is dihydrotestosterone a cause of follicular atresia? Med Hypotheses 7: 801-808.
- 693. Nasi S, Ciarapica R, Jucker R, Rosati J, Soucek L 2001 Making decisions through Myc. FEBS Lett 490:153–162
- 694. Natraj U, and Richards JS, (1993) Hormonal regulation, localization, and functional activity of the progesterone receptor in granulosa cells of rat preovulatory follicles. Endocrinol 133 (2) :761–769.
- 695. Neeman, M., R. Abramowitch, Y. S. Schiffenbauer, C. Tempel, 1997: Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxic stress: from solid tumours to the ovarian follicle. Int. J. Exp. Path. 78, 57 70.
- Nef, S. & Parada, L. F. (1999) Cryptorchidism in mice mutant for Insl3 Nat. Genet. 22, 295-299
- 697. Neilson L, Andalibi A, Kang D, Coutifaris C, Strauss III JF, Staunton J-AL, Green DPL (2000) Molecular phenotype of the human oocyte by PCR-SAGE. Genomics 63 pp13-24.
- 698. Nekola MB, Horvath A, Ge LJ, Coy DH, Schally AV. (1982) Suppression of ovulation in the rat by an orally active antagonist of luteinising hormone releasing hormone. Science 218 pp160-162.
- 699. Nekola MV, Nalbandov AV. Morphological changes of rat follicular cells as influenced by cocytes. Biol Reprod 1971; 4: 154-160.
- 700. Nelies E, Butzler C, Jung D, Temme A, Gabriel HD, Dahl U, Traub O, Stumpel F, Jungermann K, Zielasek J, Toyka KV, Dermietzel R, Willecke K (1996). Defective propagation of signals generated by sympathetic nerve stimulation in the liver of connexin 32 deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93 pp9565-9570.
- Nelson, A.R., Fingleton, B., Rothenberg, M.L., and Matrisian, L.M. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases: Biologic activity and clinical implications. J. Clin. Oncol. 18:1135-1149.

- Alternative Alternative . .....
- 702. Neuss M, Monticone R, Lundberg MS, Chesley AT, Fleck E and Crow MT (2001) The apoptotic regulatory protein ARC (apoptosis repressor with caspase recruitment domain) prevents oxidant stress-mediated cell death by preserving mitochondrial function. J Biol Chem 276,33915 33922
- 703. Nevins JR (1998) Towards an understanding of the functional complexity of the E2F and retinoblastoma families. Cell Growth Diff 9, 585-593.
- 704. Newton H, Wang Y, Groome NP & Illingworth P 2002 Inhibin and activin secretion during murine preantral follicle culture and following hCG stimulation. Human Reproduction 17 38–43.
- 705. Nicholson SE, Oates AC, Harpur AG, Ziemiecki A, Wilks AF, and Layton JE, (1994) Tyrosine kinase JAK1 is associated with the granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor receptor and both become tyrosine-phosphorylated after receptor activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91 :2985 -2988
- 706. Nicosia, R. F. & S. Villaschi, 1999: Autoregulation of angiogenesis by cells of the vessel wall. Int. Rev. Cytol. 185, 143.
- 707. Nimrod A, Erickson GF, Ryan KJ. (1976) A specific FSH receptor in rat granulosa cells: properties of binding in vitro. Endocrinol 98 pp56-64.
- 708. Norman RJ, and Brannstrom M, White cells and the ovary-incidental invaders or essential effectors?. J Endocrinol 140 (1994), pp. 333–336
- 709. Nuttinck et al., 1993. F. Nuttinck, A. Massip and F. Dessy. J. Reprod. Fertil. Abstract Series 12 (1993), p. 34.
- 710. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Pearce S, Mannan MA. (1990) Effect of high density lipoprotein on bovine granulosa cells-progesterone production in newly isolated cells and during cell culture. J. Endocrinol. 124: 255-260.
- 711. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Dudley K, Rajapaksha WR. (1996) Expression of follicle stimulating hormone receptor mRNA during gonadal development. Mol Cell Endocrinol 125 p169
- 712. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Fleming L, Baker PJ, Jackson G, Johnston H (2003) Identification of developmentally regulated genes in the somatic cells of the mouse testis using serial analysis of gene expression. Biol Reprod. 69 (3), 797-808.
- 713. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Gray SA 1995 Gonadotropin-dependent and gonadotropinindependent development of inhibin subunit messenger ribonucleic acid levels in the mouse ovary. Endocrinol 136:2060–2065
- 714. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Wathes DC, (1985) Role of lipoproteins and de-novo cholesterol synthesis in progesterone production by cultured bovine luteal cells, J Reprod Fertil 74: 425-432.
- 715. O'Shea, J. D. (1987). Heterogenous cell types in the corpus luteum of sheep, goats, and cattle. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 34:71
- 716. O'Shea, J. D., P. J. Wright, and K. E. Davies. (1985). Numbers of granulosa cells in preovulatory follicles from ewes during the breeding season and after LHRH administration during seasonal anoestrus. Proc. 12th Int. Anat. Congr. London A529
- 717. O'Shea, J. D., R. J. Rodgers, and P. J. Wright. (1986). Cellular composition of the sheep corpus luteum in the mid- and late luteal phases of the oestrous cycle. J. Reprod. Fertil. 76:685

- and the second shifts a 1 ÷,
- 718. O'Shea, J.D, D. G. Cran, M. F. Hay, 1980: Fate of the theca interna following ovulation in the ewe. Cell Tissue Res. 210, 305 319.
- 719. Ojeda SR, Romero C, Tapia V, and Dissen GA (2000). Neurotrophic and cell-cell dependant control of early follicular development. Mol Cell. Endocrinol. 163: 67-71.
- 720. Okar DA, Lange AJ (1999) Fructose-2,6-bisphosphate and control of carbohydrate metabolism in eukaryotes.Biofactors 10, 1-14
- 721. Okuda, K., R. Sakumoto, Y. Ueoyama, B. Berisha, A. Miyamoto, D. Schams, 1999; Tumor necrosis factor alpha receptors in microvascular endothelial cells from bovine corpus luteum. Biol. Reprod. 612, 1017 1022.
- 722. Oonk RB, Beattie WG, Richards JS (1989) Cyclic AMP-dependent and -independent regulation of cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 (P450scc) in rat ovarian granulosa cells and corpora lutea: cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence of rat P450scc. J Biol Chem 264:21934–21942
- 723. Orly J. 2000. Molecular events defining follicular developments and steroidogenesis in the ovary. Gene Eng Endocrinol, ed. MA Shupkin, pp. 239–75. Totowa, NJ: Humana
- 724. Ormandy CJ, Camus A, Barra J, Damotte D, Lucas B, Buteau H, Edery M, Brousse N, Babinet C, Binart N, Kelly PA (1997) Null mutation of the prolactin receptor gene produces multiple reproductive defects in the mouse. Genes Dev 11:167–178
- 725. Osler ME, Bader DM (2004) Bves expression during avian embryogenesis. Dev Dynamics 229, 658-667.
- 726. Otsuka F, Kelly-Moore R, Shimasaki S. (2001) Biological function and cellular mechanism of BMP-6 in the ovary. J Biol Chem. Vol 276 No 35 pp32889-32895.
- 727. Otsuka F, Moore RK, Iemuro S-I, Ueno N, Shimasaki S. (2001) Follistatin inhibits the function of oocyte derived factor BMP-15. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 289 pp961-966.
- 728. Otsuka F, Yamamoto S, Erickson GF, Shimasaki S. (2001) Bone morphogenic protein-15 inhibits follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) action by suppressing FSH receptor expression. J Biol Chem Vol 276, No 14, pp11387-11392.
- 729. Otsuka F, Yao Z, Lee TH, Yamamoto S, Erickson GF, Shimasaki S (2000). Bone morphogenic protein 15: Identification of target cells and biological functions. J Biol Chem 275 pp39523-39528.
- 730. Packer AI, Hsu YC, Besmer P, Bachvarova RF. The ligand of the c-kit receptor promotes occyte growth. Dev Biol 1994; 161: 194-205.
- 731. Padmanabhan V, (2001) Is there an FSH-releasing factor?. Reproduction 121 :21
- 732. Padmanabhan V, West CR. Endocrine, autocrine and paracrine actions of inhibin/activin/follistatin on follicle stimulating hormone. In: Muttukrishna S, Ledger W, editors. Inhibins, activins and follistatins in human reproductive physiology. London: Imperial College Press; (In press).
- 733. Padmanabhan V. Neuroendocrine regulation of follicle-stimulating hormone. In: Kumar A, Mukhopadhyay AK, editors. Follicular growth, ovulation and fertilization: molecular and clinical basis. Ch. IV. New Delhi, India. Narosa Publishing House. (In press).
- 734. Pall M, Hellberg P, Brannstrom M, Mikuni M, Peterson CM, Sundfeldt K, Norden B, Hedin I., Enerback S. 1997. the transcription factor C/EBP-beta and its role in ovarian

function; evidence for direct involvement in the ovulatory process. EMBO J. 16: 5273-5279.

- 735. Pall M, Mikuni M, Mitsube K, and Brannstrom M, (2000) Time-dependent ovulation inhibition of a selective progesterone-receptor antagonist (Org 31710) and effects on ovulatory mediators in the in vitro perfused rat ovary. Biol. Reprod. 63 (6) :1642–1647
- 736. Pangas SA and Woodruff TK, (2000) Activin signal transduction pathways. Trends Endocrinol Metabol 11:309
- 737. Pardali K, Kurisaka A, Moren A, ten Dijke P, Kardassis D, Moustakas A. 2000. Role of Smad proteins and transcription factor Sp1 in p21Waf/Cip regulation by transforming growth factor-β. J. Biol. Chem. 275:29244–56
- 738. Park H-J, Lee J, Wang L, Park J-H, Kwon II-B, et al. 2000. Stage-specific expression of pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide type I receptor messenger RNA during ovarian follicle development in the rat. Endocrinol 141:702–9
- 739. Park JI, Kim W-J, Wang L, Park H-J, Lee J, et al. 2000. Involvement of progesterone in gonadotropin-induced pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide gene expression in preovulatory follicles of rat ovary. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 6:238-45
- 740. Park JI, Park III, Lee YI, Seo YM, Chun SY. 2003. Regulation of NGFI-B expression during the ovulatory process. Mol Cell Endocrinol. Apr 28;202(1-2):25-9
- 741. Park Jy-Y, Su Y-Q, Ariga M, Law E, Yin S-LC, Conti M. 2004 EGF-Like growth factors as mediators of LH action in the ovulatory folliele. Science 303, 682-684.
- 742. Park O-K, Mayo K (1991) Transient expression of progesterone receptor messenger RNA in ovarian granulosa cells after the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge. Mol Endocrinol 5:967–978
- 743. Park PW, Reizes O, Bernfield M. 2000. Cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans: sclective regulators of ligandreceptor encounters. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 29923-26
- 744. Park, JI., Park, HJ., Choi, HS., Lee, K., Lee, WK. and Chun, SY., 2001. Gonadotropin regulation of NGFI-B messenger ribonucleic acid expression during ovarian follicle development in the rat. Endocrinol 142, pp. 3051–3059
- 745. Parrot JA, Skinner K, (1998) Thecal cell-granulosa cell interactions involve a postive feedback loop among keratinocyte growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor and kit ligand during ovarian follicular development.
- 746. Parrott JA and Skinner MK (1998). Developmental and hormonal regulation of hepatocyte growth factor expression and action in the bovine ovarian follicle. Biol Reprod 59: 553-60.
- 747. Parrott JA and Skinner MK (1999). Kit-ligand/stem cell factor induces primordial follicle development and initiates folliculogenesis. Endoerinol 140: 4262-71.
- 748. Parrott JA, Skinner MK (2000) Kit ligand actions on ovarian stromal cells effects on theca cell recruitment and steroid production. Mol. Repro Dev 55 pp55-64.
- 749. Parrott JA, Skinner MK. (1997) Direct actions of kit ligand on theca cell growth and differentiation during follicle development. Endocrinol 139 pp3819-3827.
- 750. Pau KF, Berrin M, Hess DL, Spies HG 1993 Preovulatory gonadotropin-releasing hormone surge in ovarian-intact rhesus macaques. Endocrinol 133:1650–1656

- 751. Pauws E, Moreno JC, Tijssen M, Bacis F, de Vijder JJ, Ris-Staplers C (2000) Serial analysis of gene expression as a tool to assess the human thyroid expression profile and to identify novel thyroid genes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85 pp1923-1927.
- 752. Pedersen T. (1970). Determination of follicle growth rate in the ovary of the immature mouse. J Reprod Fertil 21: 81-93.
- 753. Pedersen, E. S. (1951). Histogenesis of lutein tissue of the albino rat. Am. J. Anat. 88:397
- 754. Pei L, Dodson R, Schoderbek WE, Maurer RA, Mayo KE (1991) Regulation of the α inhibin gene by cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate after transfections into rat granulosa cells. Mol Endocrinol 5:521–534
- 755. Peltoketo H, Luu-The V, Simard J, Adamski J. (1999) 17β-Hydoxystcroid dehydrogenase (HSD)/17-ketosteroid reductase (KSR) family, nomenclature and main characteristics of the 17HSD/KSR enzymes. J Mol Endocrinol 23, 1-11.
- 756. Peluso JJ (1997) Putative mechanism through which N-cadherin-mediated cell contact maintains calcium homeostasis and thereby prevents ovarian cells from undergoing apoptosis Biochem Pharmacol. 54 847–853
- 757. Peluso JJ (2000) N-cadherin-mediated cell contact regulates ovarian surface epithelial cell survival Biol Sig, Recep. 9 115–121
- 758. Peluso JJ 2003. Progesterone as a regulator of granulosa cell viability. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. Jun;85(2-5):167-73
- 759. Peluso JJ, and Pappalardo A, (1998) Progesterone mediates its anti-mitogenic and antiapoptotic actions in rat granulosa cells through a progesterone-binding protein with gamma aminobutyric acidA receptor-like features. Biol. Reprod. 58 (5) :1131–1137
- 760. Peluso JJ, Fernandez G, Pappalardo A, and White BA, (2001) Characterization of a putative membrane receptor for progesterone in rat granulosa cells. Biol. Reprod. 65 (1) :94–101
- Peluso, J.J. (1997) Placing progesterone in the apoptotic pathway. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 8, 261–266
- 762. Peng XR, Hseuh AJW, LaPolt PS, Bjersing L, Ny T. (1991) Localisation of luteinising hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in ovarian cell types during follicle development and ovulation. Endocrinol 129 pp3200-3207.
- 763. Penning TM (1997) Molecular endocrinology of hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases. Endocr Rev 18, 281-305.
- 764. Pepper, M. S., 1997: Manipulating angiogenesis. From basic science to the bedside. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17, 605 619.
- 765. Perez GI, Knudson CM, Leykin L, Korsmeyer SJ and Tilly JL (1997) Apoptosisassociated signaling pathways are required for chemotherapy-mediated female germ cell destruction. Nat Med 3,1228–1232
- 766. Perks CM, Denning-Kendall PA, Gilmour RS, Wathes DC. (1995) Localisation of messenger ribonucleic acids for insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), IGF-II, and the type I IGF receptor in the ovine ovary throughout the oestruc cycle. Endocrinol 136, 5266-5273.
- 767. Pescador N, Soumano K, Stocco DM, Price CA, Murphy BD. 1996. Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in bovine corpora lutea. Biol Reprod 55:485-491.

- 768. Peters DF, Kassam AB, Yonas H, O'Hare EH, Ferreil RE, Brufsky AM (1999) Comprehensive transcript analysisin small quantities of mRNA by SAGElite. Nucleis Acids Res 27 p39.
- 769. Peters et al., 1973. H. Peters, A.G. Byskov and M. Faber, The Development of the Ovary and its Functions. In: H. Peters, Editor, , Exerpta Medica, Amsterdam (1973), pp. 20–23
- 770. Peters H, and McNatty KP. (1980). The Ovary. A Correlation of Structure and Function in Mammals. Granada Publishing.
- 771. Peters H. (1970) Migration of gonocytes into the mammalian gonad and their differentiation. Philos Trabs R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 259; 91-101.
- 772. Phillips DJ, and de Kretser DM, (1998) Follistatin: a multifunctional regulatory protein. Front Neuroendocrinol 19:287.
- 773. Phillips, H.S., Hains, J., Leung, D.W. and Ferrara, N. (1990) Vascular endothelial growth factor is expressed in rat corpus luteum. Endocrinology, 127, 965–967.
- 774. Pilkis SJ, Claus TH, Kurland IJ, Lange AJ (1995) 6-Phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6bisphosphatase: a metabolic signaling enzyme. Annu Rev Biochem 64, 799-835.

- 775. Pincus G, and Bnzmann EV, (1935), The comparative behavior of mammalian eggs in vivo and in vitro. I. The activation of ovarian eggs. J. Exp. Med. 62 :655–675.
- 776. Piontkewitz Y, Enerback S, Hedin L. 1993. Expression and hormonal regulation of the CCAAT Enhancer Binding Protein-a during differentiation of rat ovarian follicles. Endocrinology, 133(5):2327-2333.
- 777. Piontkewitz Y, Enerback S, Hedin L. 1996. Expression of CCAAT enhancer binding protein-alpha (C/EBP alpha) in the rat ovary: implications for follicular development and ovulation. Dev Biol 179: 288-296.
- 778. Piontkewitz Y, Sundfeldt K, Hedin L 1997 The expression of c-myc during follicular growth and luteal formation in the rat ovary in vivo. J Endocrinol 152:395–406
- 779. Pitcher, J. A., Tesmer, J. J., Freeman, J. L., Capel, W. D., Stone, W. C., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (1999) Feedback Inhibition of G Protein-coupled Receptor Kinase 2 (GRK2) Activity by Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 34531-34534
- 780. Pleasance ED, Marra MA, Jones SJM. (2003) Assessment of SAGE in transcript indentification. Genome Research 13;1203-1215.
- 781, Plendl J. 2000. Angiogenesis and vascular regression in the ovary. Anat Histol Embryol. Oct;29(5):257-66
- 782. Poretsky L, Grigorescu F, Siebel M, Moses AC, Flier JS. (1985) Distribution and characterisation of insulin and insulin like growth factor I receptors in normal human ovary. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 61 pp728-734.
- 783. Porter D.A., Harman, R.M., Cowan, R.G. and Quirk, S.M., 2001. Susceptibility of ovarian gramulosa cells to apoptosis differs in cells isolated before or after the preovulatory LH surge. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 176, pp. 13–20
- 784. Powell J (1998) Enhanced concatamers cloning: a modification to SAGE (Serial analysis of gene expression) technique. Nucleic Acids Res 26 pp3445-3446.
- 785. Prange-Kiel J, Kreutzamm C, Wehrenberg U, Rune GM. 2001. Role of tumor necrosis factor in preovulatory follicles of swine. Biol Reprod. 2001 Sep;65(3):928-35.

- 786. Prenzel N Zwick E, Daub H, Leserer M, Abraham R, Wallasch C, Ullrich (1999) EGF receptor transactivation by G-protein-coupled receptors requires metalloproteinase cleavage of proHB-EGF. Nature 402, 884-888
- 787. Pricdkalns, J., A. F. Weber, and R. Zemjanis. (1968). Qualitative and quantitative, morphological studies of the cells of the membrana granulosa, theca interna, and corpus luteum of the bovine ovary. Z. Zellforsch. 85:501
- 788. Prowse DM, Bolgan L, Molnar L, Dotto GP. 1997. Involvement of the Sp3 transcription factor in induction of p21CIP1/ KIP1 in keratinocyte differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 272:1308-14
- 789. Putowski L, Gasior W, Gogacz M, Gagala J, Jakowicki JA. (2001) Differences in human and rat FSH receptors promote activity as a result of the transcriptional factors: E2F1, E2F4, and E2F5 overexpression. Ginekol Pol 72:12A, 1560-1566.
- 790. Qu Z, Wolfraim LA, Svaren J, Ehrengruber MU, Davidson N, Milbrandt J 1998 The transcriptional corepressor NAB2 inhibits NGF-induced differentiation of PC12 cells. J Cell Biol 142:1075–1082
- 791. Quirk SM, Cowan RG, Joshi SG, Henrikson KP. Fas antigen-mediated apoptosis in human granulosa/luteal cells. Biol Reprod 1995; 52:279-287.
- 792. Quirk SM, Porter DA, Huber SC, Cowan RG. Potentiation of Fas-mediated apoptosis of murine granulosa cells by interferon-gamma, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and cycloheximide. Endocrinol 1998; 139:4860-4869
- 793. Radtke F, Wilson A, Mancini SJC, MacDonald HR (2004) Notch regulation of lymphocyte development and function Nat Immunology. 5, 327-253.
- 794. Rajagopalan-Gupta RM, Rasenick MM, Hunzicker-Dunn M. (1997). Luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin-dependent cholera toxin-catalyzed adenosine 5'diphosphate (ADP)-ribosylation of the long and short forms of Gsa and pertussis toxincentralized ADP-ribosylation of Gifl. Mol. Endocrinol. 11:538-49
- 795. Rajapaksha W, McBride M, Robertson L, O'Shaughnessy PJ 1997 Sequence of the bovine HDL-receptor (SR-BI) cDNA and changes in receptor mRNA expression during granulosa cell luteinization in vivo and in vitro. Mol Cell Endocrinol 134:59–67
- 796. Rao CV. 1975. Steroid hormone modulation of 3H-prostaglandin E1 binding to bovine corpus luteum cell membranes. Prostaglandins 9: 569-578.
- 797. Ravindranath N, Little-Ihrig L, Phillips H-S, Ferrara N, Zeleznik AJ. (1992) Vascular endothelial growth factor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in the primate ovary. Endocrinol 131 pp254-260.
- 798. Razandi M, Pedram A, Levin ER. (2000) Plasma membrane oestrogen receptors signal to anti-apoptosis in breast cancer. Mol Endocrinol 14: 1434-1447.
- 799. Redmer DA, Doraiswamy V, Bortnem BJ, Fisher K, Jablonka-Shariff A, Grazul-Bilska AT, Reynolds LP, 2001: Evidence for a role of capillary pericytes in vascular growth of the developing ovine corpus luteum. Biol Reprod 65, 879-889.
- 800. Reese DE, Zavaljevski M, Strieff NL, Bader D. (1999) byes: a novel gene expressed during coronary blood vessel development. Dev Biol 209, 159-171.
- 801. Reich, R., Daphna-Ilken, D., Chun, S.Y., Popliker, M., Slager, R., Adelmann-Grill, B.C., and Tsafriri, A. (1991). Preovulatory changes in ovarian expression of collagenases and tissue metalloproteinase inhibitor messenger ribonucleic acid: Role of eicosanoids. Endocrinol 129:1869-1875.

- 802. Reich, R., Tsafriri, A., and Mechanic, G.L. (1985). The involvement of collagenolysis in ovulation in the rat. Endocrinol 116:522-527.
- Reynaud K, Cortvrindt R, Smitz J, Driancourt MA. Effects of kit ligand and anti kit antibody on growth of cultured mouse preantral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev 2000; 56: 483-494.
- Reynolds, L.P. and Redmer, D.A. (1998) Expression of the angiogenic factors, basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor, in the ovary. J. Anim. Sci., 76, 1671–1681
- 805. Richard DE, Berra E, Pouyssegur J. (2000) Nonhypoxic pathway mediates the induction of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 275, 26765-26771.
- 806. Richards JS (1994) Hormonal control of gene expression in the ovary. Endocr Rev 15:725-751
- 807. Richards JS (2005) Ovulation: new factors that prepare the oocyte for fertilisation. Mol Cell Endocrinol 234:1-2, 75-79.
- 808. Richards JS, Hedin L. (1988). Molecular aspects of hormone action in ovarian follicular development, ovulation and luteinization. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 50:441-63
- 809. Richards JS, Fitzpatrick SL, Clemens JW, Morris JK, Allison T, Sirois J (1995) Ovarian cell differentiation: a cascade of multiple hormones, cellular signals, and regulated genes Recent Prog Horm, Res 50 pp223-254.
- 810. Richards JS, Hedin L, Caston L (1986) Differentiation of rat ovarian theca cells: evidence for functional luteinization. Endocrinol 118:1660–1668
- 811. Richards JS, Ireland JJ, Rao MC, Bernath GA, Midgley AR, Jr, and Reichert LE, Jr. (1976) Ovarian follicular development in the rat: hormone receptor regulation by estradiol, follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone. Endocrinol 99:1562– 1570
- 812. Richards JS, Jahnsen T, Hedin L, Lifka J, Ratoosh SL, Durica JM, Goldring NB (1987) Ovarian follicular development: from physiology to molecular biology. Recent Prog Horm Res 43:231–276
- Richards JS, Robker RL, Russell D, Sharma CS, Espey LE, et al. 2000. Ovulation: a multi-gene, multi-step process. Steroids 65:559–70
- 814. Richards JS, Russell DL, Ochsner S, Espey LL. 2002 Ovulation: new dimensions and new regulators of the inflammatory-like response. Annu Rev Physiol.;64:69-92.
- 815. Richards JS, Russell DL, Robker RL, Dajce M, Alliston TM, (1998) Molecular mechanisms of ovulation and luteinisation. Mol Cell Endocrinol 145 pp47-54.
- 816. Richards JS, Williams JJ (1976) Luteal cell receptor content for prolactin (PRL) and luteinizing hormone (LH): regulation by LH and PRL. Endocrinol 99:1571–1581
- 817. Richards JS. 1979. Hormonal control of ovarian follicular development: a 1978 perspective. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 35:343–73
- 818. Richards JS. 2001a. New signaling pathways for hormones and cyclic adenosine 30,50monophosphate action in endocrine cells. Mol. Endocrinol. 15:209–18
- Richards JS. 2001b. Perspective: the ovarian follicle---a perspective in 2001. Endocrinol 142:1-10

- 820. Richards, J. S. 1975. Content of nuclear estradiol receptor complex in rat corpora lutea during pregnancy: Relationship to estradiol concentrations and cytosol receptor availability. Endocrinol 96: 227-30
- Richards, J. S. 1975. Estradiol receptor content in rat granulosa cells during follicular development: Modification by estradiol and gonadotropins. Endocrinol 97:117,\$-84
- 822. Richards, J. S. 1980. Maturation of ovarian follicles: Action and interactions of pituitary and ovarian hormones on follicular cell differentiation. Physiol. Rev. 60:51-89
- 823. Richards, J.S., Sharma, S.C., Falender, A.E. and Lo, Y.H., (2002). Expression of FKIIR, FKHRL1, and AFX genes in the rodent ovary: evidence for regulation by IGF-I, estrogen, and the gonadotropins. Mol. Endocrinol. 16, pp. 580–599
- 824. Ricken A, Lochhead P, Kontogiannea M, Farookhi R (2002) Wnt signaling in the ovary: identification and compartmentalized expression of wnt-2, wnt-2b, and frizzled-4 mRNAs. Endocrinol 143:2741-2749
- Rigotti A, Trigatti BL, Penman M, Rayburn H, Herz J, Krieger M. (1997) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 12610-12615.
- 826. Risau, W., 1997: Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386, 671 674.
- 827. Roberts AJ, and Skinner MK, (1990) Estrogen regulation of thecal cell steroidogenesis and differentiation: thecal cell-granulosa cell interactions. Endocrinology 127 :2918– 2929
- 828. Roberts R, Stark J, Iatropoulou A, Becker DL, Franks S, Hardy K. 2004. Energy substrate metabolism of mouse cumulus oocyte complexes: response to FSH is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway and associated with oocyte maturation. Biol Reprod 71(1) 199-209.
- 829. Roberts VJ, Barth S, El-Roeig A, Yen SS (1993) expression of inhibin/activin subunits and follistatin messenger ribonucleic acids and proteins in ovarian follicles and corpus luteum during the human menstrual cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77 pp1402-1410.
- Robker R L, Richards JS (1998) Hormone-induced proliferation and differentiation of granulosa cells: a coordinated balance of the cell cycle regulators cyclin D2 and p27<sup>KP1</sup>. Mol Endocrinol 12:924–940
- 831. Robker RL, Richards JS (1998) Hormonal control of the cell cycle in ovarian cells: proliferation versus differentiation. Biol. Reprod. 59:476–482
- 832. Robker RL, Russell DL, Espey LL, Lydon JP, O'MalleyBW, Richards JS. 2000. Progesterone-regulated genes in the ovulation process: ADAMTS-1 and cathepsin L proteases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:4689–94
- 833. Robker RL, Russell DL, Yoshioka S, Sharma SC, Lydon JP, O'Malley BW, Espey LL, and Richards JS, (2000) Ovulation: a multi-gene, multi-step process. Steroids 65 10–11 :559–570
- 834. Robles, R., Tao, X.J., Trbovich, A.M., Maravel, D.V., Nahum, R., Perez, G.I., Tilly, K.I. and Tilly, J.L., (1999). Localization, regulation and possible consequences of apoptotic protease-activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) expression in granulosa cells of the mouse ovary. Endocrinol 140, pp. 2641–2644.
- 835. Roby KF, Son DS, Terranova PF. Alterations of events related to ovarian function in umor necrosis factor receptor type I knockout mice. Biol Reprod 1999; 61:1616-1621

- 836. Rodgers RJ Lavranos TC, Rodgers HF, Young FM Vella CA (1995) The physiology of the ovary: maturation of ovarian granulosa cells and a novel role for antioxidants in the corpus luteum. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 53(1-6), 241-246.
- 837. Rodgers RJ, Irving-Rodgers HF, Russell DL 2003. Extracellular matrix of the developing ovarian follicle. Reproduction. Oct;126(4):415-24
- 838. Rodgers RJ, Lavranos TC, van Wezel IL & Irving-Rodgers HF 1999 Development of the ovarian follicular epithelium. Mol Cell Endocrinol 151 171-179.
- 839. Rodgers RJ, van Wezel IL, Irving-Rodgers HF, Lavranos TC, Irvine CM, Krupa M. Roles of extracellular matrix in follicular development. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1999; 54: 343-52.
- 840. Rodgers, R. J., J. D. O'Shea, and N. W. Bruce. (1984). Morphometric analysis of the cellular composition of the ovine corpus lateum. J. Anat. 138:757.
- 841. Rodgers, R. J., M. R. Waterman, and E. R. Simpson. (1987). Levels of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding cholesterol side chain cleavage cytochrome P-450, 17a hydroxylase cytochrome P-450, adrenodoxin, and low density lipoprotein receptor in bovine follicles and corpora lutea throughout the ovarian cycle. Mol. Endocrinol. 1:274
- 842. Ronen-Fuhrmann T, Timberg R, King SR, Hales KH, Hales DB, Stocco DM, Orly J (1999) Spatiotemporal expression patterns of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) during follicular development in the rat ovary. Endocrinol 140 pp963-971.
- 843. Rose UM, Hanssen RGJM, Kloosterboer HJ, Development and characterization of an in vitro ovulation model using mouse ovarian follicles. Biol Reprod 61 (1999), pp. 503–511.
- 844. Rose-Hellekant TA, Libersky-Williamson EA, Bavister BD. 1998. Energy substrates and amino acids provided during in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes alter acquisition of developmental competence Zygote 6, 285-294.
- 845. Rosenfield CS, Wagner JS, Roberts RM, Lubahn DB (2001) Intraovarian actions of oestrogen. Reproduction 122 pp215-226.
- 846. Rouillier P, Matton P, Dufour M, Sirard MA, Guilbault LA. Steroid production, cell proliferation, and apoptosis in cultured bovine antral and mural granulosa cells: development of an in vitro model to study estradiol production. Mol Reprod Dev 1998; 50: 170-7.
- 847. Rouillier P, Matton P, Sirard MA, Guilbault LA. Follicle-stimulating hormone-induced estradiol and progesterone production by bovine antral and mural granulosa cells cultured in vitro in a completely defined medium. J Anim Sci 1996; 74: 3012-9.
- 848. Rouillier P, Saumande J, Sirard MA, Matton P, Guilbault LA. Comparison of the FSHinduced estradiol-17-beta production by bovine antral and mural granulosa cells cultured in vitro in a completely defined medium. Theriogenology 1994; 41: 286
- Rowlands TM, Symonds JM, Farookhi R and Blaschuk OW (2000) Cadherins: crucial regulators of structure and function in reproductive tissues Reviews of Reproduction5 53– 61
- 850. Roy SK, and Greenwald GS (1987) In vitro steroidogenesis by primary to antral follicles in the hamster during the periovulatory period: effects of follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, and prolactin. Biol. Reprod. 37 (1) :39–46.
- 851. Roy SK, Terada DM. (1999) Activities of glucose metabolic enzymes in human preantral follicles: In vitro modulation of follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinising hormone, epidermal growth factor, insulin-like growth factor 1, and transforming growth factor β1. Biol of Reprod 60, 763-768.
- 852. Rozman D, Cotman M, Frangez R. (2002) Lanosterol 14alpha-demethylase and MAS sterols in mammalian gametogenesis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 187:1-2, 179-187.
- 853. Ruijter JM, Van Kampen AHC, Baas F. (2002) Statistical evaluation of SAGE libraries: consequencies of experimental design. Physiol Genomics 11; 37-44.
- 854. Runembert I, Queffeulou G, Federici P, Vrtovsnik F, Colucci-Guyon E, Babinet C, Briand P, Trugnan G, Friedlander G, Terzi F (2002) Vimentin affects localization and activity of sodium-glucose cotransporter SGLT1 in membrane rafts. Journal of Cell Science 115, 713-724.
- 855. Ruoslahti E 1990 Extracellular matrix in the regulation of cellular functions. In Cell to Cell Interactions, pp 88–98. Eds MM Burger, B Soldat & RM Zinkernagel. Basel: Karger.
- 856. Rüsse, I, W. Amselgruber, F. Sinowatz, 1987: Gefäßarchitektonische Untersuchungen am ovulierenden Follikel des Rindes. Fertilität 3, 94 98.
- 857. Russell D, Norman RN, Dajee M, Liu X, Henninghausen L, Richards JS (1996) Prolactin-induced activation and binding of Stat proteins to the IL-6RE of the  $\alpha_2$ macroglobulin ( $\alpha$ 2M) promoter: relation to the expression of  $\alpha$ 2M in the rat ovary. Biol Reprod 55:1029–1038
- 858. Russell DL, Doyle KMH, Gonzales-Robayna I, Pipaon C, Richards JS. (2003) Egr-1 induction in rat granulosa cells by follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone: Combinatorial regulation by transcription factors cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate regulatory element binding protein, serum response factor, Sp1, and carly growth response factor-1. Mol Endocrinol 17:4, 520-533.
- Saez JM. (1994). Leydig cells: endocrine, paracrine and autocrine regulation. Endocr. Rev. 15:574-626
- 860. Sagata N, Watanabe N, Vande Woude GF, Ikawa Y. The c-mos proto-oncogene product is a cytostatic factor responsible for meiotic arrest in vertebrate eggs. Nature 1989 342:512-518
- 861. Saha S et al (2002) Using the transcritpome to annonate the genome. Nat Biotechnol 20; 508-512.
- 862. Sakakibara R, Kato M, Okamura N, Nakagawa T, Komada Y, Tominaga N, Shimojo M, Fukasawa M (1997) Characterization of a human placental fructose-6-phosphate, 2kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase. J Biochem 122, 122-128
- Sakumoto, R., B. Berisha, N. Kawate, D. Schams, K. Okuda, 2000: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and its receptor in bovine corpus luteum throughout the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 62, 192 199
- 864. Salmassi A, Schmutzler AG, Huang L, Hedderich J, Jonat W, Mettler L. (2004). Detection of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and its receptor in human follicular luteinized granulosa cells. Fertil Steril. Mar;81 Suppl 1:786-91
- 865. Salustri A, Camaioni A, Di Giacomo M, Fulop C, Hascall VC. 1999. Hyaluronan and proteoglycans in ovarian follicles. Hum. Reprod. Update 5:293-301
- 866. Salustri A, Ulisse S, Yanagishita M, Hascell VC (1990) Hyaluronic acid synthesis by mural granulosa cells and cumulus cells in vitro is selectively stimulated by a factor produced by oocytes and by transforming growth factor beta. J Biel Chem 265 pp19517-19523.

- Contraction of the second second いたいとなった。 いたいで、いたいないないない、ないないない、ないないないでは、「「なないいない」、「ないいないないない」 a substantia de la substan
- 867. Salustri A, Yanagishita M, Underhill CB, Laurent TC and Hascall VC (1992)
  Localization and synthesis of hyaluronic acid in the cumulus cells and mural granulosa
  cells of the preovulatory follicle Dev Biol 151 541–551
- 868. Salustri A, Yanagishita M, Underhill CB, Laurent TC, Hascail VC 1992 Localization and synthesis of hyaluronic acid in the cumulus cells and mural granulosa cells of the preovulatory follicle. Dev Biol 151:541–551
- Salvador LM, Maizels E, Hales DB, Miyamoto E, Yamamoto H, Hunzicker-Dunn M. (2002). Acute signaling by the LH receptor is independent of protein kinase C activation. Endocrinol 143 (8):2986-2994
- 870. Sandhoff TW, McLean MP 1996 Hormonal regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) messenger ribonucleic acid expression in rat ovary. Endocrine 4:259-267
- 871. Santana P, Llanes L, Hernandes I, Gallardo G, Quintana J, Gonzalez J, Estevez F, Galarreta CR, Fanjul LF 1995 Ceramide mediates tumour necrosis factor effects in P450-aromatase activity in cultured granulosa cells. Endocrinol 136, 2345-2348.
- 872. Sarkar DK, Chiappa SA, Fink G, Sherwood NM 1976 Gonadotropin-releasing hormone surge in pro-oestrous rats. Nature 264:461-463
- 873. Sarkar DK, Fink G 1980 Luteinizing hormone releasing factor in pituitary stalk plasma from long-term ovariectomized rats: effects of steroids. J Endocrinol 86:511–524
- 874. Sarria AJ, Panini SR, Evans RM (1992) A functional role for vimentin filaments in the metabolism of lipoprotein derived cholesterol in human SW-13 cells. J Biol Chem 267, 19455-19463.
- 875. Sasson R, and Amsterdam A, (2002) Stimulation of apoptosis in human granulosa cells from in vitro fertilization patients and its prevention by dexamethasone: involvement of cell contact and bcl-2 expression. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87 :3441-3451.
- 876. Sasson R, Rimon E, Dantes A, Cohen T, Shinder V, Land-Bracha A, and Amsterdam A. 2004. Gonadotrophin induced gene regulation in human granulosa cells obtained from IVF patients. Modulation of steroidogenic genes, cytoskeletal genes and genes coding for apoptotic signalling and protein kinases. Mol Hum Reprod. 10 (5): 299-311.
- 877. Sasson R, Tajima K, and Amsterdam A, (2001) Glucocorticoids protect against apoptosis induced by serum deprivation, cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate and p53 activation in immortalized human granulosa cells: involvement of Bcl-2. Endocrinol 142 :802-811
- Sasson R, Winder N, Kees S, Amsterdam A. 2002. Induction of apoptosis in granulosa cells by TNF alpha and its attenuation by glucocorticoids involve modulation of Bel-2.Biochem Biophys Res Commun. May 31;294(1):51-9.
- 879. Sasson, R., Hosokawa, K., Dantes, A., Jung, Y.S. and Amsterdam, A. (1999) The effect of glucocorticoids on ovarian steroidogenesis and apoptosis. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society, San Diego, p. 498 (abstr.)
- 880. Sato, H., and Seiki, M. (1996). Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) in tumor metastasis. J. Biochem. 119:209-215.
- 881. Sawiris GP, Sherman-Baust CA, Becker KG, Cheadle C, Teichberg D, Morin PJ (2002) Development of a highly specialised cDNA array for the study and diagnosis of epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Res 62;2923-2928.
- Sawyer HR, Smith P, Heath DA, Juengel JL, Wakefield SJ, McNatty KP (2002).
  Formation of ovarian follicles during fetal development in sheep. Biol Reprod., 66 1134-50

883. Schams D, Kosmann M, Berisha B, Amselgruber WM, Miyamoto A. 2001. Stimulatory and synergistic effects of luteinising hormone and insulin like growth factor 1 on the secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor and progesterone of cultured bovine granulosa cells. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2001: 155-162. 1. 19 11

- 884. Schams, D. & Berisha, B. (2002). Steroids as local regulators of ovarian activity in domestic animals. Domestic Animal Endocrinology 23, 53-65.
- 885. Schams, D., R. Koll, C. A. Li, 1988: Insulin-like growth factor-1 stimulates oxytocin and progesterone production by bovine granulosa cells in culture. J. Endocrinol. 116, 97 100
- 886. Schneider VA, Mercola M. 2001. Wnt antagonism initiates cardiogenesis in Xenopus laevis. Genes Dev. 15:304–15 156.
- Schneyer AL, Rzucidlo DA, Sluss PM, Crowley WR Jr (1994) Characterisation of unique binding kinetics of follistatin and activin or inhibin in serum. Endocrinology 135 pp667-674.
- 888. Schoenfelder M and Einspanier R (2003) Expression of hyaluronan synthases and corresponding hyaluronan receptors is differentially regulated during oocyte maturation in cattle Biology of Reproduction 69 269–277
- 889. Schreiber JR, Nakamura K, Erickson GF. (1982) Rat ovary glucocorticoid receptor: identification and characterisation. Steroids 39 pp569-584.
- 890. Schuler GD (1997) Pieces of the puzzle: expressed sequence tags and the catalog of human genes. J Mol Med 75; 694-698.
- Schultz RM, Wassarman PM. Biochemical studies of mammalian oogenesis: protein synthesis during oocyte growth and meiotic maturation in the mouse. J Cell Biol 1977; 24: 167-194.
- 892. Schwartz NB. 1973. Mechanisms controlling ovulation in small mammals. In "Handbook of physiology" (RO Greep and EB Astwood, eds.), Sect 7, Vol II, part 1, pp125-141. Am. Physiol. Soc., Washington. DC.
- 893. Schwartz TW. (1996). Molecular structure of G-protein-coupled receptors. In Receptor Pharmacology, cd. JC Foreman, T Johansen, pp. 65–84. New York: CRC. 300 pp
- 894. Schweigert FJ, Zucker H. (1988) Concentrations of vitamin A, beta-carotene and vitamin E in individual bovine follicles of different quality. J reprod Fertil 82, 575-579.
- 895. Scott, B.B., Zaratin, P.F., Colombo, A., Hansbury, M.J., Winkler, J.D. and Jackson, J.R. (2002) Constitutive expression of angiopoietin-1 and -2 and modulation of their expression by inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. J. Rheumatol., 29, 230–239
- 896. Segaloff DL, Sprengel R, Nikolics K, Ascoli M. (1990) Structure of the lutropinchoriogonadotropin receptor. Recent Prog Horm Res 46 pp261-301.
- 897. Segaloff DL, Wang H, Richards JS (1990) Hormonal regulation of LH/CG receptor mRNA in rat ovarian cells during follicular development and luteinization. Mol Endocrinol 4:1856-1865
- Segaloff, D. L., and Ascoli, M. (1993) The lutropin/choriogonadotropin receptor ... 4 years later Endocr. Rev. 14, 324-347
- 899. Seger, R., Hanoch, T., Rosenberg, R., Dantes, A., Merz, W.E., Strauss III, J.F. and Amsterdam, A., (2001). The ERK signaling cascade inhibits gonadotropin-stimulated steroidogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 276, pp. 13957–13964.

- Associate Charles and a second and the second se
- 900. Sekar N, Garmey JC, and Veldhuis JD. (2000) Mechanisms underlying the steroidogenic synergy of insulin and luteinizing hormone in porcine granulosa cells: joint amplification of pivotal sterol-regulatory genes encoding the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor, steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein and cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage (P450scc) enzyme. Mol Cell Endocrinol 159: 25–35,
- 901. Semenza GL (1999) Regulation of mammalian O<sub>2</sub> homeostasis by hypoxia inducible factor 1. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 15, 551-578
- 902. Semenza GL (2000) HIF-1 and human disease: one highly involved factor. Genes Dev 14, 1983-1991
- 903. Semenza GL (2000) Oxygen regulated transcription factors and their role in pulmonary disease. Respir Res 1, 159-162.
- 904. Serafica MD, Goto T, Trounson AO. (2005) Transcripts from a human primordial follicle cDNA library. Human Reprod 20:8, 2074-2091.
- 905. Shalgi R, Kraicer P, Rimon A, Pinto M and Soferman N (1973) Proteins of human follicular fluid: the blood-follicle barrier Fertil Steril. 24 429–434
- 906. Sharma CS, Richards JS. 2000. Regulation of AP1 (Jun/Fos) factor expression and activation in ovarian granulosa cells: relation of JunD and Fra2 to terminal differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 275:33718–28
- 907. Sharma SC, Clemens JW, Pisarska MD, Richards JS. 1999. Expression and function of estrogen receptor subtypes in granulosa cells: regulation by estradiol and forskolin. Endocrinology 140:4320–34
- 908. Shav-Tal Y, Zipori D. (2002) The role of activin A in regulation of hemopoiesis. Stem cells 20, 493-500.
- 909. Shelke RR and Leeuwenburgh C (2003) Lifelong caloric restriction increases expression of apoptosis repressor with a caspase recruitment domain (ARC) in the brain. FASEB J 17,494–496
- 910. Sherr CJ (1996) Cancer cell cycles. Science 274:1672-1677
- 911. Shimada M, Ito J, Yamashita Y, Okazaki T, Isobe N. 2003. Phosphatidylinostol 3-kinase in cumulus is responsible for both suppression of spontaneous maturation and induction of gonadotrophin-stimulated maturation of porcine occytes. J Endocrinol 179, 25-34.
- 912. Shimasaki S, Koga m, Buscaglia ML, Simmons DM, Bicsuk TA, Ling N (1989) Follistatin gene expression in the ovary and extragonadal tissues. Mol Endocrinol 3 pp651-659.
- 913. Shimasaki S, Koga M, Esoh F, Cooksey F, Mercado m, Koba A, Ueno N, Ying S-Y, Ling N (1988) Primary structure of the human follistatin precursor and its genomic organisation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85 pp4218-4222.
- 914. Shimasaki S, Zachow RJ, Li D, Kim H, Iemura SI, Ueno N, Sampath K, Chang RJ, Erickson GF (1999) A functional bone morphogenic protein system in the ovary. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96 pp7282-7287.
- 915. Shimizu T, Jiang JY, Sasada H, Sato E, 2002: Changes of messenger RNA expression of angiogenic factors and related receptors during follicular development in gilts. Biol Reprod 67, 1846-1852.

- 916. Shimoda K, Okamura S, Harada N, Kondo S, Okamura T, and Niho Y, (1993) Identification of a functional receptor for granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on platelets. J Clin Invest 91 :1310–1313
- 917. Shimonaka M, Inouye S, Shimasaki S, Ling N (1991) Follistatin binds to both activin and inhibin through the common β subunit. Endocrinol 128 pp3313-3315.
- 918. Short, R. V. (1977). The discovery of the ovaries. In: S. Zuckerman and B. J. Weir (Ed.) The Ovary: I. General Aspects. pp 1-39. Academic Press, New York
- 919. Shupnik MA 1996 Gonadal hormone feedback on pituitary gonadotropin genes. Trends Endocrinol Metab 7:272–276
- 920. Shweiki D, Itin A, Neufeld G, Gitay-Goren H, Keshet E 1993.Patterns of expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and VEGF receptors in mice suggest a role in hormonally regulated angiogenesis. J Clin. Invest 91, 2235-2243.
- 921. Sicinski P, Donaher JL, Geng Y, Parker SB, Gardner H, Park MY, Robker RL, Richards JS, McGinnis LK, Biggers JD, Eppig JJ, Bronson RT, Elledge SJ, Weinberg RA (1996) Cyclin D2 is a cAMP-responsive gene involved in gonadal cell proliferation and oncogenesis. Nature 384:470–474
- 922. Silverman ES, Khachigian LM, Santiago FS, Williams AJ, Lindner V, Collins T 1999 Vascular smooth muscle cells express the transcriptional corepressor NAB2 in response to injury. Am J Pathol 155:1311–1317

۰. ب

- 923. Simmons DL, Neel BG, Stevens R, Evett G, Erikson RL (1992) Identification of an earlygrowth-response gene encoding a novel putative protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 12:4163– 4169
- 924. Simon AM, Goodenough DA, Li E, and Paul DL, (1997), Female infertility in mice lacking connexin 37. Nature 385 :525-529
- 925. Simon C, Frances A, Piquette G & Polan ML (1994) Immunohistochemical localization of the interleukin-1 system in the mouse ovary during follicular growth, ovulation and luteinization. Biol Reprod 50 449–457.
- 926. Simoncini T, Hafezi-Moghadam A, Brazil DP, Ley K, Chin WW, Liao JK. (2000) Interaction of estrogen receptor with the regulatory subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase. Nature 407: 538-541.
- 927. Singh B, Meng L, Rutledge JM Armstrong DT. 1997 Effects of epidermal growth factor and follicle stimulating hormone during invitro maturation on cytoplasmic maturation of porcine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 46, 401-407.
- 928. Sirard MA, Florman HM, Leibfried-Rutledge ML, Barnes FL, Sims ML, First NL. Timing of nuclear progression and protein synthesis necessary for meiotic maturation of bovine oocytes. Biol Reprod 1989; 40: 1257-1263
- 929. Sirois J, and Richards JS, Purification and characterization of a novel, distinct isoform of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase induced by human chorionic gonadotropin in granulosa cells of rat preovulatory follicles. J Biol Chem 267 (1992), pp. 6382–6388
- 930. Sirois J, Richards JS. 1993. Transcriptional regulation of the rat prostaglandin endoperoxidase synthetase 2 gene in granulosa cells. Evidence for the role of a cis-acting C/EBP beta promoter element. J Biol Chem. 268: 21931-21938.
- 931. Sirois J, Simmons DL, Richards JS. 1992. Hormonal regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding a novel isoform of prostaglandin endoperoxideHsynthase in rat preovulatory follicles. J. Biol. Chem. 267:11586–92

- 932. Slomczynska M, Duda M, Sl zak K. 2001. The expression of androgen receptor, cytochrome P450 aromatase and FSH receptor mRNA in the porcine ovary. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 39: 9-13.
- 933. Slotta, K. H., H. Ruschig, and E. Fells. (1934). Reindarstellung der Hormone aus dem corpus luteum. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. A67:1624
- 934. Smith MF, McIntush EW, Ricke WA, Kojima FN, and Smith GW. 1999. Regulation of ovarian extracellular matrix remodelling by metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors: effects on follicular development, ovulation and luteal function. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 54: 367-81.
- 935. Smith MF, McIntush EW, Smith GW .1994. Mechanisms associated with corpus luteum development. J Anim Sci. Jul;72(7):1857-72.
- 936. Smith MS, Freeman ME, Niell JD (1975) The control of progesterone secretion during the oestrus cycle and early pseudopregnancy in the rat: Prolactin, gonadotrophin and steroid levels associated with the rescue of the CL of pseudopregnancy. Endocrinol 96 pp219-226.
- 937. Smith, G. W., R. M. Moor, M. F. Smith, 1993: Identification of a 30,000 M (r) polypeptide secreted by cultured ovine granulosa cells and luteal tissue as a tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases. Biol. Reprod. 48, 125 132.
- 938. Smith, M. F. & R. M. Moor, 1991: Secretion of a putative metalloproteinase inhibitor by ovine granulosa cells and luteal tissue. J. Reprod. Fertil. 91, 627 635.
- 939. Smyth CD, Miro F, Whitelaw PF, Howles CM, Hillier SG. (1993) Ovarian thecal/interstitial androgen synthesis is enhanced by a folliele stimulating hormone stimulated paracrine mechanism. Endocrinol 133 pp1532-1538.
- 940. Sommersberg B, Bulling A, Salzer U, Frohlich U, Garfield RE, Amsterdam A. (2000) Gap junction communication and connexin 43 gene expression in a rat granulosa cell line: regulation by follicle-stimulating hormone. Biol. Reprod. 63 :1661–1668.
- 941. Song Q, Kuang Y, Dixit VM, Vincenz C. Boo, a novel negative regulator of cell death, interacts with Apaf-1. EMBO, 1999; 18: 167-178.
- 942. Sorensen RS, Wassarman PM. (1976) Relationship between growth and meitotic maturation of the mouse oocyte. Dev Biol 50; 531-536.
- 943. Soumano K and Price CA. (1997) Ovarian follicular steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, low-density lipoprotein receptor, and cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage messenger ribonucleic acids in cattle undergoing superovulation. Biol Reprod 56: 516– 522,
- 944. Souza CJH, MacDougal C, Campbell BK, McNeiily AS, Baird DT (2001) The Booroola (Fec B) phenotype is associated with a mutation in the BMPR-1B gene. J. Endocrinol 169 R1-6.
- 945. Soyal, S. M., Amleh, A. and Dean, J. (2000). FIGa, a germ-cell specific bHLH transcription factor required for primordial follicle formation, zona gene expression and fertility. Development 127, 4645-4654.
- 946. Spagnuolo R, Corada M, Orsenigo F, Zanetta L, Deuschle U, Sandy P, Schneider C, Drake CJ, Breviario F, Dejana E. (2004) Gas1 is induced by VE-cadherin and vascular endothelial growth factor and inhibits endothelial cell apoptosis. Blood 103:8, 3005-3012.

- and a set of the set of the set of the set of the 「「「「「「「」」「「」」「「」」」「「」」」」」
- 947. Spanel-Borowski, K., Schafer, I., Zimmermann, S., Engel, W. & Adham, I. M. (2001) Increase in final stages of follicular atresia and premature decay of corpora lutea in Insl3deficient mice. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 58, 281-286
- Spears N, Murray AA, Allison V, Boland NI & Gosden RG 1998 Role of gonadotrophins and ovarian steroids in the development of mouse follicles in vitro. J Reprod Fert. 113 19–26.
- 949. Sperry TS, Thomas P. 1999. Characterisation of two nuclear androgen receptors in Atlantic croaker: comparison of their biochemical properties and binding specificities. Endocrinol 140: 1602-1611.
- 950. Spicer LJ, Alpizar E, Vernon RK (1994) Insulin like growth factor I receptors in ovarian granulosa cells: effect of follicle size and hormones. Mol Cell Endocrinol 102, 69-76.
- 951. Spicer, L. J., T. D. Hamilton, B. E. Keefer, 1996: Insulin-like growth factor 1 enhancement of steroidogenesis by bovine granulosa cells and thecal cells: dependence on de novo cholesterol synthesis. J. Endocrinol. 151, 365-373.
- 952. Sprengel R, Bruan T, Nikolics K, Segaloff DL, Seeburg PH. (1990) The testicular receptor for follicle stimulating hormone:structure and function expression of cloned cDNA. Mol Endocrinol 4 pp525-530.
- 953. Srivastava S, Toraldo G, Weitzman NM, Cenci S, Ross FP, Pacifici R. (2001) Estrogen decreases osteoclast formation by down-regulating receptor activation of NF-kB ligand (RANKL)-induced JNK activation. J Biol Chem 276: 8836-8840.
- 954. Stack, M.S., Ellerbroek, S.M., and Fishman, D.A. (1998). The role of proteolytic enzymes in the pathology of epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Int. J. Oncol. 12:569-576.
- 955. Standal T, Borset M, Sundan A. (2004) Role of osteopontin in adhesion, migration, cell survival and bone remodeling. Exp Oncol. 2004 Sep;26(3):179-84.
- 956. Steel GS, Leung CK. (1993) The Ovary: Comprehensive Endocrinology. Pp113-127, Raven Press, New York.
- 957. Stein Y, Dabach Y, Hollander G, Halperin G, Stein O (1983) Biochem Biophys Acta 752: 98-105.
- 958. Sterneck E, Tessarollo L, Johnson PF. 1997. An essential roel for C/EBPbeta in female reproduction. Genes Dev, 11: 2153-2162.
- 959. Stocco C.O., Zhong, L., Sugimoto, Y., Ichikawa, A., Lau, L.F. and Gibori, G., 2000. Prostaglandin F<sub>2Ω</sub> induced expression of 20Ω-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase involves the transcription factor Nur77, J. Biol. Chem. 275, pp. 37202–37211
- 960. Stocco DM, and BJ Clark. 1996. Regulation of the acute production of steroids in steroidogenic cells. Endocr Rev. 17:221-224.
- 961. Stocco, C.O., Lau, L.F. and Gibori, G., 2002. A calcium/calmodulin-dependent activation of ERK1/2 mediates JunD phosphorylation and induction of nur77 and 20α-hsd genes by prostaglandin F<sub>2</sub>α in ovarian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, pp. 3293–3302
- 962. Stollberg J, Urschitz J, Urban Z, Boyd CD. (2000) A quantitative evaluation of SAGE. Genome Res 10; 1241-1248.
- 963. Stormo G, Ji Y (2001) Do mRNAs act as direct sensors of small moleculaes to control their expression? Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98, 9465-9467.

- 1200 CO.
- 964. Stouffer RL, Martínez-Chequer JC, Molskness TA, Xu F, Hazzard TM, 2001: Regulation and action of angiogenic factors in the primate ovary. Arch Med Res 32, 567-575
- 965. Strader CD, Fong TM, Tota MR, Underwood D. (1994). Structure and function of Gprotein coupled receptors. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 63:101-32
- 966. Strauss, J. F. & Penning, T. M. (1999). Synthesis of the sex steroid hormones: Molecular and structural biology with applications to clinical practice. In Molecular biology in reproductive medicine. ed. Fauser, B. C. J. M., Rutherford, A. J., Strauss, J. F. & Van Steirteghem, A., pp. 201-232. Parthenon Publishing, Carnforth.
- 967. Strauss, J. F., Schuler, L. A., Rosenblum, M. F. & Tanaka, T. (1981). Cholesterol metabolism by ovarian tissue. Advan Lipid Res 18, 99-157.
- 968. Streuli C 1999 Extracellular matrix remodelling and cellular differentiation. Current Opinion Cell Biol 11 634–640.
- 969. Strieter RM, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Arenberg DA, Burdick MD, Kasper J, Dzuiba J, Van Damme J, Walz A, Marriott D, Chan S-Y, Roczniak S and Shanafelt AB, The functional role of the ELR motif in CXC chemokine-mediated angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 270 (1995), pp. 27348–27357.
- 970. Sudarsan N, Barrick JE, Breaker RR (2003) Metabolite-binding RNA domains are present in the genes of eukaryotes. RNA 9, 644-647.
- Sugiura K, Pendola KL, Eppig JJ. (2005) Oocyte control of metabolic cooperativity between oocytes and companion granulosa cells: energy metabolism. Dev Biol 279, 20-30.
- 972. Sun GW, Kobayashi H, Suzuki M, Kanayama N, Terao T. 2003. Follicle stimulating hormone and insulin like growth factor 1 syngergistically induce up regulation of cartilage link protein (Crtl1) via activation of phosphatidylinostol-dependent kinase/Akt in rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol 144, 793-801
- 973. Sutton ML, Cetica PD, Beconi MT, Kind KL, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2003) Influence of oocyte secreted factors and culture duration on the metabolic activity of bovine cumulus cell complexes. Reproduction 126, 27-34.
- 974. Suzuki H, Jeong BS and Yang X (2000) Dynamic changes of cumulus-oocyte cell communication during in vitro maturation of porcine oocytes Biol of Reprod 63 723-729
- 975. Svensson EC, Markström E, Andersson M and Billig H, (2000) Progesterone receptormediated inhibition of apoptosis in granulosa cells isolated from rats treated with human chorionic gonadotropin. Biol. Reprod. 63 (5) :1457–1464
- 976. Svensson EC, Markstrom E, Shao R, Andersson M and Billig H, (2001) Progesterone receptor antagonists ORG 31710 and RU 486 increase apoptosis in human periovulatory granulose cells. Fertil. Steril. 76 :1225–1231.
- 977. Sweetwyne MT, Brekken RA, Workman G, Bradshaw AD, Carbon J, Siadak AW, Murri C, Sage EH. (2004) Functional analysis of the matricellular protein SPARC with novel monoclonal antibodies. J Histochem Cytochem. 2004 Jun;52(6):723-33
- 978. Swirnoff AH, Apel ED, Svaren J, Sevetson BR, Zimonjic DB, Popescu NC, Milbrandt J 1998 Nab1, a corepressor of NGFI-A (Egr-1), contains an active transcriptional repression domain. Mol Cell Biol 18:512–524
- 979. Szmanski M, Barciszewska MZ, Zywicki M, Barciszewski J. (2003) Noncoding RNA transcripts. J Appl Genet 44:1, 1-19.

- 980. Szollosi D, Calarco P, Donahue R. The nuclear envelope: its breakdown and fate in mammalian oogonia and oocytes. Anat Rec 1972; 174.
- 981. Szoltys M, Galas J, Jablonka A, Tabarowski Z. 1994. Some morphological and hormaonal aspects of ovulation and superovulation in the rat. J Endocrinol. 141, 91-100.
- 982. Tadakuma, II., Okamura, H., Kitaoka, M., Iyama, K., and Usuku, G. (1993). Association of immunolocalization of matrix metalloproteinase 1 with ovulation in hCG-treated rabbit ovary. J. Reprod. Fertil. 98:503-508.
- 983. Takahashi K, Eto H, Tanabe KK 1999 Involvement of CD44 in matrix metalloproteinase-2 regulation in human melanoma cells. Int J Cancer 80:387–395
- 984. Takeda K, Ichilo H, Fujii M, Mochida Y, Saitoh M, Nishitoh H, Sampath TK, Miyazono K. (1998) Identification of a novel bone morphogenetic protein responsive gene that may function as a non coding RNA. J Biol Chem 273, 17079-17085.
- 985. Tamanini C, Basini G, Grasselli F, Tirelli M, 2003: Nitric oxide and the ovary. J Anim Sci 81, E1-E7.
- 986. Tamanini C, De Ambrogi M. 2004. Angiogenesis in developing follicle and corpus luteum. Reprod Domest Anim. Aug;39(4):206-16.
- 987. Tartaglia LA, Goeddel DV, Reynolds C, Figari IS, Weber RF, Fendly BM, Palladino MA Jr. Stimulation of human T-cell proliferation by specific activation of the 75-kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. J Immunol 1993; 151:4637-4641
- 988. Terranova PF & Rice MV (1997) Review: cytokine involvement in ovarian processes. Am J Reprod Immun 37 50–63.
- 989. Tetsuka M, Haines LC, Milne M, Simpson GE, Hiller SG. (1999a) Regulation of 11 beta HSD type 1 gene expression by LH and interleukin 1 beta in cultured rat granulosa cells. J Endocrinol 163 pp417-423.
- 990. Tetsuka M, Hillier SG (1996) Androgen receptor gene expression in rat granulosa cells: the role of follicle stimulating hormone and steroid hormones. Endocrinol 137 pp4392-4397.
- 991. Tetsuka M, Milne M, Simspon GE, Hillier SG. (1999) Expression of 11 beta HSD glucocorticoid receptor and mineralocorticoid receptor genes in rat ovary. Biol Reprod 60 pp330-335.
- 992. Tetsuka M, Thomas FJ, Thomas MJ, Anderson RA, Mason JI, Hiller SG (1997) Differential expression of mRNAs encoding 11beta HSD types 1 and 2 in human granulosa. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82 pp2006-2009.
- 993. Tetsuka M, Whitelaw PF, Bremner WJ, Millar MR, Smyth CD, Hillier SG. (1995) Developmental regulation of androgen receptor in rat ovary. J Endocrinol 145 pp535-543.
- 994. Themmen APN, Huhtaniemi IT. 2000 Mutations of gonadotrophins and gonadotrophin receptors: elucidating the physiology and pathophysiology of pituitary-gonadal function. Endocr Rev 21, 551-583.
- 995. Thompson EB. 1998. The many roles of c-Myc in apoptosis. Ann Rev Physiol., 60: 575-600.
- 996. Thornton R, Lane P, Borghaei R, Paese E, Caro J, Mochan E. (2000) Interleukin 1 induces hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in human gingival and synovial fibroblasts Biochem J 350, 307-312.

- 997. Tilly JL (1996) Apoptosis and ovarian function. Rev Reprod 1 pp162-172,
- 998. Tilly JL, Billig H, Kowalski KI, Hsueh AJW. Epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor suppress the spontaneous onset of apoptosis in cultured rat ovarian granulosa cells and follicles by a tyrosine kinase-dependent mechanism. Mol Endocrinol 1992; 6:1942-1950.
- 999. Tilly JL, Kowalski KI, Johnson AL, Hseuh AJW. 1991. Involvement of apoptosis in ovarian follicular atresia and postovulatory regression. Endocrinol 129, 2799-2801.
- 1000. Tilly JL, LaPolt PS, Hseuh AJW (1992) Hormonal regulation of FSH receptor mRNA levels in cultured rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol 130 pp1296-1302.
- 1001. Tilly, J.L., Tilly, K.I., Kenton, M.L. and Johnson, A.L., (1995). Expression of members of the bcl-2 gene family in the immature rat ovary: equine chorionic gonadotropinmediated inhibition of granulosa cell apoptosis is associated with decreased bax and constitutive bcl-2 and bcl-xlong messenger ribonucleic acid levels. Endocrinol 136, pp. 232-241
- 1002. Tisdall DJ, Fidler AE, Smith P et al (1999) Stem cell factor and c-kit expression and protein localisation in the shep ovary during foetal development. J. Repro. Fertil., 116, 277-91.
- 1003. Tisdall DJ, Quirke LD, Smith P, McNatty KP. Expression of the ovine stem cell factor gene during folliculogenesis in late fetal and adult ovaries. J Mol Endocrinol 1997; 18: 127-135.
- 1004. Tornell, J., Bergh, C., Selleskog, U. and Hillensjo, T., 1995. Effect of recombinant human gonadotrophins on oocyte meiosis and steroidogenesis in isolated pre-ovulatory rat follicles. Hum. Reprod. 10, pp. 1619–1622.
- 1005. Tortorella MD, Pratta M, Liu R-Q, Austin J, Ross OH, et al. 2000. Sites of aggrecan cleavage by recombinant human aggrecanase-1 (ADAMTS-4). J. Biol. Chem. 275:18566-73
- 1006. Touhata K, Kinoshita M, Toyohara H, Sakaguchi M, Yokoyama Y, Yamashita S. 1999. Sequence and expression of a cDNA encoding the red seabream androgen receptor. Biochem Biophys Acta 1450: 481-485.
- 1007. Trolice MP, Pappalardo A and Peluso JJ (1997) Basic fibroblast growth factor and Ncadherin maintain rat granulosa cell and ovarian surface epithelial cell viability by stimulating the tyrosine phosphorylation of the fibroblast growth factor receptors Endocrinol 138 107–113
- Trumbly RJ (1992) Glucose repression in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Microbiol 6, 15-21.
- 1009. Tsafriri A, Lieberman ME, Ahren K, Linder HR (1976) Dissociation between LHinduced aerobic glycolysis and oocyte maturation in cultured Graafian follicles of the rat. Acta Endocrinol 81, 362-366.
- 1010. Tsafriri A. (1997) Follicular development: impact on cocyte quality. In Fauser BCJM editor. FSH action and intraovarian regulation. New York Parthenon Press pp83-105.
- 1011. Tsafriri, A. & Pomerantz, S. H. (1986) Oocyte maturation inhibitor. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 15, 157-170
- 1012. Tsafriri, A., Cao, X., Vaknin, K.M. and Popliker, M., 2002. Is meiosis activating sterol (MAS) an obligatory mediator of meiotic resumption in mammals?. Mol. Cell Endoerinol. 187, pp. 197–204.

- 1013. Tsafriri, A., Linder, H.R. and Zor, U., 1972. In vitro induction of meiotic division in follicle-enclosed rat oocytes by LH, cAMP, and PGE<sub>2</sub>. J. Reprod. Fertil. 31, pp. 39-50
- 1014. Tsafriri, A., Popliker, M., Nahum, R. and Beyth, Y., 1998. Effects of ketoconazole on ovulatory changes in the rat: implications on the role of a meiosis-activating sterol. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 4, pp. 483-489.
- 1015. Tsai-Morris CH, Buczko E, Wang W, Dufau ML. (1990). Intronic nature of the rat luteininzing hormone receptor gene defines a soluble receptor subspecies with hormone binding activity. J. Biol. Chem. 265:19385-88
- 1016. Tsai-Morris CH, Wei W, Buczko E. (1993). Promoter and regulatory regions of the rat luteinizing hormone receptor gene. J. Biol. Chem. 268:18267-71
- 1017. Ujioka T, Matsukawa A, Tanaka N, Matsuura K, Yoshinaga M, Okamura H (1998) Interleukin-8 as an essential factor in the human chorionic gonadotrophin-induced rabbit ovulatory process: interleukin-8 induces neutrophil accumulation and activation in ovulation. Biol Reprod 58, 526–530.
- 1018. Urman B, Alatas C, Aksoy S, Mercan R, Isiklar A and Balaban B, (1999), Elevated serum progesterone level on the day of human chorionic gonadotropin administration does not adversely affect implantation rates after intracytoplasmic sperm injection and embryo transfer. Fertil. Steril. 72 :975–979
- 1019. Urness LD, Sorensen LK, Li DY. (2000) Arteriovenous malformations in mice lacking activin receptor like kinase 1. Nature Genetics 26, 328-331.
- 1020. Vaccaro AM, Salvioli R, Tatti M, Ciaffoni F. (1999) Saposins and their interaction with lipids. Neurochem Res. 1999 Feb;24(2):307-14
- 1021. Vainio S, Heikkila M, Kispert A, Chin N, McMahon AP (1999) Female development in mammals is regulated by Wnt-4 signalling. Nature 397:405–409
- 1022. Van Blerkom J and Motta P (1978) A scanning electron microscopic study of the luteofollicular complex. III. Repair of ovulated follicle and the formation of the corpus luteum Cell Tissue Res. 189 131–153
- 1023. Van Wezel IL, Rodgers HF and Rodgers RJ (1998) Differential localization of laminin chains in the bovine follicle J Reprod Fertil 112 267-278
- 1024. Van Wezel IL, Umapathysivam K, Tilley WD, Rodgers RJ. 1995. Immunohistochemical localization of basic fibroblast growth factor in bovine ovarian follicles. Mol Cell Endocrinol. Dec 29;115(2):133-40
- 1025. Vanderhyden BC, Caron PJ, Buccione R, Eppig JJ (1990) Developmental pattern of the secretion of cumulus expansion-enabling factor by mouse occytes and the roel of occytes in promoting granulosa cell differentiation. Dev Biol 140 pp307-317.
- 1026. Vanderhyden BC, MacDonald EA (1998) Mouse oocytes regulate granulosa cell steroidogenesis throughout follicular development. Biol Reprod 59 pp1296-1301.
- 1027. Vanderhyden BC, Tonery AM (1995) Differential regulation of progesterone and oestradiol production by mouse cumulus and mural granulosa cells by a factor(s) secreted by the oocyte. Biol Reprod 53 pp1243-1250.
- 1028. Varghese R, Gagliardi AD, Bialek PE, Yee SP, Wagner GF, Dimattia GE 2002 Overexpression of human stanniocalcin affects growth and reproduction in transgenic mice. Endocrinol 143:868–876

- ş State and a second
- 1029. Varghese R, Wong CK, Deol H, Wagner GF, DiMattia GE 1998 Comparative analysis of mammalian stanniocalcin genes. Endocrinol 139:4714–4725
- 1030. Velculescu VE, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. (2000) Analysing uncharted transcriptomes with SAGE. Trends Genet 16; 423-425.
- Velculescu VE, Zhang H, Zhou W, Vogelstein J, Basrai MA, Barrett DE, Hieter P, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. (1997) Characterisation of the yeast transcriptome. Cell 88 pp243-251.
- Velculescu VE, Zhang L, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW (1995) Serial analysis of gene expression. Science 270 pp484-487.
- 1033. Veldhuis JD, Garmey JC, Urban RJ, Demers LM, Aggarwal BB. Ovarian actions of tumor necrosis factor-α (TNFα): pleiotropic effects of TNFα on differentiated functions of untransformed swine granulosa cells. Endocrinol 1991; 129:641-648
- Veldhuis JD, Nestler JE, Strauss JF III, and Gwynne JT. (1986) Insulin regulates lowdensity lipoprotein metabolism by swine granulosa cells. Endocrinol 118: 2242–2253.
- Veldhuis JD. (1988). Follicle-stimulating hormone regulates low-density lipoprotein metabolism by swine granulosa cells. Endocrinol 123: 1660–1667,
- 1036. Vermeirsch H, Simoens P, Coryn M, Van den Broeck W. 2001. Immunolocalisation of androgen receptors in the canine ovary and their relation to sex steroid hormones concentrations, Reproduction 122: 711-721.
- 1037. Viger RS, Silversides DW, Tremblay JJ (2005) New insights into the regulation of mammalian sex determination and male sex differentiation. Vitam Horm. 2005;70:387-413.
- 1038. Virlon B, Cheval L, Buhler JM, Billon E, Doucet A, Elalouf JM (1999). Serial microanalysis of renal transcriptomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96 pp15286-15291.
- 1039. Visani G, and Manfroi S, (1995). G-CSF in the biology and treatment of acute myeloid leukemias. Leuk Lymphoma 18 :423–428
- 1040. Vitt UA, Hayashi M, Klein C, Hseuh AJW (2000) GDF-9 stimulates proliferation but suppresses FSH induced differentiation of cultured granulosa cells from small antral and preovulatory rat follicles. Biol Reprod 62 pp370-377.
- 1041. Vitt UA, Hseuh AJW (2002) Stage dependant role of GDF-9 in ovarian follicle development. Mol and Cell Endocrinol 186 pp211-217.
- 1042. Vitt UA, McGee EA, Hayashi M, Hseuh AJW (2000) In vivo treatment with GDF-9 stimulates primordial and primary follicle progression and theca cell marker CYP17 in ovarics of immature rats. Endocrinol 141 pp3814-3820.
- 1043. Wada AM, Reese DE, Bader DM (2001) Bvcs: prototype of a new class of cell adhesion molecules expressed during coronary artery development. Development 128, 2085-2093.
- 1044. Waghray A, Schober M, Feroze F, Yao F, Virgin J, Chen YQ. (2001). Identification of differentially expressed genes by serial analysis of gene expression in human prostate cancer. Cancer Res 61; 4283-4286.
- 1045. Walsh DA, Perkins JP, Krebs EG (1968) An adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate-dependent protein kinase from rabbit skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 243:3763-3768
- 1046. Wandji SA, Pelletier G and Sirard MA. (1992) Ontogeny and cellular localization of 125I-labeled basic fibroblast growth factor and 125I-labeled epiderual growth factor

binding sites in ovaries from bovine fetuses and neonatal calves. Biol. Reprod. 47:807-813

- 1047. Wandji SA, Wood TL, Crawford J, Levison SW, Hammond JM. (1998) Expression of mouse ovarian insulin growth factor system components during follicular development and atresia. Endocrinol Vol 139, No 12 pp5205-5214
- 1048. Wang GL, Jiang BH, Rue HA, Semenza GL (1995) Hypoxia inducible factor 1 is a basic helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92, 5510-5514.
- 1049. Wang H, Andoh K, Hagiwara H, Xiaowei L, Kikuchi N, Abe Y, Yamada K, Fatima R, Mizunuma H. 2001. Effect of adrenal and ovarian androgens on type 4 follicles unresponsive to FSH in immature nuice. Endocrinol 142: 4930-4936.
- 1050. Wang Z, Wang H, Ascoli M. (1993). Mutation of highly conserved acidic residue present in the second intracellular loop of G-protein-coupled receptors does not impair hormone binding or signal transduction of the luteinizing hormone chorionic gonadotropin receptor. Mol. Endocrinol. 7:85–93
- Webb RJ, Bains H, Cruttwell C, Carroll J. 2002 Gap-junctional communication in mouse cumulus oocyte complexes: implications for the mechanism of meiotic maturation. Reproduction 123, 41-52.
- 1052. Webster MK, Goya L, Ge Y, Maiyar AC, Firestone GL (1993) Characterization of Sgk, a novel member of the serine/threonine protein kinase gene family which is transcriptionally induced by glucocorticoids and serum. Mol Cell Biol 13:2031–2040
- 1053. Weeraratna AT. (2003) Serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE): adances, analysis and applications to pigment cell research. Pigment Cell Res 16; 183-189.
- 1054. Weiss J, Crowley WF Jr, Halvorson LM & Jameson JL 1993 Perifusion of rat pituitary cells with gonadotropin-releasing hormone, activin, and inhibin reveals distinct effects on gonadotropin gene expression and secretion. Endocrinol 132 2307–2311
- 1055. Weng AP, Nam Y, Wolfe MS, Pear WS, Griffin JD, Blacklow SC, Aster JC. (2003) Growth suppression of Pre-T acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cells by inhibition of notch signailing. Mol and Cell Biol 23:2, 655-664.
- 1056. Wenger RH, Gassmann M. (1999) in Environmental Stress and Gene Regulation (Storey KB, Ed) BIOS Sci Pub Ltd Oxford, 25-45.
- 1057. Westfall, S.D., Hendry, I.R., Obholz, K.L., Rueda, B.R. and Davis, J.S., (2000). Putative role of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt signaling pathway in the survival of granulosa cells. Endocrine 12, pp. 315–321
- 1058. White R, Leonardsson G, Rosewell I, Jacobs MA, Milligan S, Parker M. 2000. The nuclear receptor co-repressor Nrip1 (RIP140) is essential for female fertility. Nat. Med. 6:1368–73
- 1059. Whitelaw PF, Smyth CD, Howles CM, Hiller SG. (1992) Cell specific expression of aromatase and LH receptor mRNAs in rat ovary. J Mol Endocrinol 9 pp309-312.
- 1060. Whitten WK. (1958) Modification of the oestrus cycle of the mouse by external stimuli associated with the male. Changes in the oestrus cycle determined by vaginal smears. J Endocrinol 17: 307-313.
- 1061. Whitten WK. 1959. Occurrence of anoestrus in mice caged in groups. J. Endocrinol. 18: 102-107.

- A 100 10 4 40 10 10
- 1062. Wijgerde M, Ooms M, Hoogerbrugge JW, Grootegoed JA. (2005) Hedgehog signalling in mouse ovary: Indian hedgehog and desert hedgehog from granulosa cells induce target gene expression in developing thecal cells. Endocrinol 146:8, 3558-3566.
- Wilder RL (1998) Hormones, pregnancy, and autoimmune diseases. Ann NY Acad Sci 840: 45-50.
- 1064. Wiley SR, Cassiano L, Lofton T, Davis-Smith T, Winkles JA, Linder V, Liu H, Daniel TO, Smith CA, Fanslow WC. (2001). A novel TNF receptor family member binds TWEAK and is implicated in angiogenesis. Immunity 15, 837-846.
- 1065. Williams DE, de Vries P, Namen AE, Widmer MB, Lyman SD. The Steel factor. Dev Biol 1992; 151: 368-376
- Williamson AR. (1999) The Merck Gene Index project. Drug Discovery Today 4(3); 115-122.
- Wilson ED, Zarrow MX. (1962) Comparison of superovulation in the immature mouse and rat. J Reprod Fertil. 3; 148-158.
- 1068. Wilson T, Wu X-Y, Juengel JL, Ross IK, Lumsden JM, Lord EA, Dodds KG, Walling GA, McEwan JC, O'Connell AR, McNatty KP, Montgomery GW (2001) Highly prolific Booroola sheep have a mutation in the intracellular kinase domain of BMP 1B receptor (ALK-6) that is expressed in both oocytes and granulosa cells. Biol Reprod 64 pp1225-1235.
- 1069. Wilson, T.E., Mouw, A.R., Weaver, C.A., Milbrandt, J. and Parker, K.L., 1993. The orphan nuclear receptor NGFI-B regulates expression of the gene encoding steroid 21hydroxylase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, pp. 861–868
- 1070. Wise PM, Dubal DB, Wilson ME, Rau SW, Bottner M. (2001) Minireview: neuroprotective effects of oestrogen – new insights into mechanisms of action. Endocrinol 142: 969-973.
- 1071. Woessner, J.F., Jr. (1991). Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in connective tissue remodeling. FASEB J. 5:2145-2154.
- 1072. Wong WYL, Richards JS (1991) Evidence for two antigenically distinct molecular weight variants of prostaglandin H synthase in the rat ovary. Mol Endocrinol 5:1269– 1279
- 1073. Woodruff TK, Besecke LM, Groome N, Draper LB, Schwartz NB, Weiss J (1996) Inhibin A and inhibin B are inversely sorrelated to follicle-stimulating hormone, yet are discordant during the follicular phase of the rat oestrus cycle, and inhibin A is expressed in a sexually dimorphic manner. Endocrinol 137, 5463-5467.
- 1074. Wu H, Lustbader JW, Liu Y, Canfield RE, Hendrickson WA. (1994). Structure of human chorionic gonadotropin at 2.6 Å resolution from MAD analysis of the selenomethionyl protein. Structure 2:545-58
- 1075. Wu L, Aster JC, Blacklow SC, Lake R, Artavanis-Tsakonas, Griffin JD. (2000) MAML1 a human homolog of Drosophila mastermind, is a transcriptional co-activator for Notch receptors. Nature genetics 26, 484-489.
- 1076. Wu L, Kobayashi K, Sun T, Gao P, Liu J, Nakamura M, Weisberg E, Mukhopadhyay NK, Griffin JD. (2004) Cloning and functional characterisation of the nurine mastermind-like 1 (MamI1) gene. Gene 328, 153-165.

1077. Wu L, Sun T, Kobayaashi K, Gao P, Griffin JD. (2002) Identification of a family of mastermind-like transcriptional coactivators for mammalian notch receptors. Mol and Cell Biol. 22:21, 7688-7700.

- 1078. Wulff C, Wiegand SJ, Saunders PTK, Scobie GA, Fraser HM, 2001a: Angiogenesis during follicular development in the primate and its inhibition by treatment with truncated Flt-1-Fc (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor TrapA40). Endocrino142, 3244-3254.
- 1079. Xia L, Van Vugt D, Alston EJ, Luckhaus J, Ferin M 1992 A surge of gonadotropinreleasing hormone accompanies the estradiol-induced gonadotropin surge in the rhesus monkey. Endocrinol 131:2812-2820
- 1080. Xiao S, Findley JK (1991) Interaction between activin and FSH suppressing protein and mechanisms of action on cultured rat granulosa cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 79 pp99-107.
- 1081. Xiao S, Robertson DM, Findlay JK, (1992) Effects of activin and FSH suppressing protein/follistatin on FSH receptors and differentiation of cultured rat granulosa cells. Endocrinol 131 pp1009-1016.
- 1082. Xie H, Xia G, Byskov AG, Andersen CY, Bo S, Tao Y 2004. Roles of gonadotropins and meiosis-activating sterols in meiotic resumption of cultured follicle-enclosed mouse oocytes. Mol Cell Endocrinol. Apr 15;218(1-2):155-63
- 1083. Xie YB, Wang H, Segaloff DL. (1990). Extracellular domain of lutropin/choriogonadotropin receptor expressed in transfected cells binds choriogonadotropin with high affinity. J. Biol. Chem. 265:21411-14
- 1084. Xie, S., Luca, M., Huang, S., Gutman, M., Reich, R., Johnson, J.P. and Bar-Eli, M. (1997) Expression of MCAM/MUC18 by human melanoma cells leads to increased tumor growth and metastasis. Cancer Res., 57, 2295–2303
- 1085. Xu P, Yoshioka K, Yoshimura D, Tominaga Y, Nishioka T, Ito M, Nakabeppu Y (2003) In vitro development of mouse embryonic stem cells lacking JNK/stress-activated protein kinase-associated protein 1 (JSAP1) scaffold protein revealed its requirement during early embryonic neurogenesis. J Biol Chem. 278:48, 48422-33.
- 1086. Yamada S, Fujiwara H, Kataoka N, Honda T, Nakayama T, Higuchi T, Mori T, and Maeda M. (1998) Stage-specific uptake of apolipoprotein-B in ovarian follicles and corpora lutea of the menstrual cycle and early pregnancy. Hum Reprod 13: 944–952,
- 1087. Yamada, S., Fujiwara, H., Honda, T., Higuchi, T., Nakayama, T., Inoue, T., Maeda, M. and Fujii, S. (1999) Human granulosa cells express integrin α2 and collagen type IV: possible involvement of collagen type IV in granulosa cell luteinization. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 5, 607–617
- 1088. Yamanaka S Zhang XY, Maeda M, Miura K, Wand S, Farese RV, Iwao H, Innerarity TL (2000) Essential role of NAT1/p97/DAP5 in embryonic differentiation and the retinoic acid pathway. EMBO J.19:20, 5533-5541.
- 1089. Yamashita C, Aoyama Y, Noshiro M, Yoshida Y. (2001) Gonadotrophin dependant expression of sterol-14-demethylase (CYP51) in rat ovaries, and its contribution to the production of a meiosis activating steroid. J Biochem 130 pp849-856.
- 1090. Yamashita T, Hashimoto S, Kaneko S, Nagai S, Toyoda N, Suzuki T, Kobagashi K, Matsushima K (2000) Comprehensive gene expression profiles of a normal human liver. Biochem Biophys res Commun 269 pp110-116.
- 1091. Yan SF, Mackman N, Kisiel W, Stern DM, Pinsky DJ (1999) Hypoxia/hypoxemia induced activation of the procoagulant pathways and the pathogenesis of ischaemia associated thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19, 2029-2035.

- 1092. Yan Z, Hunter V, Weed J, Hutchison S, Lyles R, Terranova P. Tumor necrosis factoralpha alters steroidogenesis and stimulates proliferation of human ovarian granulosal cells in vitro. Fertil Steril 1993; 59:332-338
- 1093. Yan, Z., Weich, H.A., Bernart, W., Breckwoldt, M. and Neulen, J. (1993) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression in htteinized human granulosa cells in vitro. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 77, 1723–1725
- 1094. Yanamoto M, Wakatsuki T et al (2001) Use of serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) technology. J Immunol Methods 250(1-2); 45-66.
- 1095. Yancopoulos GD, Davis S, Gale NW et al (2000) Vascular specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 407, 242-248.
- 1096. Yang EL, Baird DT, Hiller SG. (1992a) Mediation of gonadotrophin stimulated growth and differentiation of human granulosa cell by adenosine 3'5' monophosphate:one molecule, two messages. Clin Endocrinology 37 pp51-58.
- 1097. Yang EL, Baird DT, Yates R, Reichert LE, Hiller SG and J. (1992b) Hormonal regulation of the growth and steroidogenic function of human granulosa cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 74 pp842-849.
- 1098. Yang J, Kiefer SM, Rauchman M. (2002) Characterisation of the gene encoding mouse retinoblastoma binding protein 7, a component of chromatin remodelling complexes. Genomics 80:4, 407-415.
- 1099. Yang X, Kubota C, Suzuki H, Taneja M, Bols PE, Presicce GA. Control of oocyte maturation in cows--biological factors. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 471-82.
- 1100. Yang YH, Speed T (2002) Design issues for cDNA microarray experiments. Nat Rev Genet 3(8); 579-588.
- Yengi LG. (2005) Systems biology in drug safety and metabolism: integration of microarray, real-time PCR and enzyme approaches. Pharmacogenomics. Mar;6(2):185-92.
- 1102. Ying SY, (1988) Inhibins, activins, and follistatins: gonadal proteins modulating the secretion of follicle-stimulating hormone. Endocr Rev 9 :267.
- Yengi LG. (2005) Systems biology in drug safety and metabolism: integration of microarray, real-time PCR and enzyme approaches. Pharmacogenomics. Mar;6(2):185-92.
- 1104. Robbins MJ, Michalovich D, Hill J, Calver AR, medhurst AD, Gloger I, Sinis M, Middlemiss DN, Pangalos MN. (2000) Molecular cloning and characterisartion of two novel retinoic acid-inducible orphan G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR5B and GPCR5C). Genomics 67, 8-18.
- 1105. Yoshida H, Takamura N, Kataoka H, Kunisada T, Okamura H, Mishikawa SI (1997) Stepwise requirement of c-kit tyrosine kinase in mouse ovarian follicle development. Dev Biol 184 pp122-137.
- 1106. Yoshimura Y, Chang C, Okamotot T, Tamura T. 1993. Immunocalisation of androgen receptor in the small, preovulatory, and postovulatory follicles of laying hens. Gen Comp Endocrinol 91: 81-89.
- 1107. Yoshimura, Y., Nakamura, Y., Oda, T. et al., 1992. Induction of meiotic maturation of follicle-enclosed oocytes of rabbit by a transient increase followed by an abrupt decrease in cyclic ANT concentration. J. Reprod. Fert. 95, pp. 803–812

- 1108. Yoshioka S, Fujiwara H, Higuchi T, Yamada S, Maeda M, Fujii S. 2003. Melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM/CD146) is expressed on human luteinizing granulosa cells: enhancement of its expression by hCG, interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor-alpha. Mol Hum Reprod. Jun;9(6):311-9.
- 1109. Yu Q, Stamenkovic I 1999 Localization of matrix metalloproteinase 9 to the cell surface provides a mechanism for CD44-mediated tumor invasion. Genes Dev 13:35-48
- 1110. Yu W, Dahl G, and Werner R, (1994) The connexin43 gene is responsive to oestrogen. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 255 :125-132.
- 1111. Yue, T. L., X. Wang, C. S. Louden, S. Gupta, K. Pillarisetti, J. I. Gu, T. K. Hart, P. G. Lysko, G. Z. Feuerstein, 1997: 2-Methoxyestradiol, an endogenous estrogen metabolite, induces apoptosis in endothelial cells and inhibits angiogenesis: possible role for stress-activated protein kinase signaling pathway and Fas expression. Mol. Pharmacol. 51, 951 962.
- Zamboni, L. and Upadhyay, S. (1983). Germ cell differentiation in mouse adrenal glands. J. Exp. Zool. 228, 173-193.
- 1113. Zarkovic N, Ilic Z, Jurin M, Schaur RJ, Puhl H, Esterbauer H. (1993) Stimulation of HcLa cell growth by physiological concentrations of 4-hydroxynonenal. Cell Biochem Funct 11, 279-286.
- 1114. Zarrow MX, Wilson ED (1961) The influence of age on superovulation in the immature rat and mouse. Endocrinol 69; 851-855.
- 1115. Zeleznik AJ, Keyes PL, Menon KM, Midgley Jr AR, Reichert Jr LE (1977) Development-dependent responses of ovarian follicles to FSH and hCG. Am J Physiol 233:E229–E234
- 1116. Zeleznik AJ, Midgely AR, Reichert Jr LE. (1974) Granulosa ceil maturation in the rat: increased binding of human chorionic gonadotrophin following treatment with follicle stimulating hormone in vivo. Endocrinol 95 pp818-825.
- 1117. Zeleznik AJ, Saxena D, and Little-Ihrig L. (2003). Protein kinase B is obligatory for follicle-stimulating hormone-induced granulosa cell differentiation. Endocrinol. Sep;144(9):3985-94.
- 1118. Zeleznik, A.J., Schuler, H.M. and Reichert, L.E., 1981. Gonadotropin-binding sites in the rhesus monkey ovary: role of the vasculature in the selective distribution of human chorionic gonadotropin to the preovulatory follicle. Endocrinol 109, pp. 356–362
- 1119. Zhang H, Akman HO, Smith EL, Zhao J, Murphy-Ullrich JE, Batuman OA (2003) Cellular response to hypoxia involves signalling via Smad proteins. Blood 101, 2253-2260.
- 1120. Zhang H, Zhou W, Velculescu VE, Kern SE, Hruban RII, Hamilton SR, Vogelstein B, Kinzler BW (1997) Gene expression profiles in normal and cancer cells. Science 276 pp1268-1272.
- 1121. Zhang HS, Postigo AA, Dean DC. (1999) Active transcriptional repression by the Rb-E2F complex mediates G1 arrest triggered by p16INK4a, TGFbeta, and contact inhibition. Cell 97, 53-61.
- 1122. Zhang Y, Chellappan SP. (1995) Cloning and characterisation of human DP2, a novel dimerization partner of E2F. Oncogene 10:11, 2085-2093.
- 1123. Zhang Y-Q, Cleary MM, Si Y, Liu G, Eto Y, Kritzik M, Dabernat S, Kayali AG, Sarvetnick N. (2004) Inhibition of activin signalling induces pancreatic epithelial cell

expansion and diminishes terminal differentiation of pancreatic  $\beta$  cells. Diabetes 53, 2024-2033.

- 1124. Zhou J, Kumar TR, Matzuk MM, Bondy C. (1997) Insulin like growth factor 1 regulates gonadotrophin responsiveness in the murine ovary. Mol Endocrinol 11 pp1924-1933.
- 1125. Zhu W, Giangrande PH, Nevins JR (2005) Temporal control of cell cycle expression mediated by E2F trascription factors. Cell Cycle 4:5, 633-636.
- 1126. Zlotkin, T., Farkash, Y. and Orly, J., 1986. Cell specific expression of immunoreactive cholesterol side chain cleavage cytochrome P-450 during follicular development in the ovary. Endocrinol 119, pp. 2809–2820
- 1127. Zolti M, Meirom R, Shemesh M, Wollach D, Mashiach S, Shore L, Rafael ZB. Granulosa cells as a source and target organ for tumor necrosis factor-alpha. FEBS Lett 1990; 261:253-255
- 1128. Zuelke KA, Brackett BG. 1992. Effects of luteinising hormone on glucose metabolism in cumulus enclosed bovine oocytes matured in vitro. Endocrinol. 131, 2690-2696.

